

Analysis of the dystrophin interactome Matthew Thorley

▶ To cite this version:

Matthew Thorley. Analysis of the dystrophin interactome. Cellular Biology. Université Pierre et Marie Curie - Paris VI; Freie Universität (Berlin), 2016. English. NNT: 2016PA066619. tel-01659923

HAL Id: tel-01659923 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01659923

Submitted on 9 Dec 2017

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Analysis of the dystrophin interactome

Dissertation

In fulfillment of the requirements for the degree "Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)" integrated in the International Graduate School for Myology MyoGrad in the Department for Biology, Chemistry and Pharmacy at the Freie Universität Berlin in Cotutelle Agreement with the Ecole Doctorale 515 "Complexité du Vivant" at the Université Pierre et Marie Curie Paris

> Submitted by Matthew Thorley born in Scunthorpe, United Kingdom

Dedicated to

My mother, Joy Thorley My father, David Thorley My sister, Alexandra Thorley My fiancée, Vera Sakhno-Cortesi

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors William Duddy and Stephanie Duguez who gave me this research opportunity. Through their combined knowledge of computational and practical expertise within the field and constant availability for any and all assistance I required, have made the research possible. Their overarching support, approachability and upbeat nature throughout, while granting me freedom have made this year project very enjoyable. The additional guidance and supported offered by Matthias Selbach and his team whenever required along with a constant welcoming invitation within their lab has been greatly appreciated.

I thank MyoGrad for the collaboration established between UPMC and Freie University, creating the collaboration within this research project possible, and offering research experience in both the Institute of Myology in Paris and the Max Delbruck Centre in Berlin. Vital to this process have been Gisele Bonne, Heike Pascal, Lidia Dolle and Susanne Wissler who have aided in the often complex processes that I am still not sure I fully understand.

Many people have helped greatly over this project, most importantly Virgnie Mariot and the rest of Julie Dumonceaux's team who have assisted me in learning countless techniques and for this I am very grateful. Also, to the many people who have given me general guidance along the way and likely stopped me causing countless mini-disasters (If you are at the Institute of Myology you can most likely consider yourself in this list). I also thank each of my committee members and defence jury who have given their feedback and advice which has helped in the progression and evolution of the project – Bertrand Friguet, Claire Fournier-Thibault, David Yadin, George Dickson, Gillian Butler-Browne, Jennifer Morgan, Sigmar Stricker, Simone Spuler, Stephanie Lorain and Thomas Voit.

I thank everyone within my two labs and everyone in or involved with MyoGrad, in particular Coline Marquart, Maria Chatzifragkeskou and Apostolos Malatras who have made the time during my PhD very enjoyable. It has been fantastic getting to know you guys. I will miss you and the many, many hours of our lives we spent together in the lab, the kitchen and at Crous, although I am glad we made it outside of the lab and outside of Paris on a rare few occasions too! I hope we somehow all find a new lab that we can work in together!

I would like to thank my family for their continued support and who continue to come visit me in the various cities that I happen to call home. You make the distances between countries feel so small and give me the confidence to follow whatever path I choose. Finally, to my Vera, I am very lucky to have found you during my time in Paris. You have made what could have been a difficult and stressful period in my life so much easier.

Abstract

The aim of this project was to systematically identify new interaction partners of the dystrophin protein within differentiated human skeletal muscle cells in order to uncover new roles in which dystrophin is involved, and to better understand how the global interactome is affected by the absence of dystrophin. A more complete understanding of the interactors and roles of dystrophin is vital for increasing the understanding of pathology in patients of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy and other diseases in which dystrophin or dystrophin associated proteins are affected, and will assist in the development and research of treatments aimed at re-establishing the important interactions and pathways that have been lost or disrupted.

Initially, a review of existing literature and bioinformatics resources was carried out and used as the basis of an online interactome of dystrophin's physical interactors. A SILAC-based proteomics approach was then used to identify new interaction partners that were added to this bioinformatics resource. To obtain high protein quantities to maximize sensitivity we required a large number of cells, only feasible though the use of immortalized cell lines. hTERT/cdk4 immortalized myogenic human cell lines represent an important tool for skeletal muscle research however, disruption of the cell cycle has the potential to affect many other cellular processes to which it also linked. We carried out a transcriptome-wide analysis of healthy and diseased lines comparing immortalized lines with their parent primary populations in both differentiated and undifferentiated states in order to test their myogenic character by comparison with non-myogenic cells. We found that immortalization has no measurable effect on the myogenic cascade or on any other cellular processes, and that it was protective against the senescence process - a process observed at higher division counts of primary cells. Selected lines were not aneuploid and did not present any chromosomal rearrangements. In this context the human muscle cell lines are a good in vitro model to study the dystrophin interactome.

Having validated our cell lines, we investigated dystrophin's interactors using a high-sensitivity proteomics approach incorporating (1) isotopic amino acid labelling (SILAC), (2) knockdown of dystrophin expression, (3) immunoprecipitation and (4) mass spectrometry, allowing for the confident identification of dystrophin interactors, eliminating the multitude of false positive proteins pulled down through unspecific binding to both the beads and the antibody. We identified 18 new physical interactors of dystrophin which displayed a high proportion of vesicle transport related proteins and adhesion proteins, strengthening the link between dystrophin and these roles. The proteins determined through previously published data together with the newly identified

interactors were incorporated into a web-based data exploration tool: sysmyo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome, intended to provide an easily accessible and informative view of dystrophins interactions in skeletal muscle. This tool will benefit future understanding and interpretation of the interaction data, by placing these newly identified physically interacting proteins within the mechanistic context of the wider dystrophin interactome.

Résumé

Le but de ce projet était d'identifier de manière méthodique et standardisée les partenaires interagissant avec la protéine dystrophine dans les cellules musculaires squelettiques humaines différenciées. Cette stratégie devrait nous permettre de découvrir de nouveaux rôles de la dystrophine, et de mieux comprendre comment ce réseau d'interacteurs (interactome) est affectée par l'absence d'expression de la dystrophine. L'identification et la compréhension de cet interactome devrait nous permettre de mieux appréhender les dystrophinopathies (maladie de Duchenne et de Becker) mais également d'autres pathologies musculaires ou les niveaux d'expression de la dystrophine à l'élaboration de stratégies thérapeutiques visant à rétablir les interactions et les voies de signalisations importantes qui ont été perdues ou perturbées.

Dans un premier temps, nous avons construit un premier interactome de la dystrophine en utilisant les données de la littérature et les bases de données bio-informatiques. Nous avons ensuite utilisé une approche protéomique SILAC pour identifier de nouveaux partenaires, partenaires qui ont alors été ajoutés à ce premier interactome de la dystrophine.

L'approche proteomique SILAC nécessite des quantités importantes de protéines, et exige donc l'utilisation d'un grand nombre de cellules. Dans ce contexte, nous avons utilisé des lignées de cellules musculaires humaines immortalisées. L'immortalisation a été obtenue en surexprimant de manière stable hTERT / CDK4. Dans un premier temps, nous avons vérifié que l'étape d'immortalisation ne perturbait pas divers processus cellulaires, dont le programme myogenique. Pour cela, nous avons réalisé une analyse transcriptomique comparant des lignées immortalisées avec leurs populations primaires correspondantes, à l'état de prolifération et de différentiation. Nous avons inclus dans cette analyse, des cellules non musculaires comme contrôles négatifs. Nous avons constaté que l'immortalisation n'a pas d'effet mesurable sur le programme myogénique ou sur tout autre processus observés à partir d'un nombre élevé de division des cellules primaires. De plus, les lignes sélectionnées ne présentaient pas d'aneuploïdie ni de réarrangements chromosomiques. Les lignées de cellules musculaires humaines constituent donc de bon model in vitro pour l'étude de l'interactome de la dystrophine. Dans un second temps, nous avons déterminé l'interactome de la dystrophine en utilisant une approche proteomique hautement sensible combinant (1) l'utilisation d'isotopes stables d'acides aminés (SILAC), (2) le knockdown de l'expression de la dystrophine, (3) l'immuno- precipitation de la dystrophine et (4) la spectrométrie de masse. Cette stratégie nous a permis d'identifier de manière sure les partenaires de la dystrophine et d'éliminer une multitude de faux positifs, faux positifs étant des protéines immunoprécipitées de manière non spécifique par l'anticorps ou les billes. Nous avons identifié 18 nouveaux partenaires directs de la dystrophine, partenaires étant impliqués dans le transport vésiculaire ou étant des protéines d'adhésion. Ces résultats renforcent les données précédemment publiées suggérant un lien entre la dystrophine et le trafic vésiculaire, ainsi que dystrophine et adhesion cellulaire. Ces nouveaux partenaires ont été ajoutés à dystrophine, l'interactome de accessible la interactome sur le Web: sysmyo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome. Ce site web est dédié à être un outil facile d'utilisation permettant d'explorer et de visualiser l'interactome de la dystrophine du muscle squelettique. Cet outil permet au chercheur de comprendre et d'interpréter l'interactome de la dystrophine, en plaçant ces interacteurs nouvellement identifiés dans leur contexte mécanistique.

Abstrakt

Ziel dieses Projektes war die systematische Aufdeckung neuer Interaktionspartner des Dystrophin-Proteins in differenzierten Skelettmuskelzellen, um neue Funktionen von Dystrophin zu identifizieren und ein eingehenderes Verständnis darüber zu erlangen, welche Auswirkungen das Fehlen von Dystrophin auf das Interaktom insgesamt hat. Eine umfassendere Kenntnis der Wechselspieler und Funktionen von Dystrophin ist entscheidend für ein besseres Verständnis des Krankheitsgeschehens bei Patienten mit Muskeldystrophie vom Typ Duchenne oder Becker und anderer Krankheiten, bei denen Dystrophin oder Dystrophin-assoziierte Proteine beeinträchtigt sind, und wird zur Entwicklung und Erforschung von Therapien beitragen, die auf eine Wiederherstellung fehlender bzw. gestörter fundamentaler Interaktionen und Signalwege abzielen.

Zunächst wurde eine Recherche in der vorhandenen Fachliteratur und in Bioinformatik-Ressourcen durchgeführt und als Grundlage für ein Online-Interaktom der physischen Wechselspieler von Dystrophin verwendet. Anschließend wurden mithilfe der in der Proteomik gängigen SILAC-Technik neue Interaktionspartner identifiziert und dieser Bioinformatik-Ressource hinzugefügt. Um im Sinne einer Maximierung der Empfindlichkeit hohe Proteinmengen zu erhalten, benötigten wir eine große Anzahl von Zellen, was nur durch Verwendung immortalisierter Zelllinien möglich war. Immortalisierte myogene Humanzelllinien vom Typ hTERT/cdk4 sind ein wichtiges Hilfsmittel in der Skelettmuskelforschung, allerdings könnten durch die Unterbrechung des Zellzyklus zahlreiche andere zelluläre Prozesse beeinflusst sein, mit denen der Zellzyklus verknüpft ist. Wir führten eine Transkriptom-weite Analyse gesunder Zelllinien und krankheitsspezifischer Zelllinien durch, indem wir immortalisierte Zelllinien mit ihren Primärzell-Elternpopulationen sowohl im differenzierten als auch im undifferenzierten Zustand verglichen, um ihren myogenen Charakter durch Vergleich mit nicht-myogenen Zellen zu prüfen. Bestimmte Zelllinien wurden außerdem im Hinblick auf Aneuploidie und chromosomale Rearrangements überprüft. Wir stellten fest, dass Immortalisierung keine messbaren Auswirkungen auf die myogene Signalkaskase oder auf andere zelluläre Prozesse hatte und dass sie vor den systemischen Auswirkungen von Seneszenz, die nach einer großen Zahl von Teilungen von Primärzellen zu beobachten sind, schützte.

Nachdem wir unsere Zelllinien validiert hatten, untersuchten wir Dystrophin-Wechselspieler im Rahmen eines hochempfindlichen Proteomik-Ansatzes mit Knockdown, Isotopenmarkierung von Aminosäuren (SILAC), Knockdown der Dystrophin-Expression, Immunpräzipitation und Massenspektrometrie. Dies ermöglichte eine zuverlässige Identifizierung von DystrophinWechselspielern unter Eliminierung der Präzipitation der zahlreichen falschpositiven Proteine infolge einer unspezifischen Bindung an die Beads und den Antikörper. Wir identifizierten 18 neue physische Wechselspieler von Dystrophin, darunter anteilsmäßig viele Proteine, die am Vesikeltransport beteiligt sind, sowie Adhäsionsproteine, was die Verknüpfung zwischen Dystrophin und diesen Funktionen untermauert. Die aus publizierten Daten ermittelten Proteine sowie die neu identifizierten Wechselspieler wurden in ein internetbasiertes Datenexplorationstool (sys-myo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome) eingegeben, um eine übersichtliche und informative Darstellung der Dystrophin-Interaktionen im Skelettmuskel zu erhalten. Dieses Tool wird künftig dem Verständnis und der Interpretation der Interaktionsdaten dienlich sein, indem es diese neu identifizierten physisch interagierenden Proteine in den Kontext des größeren Dystrophin-Interaktoms einbindet.

Acknowledgements	1
Abstract	3
Résumé	5
Abstrakt	7
Figures	12
Tables	13
Supplementary figures	14
Supplementary tables	15
Abbreviations	16
Chapter 1 – Introduction	
Chapter 2 – Literature review	23
2A. Dystrophin domains	23
2A1. Introduction	23
2A2. Isoforms and expression	23
2A3. Dystrophin phosphorylation	25
2A4. Calponin homology domain, CH1 and CH2	26
2A5. Central Rod Domain/Spectrin Repeats	27
2A6. Cysteine rich region (CR)	29
2A7. WW domains	29
2A8. EF hands	
2A9. ZZ domains	
2A10. C-terminal domain	
2B. Dystrophin Interactors	
2B1. Dystrophin Associated Protein Complex	
2B2. Glycosylation	41
2B3. Other interactors of dystrophin	42
2B4. Interactors of the dystrophin associated protein complex	43
2C. Dystrophin-related proteins	45
2D. Roles of dystrophin within the cell	47
2E. Treatments of disease	50
2E1. Gene Therapy	50
2E2. Exon Skipping	52
2E3. Utrophin overexpression	54
2E4. Read-through nonsense mutations (PTC124)	55

Contents

2E5. Stem Cell Transplantation	55
2E6. Gene editing	56
2E7. Reducing symptoms	57
2E8. Approaches to disease and their relevance to the dystrophin interactome	58
2F. Cell and animal models for studying dystrophin and DMD	59
2F1. Cell models	59
2F2. Animal models	60
2G. Identifying protein-protein interactions	63
2G1. Interaction types	63
2G2. Experimental approaches	66
2H. Interaction databases	69
Objectives	73
Chapter 3 – hTERT/cdk4 immortalization protects the characteristics of human myogenic cells	75
Abstract	75
Introduction	76
Materials and Methods	79
Results	84
Discussion	94
Conclusions	96
Supplemental data	97
Chapter 4 – The dystrophin interactome reveals a link with secreted vesicles	104
Abstract	104
Introduction	105
Materials and Methods	107
Results	115
271 dystrophin interactors identified through QUICK strategy	115
Identification of 20 high confidence physical interactors	116
Enrichment analysis suggests a link between dystrophin and vesicle trafficking	119
Discussion	125
Conclusions	130
Supplementary data	132
Discussion	138
Immortalised cell lines	138
Finding new interactors using the QUICK approach	140
Dystrophin and the vesicle transport pathways	144
Dystrophin and the focal adhesion complex	146

Future investigation into the interactors	146
Online dystrophin interactome	147
Identifying additional interactors	150
Conclusion	152
References	153
Annex 1 – CellWhere paper (Non-thesis, third author)	193
Annex 2 – Aging Review (Non-thesis, co-first author)	198

Figures

Figure 1. Representation of the domains encoded by the exons within the dystrophin gene 19
Figure 2. Representation of the effects of in-frame and out-of-frame deletions on the resulting
dystrophin proteins
Figure 3. Crystal structures of dystrophin's N-terminal actin binding domain (A), first
spectrin repeat (B) and WW domain fragment (C), taken from RCSB with PDB IDs of
1DXX, 3UUN and 1EG3 respectively
Figure 4. The domains present in each of the dystrophin isoforms
Figure 5. The dystrophin domains with the calponin homology domains highlighted
Figure 6. A. The dystrophin domains with the spectrin repeat domains highlighted27
Figure 7. The dystrophin domains with the WW, EF hand 1, EF hand 2 and ZZ domains of
the cysteine rich domain highlighted
Figure 8. Typical schematic of the dystrophin-associated protein complex
Figure 9. Dystrophin structural similarity to the evolutionary related proteins utrophin,
dystrophin-related protein 2 and alpha- and beta-dystrobrevin
Figure 10. The similar roles of the dystrophin-associated protein complex and the integrin
focal adhesion complex in linking the cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix link
Figure 11. A diagram highlighting the possible exon skipping of exons 50 or 52 in order to
restore the reading frame of an exon 51 deletion
Figure 12. Schema of the different interaction types. Protein-protein interaction (PPI) types
can be defined as either obligate or non-obligate
Figure 13. Representative images of primary human myotubes. Myogenic cells were purified
by magnetic bead sorting of CD56 expression then differentiated for 3 days
Figure 14. Principal component analysis of gene expression data from primary cells and
immortalized clones of human myoblasts and differentiated myotubes, and from primary non-
myogenic (CD56-negative) muscle-resident cells
Figure 15. Heatmap showing the expression levels in immortalized and primary myogenic
human lines of genes that are consistently and strongly down-regulated in a panel of previous
studies of myoblast differentiation
Figure 16. Heatmap showing the expression levels in immortalized and primary myogenic
human lines of genes that are consistently and strongly up-regulated in a panel of previous
studies of myoblast differentiation
Figure 17. Mapping of rank-based gene set enrichments
Figure 18. Identification of high-confidence physical interactors of dystrophin
Figure 19. CellWhere representation of the probable localisations of the 18 physically
interacting
Figure 20. Dystrophin interactome of direct and physical interactions constructed based upon
previously published data and our experimental data
Figure 21. Direct interaction of full length dystrophin within myotubes
Figure 22. Different approaches to displaying protein interactions
Figure 23. The primary and secondary interactors of dystrophin generated using Cytoscape
using the IMEX databases

Tables

Table 1. Dystrophin associated protein complex proteins and their related diseases	3
Table 2. Summary of the cell lines used in this experiment alongside relevant mutation and	
donor background information	4
Table 3. 18 high-confidence proteins identified to be physically interacting with dystrophin a	S
determined through rank based fold change predictions11	8
Table 4. Physical interactors of dystrophin identified through the disabling of the quantify	
option of MaxQuant119	9
Table 5. Comparison between experimental and curated gene set Cellular Compartment GO	
Term ranks	C
Table 6. Known dystrophin interactors and members of the DAPC that are identified as	
potential physical interactors through our mass spectrometry12	8

Supplementary Figures

Supplementary figure 1. Heatmap showing the expression levels in immortalized and primary
human myoblasts of genes that may be mildly affected by immortalization97
Supplementary figure 2. Proteins involved in the regulation of Akt pathway activity
Supplementary figure 3. Expression levels of genes involved in microtubule stability99
Supplementary figure 4. Heatmap of gene expression for genes manually annotated to the
microtubule term of the Gene Ontology, including genes assayed by PCR above)100
Supplementary figure 5. Heatmap of gene expression for genes annotated to the integrin
complex term of the Gene Ontology101
Supplementary figure 6. Heatmap of gene expression for genes annotated to the protein
kinase B binding (i.e. Akt binding) term of the Gene Ontology101
Supplementary figure 7. Over-representation analysis of differentially expressed genes 102
Supplementary figure 8. Optimisation of the conditions for the culture and
immunoprecipitation protocols
Supplementary figure 9. Analysis of cells after dystrophin knockdown134
Supplementary figure 10. Schematic of the method plan used to obtain mass spectrometry
data of the three forward and one reverse runs

Supplementary tables

Supplementary table 1. Complete list of gene expression datasets used in this study and their	
sources10	3
Supplementary table 2. All proteins with a consistently positive fold change across at least	
two of the four runs	6
Supplementary table 3. Known dystrophin interactors, role and binding domains on	
dystrophin13	7

Abbreviations

20MePS – 2'-O-methyl phosphorothioate AAV – Adeno-associated virus ABS – Actin-binding site BMD – Becker muscular dystrophy Cas9 - CRISPR associated protein 9 Cdk4 - Cyclin-dependent kinase 4 CH domain – Calponin homology domain CR – Cysteine rich CRISPR - Clustered, regularly interspaced, short, palindromic repeats C-terminal – Carboxylic terminal DAPC – Dystrophin-associated protein complex DMD – Duchenne muscular dystrophy Dp – Dystrophin protein DRP2 - Dystrophin-related protein 2 DTNA - Alpha-dystrobrevin EHD2 – EH domain-containing protein 2 FDA – Food and drug administration FDR – False discovery rate FSHD – Facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy GEO - Gene Expression Omnibus GO – Gene Ontology GSEA – Gene set enrichment analysis hTERT - Human telomerase reverse transcriptase ITR – Inverted terminal repeats kb - Kilobases kDa – Kilodalton LAMP1 - Lysosome-associated protein 1 LGMD – Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy Lis1 – Lissencephaly 1 MCK promoter - Muscle creatine kinase promoter MURC - Muscle-related coiled-coil protein / cavin-4 MYADM - Myeloid-associated differentiation marker Nde1 – Nuclear distribution protein nude homolog 1 NMDA receptors - N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors nNOS – Neuronal nitric oxide synthase N-terminal – Amino terminal Par1b – Polarity-regulating kinase partitioning-defective 1b PCA - Principal component analysis PH domain - Pleckstrin homology domain PMO – Morpholino PSICQUIC - Proteomics Standard Initiative Common QUery InterfaCe PSI-MI format - Proteomics Standard Initiative Molecular Interaction format PTRF - Polymerase I and transcript release factor / cavin-1 QUICK - Quantitative immunoprecipitation combined with knockdown R[X] – Spectrin repeat [X] SH domain - Src homology domain

SILAC – Stable isotope labelling with amino acids in cell culture

SNTA/B1/B2 – Syntrophin (alpha/beta-1/beta-2)

TALEN – Transcription activator-like effector nucleases

TNS1 – Tensin-1

TRPC - Transient receptor potential channels

UGC – Utrophin–glycoprotein complex

ZFN – Zinc finger nucleases

ZZ domain – ZZ-type zinc finger domain

Chapter 1 – Introduction

Muscle can be categorised into three groups; skeletal muscle, smooth muscle and cardiac muscle, skeletal muscle being responsible for voluntary movements. The constituent cells of muscles are called myoblasts. These myoblasts, upon myogensis, differentiate and fuse together to form elongated multinucleated myotubes. These myotubes initially have centrally located nuclei, but upon further maturity the nuclei migrate to the periphery of the cell and are referred to as muscle fibres. Muscles are made up of hundreds or thousands of aligned muscle fibres. Myoblasts can also fuse to previously differentiated myotubes

Upon myoblast differentiation the cell will alter protein expression as it moves from the proliferating myoblast to the muscle-functioning myotube. Muscle cells also express proteins specific to muscle. The differing protein expressions between myoblasts, myotubes, and cells of other tissue types allows for easy determination of cells types. Such common used markers include desmin (myoblasts and myotubes) (Kaufman & Foster, 1988; Lawson-Smith & McGeachie, 1998; Lazarides & Hubbard, 1976), myosin heavy chain (myotubes) (Bandman, Matsuda, Micou-Eastwood, & Strohman, 1981; Roy, Sreter, & Sarkar, 1979; Rushbrook & Stracher, 1979; Sréter, Bálint, & Gergely, 1975) and CD56 (myoblasts) (Belles-Isles et al., 1993; Illa, Leon-Monzon, & Dalakas, 1992; Schubert, Zimmermann, Cramer, & Starzinski-Powitz, 1989) to determine myogenicity. CD56 is a cell surface protein, making it useful for determining cell type and selecting cells while the cells are still alive (a property which is taken advantage of during the cell immortalisation process)

Muscles undergo constant degeneration and regeneration. In order for muscle to maintain its mass the two processes must occur at the same rate. Muscle atrophy occurs when the rate of degeneration exceeds the rate of regeneration. Skeletal muscle, being involved in voluntary movements, experiences external forces during animal movement. If the muscle is weakened and its ability to cope with the additional strain is diminished, degeneration will increase, which is the case during dystrophin absence from the cell.

Dystrophin is a vital protein within muscle cells encoded by one of the largest human genes at 2.4 megabases, comprising 79 exons which transcribes a 3,685 amino acid full length protein in humans (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Representation of the domains encoded by the exons within the dystrophin gene. Figure from Nicolas *et al.* 2012 (Nicolas et al., 2012). Deletions of exons which result in-frame deletions result in a truncated dystrophin to be expressed whereas exon deletions resulting in a frameshift of the reading frame will result in an unstable protein.

Mutations in the gene can result in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) or Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD). DMD is generally caused by a mutation that results in an out-of-frame deletion (the absence of exon 51 for example, Figure 1) or a nonsense mutation leading to no expression of functional dystrophin. Substitution of a single nucleotide is responsible for approximately half of reported cases, followed by small deletions, exon duplications, exon deletions, small duplications, small duplications and small insertions (Buzin et al., 2005; Hofstra et al., 2004; Tuffery-Giraud et al., 2004). BMD is generally caused by an in-frame mutation which results in a partially functional, shortened dystrophin being expressed (the absence of exon 49 for example). An example of the effects of exon deletions on the dystrophin protein resulting in BMD or DMD is shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Representation of the effects of in-frame and out-of-frame deletions on the resulting dystrophin proteins. Spectrin repeats expressed in blue, gene deletions of spectrin in red and subsequently disrupted out-offrame domains in black and white stripes. Figure adapted from Muntoni *et al.* 2003 (Muntoni, Torelli, & Ferlini, 2003). In-frame deletions result in a truncated protein in which domains further along the gene are still represented in the protein (deletion of exons 36-41 represented in this example) predicting a BMD phenotype. Out-of-frame deletions result in disruption of the reading frame causing domains downstream of the deletion to be disrupted and resulting in an unstable protein (deletion of exons 41-52 in this example) predicting a DMD phenotype.

DMD is the more severe of the two phenotypes and many efforts to treat the disease attempt to convert the DMD phenotype to the less severe BMD phenotype. Each in-frame mutation pattern has a different effect on the coding sequence, resulting in truncated dystrophin proteins of different lengths and structural composition. In addition, mutations may have varying effects on the expression level and stability of the resulting protein. This results in differing degrees of severity of the disease among those affected by BMD. In some cases, in-frame mutations can result in DMD phenotypes usually resulting from a large deletion in the spectrin repeats whereas some mutations allow BMD patients to go through their whole life needing only a walking stick to aid walking (Nevo et al., 2003), and others are entirely asymptomatic (Christophe Béroud et al., 2007). About two-thirds of cases are thought to be inherited, while the remainder result from spontaneous mutations (T. Lee et al., 2014). DMD affects approximately 1 in 5000 males (Mendell et al., 2012), and is characterized by severe muscle wasting with loss of the ability to walk during childhood and a life expectancy now of approximately 25 years with the use of corticosteroids and non-invasive ventilation (Beytía, Vry, & Kirschner, 2012).

The DMD pathology usually becomes apparent between the ages of two and seven years of age when subjects experience their first difficulty in walking. Deterioration in other muscle functions become increasingly evident as the disease progresses. Muscle wasting occurs due to the inability to repair or recruit new muscle cells to sufficiently replace those lost by necrosis.

Some mutations affect the expression of shorter isoforms driven by alternative promoters within the gene. In particular, cognitive function may be impaired (Doorenweerd et al., 2014). The majority of patients with DMD and BMD will ultimately die as a result of respiratory failure or cardiac complications including dilated cardiomyopathy and irregular heartbeats (T. Matsumura, Saito, Fujimura, Shinno, & Sakoda, 2011; Stromberg, Darin, Kroksmark, & Tulinius, 2012), resulting from progressive loss of the muscles of the thoracic cavity, including the heart and diaphragm.

Such is the severity and high frequency of DMD among muscular dystrophies, numerous attempts have been made to treat the disease. Approaches include gene therapy and exon skipping (Abdul-Razak, Malerba, & Dickson, 2016; Popplewell et al., 2013; Yue et al., 2015), the latter having currently progressed beyond phase II clinical trials. Many of the treatments attempt to convert the Duchenne phenotype to a less severe BMD phenotype. Attempts to treat the disease through gene editing have recently gained traction (Long et al., 2015; Nelson et al., 2016; Tabebordbar et al., 2016). An alternative method involving overexpression of the dystrophin-related-protein utrophin to substitute for the absent dystrophin have also been explored with some preclinical success (Moorwood et al., 2011).

A great deal of research has gone into investigating dystrophin, its roles within the cell, and the pathology of dystrophinopathy since the discovery of the DMD gene in 1986 (Monaco et al., 1986) and subsequent discovery of the protein in 1987 (Hoffman, Brown, & Kunkel, 1987). During this time many proteins have been found to interact with dystrophin, many of which form the dystrophin associated protein complex (DAPC), a group of proteins that have a prominent role in maintaining cell structure by providing a link between the extracellular matrix and the cytoskeleton (Ehmsen, Poon, & Davies, 2002). Animal and cell models of the DMD pathology (such as the dystrophin-deficient mdx mice (Bulfield, Siller, Wight, & Moore, 1984)) have been used to research the effects of dystrophin and loss and potential treatments.

Gene therapy approaches involving dystrophin gene transfection using adeno-associated virus (AAV) have been extensively researched (Hollinger & Chamberlain, 2015; Jarmin, Kymalainen, Popplewell, & Dickson, 2014; Ramos & Chamberlain, 2015) and successfully completed phase 1 clinical trials to exhibit AAV safety (Bowles et al., 2012). Owing to the unusually large size of the dystrophin coding sequence, a limitation of the gene therapy approach arises from the physical capacity of the AAV capsid, which can hold around 4.5 kilobases (kb) of DNA. Genes encoding truncated dystrophin proteins (also known as

microdystrophin constructs) have been designed in an effort to produce a dystrophin that will reduce the DMD phenotype as much as possible within the AAV size constraints. This requires judgement on which are the most important dystrophin regions to retain, and which can be deleted with minimal loss of function.

To be able to fully understand the effects of dystrophin absence or the loss of specific fragments and to design the most effective exon-skipping and micro-dystrophin approaches, it is important to know which other proteins dystrophin is interacting with. The identification of all important binding partners is particularly pertinent to the gene therapy approach where there is some freedom to select which regions of dystrophin to include into the truncated product.

Chapter 2 – Literature review

2A. Dystrophin domains

2A1. Introduction

The 79 exons of dystrophin can be split into four distinct regions. The N-terminal/actin binding domain encompasses amino acids 14-240 (exons 1 to 8), forming two calponin homology domains (CH1 and CH2) (Koenig, Monaco, & Kunkel, 1988). The x-ray structure of this domain has been resolved (Figure 3A). The rod domain encompasses amino acids 253-3040 (exons 8 to 61), made up of 24 triple helical spectrin like repeat units and four short 'hinge' regions (x-ray structure Figure 3B). The rod domain comprises 75 percent of the entire dystrophin protein. Amino acids 3080-3360 (exons 62-69) make up the cysteine-rich domain (ZZ). Finally, there is the C-terminal domain of amino acids 3361- 3685 encoded by exons 70 to 79 containing a coiled-coil region. The cysteine rich and C-terminal domains contain a large proportion of the binding sites for proteins that make up the dystrophin-associated protein complex. A full crystal structure of dystrophin has not been obtained due to its large size.



Figure 3. Crystal structures of dystrophin's N-terminal actin binding domain (A), first spectrin repeat (B) and WW domain fragment (C), taken from RCSB with PDB IDs of 1DXX, 3UUN and 1EG3 respectively. A complete crystal structure of dystrophin has yet to be obtained.

2A2. Isoforms and expression

Many dystrophin isoforms exist with expression specific to different tissues. Dystrophin isoform nomenclature follows the structure Dp (for the dystrophin protein), the proteins weight in kilodaltons (kDa), and a letter to represent either tissue expression or splicing. Full length dystrophin is represented as Dp427m (Dp for dystrophin, 427 kDa length, m for expression in

muscle tissue). Other important isoforms of dystrophin include Dp427c in the brain (cortical) and Dp71, which is the most abundant outside of muscle, particularly in the brain.



Figure 4. The domains present in each of the dystrophin isoforms. Image from Nicolas *et al.* 2012 (Nicolas et al., 2012). Skeletal muscle dystrophin isoform Dp427m contains all domains that are encoded in the dystrophin gene and often referred to as full length dystrophin. Domains WW, EF hand 1, EF hand 2 and ZZ are together known as the cysteine rich domain.

The different dystrophin isoforms (Figure 4) result from alternative promoter regions or splicing, or from an alternative poly-A addition site in the specific case of Dp40 (apodystrophin-3) of the DMD gene. Dp427 encodes the full length dystrophin with all the domains present. Tissue-specific promoters create a large diversity of dystrophin domains present in the different isoforms. Promoters within the gene drive expression of numerous isoforms lacking the full-length N-terminal regions. For example, Dp260, Dp140, and Dp116, lack the CH domains and part of the rod domain up to spectrin repeats 9, 18, and 21, respectively, while Dp71 lacks the CH domains and the entire rod domain. In total, dystrophin has 7 unique promoters. Additional variations through splicing can also occur. Dp40, for example, encodes only the glycoprotein binding site of dystrophin.

Multiple dystrophin isoforms can be expressed within the same cell, with differing expression patterns in both developmental time points and in protein localisation (Bolaños-Jiménez et al., 2001), indicating that dystrophin isoforms have unique roles within the cell. Skeletal muscle expresses the Dp427 isoform as the actin binding CH domains are required to combat muscle contraction-induced damage (Banks, Gregorevic, Allen, Finn, & Chamberlain, 2007). It is also

the prominent isoform in cardiac muscle. Full-length dystrophin is expressed only upon differentiation.

Dp71 is expressed across a wide range of tissues, being most abundant in brain and has been reported in myoblasts (de León et al., 2005). Some variations of the Dp71 isoform have been shown to localise within the nucleus where it anchors an alternative version of the DAPC (Fuentes-Mera et al., 2006). Its expression is subsequently downregulated during differentiation when the full length isoform becomes prominent. No other isoforms have been detected in healthy skeletal muscle.

In myoblasts, YY1 protein was found to downregulate the promoter region of the full length dystrophin (Galvagni, 1998). The protease m-calpain was found to be upregulated and subsequently degrade the YY1 protein during skeletal muscle cell differentiation, allowing Dp427 to be expressed. Conversely, the Sp1 and Sp3 proteins were found to promote Dp71 expression in myoblast, while these proteins were absent upon differentiation (de León et al., 2005).

2A3. Dystrophin phosphorylation

Various phosphorylation sites of dystrophin have been identified, some of which have been found to regulate the interactions of dystrophin. These phosphorylations are performed by a large number of kinases such as cAMP-dependent/cGMP-dependent protein kinase (DGC-PK), CaM kinase, casein kinase II, protein kinase C, p44 MAP kinase and p34cdc2 protein kinase.

Phosphorylation at S3066 enhances the dystrophin-dystroglycan interaction (Swiderski et al., 2014). Phosphorylation within dystrophin's rod domain is able to regulate actin binding, with PKA phosphorylation increasing dystrophin's actin binding properties and phosphorylation by CK-II or PKC inhibiting actin binding (Senter, Ceoldo, Petrusa, & Salviati, 1995). Phosphorylation within the dystrophin C-terminal domain can inhibit syntrophin binding (Madhavan & Jarrett, 1999).

The majority of the currently known dystrophin phosphorylation sites are located at the Cterminal, a region responsible for binding many of the DAPC members. Several other members of the DAPC have been found to be phosphorylated and implicated in their function, such as syntrophin phosphorylation initiating Rac1 signalling (Y. W. Zhou, Thomason, Gullberg, & Jarrett, 2006).

Dystroglycan phosphorylation has been implicated in signalling for proteasomal degradation of the DAPC. Preventing beta-dystroglycan phosphorylation at Y890 in mdx mice (mdx mice being a commonly used mouse model lacking dystrophin expression (Bulfield et al., 1984; Sicinski et al., 1989), discussed in further detail in chapter 2.F2) was found to ease the dystrophic phenotype by reinstating the correct localisation of the members of DAPC (excluding dystrophin) and increasing the resistance to contraction-induced damage (Miller et al., 2012). It has been suggested that kinase inhibitors could be used in therapeutic approaches to alleviate dystrophic symptoms (Lipscomb, Piggott, Emmerson, & Winder, 2016).

2A4. Calponin homology domain, CH1 and CH2

There are three types of calponin domains, type 1, 2 and 3 (CH1, CH2 and CH3). Type 1 and 2 are found in tandem, typically in cytoskeleton proteins, and bind F-actin. Type three is involved in regulatory and signalling roles. Dystrophin contains tandem CH1 and CH2 domains (Figure 5). They are located at the N-terminal of dystrophin at amino acids 14-240, encoded by exons 2 to 8.



Figure 5. The dystrophin domains with the calponin homology domains highlighted. Dystrophin contains two calponin homology domains, CH1 and CH2, located at its N-terminal, which act together to bind actin. Two CH domains are present in other actin-binding proteins such as spectrins and filamins.

Each CH domain is made up of a four alpha-helix core (Norwood, Sutherland-Smith, Keep, & Kendrick-Jones, 2000). The two CH domains are connected by a short linker alpha-helix region, and are able to bind one F-actin monomer between them. Individually, the N-terminal CH domain is able to bind F-actin with an affinity comparable to the two CH domains in parallel while the second CH domain is significantly weaker at binding actin and is predominantly required for stabilisation of the tandem domains (Singh, Bandi, & Mallela,

2015). The two CH domains have three distinct actin binding sites between them, located at amino acids 18-27 (actin-binding site 1, ABS1), 88-116 (ABS2) and 131-147 (ABS3) in exons 2, 5 and 6 respectively (Norwood et al., 2000). The shorter dystrophin isoforms are all without the calponin homology domains, since these domains are located at the N-terminal, and all other smaller dystrophin isoforms have their promoter regions located further downstream.

Microdystrophins lacking the calponin domains were found to be highly susceptible to contraction-induced injury when compared to microdystrophins incorporating the same domains and the additional calponin domains (Banks et al., 2007), likely due to the disrupted binding of dystrophin to actin and subsequent decrease in dystrophin-mediated linkage of the cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix. Additionally, microdystrophin constructs lacking this N-terminal region have been found to have reduced stability and expression (Corrado et al., 1996). As a result, microdystrophin constructs are usually designed to include the two CH domains intact.

2A5. Central Rod Domain/Spectrin Repeats

Dystrophin's central rod domain contains 24 spectrin repeat units, with two hinge units flanking the entire domain, and a further two hinge units located between spectrin repeats R3/R4 and R19/R20 (Figure 6A). Each spectrin repeat unit is comprised of a three alpha-helix bundle (Muthu et al., 2012) forming triple-helical coiled-coil structures (Figure 6C).



Figure 6. A. The dystrophin domains with the spectrin repeat domains highlighted. Spectrin repeats (coloured in light blue) form an elongated rod structure with hinge domains open half circle) located between repeats 3 to 4 and 19 to 20, with hinge domains also separating repeats 1 and 24 from the calponin domains at the N terminus and the cysteine rich domain near the C terminus respectively. The 24 spectrin repeats of dystrophin are not identical. B. A diagram representing how the individual spectrin repeats link to each other. Alternating blue and red represent separate spectrin repeat units. Image from Grum *et al.* 1999 (Grum, Li, MacDonald, &

Mondragón, 1999). C. Predicted structure of the dystrophin spectrin repeats 10 and 11 from Legrand *et al.* 2011 (Legrand, Giudice, Nicolas, Delalande, & Le Rumeur, 2011).

The spectrin repeats are homologous to the repeats found in other proteins including spectrin, utrophin and alpha-actinin (Winder, Gibson, & Kendrick-Jones, 1995). Each spectrin repeat is made up of approximately 110 amino acids, although the individual spectrin repeats in dystrophin vary in length. Consecutive spectrin repeats form longer rod structures (Figure 6B and 6C) (Grum et al., 1999).

The hinge units are proline-rich small amino acid sequences that may add flexibility or specific conformation to the general form of the spectrin rod structure (Legrand et al., 2011). The hinges are important to dystrophin function and deletions which alter the neighbouring spectrin domains of the hinges can have effects on disease severity in BMD (Banks, Judge, Allen, & Chamberlain, 2010; Carsana et al., 2005).

One role of the rod domain may be to elongate dystrophin to increase the distance between the actin-binding N-terminal and the DAPC-implicated C-terminal. The spectrin repeats have also been implicated in the binding of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) (Lai et al., 2009), actin (Kurt J Amann, Renley, & Ervasti, 1998), and membrane lipids (DeWolf et al., 1997).

The rod domain consists of amino acids 253-3040 from exons 8 to 61, making up the majority of the entire dystrophin molecule. Spanning 54 of dystrophins 79 exons, many dystrophin mutations capable of causing DMD and BMD phenotypes have been reported to occur within the spectrin repeats (X. Li et al., 2015). In-frame mutations in the spectrin repeat region generally cause less severe phenotypes than those affecting the N-terminal, cysteine rich domain, and C-terminal (C Béroud, Collod-Béroud, Boileau, Soussi, & Junien, 2000; Tuffery-Giraud et al., 2009). Out-of-frame deletions around exons 45 to 52 are particularly common in patients with DMD (Barzegar, Habibi, Bonyady, Topchizadeh, & Shiva, 2015; X. Li et al., 2015), likely due to the relatively long introns adjacent to these exons.

Microdystrophin designs remove large portions of this domain in order to reduce the size of dystrophins sufficiently for AAV transfections. Much of the functionality of dystrophin appears to be retained in the absence of some of these spectrin repeats (Harper et al., 2002). The shorter dystrophin isoforms, whose roles differ from those of the full length dystrophin in skeletal muscle, are without some (Dp260, Dp140, Dp116) or all (Dp71, Dp40) of the spectrin repeats.

2A6. Cysteine rich region (CR)

The cysteine rich region, as the name suggests, is enriched in cysteine residues. In dystrophin it is encoded by exons 63 to 69 and makes up amino acids 3080-3360. Located within this region are the WW domain, EF hands and ZZ domain (Figure 7).



Figure 7. The dystrophin domains with the WW, EF hand 1, EF hand 2 and ZZ domains of the cysteine rich domain highlighted. The cysteine rich domain is important for dystrophin with EF1, EF2 and ZZ domains present in all dystrophin isoforms.

Dystrophin interactors mapped to the cysteine rich region include beta-dystroglycan (Hnia et al., 2007; Rentschler et al., 1999), synemin (Bhosle, Michele, Campbell, Li, & Robson, 2006), plectin (Rezniczek et al., 2007) and ankyrin 2 and 3 (Ayalon, Davis, Scotland, & Bennett, 2008), all of which make use of the three different domains within the cysteine rich domain for their binding.

The region is highly important to dystrophin function. Deletions in this region have not been reported in BMD patients and microdystrophin constructs without this region disrupt the DAPC and cause severe pathologies (Rafael et al., 1996; Suminaga, Takeshima, Wada, Yagi, & Matsuo, 2004). It is the only region that is present in all dystrophin isoforms.

2A7. WW domains

WW domains are triple stranded beta-sheets that contain two tryptophan residues (though which the domain gets its name) approximately 20-22 amino acids apart, in addition to a conserved proline. The WW domain recognises proteins with a proline rich sequence followed by a PPXP (H. I. Chen & Sudol, 1995; Macias, Wiesner, & Sudol, 2002) or PPXY (A. Yatsenko et al., 2009) motif. It is also able to recognise phosphoserine and phosphothreonine containing motifs. The domain has diverse functional roles but is most commonly involved in signalling or regulation. Dystrophin's WW domain is located at amino acids 3056-3092, encoded by

exons 62 and 63. It has been found to have binding affinities for beta-dystroglycan at two regions (A. Yatsenko et al., 2009).

2A8. EF hands

The EF hand domains are made up of two alpha-helices linked by a loop region of 12 amino acids (Lewit-Bentley & Réty, 2000) and often found in pairs. The domain is commonly found to bind calcium however this is not thought to be the case in dystrophin as they do not contain the calcium-binding residues. No calcium ions were observed binding during crystal structure determination and the ion was not found to affect the affinity of the dystrophin-beta-dystroglycan-binding (Huang et al., 2000). In addition to calcium recognition, the domain can also recognise magnesium ions (Malmendal, Linse, Evenäs, Forsén, & Drakenberg, 1999).

It is commonly involved in either regulatory or structural roles. When involved in regulatory processes, binding of calcium to the EF hands will induce conformational changes. When involved in structural roles the EF hand will not undergo conformational changes. As dystrophin does not bind calcium it does not undergo conformational changes, and the EF and WW domains were found to be rigid. Binding of the EF domains to dystroglycan in conjunction with the WW and ZZ domains of dystrophin also produced no conformational changes. The domain is therefore thought to be involved in a structural role. The EF hands on dystrophin are located at amino acids 3130-3157 encoded by exon 65 and 3178-3206 exons 65 and 66, between the WW and ZZ domains.

2A9. ZZ domains

The ZZ domain, also known as the ZZ-type zinc finger domain, contains two distinct CXXC motifs that commonly bind to zinc ions. It is located at amino acids 3307-3354 encoded by exons 68 and 69. The domain has been shown to strengthen the interaction of dystrophin and beta-dystroglycan which primarily occurs through the WW domain. The distinct binding sites of the ZZ domain with beta-dystroglycan have been reported (Hnia et al., 2007; Ishikawa-Sakurai, Yoshida, Imamura, Davies, & Ozawa, 2004).

2A10. C-terminal domain

Dystrophin's C-terminal (labelled COOH in figures 5, 6A and 7) is unique to itself and utrophin, an evolutionarily closely related protein. The C-terminal comprises amino acids

3361-3685 encoded by exons 70 to 79. The domain is made up of leucine heptad repeating units consisting of two right-handed α -helices that form a coiled-coil motif. It contains the dystrophin binding sites of syntrophins and dystrobrevins. Dystrophin's coiled-coil site interacts with a coiled-coil site on dystrobrevin. This interaction was found to be specific as the coiled-coil domains do not homodimerise (Sadoulet-Puccio, Rajala, & Kunkel, 1997).

Forms of dystrophin with C-terminal deletions have been shown to be functional, retaining the localization of dystrophin, dystrobrevin, and syntrophin, at the sarcolemma (Crawford et al., 2000), through binding of other DAPC proteins. As a result, many microdystrophin constructs have been designed with truncated or absent C-terminal regions and have shown promising results (Yue, Liu, & Duan, 2006).

2B. Dystrophin Interactors

2B1. Dystrophin Associated Protein Complex

Introduction

To fully understand the roles of a protein, it is necessary to know its binding partners. Additionally, protein interactions help to explain the fundamental causes of pathologies. This is of particular relevance to dystrophin due to its involvement in many muscular dystrophies, including DMD and BMD, but also other DAPC-related pathologies such as the sarcoglycanopathies. The specific interaction sites of a protein are of particular use in understanding diseases resulting from proteins expressed with delete or mutated domains such as in BMD. The therapies being developed to treat DMD are also able to make use of specific binding sites during therapeutic design.

The dystrophin associated protein complex is comprised of proteins that strongly associate with dystrophin at its C-terminal at the sarcolemma. The complexes main role is structural, linking the extracellular matrix with the actin cytoskeleton in order to distribute contractile induced stress and stabilise the sarcomere. It has also been strongly implicated in signalling. The proteins usually classed as being part of the DAPC are dystrobrevins, syntrophins, dystroglycans, sarcoglycans, sarcospan and nNOS (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Typical schematic of the dystrophin-associated protein complex. The important interaction of dystrophin with the actin cytoskeleton is also included. Image derived from Rodrigues et al. (2016) (Rodrigues, Echigoya, Fukada, & Yokota, 2016). The dystrophin-associated protein complex includes the transmembrane proteins beta-dystroglycan and several members of the sarcoglycan family. Its most well studied role is in linking the actin cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix however it is also involved in several other roles. As well as dystrophin's protein interactions its rod domain also associates with the lipid membrane.

The DAPC can itself be separated into three distinct complexes; the dystroglycan complex (alpha-dystroglycan and beta-dystroglycan), the sarcoglycan-sarcospan complex (alpha-, beta-, delta- and gamma-sarcoglycan and sarcospan) and the dystrophin/dystrobrevin/syntrophin complex (dystrophin, alpha-dystrobrevin and alpha-, beta-1- and beta-2-syntrophin). Diseases resulting from mutations in proteins of the DAPC often have similarities in their pathology (Table 1).

Protein name	Related	Full disease name	Notes
	disease code		
Dystrophin	DMD	Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy	
	BMD	Becker Muscular Dystrophy	
Alpha-sarcoglycan	LGMD-2D	Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy	
		type 2D	
Beta-sarcoglycan	LGMD-2E	Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy	
		type 2E	
Delta-sarcoglycan	LGMD-2F	Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy	
		type 2F	
Gamma-sarcoglycan	LGMD-2C	Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy	
		type 2C	
Alpha-dystrobrevin	-	Meniere's disease	Ear only
	LVNC1	Left ventricular noncompaction 1	Cardiac only
Alpha-dystroglycan	LGMD-2P	Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy 2P	Dystroglycanopathy
Beta-dystroglycan	Non	_	
Alpha-syntrophin	LQT12	Long QT syndrome 12	Cardiac only

Table 1. Dystrophin associated protein complex proteins and their related diseases. The absence of many dystrophin related proteins result in distinct diseases, although not all of the proteins have been linked to a disease.
Beta-1-syntrophin	Non	-	
Beta-2-syntrophin	Non	-	
Sarcospan	Non	-	
nNOS	-	Achalasia type 3	Striated/Smooth muscle (esophagus)
Other gene mutations of note			
Genes responsible for Alpha-dystroglycan including POMT1 / POMT2 / ISPD / FKTN / FKRP / LARGE / POMGNT1	WWS / MEB / FCMD / MDC1C / MDC1D / LGMD-2I/L/N	Walker–Warburg syndrome / Muscle–Eye– Brain disease / Fukuyama-type muscular dystrophy / Congenital muscular dystrophy type 1C/D / Limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2I/L/N	Alpha-dystroglycan aberrant glycosylation related dystroglycanopathies (Bouchet-Seraphin C, 2015)
Caveolin-3	LGMD-1C	Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy 1C	
Alpha-Laminin-2	MDC1A	Merosin-Deficient Congenital Muscular Dystrophy type 1A	

Dystrobrevins

The dystrobrevin protein family is comprised of alpha- and beta-dystrobrevin isoforms in human. Dystrobrevins are closely related to dystrophin. The dystrobrevin proteins have a close homology to dystrophin at their C-terminals, both having coiled coil motifs containing EF domains. Dystrobrevins are significantly shorter than dystrophin with the alpha and beta human isoforms having length 743 and 627 amino acids respectively.

Dystrobrevin is able to bind to dystrophin (Sadoulet-Puccio et al., 1997), syntrophins (Newey, Benson, Ponting, Davies, & Blake, 2000) and sarcoglycans (M. Yoshida et al., 2000) within the DAPC. Other important interactions include the intermediate filaments syncoilin (Newey et al., 2001) and synemin (Mizuno et al., 2001). Synemins are also able to bind to dystrophin (Bhosle et al., 2006). The intermediate filament interactions link the DAPC, providing additional mechanical support.

Although both alpha- and beta-dystrobrevin are highly expressed across a wide range of tissues, alpha-dystrobrevin is the isoform prominently expressed in skeletal muscle. It directly binds dystrophin's coiled coil domain through its own coiled-coil domain (Sadoulet-Puccio et al., 1997). The coiled coil domains of both proteins are in close proximity to syntrophin-binding domains also present in both proteins, and located in the C-terminus of both. Specifically, Dystrophin's WW domain binds to the WW domain of dystrobrevin, with EF hands of

dystrobrevin stabilising the interaction. The crystal structure of this interaction has been solved (Huang et al., 2000).

While dystrophin is known to be the central protein in formation of the dystrophin associated protein complex in muscle, experiments on mice lacking all dystrophin isoforms suggested that dystrobrevins may be essential for DAPC assembly outside of muscle (Loh, Newey, Davies, & Blake, 2000). In DMD skeletal muscle, the DAPC is disrupted, resulting in the loss of alpha-dystrobrevin localisation at the sarcolemma (D. Li, Long, Yue, & Duan, 2009; Metzinger, 1997).

Alpha-dystrobrevin deficient mice exhibited skeletal and cardio myopathy (Grady et al., 1999). Dystrobrevin plays a role in stabilisation of the sarcolemma, but the DAPC forms intact in its absence. The signalling protein nNOS has a decreased localisation at the membrane as a result of dystrobrevin knockdown despite dystrophin localisation being normal. This suggests a role in signalling for alpha-dystrobrevin. Alpha-dystrobrevin's direct interaction with alpha-syntrophin is likely to mediate the association of dystrobrevin with nNOS. Affecting only the inner ear, a mutation resulting in skipping of alpha-dystrobrevin's exon 21 resulted in Meniere's disease with symptoms of vertigo, tinnitus and permanent hearing loss, possibly due to the disruption of DAPC roles in the inner ear (Requena et al., 2015).

Syntrophins

Syntrophins are scaffolding adapter protein, linking the DAPC to signalling proteins. Humans express five isoforms of syntrophin: alpha, beta-1, beta-2, gamma-1 and gamma-2, with all except gamma-1 expressed in skeletal muscle. Gamma-2-syntrophin has distinct functions and localises to the endoplasmic reticulum rather than being present in the DAPC (Alessi et al., 2006). As such, it is only alpha-, beta-1- and beta-2-syntrophins that interact with dystrophin *in vivo*. Beta-1-syntrophin is predominantly located at the sarcolemma, while beta-2-syntrophin is mostly found at the neuromuscular junction. Alpha-syntrophin is significantly located in both regions. All subsequent discussions on syntrophins will be solely referring to the alpha and beta isoforms.

The syntrophin proteins range from 505 to 540 amino acids in length, and all feature two tandem pleckstrin homology (PH) domains, a PDZ domain and a C-terminal syntrophin unique domain. The C-terminal of dystrophin is able to bind to the syntrophin unique domains of

alpha-, beta-1- and beta-2-syntrophins in skeletal muscle, binding at exons 73-74 (Ahn & Kunkel, 1995; Yang, Jung, Rafael, Chamberlain, & Campbell, 1995). Dystrophin is thought to be capable of binding up to two syntrophins simultaneously (Newey et al., 2000). Alpha-dystrobrevin contains three sites that bind to this syntrophin unique domain (Böhm, Constantinou, Tan, Jin, & Roberts, 2009). Exons relating to syntrophin binding in both dystrophin and dystrobrevin are subject to alternate splicing allowing for regulation of syntrophin stoichiometry within the DAPC.

This leaves PH and PDZ domains free to bind a variety of signalling proteins. The PH and PDZ domains can work together in order to recruit nNOS and acetylcholine receptors to the neuromuscular junction in alpha-syntrophin (M E Adams, Mueller, & Froehner, 2001; Marvin E Adams, Anderson, & Froehner, 2010). Sodium Ion Channels have been shown to bind to the PDZ domains of the three syntrophins (Gee, Madhavan, et al., 1998). Dystrophin deficiency, which results in syntrophin mislocalisation, results in sodium channel misregulation, increased sodium ion concentration in cells, promoting cell death (Hirn, Shapovalov, Petermann, Roulet, & Ruegg, 2008).

Interestingly, mutations of alpha-syntrophin showed no adverse effects on phenotype, despite a resulting mislocalisation of nNOS (Kameya et al., 1999). No disease has been related to mutations of syntrophins.

Dystroglycans

Alpha- and beta-dystroglycan are located in the membrane of the sarcolemma. Alphadystroglycan and beta-dystroglycan bind together and are referred to as the dystroglycan complex. This transmembrane complex binds laminin (and other extracellular proteins) through alpha-dystroglycan and dystrophin through beta-dystroglycan, creating a structural link between dystrophin (and the intracellular cytoskeleton) and laminin (part of the extracellular matrix). The dystroglycan complex has also been implicated in signalling (Y. W. Zhou et al., 2006). It is able to form complexes with proteins other than dystrophin. Some of its interactions, such as signalling interactions with growth factor receptor 2 (Russo et al., 2000), plectin (Rezniczek et al., 2007) and caveolin-3 (Sotgia et al., 2000) are inhibited by dystrophin binding. Caveolin-3 is thought to negatively downregulate dystrophin localisation at the sarcolemma. Actin has been shown to bind to beta-dystroglycan (Y.-J. Chen et al., 2003) but has not been confirmed as part of the DAPC. Ankyrin-G has been shown to bind to dystroglycan at a different location from the dystrophin binding site (Ayalon et al., 2008). Dystroglycan has been shown to play a role in cell polarity which is independent of dystrophin binding (A. S. Yatsenko et al., 2007).

Beta-dystroglycan binds dystrophin at amino acids 3054-3271 (Jung, Yang, Meyer, Chamberlain, & Campbell, 1995) located at dystrophin's cysteine rich domain, interacting with dystrophin's WW domain, EF hands and ZZ domain (Huang et al., 2000; Ishikawa-Sakurai et al., 2004; Rentschler et al., 1999).

In the dystrophin-deficient mdx mice (tibialis anterior muscle), dystroglycan localisation at the sarcolemma is lost (Ayalon et al., 2008). Dystrophin is still able to localise to the sarcolemma without the presence of the dystroglycans (Côté, Moukhles, & Carbonetto, 2002) along with syntrophins and nNOS. Sarcoglycans, caveolin-3 and integrins were found to be dependent on dystroglycan for their localisation, each of which is located in the membrane. Alpha- and beta-dystroglycan deficiencies result in dystroglycanopathies (Martin et al., 2008; Salih et al., 1996), which are forms of muscular dystrophy. Alpha-dystroglycan requires glycosylation in order to bind to, and provide a mechanical link to, the extracellular matrix (Tran et al., 2012). The loss of glycosylation results in impaired binding between the DAPC and the extracellular matrix leading to contraction-induced membrane damage resulting in dystrophy.

Sarcoglycans

Alpha-, beta-, delta- and gamma-sarcoglycan are transmembrane proteins that interact to form the sarcoglycan complex in skeletal muscle (Weixing Shi et al., 2004). A fifth sarcoglycan, zeta-sarcoglycan, has been reported to localise with DAPC (Wheeler, Zarnegar, & McNally, 2002) although this has not been widely investigated. Epsilon-sarcoglycan is able to localise with the DAPC at lower levels to the rest of the complex and performing a similar role to alpha-sarcoglycan (Imamura, Mochizuki, Engvall, & Takeda, 2005).

Each sarcoglycan has a short intracellular region and a larger extracellular region and is encoded by a distinct gene. Alpha- and epsilon-sarcoglycan are both type 1 transmembrane proteins and are closely related to each other. Delta-, gamma- and zeta-sarcoglycan are type 2 transmembrane proteins and closely related. Beta-sarcoglycan is also a type 2 transmembrane protein though less closely related. Despite similarities, sarcoglycans vary in tissue expression. Alpha- and gamma-sarcoglycan are predominantly expressed in striated muscle, although they have also been detected in smooth muscle (Giuseppe Anastasi et al., 2005). The other sarcoglycans have a broader range of expression but have all also been detected in striated muscle.

Beta- and delta-sarcoglycan are particularly important for localisation of the sarcoglycan complex. Beta-sarcoglycan is the first to localise to the membrane and subsequently associates with delta-sarcoglycan. Gamma-sarcoglycan is next recruited to the complex, which finally associate with alpha-sarcoglycan (Weixing Shi et al., 2004). Alpha-sarcoglycan does not associate with the sarcoglycan complex as closely as the other subunits. Each of the sarcoglycans are glycosylated at their extracellular regions. Beta-sarcoglycan glycosylation has been found to be essential for correct localisation of the complex.

Epsilon-sarcoglycan replaces alpha-sarcoglycan in the smooth muscle sarcoglycan complex (Straub et al., 1999) and zeta-sarcoglycan is suspected to replace gamma sarcoglycan (Shiga et al., 2006). It has also been found that epsilon-sarcoglycan is capable of replacing alpha-sarcoglycan in striated muscles with alpha-sarcoglycan deficiency when overexpressed (Imamura et al., 2005). Alpha-sarcoglycan deficiency (limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2D, LGMD2D) results in mild or no cardiomyopathy, with epsilon levels appearing to be sufficient to substitute for the missing alpha-sarcoglycan (Lancioni et al., 2011).

The sarcoglycan complex does not directly interact with dystrophin. It has been found to bind to alpha-dystrobrevin (M. Yoshida et al., 2000), through which it is associated to dystrophin and forms part of the DAPC. It is also suspected to bind to beta-dystroglycan, strengthening the alpha-dystroglycan-beta-dystroglycan binding. Biglycan is able to bind alpha- and gamma-sarcoglycan and alpha-dystroglycan (Rafii et al., 2006) and also binds to extracellular matrix proteins. The sarcoglycan complex has been implicated in stabilisation of the DAPC and signalling.

In DMD, expression of the sarcoglycan complex is greatly reduced (D. Li et al., 2009), although the small levels of sarcoglycans do still appear to be somewhat able to relieve the DMD phenotype, as knockout of the sarcoglycans in addition to the absent dystrophin increase disease severity. Analysis of patients without dystrophin's C-terminal have demonstrated that this domain is not required for sarcoglycan localisation (Bellayou et al., 2009). Mutations in sarcoglycans result in Limb Girdle Muscular Dystrophy types 2D (alphasarcoglycan deficiency), 2E (beta-sarcoglycan deficiency), 2C (gamma-sarcoglycan deficiency) and 2F (delta-sarcoglycan deficiency) with disease severity varying greatly. Mutations in a single sarcoglycan isoform can result in loss of the entire sarcoglycan complex from the membrane, along with a small decrease in dystrophin protein levels (Rachelle H Crosbie, Barresi, & Campbell, 2002; Vainzof et al., 1996). Beta-dystroglycan localisation is reduced in some cases, particularly in mutations affecting beta- or delta-sarcoglycan. Loss of the entire sarcoglycan complex results in loss of nNOS from the membrane (Rachelle H Crosbie et al., 2002).

<u>Sarcospan</u>

Sarcospan is a transmembrane protein that is closely associated with the sarcoglycan complex. It requires the full sarcoglycan complex for normal expression and localisation at the membrane (R. H. Crosbie et al., 2000). Accordingly, in DMD patients sarcospan expression is lost (Peter, Marshall, & Crosbie, 2008). In mdx mice sarcospan overexpression has been shown to stabilise the sarcolemma and increase the recruitment of utrophin in place of the absent dystrophin (Peter et al., 2008). Sarcospan provides stabilisation to the DAPC and extracellular matrix assembly (Peter, Miller, & Crosbie, 2007). It is involved in the transport and localisation of the DAPC and utrophin–glycoprotein complex (UGC) to the membrane and is also closely linked to integrin expression at the membrane (Marshall et al., 2012). The sarcospan protein has subsequently been suggested as a target for gene therapy treatments for DMD.

Sarcospan knockout mice show no adverse effects at young ages (Lebakken et al., 2000) with the loss of extracellular interaction compensated for with an increase in integrin (Marshall et al., 2012). Aged mice do eventually lose some expression of DAPC components and have decreased binding capability with the extracellular matrix. No diseases linked to the sarcospan gene have yet been described.

Neuronal nitric oxide synthase

Nitric oxide synthases are a family of enzymes that are responsible for catalysing nitric oxide production from arginine. Nitric oxide synthase is closely associated with the DAPC, being able to bind to multiple members. The nitric oxide produced by NOS is involved in signalling pathways and cell communications. In skeletal muscle it stimulates vasodilation, increasing blood flow to the muscle, which is particularly essential for highly energy consuming, type 2

muscles for delivery of oxygen and removal of carbon dioxide. Functional ischemia (an inadequate supply of blood to a tissue) is found in DMD patients (Gail D Thomas, 2013). Dystrophin does not require NOS binding to function as part of the DAPC complex and membrane stability is not affected by the loss of NOS.

Neuronal nitric oxide synthase is the isoform present in skeletal muscle and is located at the membrane through interactions with dystrophin and the DAPC. It interacts with dystrophin at spectrin repeats 16 and 17 (Lai et al., 2009) through its PDZ domain. The same PDZ domain is also able to bind syntrophin (Hillier, Christopherson, Prehoda, Bredt, & Lim, 1999). Despite its interaction with syntrophin, it is reliant on its binding to dystrophin for localisation. Patients with dystrophin lacking the nNOS binding site (exons 42 to 45) show decreased nNOS localisation (Cirak et al., 2012). Many BMD patients lacking various spectrin repeats in the rod domain have also reported loss of nNOS localisation (Daniel S Chao et al., 1996; Torelli et al., 2004). Its absence can diagnose BMD when mild or no obvious phenotype is observed. In DMD, loss of the entire DAPC, also disrupts nNOS localisation. nNOS localisation is also reduced when the complete sarcoglycan complex is not present (Rachelle H Crosbie et al., 2002), or with knockout of alpha-syntrophin (Kameya et al., 1999).

nNOS activity is calcium dependant, requiring binding to calcium bound calmodulin (Salerno, Ray, Poulos, Li, & Ghosh, 2013). nNOS phosphorylation at serine 847 inhibits its activity (Hayashi et al., 1999; Komeima, Hayashi, Naito, & Watanabe, 2000). N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, which can allow the transport of calcium ions into the cell, colocalise with nNOS through a common interaction with postsynaptic density protein 95 (Christopherson, Hillier, Lim, & Bredt, 1999; Grozdanovic & Gossrau, 1998) and are involved in the dephosphorylation of nNOS (Rameau, Chiu, & Ziff, 2004).

Knockdown of nNOS leads to decreased muscle mass and a reduction in maximum contractile force in the skeletal muscle of male mice. Both male and female mice were increasingly vulnerable to contraction-induced muscle damage (Percival, Anderson, Gregorevic, Chamberlain, & Froehner, 2008). Loss of ability to increase blood flow toward the muscle and also a subsequent inability to increase glucose uptake has been observed during nNOS knockout (Baum et al., 2013; Hong et al., 2015). Biglycan appears to be required for localisation of nNOS (along with dystrobrevin and syntrophin) to the muscle cell membrane (Mercado et al., 2006). Interestingly, nNOS overexpression has been shown to be beneficial

even when it is not localised to the sarcolemma (Wehling-Henricks & Tidball, 2011), adding another possibility to alternative treatments to alleviate dystrophic phenotypes.

M2c macrophages are pro-fibrotic, expressing arginase which utilises arginine as a substrate, producing ornithine and urea, with ornithine a substrate in polyamine synthesis (Hui Li et al., 2002; Majumdar, Shao, Minocha, Long, & Minocha, 2013). Polyamines are required for translation initiation and are thus required to induce cell proliferation and tissue repair (Landau, Bercovich, Park, & Kahana, 2010). With nNOS and arginase sharing the arginine substrate, overexpression of nNOS resulted in a decrease of M2c macrophages due to decreased availability of the arginine substrate (Rath, Müller, Kropf, Closs, & Munder, 2014; Wehling-Henricks & Tidball, 2011). The nitric oxide produced from the breakdown of arginine by nNOS also has inflammatory effects upon the cell. This anti-fibrotic effect reduces scarring and decreases the pro-fibrotic overproduction of extracellular matrix proteins which contributes to the loss of muscle tissue architecture and function in dystrophic patients.

2B2. Glycosylation

It has been estimated that approximately half of all proteins undergo glycosylation to some extent (Apweiler, Hermjakob, & Sharon, 1999). Glycosylation is involved in a wide range of roles including intracellular targeting (White, Stewart, Popoff, Wilson, & Blackwell, 2004), protein-protein binding (Margraf-Schönfeld, Böhm, & Watzl, 2011) and protein stability (Solá & Griebenow, 2009). The DAPC, otherwise known as the dystrophin glycoprotein complex, has multiple glycoproteins. Glycosylation sites are numerous on the extracellular matrix-exposed proteins of the DAPC, specifically sarcoglycans and dystroglycans.

Similar to phosphorylation, the presence or absence of glycosylation can affect the stability of the DAPC and glycosylation defects have been implicated with muscular dystrophy. The glycosylation of alpha-dystroglycan is particularly important as it is required for binding to extracellular matrix proteins (Martin, 2003). With DAPC's link to the extracellular matrix disrupted, the muscle becomes more susceptible to contraction induced membrane damage resulting in muscular dystrophy.

2B3. Other interactors of dystrophin

Outside of the DAPC, dystrophin has many additional interactors. Actin forms the major part of the cytoskeleton to which the DAPC provides a link to the extracellular matrix (Levine, Moir, Patchell, & Perry, 1992). Dystrophin is also able to bind the intermediate filaments betasynemin (Bhosle et al., 2006) and keratin-19 (Stone, O'Neill, Catino, & Bloch, 2005). These interactions may provide additional mechanical support to the DAPC and membrane. The interaction with keratin is located at amino acids 1-246 of the calponin domains of dystrophin, overlapping the predominant actin binding domain towards the N-terminus. Synemin interacts at dystrophin's spectrin repeats 11 to 14. Plectin binds dystrophin at its WW-ZZ cysteine rich domains (Rezniczek et al., 2007), and is known to act as a linker protein between intermediate filaments, the actin cytoskeleton and microtubules. Ankyrin, another linker protein, also binds dystrophin at its cysteine rich domain (Ayalon et al., 2008). Alpha-actinin-2, a protein that is able to bind many focal adhesion proteins and link them to the actin cytoskeleton, has been suggested to bind to the last 200 amino acids of dystrophin (Hance, Fu, Watkins, Beggs, & Michalak, 1999), and may provide a link between dystrophin and integrin. However, this interaction has not been confirmed. Dystrophin was shown to exhibit microtubule binding between spectrin repeat 24 and the first third of WW domain (Prins et al., 2009). While all these interactions add to the structural role of dystrophin, the microtubule association also opens up the possibility of dystrophin involvement in trafficking pathways.

Relating to actin binding, dystrophin is also able to bind the actin-binding proteins troponin T (Pearlman, Powaser, Elledge, & Caskey, 1994) and troponin C and the calcium dependant protein calmodulin (Jarrett & Foster, 1995), which is evolutionarily similar to troponin C. Calmodulin is only able to bind dystrophin in the presence of calcium, and thus likely plays a role in dystrophin function dependant on calcium concentration. The calmodulin binding sites on dystrophin overlap with actin binding sites on the calponin domains, and thus are postulated to regulate dystrophin binding to actin.

Polarity-regulating kinase partitioning-defective 1b (Par-1b), a serine-threonine kinase important in the regulation of cell polarity, localises with dystrophin and binds to spectrin repeats 8 and 9 (Yamashita et al., 2010). It has been shown to specifically phosphorylate Ser1258 in utrophin which stabilises the utrophin-beta-dystroglycan interaction and could be performing a similar role in the interaction of dystrophin with dystroglycan. It has been suggested that the absence of dystrophin results in a decrease in Par-1b expression and decrease

in asymmetric division in muscle activated satellite cells, ultimately leading to impaired regeneration and satellite cell dysfunction, although the presence of dystrophin within satellite cells remains controversial (Boldrin, Zammit, & Morgan, 2015; Dumont et al., 2015; Jennifer E Morgan & Zammit, 2010). Boldrin *et al.* demonstrated that satellite cells of mdx mice were able to regenerate with no adverse effects.

Dystrophin, through its WW domain, also binds the apoptosis-inducing Fas ligand (Wenzel et al., 2001) and, through its C-terminal domain (amino acids 3458-3678), binds the nuclear distribution protein nudE homolog 1, which is responsible for mitotic spindle formation and function (Pawlisz & Feng, 2011). Dystrophin binds directly to the signalling and trafficking implicated protein myospryn at its cysteine-rich or C-terminal domains (Reynolds, McCalmon, Donaghey, & Naya, 2008).

Several interactions of dystrophin are not present in skeletal muscle, such as the interaction with serum albumin in human blood serum (M. Zhou et al., 2004), beta-dystrobrevin (the isoform of dystrobrevin common outside of striated muscle) (Loh, Nebenius-Oosthuizen, Blake, Smith, & Davies, 2001; Sadoulet-Puccio et al., 1997) and calcium-dependent secretion activator 1 and 2 (Cisternas, Vincent, Scherer, & Ray, 2003). Some interactions are only present in specific isoforms, such as the nuclear located Dp71's interaction with lamin-B1 (Villarreal-Silva, Centeno-Cruz, Suárez-Sánchez, Garrido, & Cisneros, 2011)

Dystrophin is acted upon by proteases; ubiquitin (Kim et al., 2011; S. A. Wagner et al., 2011) and calpains 1 and 2 (Cottin et al., 1992) which are activated at specific calcium concentrations (Khorchid & Ikura, 2002).

2B4. Interactors of the dystrophin associated protein complex

There are many other proteins that interact with other members of the DAPC, many of which have significant roles within the cell. They can be influenced by the presence of absence of the complex and some can also have effects on the complex.

One of the most important and fundamental interactions of the DAPC is in connecting the actin cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix. It links to the extracellular matrix through dystrophin's association with alpha-dystroglycan. The dystroglycan is able to bind to a variety of extracellular matrix proteins including laminin (Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya et al., 1992), agrin

(Sugiyama, Bowen, & Hall, 1994) and perlecan (Talts, Andac, Göhring, Brancaccio, & Timpl, 1999).

Biglycan is a heavily glycosylated extracellular matrix protein that is able to bind to alphadystroglycan (Bowe, Mendis, & Fallon, 2000) and sarcoglycans (Rafii et al., 2006). Biglycan targets dystrobrevin, syntrophin and nNOS to the muscle cell membrane (Mercado et al., 2006).

Caveolin-3, a muscle specific isoform of caveolin, is an integral membrane protein that localises to the sarcolemma in mature muscle. It is involved in the cell signalling and structural assembly of the caveolae (Whiteley, Collins, & Kitmitto, 2012), which has roles in vesicular trafficking. It can interact with and negatively regulate the signalling protein nNOS (García-Cardeña et al., 1997) and interacts with beta-dystroglycan (Sotgia et al., 2000), competing with dystrophin for the dystroglycan binding site. Mutations in this gene can result in several diseases including the muscular dystrophy LGMD1C. This disease, in which caveolin-3 is not expressed, does not affect levels of dystrophin or other DAPC proteins (Minetti et al., 1998). Overexpression of caveolin-3 results in a decrease of dystrophin and beta-dystroglycan expression, disrupting the DAPC and causing a DMD phenotype (F Galbiati et al., 2000). In DMD patients caveolin-3 levels are increased (Vaghy, Fang, Wu, & P. Vaghy, 1998). The relationship between the DAPC and caveolae is yet to be fully understood.

2C. Dystrophin-related proteins

Utrophin, also known as dystrophin-related protein 1, is the most closely related protein to dystrophin and shares many of the same domains. Calponin 1 and calponin 2 domains, 4 hinge domains, 22 spectrin repeats (dystrophin has 24), a cysteine rich domain and a C-terminal are all present in utrophin. The actin binding domain has 85% similarity and the C-terminal and cysteine-rich region has an 83% similarity, however some regions of the rod domain have less than 30% similarity (Pearce et al., 1993). Unlike dystrophin, utrophin is expressed in the majority of tissues, but is limited in healthy muscle to the neuromuscular synapse and myotendinous junction. Utrophin is able to form its own utrophin-glycoprotein complexes and is capable of taking the place of dystrophin in dystrophin deficient cells (K. Matsumura, Ervasti, Ohlendieck, Kahl, & Campbell, 1992). As a result, it has been investigated as a possible upregulation target for DMD patients. In fact, in DMD patients and mdx mice a natural upregulation of utrophin is observed (Mizuno, Nonaka, Hirai, & Ozawa, 1993; Weir, Morgan, & Davies, 2004). The increase in utrophin both naturally and therapeutically helps to ameliorate the dystrophic phenotype (Kleopa, Drousiotou, Mavrikiou, Ormiston, & Kyriakides, 2006; Squire et al., 2002). However, utrophin does not exhibit microtubule binding (Belanto et al., 2014), is not able to bind actin along its spectrin repeat region (K J Amann, Guo, & Ervasti, 1999), has a significantly higher actin binding affinity at its calponin domains (Bandi, Singh, & Mallela, 2015) and is not able to bind nNOS (D. Li et al., 2010). Hence, utrophin is able to offset some of the absence of dystrophin, but not completely replace it.

Dystrophin-related protein 2 (DRP2) resembles the C-terminal region of dystrophin and utrophin and is similar to Dp116 however it is not expressed in skeletal muscle, being predominantly present in the brain and spinal cord (R G Roberts et al., 1996). It is known to form a periaxin-DRP2-dystroglycan complex which is involved in structural maintenance (Sherman, Wu, Grove, Gillespie, & Brophy, 2012).

Dystrobrevins are a family of proteins that are closely related to the dystrophin and dystrophinrelated protein family, consisting of alpha- and beta-dystrobrevin in humans. Both of these proteins are able to directly bind to dystrophin as part of the DAPC, although it is the alphadystrobrevin isoform that is predominantly expressed in skeletal muscle (Rees, Lien, & Górecki, 2007). A number of different length alpha-dystrobrevin can occur through splicing, the most common isoforms in muscle being alpha-dystrobrevin-1 and alpha-dystrobrevin-2 (Peters et al., 1998). The dystrobrevins are significantly shorter than dystrophin at just 743 and 686 amino acids in alpha-dystrobrevin-1 and alpha-dystrobrevin-2 respectively. Both isoforms maintain dystrophin's cysteine-rich domain and C-terminal and binding affinities for syntrophins (Newey et al., 2000). Additionally, alpha-dystrobrevin-1 has its own unique C-terminal domain featuring tyrosine phosphorylation sites (K. R. Wagner, 1993). alpha-dystrobrevin-1 is able to bind dystrophin and utrophin however alpha-dystrobrevin-2 is not able to bind utrophin (Peters et al., 1998). Dystrophin's C-terminal is unique to itself and the dystrophin-related proteins. A comparisons of the dystrophin-related protein structures is highlighted in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Dystrophin structural similarity to the evolutionary related proteins utrophin, dystrophin-related protein 2 and alpha- and beta-dystrobrevin. Image derived from Roberts (2001). (Roland G Roberts, 2001). Dystrophin's C-terminal region and cysteine rich domain is well conserved across the related proteins (as it also is across dystrophin isoforms). Utrophin is the most structurally similar containing actin binding domains and a large number of spectrin repeats in its rod domain, giving it many binding similarities with dystrophin. Dystrophin related protein 2 (labelled DRP2) contains a significantly shorter rod domain and is without the actin binding domain. Both dystrobrevin isoforms are without the actin binding and spectrin repeat domains.

Other proteins that share significant homology to dystrophin are the spectrin repeat proteins. These proteins typically have roles in cytoskeletal structure, providing a link between actin and the membrane. They include spectrins, alpha-actinins, nesprins and utrophin. The spectrin family generally contain a spectrin repeat domain flanked by actin binding calponin domains and calcium-binding EF hands (Broderick & Winder, 2005).

2D. Roles of dystrophin within the cell

Dystrophin has been implicated in many roles within the cell. Its most commonly noted role is in linking the actin cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix to increase membrane stability and act against muscle contraction induced tearing. Dystrophin is able to interact with actin at its calponin domains (Norwood et al., 2000) and at spectrin repeats 11 to 17 (K J Amann et al., 1999). The calponin domain interactions are regulated by competitive binding of calmodulin and troponin (Jarrett & Foster, 1995). The spectrin repeat domain has lipid binding properties that may cause the rod domain to lie along the membrane bilayer (Legardinier et al., 2009). In this model, the contractile force experienced by dystrophin would be spread through the DAPC and a large area of the membrane, increasing the area in which the force is dispersed. The lipid binding of dystrophin can be influenced by the presence of cholesterol within the membrane bilayer (Ameziane-Le Hir et al., 2014).

As well as dystrophin's direct interaction with actin filaments, it provides further structural linkages through intermediate filaments keratin-19 (Stone et al., 2005) and synemins (Bhosle et al., 2006), cytolinker protein plectin (Rezniczek et al., 2007), adapter proteins ankyrin B and G (Ayalon et al., 2008) and actin binding protein alpha-actinin-2 (Hance et al., 1999). Fellow DAPC component dystrobrevin also has structural interactors including syncoilin (Newey et al., 2001) and synemins (Mizuno et al., 2001).

Dystrophin localises nNOS to the sarcolemma where nNOS is able to regulate muscle blood perfusion, allowing an adequate oxygen supply to skeletal muscle cells during contraction. Binding to nNOS is at the rod domain, and indirectly through two syntrophin binding sites. Dystrobrevin also binds two syntrophin proteins which each have the potential to bind a nNOS protein. The nNOS binding of syntrophin is not enough to restore correct localisation in the absence of dystrophin's nNOS binding rod domain (D. S. Chao et al., 1996; Judge, Haraguchiln, & Chamberlain, 2006) although it should be noted that nNOS mRNA and protein levels and localisation of protein inhibitor of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (PIN) in dystrophic cells is altered (Y. Guo, Petrof, & Hussain, 2001).

Studies of mdx mice along with *in vitro* cell cultures have demonstrated that the absence of dystrophin disrupts a number of cell processes. Dystrophin deficiency results in calcium ion misregulation (Constantin, Sebille, & Cognard, 2006) which can subsequently result in misregulation of calcium dependent pathways. Calcium homeostasis is thought to act through

dystrophin localisation of syntrophin which is involved in the activation of transmembrane ion channels such as the transient receptor potential channels (TRPC) (Sabourin et al., 2009). This is supported by calcium misregulation in syntrophin and TRPC deficient cells, and the observation that calcium regulation is not disrupted in other muscular dystrophies with intact dystrophin localisation (Vandebrouck et al., 2002). Dystrophin's role in localising syntrophin has consequences upon the activities of other transmembrane proteins, as syntrophins are responsible for the localisation of a variety of signalling proteins including kinases (Lumeng et al., 1999), water channels (M E Adams et al., 2001) and potassium ion channels (Leonoudakis et al., 2004). Like dystrophin, syntrophin can also localise nitric oxide synthase (M E Adams et al., 2001).

Dystrophin has been associated with the integrin focal adhesion complex, which could provide another link to signalling pathways (G Anastasi et al., 2003). Both complexes interact with the extracellular matrix (Figure 10) and both dystrophin and integrin bind alpha-actinin-2 which could potentially provide a direct link between the two (Hance et al., 1999; Otey, Pavalko, & Burridge, 1990). Dp71 has even been suggested to form part of the integrin complex in brain (Cerna et al., 2006). However, in skeletal muscle the two complexes have not been determined to be closely linked and do not require each other for localisation or expression. The two complexes may collaboratively perform extracellular matrix laminin organisation (Henry et al., 2001).



Figure 10. The similar roles of the dystrophin-associated protein complex and the integrin focal adhesion complex in linking the cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix link. Image derived from Berger and Curie (2012) (Berger & Currie, 2012). Both complexes play a role linking the actin cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix in order to protect against mechanical stress during muscle contraction. In DMD increased integrin expression are observed in an apparent attempt to offset the loss of the mechanical linkage provided by the DAPC. Absence of both integrin and dystrophin results in an increased dystrophin phenotype.

Dystrophin is required for organisation of the microtubule network, and has microtubulebinding properties (Prins et al., 2009), leading to the proposal that it acts as a guidepost for microtubule elongation (Belanto et al., 2014; Oddoux et al., 2013). It can also bind nuclear distribution protein nude homolog 1 (Nde1) which forms a Lis1-Nde1-DAPC complex (Pawlisz & Feng, 2011). Lis1 (Lissencephaly 1) plays a role in microtubule organisation and regulates dynein, a motor protein that moves along microtubules. The syntrophin interactions with microtubule associated kinases may also have a role in the organisation (Sumigray, Chen, & Lechler, 2011; Toropova et al., 2014). Lis1 has also been implicated in mitotic spindle organisation (Moon et al., 2014), a role in which dystrophin has been implicated in activated muscle stem cells, with dystrophin downregulation resulting in a decreased expression of the cell polarity regulator and dystrophin phosphorylating protein Par-1b (Dumont et al., 2015; Keefe & Kardon, 2015; Yamashita et al., 2010).

It has been well established that dystrophin deficiency results in an altered secretion profile, with several experiments able to identify specific biomarkers for the disease (Hathout et al., 2014, 2015). The altered secretory profile is thought to be through a combination of membrane (Allen & Whitehead, 2011; Duguez et al., 2013) although secondary effects of pathway misregulation such as from calcium level changes may also be implicated. An increase in the secretion of Lysosome-associated protein 1 (LAMP1)-positive vesicles has been observed as a result of dystrophin deficiency (Duguez et al., 2013), but the link between dystrophin's interactions and its role in altered vesicle secretion profile has yet to be determined. As mentioned previously, dystrophin appears to play an indirect regulatory role in (or may be regulated by) sarcolemmal expression of caveolin-3, providing a possible association with the caveolae vesicle pathway. Dystrophin has been suggested to bind to cavin-1 (also commonly referred to as called polymerase I and transcript release factor, PTRF) possibly indirectly through beta-dystroglycan (Johnson et al., 2013). Cavin-1 plays a structural role in the caveolae and is required for expression of other caveolae proteins including caveolin-3 (Hansen, Shvets, Howard, Riento, & Nichols, 2013).

2E. Treatments of disease

Many approaches are being explored for the treatment of dystrophin deficiency, including gene therapy, utrophin overexpression, read-through of nonsense mutations, stem cell transplantation and, more recently, gene editing. All of these seek to recover some of the functions of dystrophin, by restoring muscle cell expression of part or all of the dystrophin protein or by overexpression of its close homologue. Secondary aspects of the pathology such as inflammation and fibrosis are also targeted.

2E1. Gene Therapy

Gene therapy has been the subject of much research and many clinical trials. However, only recently has the first approval of a gene therapy approach for market distribution been granted (Büning, 2013). Approaches aimed at DMD phenotypes include the introduction of mini- and micro-dystrophin constructs. This method results in the expression of a truncated dystrophin and aims to convert the pathology towards a BMD phenotype.

The introduction of microdystrophin construct expression requires a dystrophin gene to be delivered to the cell, usually performed using an empty viral vector. The full-length dystrophin protein requires a cDNA sequence of approximately 14 kb (Kumar-Singh & Chamberlain, 1996). Different viral vectors have been tested that vary in capacity, transfection abilities in different tissues and the immune response elicited. The adenoviral vector has the capacity to deliver DNA encoding the entire dystrophin protein however these vectors are difficult to create, cannot maintain expression in humans for more than a year and cause a notable immune response (DelloRusso et al., 2002; Scott et al., 2002). AAV has become the main focus in DMD due to its ability to maintain microdystrophin expression for several years, and to evoke minimal immune response in animal models (such as canine and mice (Hua Li et al., 2009; Z. Wang et al., 2010)) although significant immune issues have since be observed in human trials (Mingozzi & High, 2013; J. Y. Sun, Anand-Jawa, Chatterjee, & Wong, 2003).

AAVs contain a rep and cap gene flanked by two inverted terminal repeats (ITR). The ITRs are necessary for gene replication and for packaging into the capsid. Recombinant AAV have the rep and cap genes removed and replaced with a promoter gene and a gene encoding a truncated dystrophin while maintaining the ITRs. There are several types of AAV serotype, named AAV1 through to AAV9. The different serotypes have different targeting properties

and can elicit different immune responses. AAV6 and AAV9 have both attained high levels of transduction in skeletal and cardiac muscle (Bish et al., 2008; Blankinship et al., 2004; Zincarelli, Soltys, Rengo, Koch, & Rabinowitz, 2010; Zincarelli, Soltys, Rengo, & Rabinowitz, 2008). Patients can have pre-existing immune responses to AAV serotypes and immunity can also be built up to further AAV injection after an earlier AAV treatment, inhibiting repeated administration (Calcedo & Wilson, 2013; Louis Jeune, Joergensen, Hajjar, & Weber, 2013). In order to increase muscle targeting specificity and decrease immune responses the promoter will typically be muscle specific such as the muscle creatine kinase (MCK) promoter (De Geest, Van Linthout, & Collen, 2003; Katwal et al., 2013).

Native AAV is capable of site-specific integration, but this is abrogated in the recombinant form by removal of the AAV rep gene. Unspecific integration, most commonly at sites prone to DNA damage, is also possible. Concern remains over insertional mutagenesis effects on the regulation of genes at or adjacent to insertion sites and this has been shown to be potentially cancerous (A Donsante et al., 2001; Anthony Donsante et al., 2007). AAV integration can occur in both dividing and non-dividing cells. Safe integration into the dividing cells presents an opportunity to increase the expression of the AAV vector. Approaches that incorporate a larger truncated dystrophin across two AAV vectors or the full dystrophin gene across three AAV vectors have successfully been demonstrated to produce large truncated or full length dystrophin in mouse models. However these multi-vector approaches require high-titers of AAV, and suffer from a decreased efficiency of expression and the potential for individual vectors to produce aberrant proteins (Ghosh, Yue, Long, Bostick, & Duan, 2007; Koo, Popplewell, Athanasopoulos, & Dickson, 2014). It is possible to deliver naked DNA plasmids, sidestepping the size limitation and immune response, however these plasmids have poor transduction efficiencies (G. Zhang et al., 2010). AAV vectors in mice have shown therapeutic potential, demonstrating significant dystrophin expression and function. Trials in dogs and humans encountered higher immune responses than in murine trials (Fairclough, Wood, & Davies, 2013; Z. Wang et al., 2010).

Designing truncated dystrophin to optimize therapeutic effect requires an in depth knowledge of dystrophins different roles, its interactions and its interaction domains. Most commonly large sections of the spectrin repeat domain are removed (McGreevy, Hakim, McIntosh, & Duan, 2015). The capacity of the cysteine rich domain to bind dystroglycan for DAPC formation and linkage to the extracellular matrix is functionally vital and is conserved in the

constructs. The actin-binding calponin domains are also usually retained. The C-terminal domain containing syntrophin and dystrobrevin binding sites is sometimes removed or truncated. Dystrophin's quaternary structure is not well understood and the removal of such large sections of dystrophin could have significant structural effects.

2E2. Exon Skipping

Exon skipping aims to correct out-of-frame mutations (that would usually lead to nonsensemediated decay of the transcript) by inhibiting the transcription of adjacent exons such that the reading frame is restored and a truncated dystrophin is expressed. Since mutations patterns vary and each exon boundary may fall on a different position of the reading frame, the location of the mutation determines which exon(s) must be targeted by the therapy and what dystrophin product will be created. Exon skipping is generally carried out using antisense oligonucleotides (AONs), usually of chemistry 2'-O-methyl phosphorothioate (2OMePS) or morpholino (PMO), but gene constructs using AAV-U7 are also proposed (Maëva Le Hir, 2013). Antisense sequences can be selectively targeted to a specific region of a target exon in dystrophin's premRNA to induce skipping of the exon. Clinical trials have been carried out using exon skipping for treating DMD (Mendell et al., 2016; Shimizu-Motohashi, Miyatake, Komaki, Takeda, & Aoki, 2016; Voit et al., 2014). Peptide conjugation to the oligonucleotides can be used to alter target specificity (Gao et al., 2014).

For single exon skipping in DMD patients, the exon that is most frequently required to be skipped is exon 51, which would cover approximately 13 of DMD patients (Aartsma-Rus et al., 2009). Recently, a 2OMePS oligonucleotide targeting this exon, commercially named Drisapersen, reached phase three of clinical trials however it was unable to demonstrate any significant therapeutic effects (Q. Lu, Cirak, & Partridge, 2014). Perhaps worryingly, its failure was attributed to the lack of correlation between dystrophin expression and clinical efficacy. An alternative oligonucleotide, commercially named Eteplirsen, based on the PMO chemistry, targets the same exon and is currently in phase three trials. Due to concerns over study size and heterogeneity of the patient cohort, a panel of FDA (Food and drug administration, USA) advisors initially voted against approval of this drug (Sarepta Therapeutics Inc., 2016a) however patient groups continued to support it based on anecdotal reports of significant therapeutic effects in some cases. A final decision by the FDA recently approved the drug (Sarepta Therapeutics Inc., 2016b, 2016c; U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2016).

Although exon skipping has less choice available for selecting the dystrophin domains to be expressed or deleted compared to AAV microdystrophin delivery and is dependent upon the placement of the mutation site, multiple options do in principle exist for most mutation patterns. For instance, it may seem obvious to skip the minimum number of adjacent exons in order to maximise the length and the number of domains of the dystrophin protein produced, but this may not always be the most therapeutically beneficial option. For instance, most mutations associated to DMD or BMD are internal to exons 45-55 (63% of DMD (Christophe Béroud et al., 2007)), and BMD patients with an in-frame deletion of this entire region from exon 45 to 55 display a milder phenotype when compared to other BMD patients with shorter in-frame deletions internal to exons 45-55 (Gentil et al., 2012; Taglia et al., 2015). Thus a given multiexon-skipping approach could target many different mutation patterns, although the relative efficiency may make dosage requirements problematic (Echigoya, Aoki, et al., 2015). Multiexon skipping approaches have been developed (Aartsma-Rus et al., 2004; Fall et al., 2006; Miskew Nichols et al., 2016; van Vliet et al., 2008) with recent success in the murine model (Aoki et al., 2012) but are not currently the subjects of any clinical trials. Besides multiexon skipping as an alternative to single exon skipping, multiple choices also exist for some single exon skipping approaches applied to the same deletion pattern – for example, the reading frame of patients harbouring deletion of exon 51 can be restored by skipping of either exon 50 or 52 (Figure 11).



Figure 11. A diagram highlighting the possible exon skipping of exons 50 or 52 in order to restore the reading frame of an exon 51 deletion. Complementary shapes represent a combination of exons that would result in an in-frame reading frame, non-complementary shapes represent a combination of exons that would result in an out-of-frame deletion. Exons 48 to 54 of dystrophin are represented. Deletion of exon 51 (coloured red) would result in a disrupted reading frame caused by non-complementary exons 50 and 52. Exon skipping of either exon 50 or exon 52 restores the reading frame of dystrophin, encoding a functional Δ 50-51 or Δ 51-52 dystrophin protein respectively.

A potential drawback of oligonucleotides is the likely requirement for repeated administration to maintain dystrophin levels, although it is not yet clear how often this would need to be. An approach to deliver AAV vectors encoding the exon skipping molecules which would hence maintain the therapy is being investigated, although this approach has problems with efficiency in humans (Goyenvalle, Babbs, van Ommen, Garcia, & Davies, 2009; Incitti et al., 2010; Maëva Le Hir, 2013).

As discussed, the design of each exon skipping approach is constrained by the mutation pattern to be targeted. However, for certain mutation patterns, and for a multi-exon skipping approach, the knowledge of dystrophin binding partners is relevant. In addition, and as for the other therapeutic approaches discussed here, a systematic understanding of the functional roles dystrophin's binding partners would be of general benefit in the development of parallel and complementary therapies targeting specific pathways.

2E3. Utrophin overexpression

Experiments attempting to replace dystrophin with the evolutionarily similar utrophin have been performed. Utrophin shares many of the same binding partners as dystrophin and is able to form the utrophin associated protein complex (its own version of the dystrophin associated protein complex) as has already been described. Utrophin is naturally upregulated in dystrophin deficient cells (Kleopa et al., 2006). This is most pronounced in mdx mice and has been proposed to explain their apparent mild phenotype compared to humans (Weir et al., 2004). Mice with a dystrophin/utrophin double knockout have a severe phenotype, exhibiting dramatic muscle atrophy similar to that observed in human DMD (Deconinck et al., 1997). Utrophin upregulation holds the advantages of being able to deliver the exact same treatment to all DMD patients, and being less likely to induce immune response. Utrophin overexpression in muscle and non-muscle does not display any toxic effects and unspecific tissue delivery is not a concern (Fisher et al., 2001). Utrophin upregulation can be induced by activating the utrophin promoter. This has been tested in phase one clinical trials with BMN195 (also called SMT-C1100) however this trial was unsuccessful due to delivery problems (Tinsley et al., 2011). Other approaches to increase utrophin levels include overexpression of RhoA (Armelle Bonet-Kerrache, 2005; Gauthier-Rouvière & Bonet-Kerrache, 2009), heregulin overexpression (Tejvir S. Khurana, 1999; Utpal Basu, 2007), calpain inhibition (Courdier-Fruh & Briguet, 2006) and increase of nNOS and the nNOS substrate L-arginine (Chaubourt et al., 1999; Voisin et al., 2005) among others. Many of these are also being examined to treat other diseases and are not specific to utrophin upregulation. Disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein 12 (ADAM12) increased the expression of both utrophin and integrins (Moghadaszadeh et al., 2003). Biglycan has been found to stimulate utrophin upregulation and recruitment to the sarcolemma in place of dystrophin in dystrophin deficient cells (Amenta et al., 2011; Fadic et al., 2006). Integrin, biglycan and utrophin upregulation in dystrophic muscle all occur naturally to some degree. Specifically designed zinc finger containing proteins have been able to activate the utrophin A promoter to selectively upregulate utrophin (Onori et al., 2013). The utrophin protein may be able to be delivered directly to cells by fusing it to peptides such as the protein transduction domain (PTD) of the HIV-1 TAT protein (TAT) (Sonnemann et al., 2009). This approach was found to work for micro-utrophin constructs however the delivery was decreased for the larger utrophin-TAT fusion protein. Utrophin has been found to be upregulated in mdx mice, particularly after undertaking exercise although mdx mice are a lot more mobile than human DMD patients (Baban et al., 2008; Gordon, Lowe, & Kostek, 2014).

2E4. Read-through nonsense mutations (PTC124)

PTC124 (also known as ataluren or commercially as Translarna) is a small molecule that binds to ribosomes to enable the read-through of nonsense mutations, thereby rescuing translation of mutant mRNA containing premature termination codons (PTCs) (Peltz, Morsy, Welch, & Jacobson, 2013). The PTC124 drug has previously reached phase three clinical trials however results were determined to be negative and doubts remain as to the efficacy (McElroy et al., 2013). Gentamicin has also been identified as being able to cause ribosomes to read through stop mutations (Barton-Davis, Cordier, Shoturma, Leland, & Sweeney, 1999) however this molecule has issues with side effects and required dosage (Ahmed, Hannigan, MacDougall, Chan, & Halmagyi, 2012; Mercieca & Mercieca, 2007; Wooltorton, 2002).

2E5. Stem Cell Transplantation

Progress has been made transplanting immature healthy muscle cells into dystrophin deficient animal models (Sienkiewicz, Kulak, Okurowska-Zawada, Paszko-Patej, & Kawnik, 2015). Stem cells can be taken from a healthy donor or patient and subjected to a gene therapy or gene editing approach *in vitro* to restore dystrophin expression before being transplanted back into the patient (Gussoni et al., 2002; Moisset et al., 1998; Nik-Ahd & Bertoni, 2014). These modified stem cells can then grow and replicate before differentiating to produce dystrophin

expressing cells within the tissue. Some stem cells also secrete growth factors and antiinflammatory proteins, encouraging proliferation and differentiation, and regulating muscle regeneration and repair (Ichim et al., 2010; A. Lu et al., 2012). To treat DMD, stem cells that possess myogenic potential must be used. This includes bone marrow stem cells, embryonic stem cells, adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells and mesoangioblasts (Asakura, 2012; Di Rocco et al., 2006; Gunetti et al., 2012; Perini et al., 2015; Zheng et al., 2006). Performing the gene therapy *in vitro* allows high doses of drug to be administered with no immune response of delivery issues during this stage. The immune response to the reintroduced stem cells has been an issue with this approach in allogenic grafts however autologous grafts undergo minimal or no immune response (Griffin et al., 2013; Morizane et al., 2013; Wood, Issa, & Hester, 2016).

Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor is involved in the transport of hematopoietic stem cells (a type of bone marrow stem cell) from the bone marrow into the blood and has also been linked to many advantageous properties including anti-inflammation, cell growth and decreased apoptosis, making the protein an attractive option for easily extracting hematopoietic stem cells from patients for treatment of DMD (Hayashiji et al., 2015; Hosing, 2012; Simões, Benitez, & Oliveira, 2014).

A major barrier to successful muscle stem cell therapy is the delivery of cells to all of the body's functionally critical muscle groups, although treating specific muscle groups is possible and beneficial (Cossu et al., 2015; Périé et al., 2014).

2E6. Gene editing

DNA binding proteins have provided promise in gene therapy approaches to treat DMD. Proteins have been successfully engineered to recognise and bind to specific DNA sequences. These proteins are attached to enzymes that cleave DNA, enabling specific gene sequences to be deleted, with the cells natural repair process able to reattach the cut DNA strands. New DNA fragments can also be introduced in place of the deleted sequence. One such engineered protein family are the Zinc finger nucleases (ZFN). ZFN's therapeutic potential has been successfully demonstrated in a patient with a Δ 48–50 DMD deletion (Ousterout et al., 2015). The deletion of exons 48 to 50 is an out-of-frame deletion which can be corrected by skipping exon 51. Ousterout *et al.* were able to delete exon 51's splice acceptor sequence resulting in exon 51 not being transcribed, resulting in a mRNA transcript lacking exons 48–51 which is translated into a truncated dystrophin protein. ZFNs are in phase 1 and phase 2 clinical trials for other diseases including HIV-1 co-receptor CCR5 (Tebas et al., 2014). No such clinical trials currently involve DMD. Other approaches to gene editing include TALENs (Transcription activator-like effector nucleases) and CRISPR-Cas9 (clustered, regularly interspaced, short, palindromic repeats-CRISPR-associated protein 9 system). TALEN has been similarly demonstrated for exon 51 deletion of Δ 48-50 DMD (Ousterout et al., 2013). TALENs possess increased specificity of DNA binding sequence compared to ZNF. While ZFNs recognise DNA by binding to triplets, TALENs recognise single DNA nucleotides, making for easier design of TALEN proteins, although ZFNs recognising all of the possible nucleotide triplet sequences have been engineered. No clinical trials involving TALENs have yet to be carried out however they are expected to be undertaken soon (Qasim et al., 2015). CRIPSR-Cas9 is a related and promising approach using RNA to target the DNA sequence (Mali et al., 2013). The CRISPR system has only been fully understood and implicated in gene therapy approaches within the last five years (Long et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2016). It has the advantage that it is targeted using only a guide RNA, as opposed to TALEN and ZNF, which require a custom protein for each new target.

2E7. Reducing symptoms

Research has also focused on reducing the symptoms of those affected with the disease. A variety of drugs have been used to alleviate many of the conditions associated with the muscular dystrophies including the upregulation of pathways involved in similar functions to dystrophin such as $\alpha7\beta1$ -integrin (Burkin, Wallace, Nicol, Kaufman, & Kaufman, 2001), the increase of muscle mass to negate dystrophic muscle wasting by inhibiting myostatin (Kemaladewi et al., 2011; Kornegay et al., 2016), the use of steroids which increase muscle mass and also decreases inflammatory and pro-fibrotic responses (Henricson et al., 2013) and the inhibition of the proteins responsible for degradation of the DAPC (Gazzerro et al., 2010). among others.

Regimes controlling the extent of patients' exercise and implementing specific training programmes are aimed at reducing muscle wasting (Jansen, van Alfen, Geurts, & de Groot, 2013). Physical assistive devices aimed at reducing the improving patient mobility and quality of life are also under development.

An improved understanding of Dystrophin's binding partners and functional roles may suggest alternative or improved approaches to secondary pathology, applicable to both DMD and BMD patients.

2E8. Approaches to disease and their relevance to the dystrophin interactome

Several of the approaches to treat DMD offer different levels of control over choosing which domains of dystrophin will be incorporated into the treated DMD patient. Even for the approaches that don't offer such choice, such as exon skipping, it is useful to know what the effect of the missing domains has upon dystrophins interaction and functions and offers an opportunity to perform a secondary therapeutic (such as upregulation of an alternative gene) to alleviate any remaining cells defects resulting from a truncated dystrophin. It is important to be mindful of the difference in dystrophin functions and binding of dystrophin domains in different tissues: the importance of each binding partner and its functional role(s) may differ between tissues. This is most apparent in the variation of dystrophin isoform expression in the different tissues. Full length dystrophin containing the actin binding domain is expressed predominantly in skeletal muscle where cell experience the highest amounts of mechanical stress is less and so the actin-binding domain is not required.

2F. Cell and animal models for studying dystrophin and DMD

Many myogenic cells and multiple animal models are available for studying dystrophin and DMD. Dystrophin has been studied in healthy tissues and cells in order to investigate interacting partners. Dystrophin knockdown in healthy cells to replicate dystrophin-deficient DMD pathology has also been developed (Ghahramani Seno et al., 2008; Seno et al., 2010). Immortalised myoblast lines from the muscle of DMD patients have been available for some time (Caviedes, Caviedes, Liberona, & Jaimovich, 1994). The animal models most commonly studied in DMD are from murine strains and dog breeds however models from several other species have been discovered naturally or created, most recently a porcine model (Selsby, Ross, Nonneman, & Hollinger, 2015), to make up almost 60 distinct models (McGreevy et al., 2015). Models of other dystrophin-related diseases and mutations are also available in animals and cell lines (Whitmore & Morgan, 2014).

2F1. Cell models

Cells can be isolated from muscle biopsies of a desired species, most commonly mice and human. Mechanical dissection and filtering to remove whole muscle tissue can be used to isolate primary cell populations (Rando & Blau, 1994). Basic sorting on the basis of substrate attachment can be used to obtain primary myoblasts, which can be further sorted on the basis of specific markers (Chapman et al., 2013; Conboy, Cerletti, Wagers, & Conboy, 2010; Conboy & Conboy, 2010; J. Li, 2013). Several biobanks exist housing large collections of healthy and pathological primary muscle cells (Mora et al., 2015).

Primary myoblasts suffer the disadvantage that they undergo senescence in tissue culture (Nehlin, Just, Rustan, & Gaster, 2011; Pääsuke et al., 2016). This prompted the development of immortalization approaches that inhibit senescence so that the lines have a less limited experimental life span. Senescence is attributed to cellular senescence activation of the p16-mediated cellular stress pathway and p53 pathway activation due to telomere shortening which leads to cell cycle exit (Wright & Shay, 2002). Viral gene transfections to inhibit these processes have been attempted, with targeting of both of these processes being most effective (Mamchaoui et al., 2011). Non-human cells such as the C2C12 mouse cell line are able to develop immortality without the need for intervention (Nowak et al., 2004). Clonal lines may be isolated to generate an identical cell population. Cells from mdx or other dystrophic mice

can be crossed with the immortomouse in order to generate cell lines of the disease (Jonuschies et al., 2014; J E Morgan et al., 1994; Muses, Morgan, & Wells, 2011).

Cell lines represent an *in vitro* system that does not fully mimic the physiological conditions and complex interactions that come from multiple different cell types and tissues *in vivo*. Conversely, the purity of the cell line has advantages when attempting to examine a single cell type without this added complexity, allowing the cell to be examined outside of the wider system context. Additionally, while mouse animal models are readily available, study of humans *in vivo* presents much more difficulty. The use of cell lines derived from humans offers an *in vitro* alternative. Testing in cell lines is commonly used as a starting point before testing in animals, particularly in therapeutic approaches. The immortalised cell lines offer easy manipulation in experiments such as those involving transfection however the effects that the immortalisation process can have on cells could be significant and must be considered.

2F2. Animal models

Mdx mice are the most frequently used animal model. Several background variations of the mdx mice exist including albino, BALB/c, C3H, C57BL/6, DBA/2 and FVB strains however the original C57BL/10 strain is the most commonly used (McGreevy et al., 2015). Slight variations in phenotype are exhibited between the models.

The CB57BL/10 mdx mouse has a nonsense point mutation within exon 23 resulting in no dystrophin expression. Despite their substantial use, the mdx model has several differences compared to human DMD. The mdx exhibits far less severe muscle atrophy, cardiac problems, and shortening of lifespan, than human DMD. Indeed, over the lifespan of the mouse, muscle regeneration appears to keep pace with necrosis such that muscle mass is broadly maintained (and in some cases is even hypertrophied perhaps to compensate for slight loss of specific force), except for certain muscles such as the diaphragm and limb muscles (Faulkner, Ng, Davis, Li, & Chamberlain, 2008; Lynch, Hinkle, Chamberlain, Brooks, & Faulkner, 2001). The lifespan of the mouse is only reduced by approximately 25 percent from having a DMD mutation, whereas in humans it is approximately 75 percent. It should be noted, however, that mdx muscle undergoes massive regeneration, likely even more so than human DMD muscle, so caution is advised when comparing the relative severity of the murine model to the human condition (Duddy et al., 2015; Terence A. Partridge, 2013).

The mdx mouse represents a direct homologue of the human disease and, as discussed, exhibits severe aspects of pathology such as a high incidence of degeneration and regeneration. However, other models have been proposed that have more severe muscle atrophy, and greater reduction in lifespan. Utrophin levels in mdx mice are significantly upregulated with the utrophin able to take the place and perform some of the roles of dystrophin, thereby alleviating some of the pathology (Baban et al., 2008; Squire et al., 2002). Mice harbouring a dystrophin/utrophin double knockout display a severe phenotype although these double knockout mice are difficult to generate and keep alive (Deconinck et al., 1997). Utrophin heterozygous mdx mice may offer a useful model for scientific studies, displaying phenotype similar to that of the double-knockout model but with an increased survival rate (van Putten et al., 2012). Similarly, $\alpha 7\beta$ 1-integrin expression is upregulated in the mdx mice, increasing the link to the extracellular matrix however double knockout of dystrophin/ α 7-integrin results in death at just one month of age (C. Guo et al., 2006; Hodges et al., 1997). Several other double knockouts with the mdx mouse have also been generated in attempts to create a model closer to the DMD phenotype or to investigate the roles of proteins of interest during dystrophin deficiency (R. H. Crosbie et al., 1997; Fajardo et al., 2016; Han et al., 2011; McGreevy et al., 2015; Sacco et al., 2010). Immune-deficient mdx can be used to test gene and cell therapies without any immune response complications (Chamberlain, 2013; Farini et al., 2007; Huard et al., 1994; Meng et al., 2015; T A Partridge, Morgan, Coulton, Hoffman, & Kunkel, 1989; Vallese et al., 2013).

Variants of the mdx mice models have been developed that are deficient in additional dystrophin isoforms. Named mdx^{2cv} , mdx^{3cv} , mdx^{4cv} and mdx^{5cv} , the models have mutations affecting different exons of dystrophin resulting in expression of dystrophin isoforms (Im et al., 1996). mdx^{2cv} expresses of dp71, 116 and 140, mdx^{3cv} does not express any of the dystrophin isoforms, mdx^{4cv} expresses dp71 and dp116 while mdx^{5cv} expresses all isoforms except the full length dystrophin and has the same phenotype as mdx.

Relative to mice, DMD dogs are more expensive to maintain, are limited in the number of different disease models currently available, and are subject to additional ethical issues (and their use in research settings often regulated under stricter laws (Levy, 2012)). In addition, their long life cycles necessitate inbreeding in order to generate the maximum number of affected dogs, and this selects traits that are not necessarily representative of the whole dog population.

The limited variety of dog DMD mutations also limits their use in studying gene therapy treatments (Howell et al., 1997; Kornegay et al., 2012).

The relative expense (which increases with size and life cycle) and additional ethical considerations of animal models makes the use of cell lines preferable for experiments that do not require consideration of the wider *in vivo* context, such as experiments to study protein-protein interactions. Animal models are of most benefit in areas where the cell lines are of limited use as in system-wide approaches for therapeutic targeting and phenotype and behavioural studies. Data collection is performed *ex vivo* from tissues once they have been removed from sacrificed animals. Although the animal models have the advantage of representing an *in vivo* system, they do not fully replicate the human condition and the results of clinical trials in animal models often fail to adequately represent human outcomes.

2G. Identifying protein-protein interactions

2G1. Interaction types

Physical Interactions

Interactions between proteins can be sorted into groups such as direct interactors and physical interactors. These interactions can form and regulate all cell processes including structural roles within the cell, stabilising and destabilising proteins, enzymatic and regulatory by altering protein folding or sterically inhibiting other binding sites on the protein.

Direct interactors are a subgroup of physical interactors. Physically interacting proteins form complexes together however the strength of binding between the proteins in complexes can vary. Strongly binding complexes are the easiest to characterise experimentally through techniques such as immunoprecipitation and pull-down assays. Weaker interacting protein complexes are more difficult to examine but optimising conditions or crosslinking proteins can help to overcome their transient nature, although background binding becomes an increasing issue.

Direct Interactions

Direct interactions can be classified as either obligate or non-obligate. Obligate interactions are non-covalent interactions that are required for protein stability and so are usually permanent interactions. The disruption of an obligate interaction results in the irreversible loss of the proteins structure or function. As a result, the interactors are not able to be separated for imaging (by X-ray crystallography, for example) but may be imaged when in complex with the other protein involved in the obligate interaction. Many homodimers such as cytochrome C' are examples of obligate interactions (Finzel, Weber, Hardman, & Salemme, 1985). Nonobligate interactions are by far the more common interaction type within the cell, as they allow for a dynamic movement of protein-protein interactions which enables a rapid response to cellular needs and stimuli. These interactions are reversible and not essential for protein stability, being able to form and dissociate without permanent loss of the protein's structure or function. Transient interactions vary greatly in their strength and lifetime (Figure 12 for a simplified summary of obligate and non-obligate interactions). An examination of the Gene Ontology (GO) terms annotated to obligate and non-obligate interactions found that while most obligate interactors share molecular function annotation terms, the majority of transient

interactors do not share any functional annotations (Mintseris & Weng, 2005). All of dystrophin's known interactors are transient interactions.



Figure 12. Schema of the different interaction types. Protein-protein interaction (PPI) types can be defined as either obligate or non-obligate. Non-obligate can be further separated into transient and permanent interactions, with transient interactions varying greatly in strength.

Excluding outside effects from competitive or non-competitive binding, conformational changes and environmental changes, stronger interactions result in longer interaction lifetimes. Stronger interactions are often involved in structural roles whereas weaker interactions are often involved in signalling. Strongly interacting proteins generally have correlated expression levels and colocalise, while this is less commonly the case for weaker interactors.

Interactions can be affected by: protein modifications (such as phosphorylation (Nishi, Hashimoto, & Panchenko, 2011) and glycosylation (H. S. Lee et al., 2015)); conformational changes (Goh, Milburn, & Gerstein, 2004), protein localisation (Behrens et al., 2016); binding site competition (McElnay & D'Arcy, 1983); and external effects such as temperature, pH and ion concentrations (Sahin, Grillo, Perkins, & Roberts, 2010; H. Wu et al., 2015).

The role of an interaction can be predicted if interaction sites between the proteins are known. Interactions between specific sets of domains are common. Taking examples from dystrophin, domains such as WW, PDZ, SH2 (Src homology domain 2) and SH3 are all typically involved in signalling and regulatory functions. The WW domain of dystrophin binds beta-dystroglycan. Dystrophin is in competition for the interaction site on beta-dystrobrevin with other proteins such as cavoelin-3 (Sotgia et al., 2000). While dystrophin does not contain a PDZ domain, the DAPC has been called a PDZ scaffold (Kachinsky, Froehner, & Milgram, 1999) due to its presence in the multiple syntrophin proteins that bind to dystrophin and dystrobrevin. The PDZ

domain on syntrophins can bind to the PDZ domains of signalling proteins such as nNOS (Brenman et al., 1996). Dystrophin is also able to bind the PDZ domain of nNOS at its spectrin repeats R16 and R17. SH2 and SH3 domains are not present in dystrophin, however they are present in other proteins of the DAPC such as beta-dystroglycan. Specific characterised binding domains that are common across a number of proteins are usually involved in signalling as they can provide a binding platform for a number of different proteins.

Interaction dissociation constants range between 10^{-12} and 10^{-1} M (Harding & Rowe, 2010), with transient interactions typically in the μ M range and more permanent interactions in the nM range (Perkins, Diboun, Dessailly, Lees, & Orengo, 2010). Dystrophin's WW and EF hand domains and beta-dystroglycan were determined to bind with a dissociation constant of approximately 40 μ M (Huang et al., 2000) while dystrophin's CH1 and CH2 domains bind to F-actin with a dissociation constant of 47 μ M (Singh et al., 2015). nNOS's PDZ domain was found to interact with the spectrin repeats R16 and R17 of dystrophin with a dissociation constant of 50 μ M (Molza et al., 2015). Alpha-syntrophin's PDZ domain interaction with skeletal muscle sodium channels was measured at 112 nM (Gee, Sekely, et al., 1998). Interaction strengths are determined for free-floating *in vitro* systems and so their physiological relevance should be supported by cell or *in vivo* experiments when possible. As the DAPC complex is the result of many transient interactions, the complex can also be classified as transient however most of the DAPC components are able to be identified in immunoprecipitations and pull-downs.

Aside from direct and physical interactions, proteins can be implicated with each other through other functional associations such as co-expression, co-localisation, genetic interactions or shared pathway involvement.

DNA binding

Protein interactions with DNA are common within the nucleus, but are also present in the cytoplasm. These interactions commonly regulate gene expression in the nucleus. Their roles in the cytoplasm are not well understood however they have been implicated in localisation (Ng, Weissbach, Ronson, & Scadden, 2013). Dystrophin has not yet been reported to have any DNA binding partners.

2G2. Experimental approaches

The conventional and most reliable way of establishing protein-protein interactions is experimentally. Interactions can be separated into direct interactors, physical interactors, co-expression and co-localisation using different experimental approaches. It is not possible to determine physical interactions through an exclusively *in vivo* method and so most interactions are directly confirmed *in vitro* and then supported by less direct *in vivo* data. Methods which involve cell lysis bring proteins in close proximity that would not localise together within normal physiological conditions and thus introduce the possibility of false positives.

Strong interactions

To determine strong physical interactors, immunoprecipitations and pull-down assays are most commonly used. Where necessary, experimental conditions are optimised by adjustment of salt concentrations and buffer strength. The full range of binding partners of a membrane protein may fail to be identified in approaches requiring cell lysis as the harsh buffers required to free the protein from the membrane can disrupt protein-protein interactions.

Immunoprecipitations bind a target protein's physical interactors without the need for tagging (Kaboord & Perr, 2008). The interactors can then be determined by western blot or mass spectrometry; however non-specific binding can result in false positives. Antibodies are required to bind the target protein and will not pull down the target protein and related complex if the recognition site on the protein is blocked by an interactor. Protein tagging is used in the pull-down assay and yeast two-hybrid methods and can influence protein localisation, binding and stability (Bell, Engleka, Malik, & Strickler, 2013; Brückner, Polge, Lentze, Auerbach, & Schlattner, 2009; Kitao & Takata, 2006). Both require overexpression of the protein in an alternative species such as yeast or bacteria which may result in the absence of relevant post translation modification. The two techniques are advantageous in identifying direct interactions and specific binding sites through expression of modified proteins or relevant peptide sequences. The far-western blotting approach is less useful as it requires protein denaturation and so is only able to recognise proteins whose interaction is not reliant on protein folding (Y. Wu, Li, & Chen, 2007). Förster Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) is an *in vivo* method to detect the proximity of two proteins to determine direct binding however it requires tagging of the proteins of interest (Pietraszewska-Bogiel & Gadella, 2011; Roy, Hohng, & Ha, 2008).

Proximity ligation assays offer a similar *in vitro* method of determining direct binding without tagging (Greenwood et al., 2015; Weibrecht et al., 2010).

QUICK/SILAC method

Methods employing mass spectrometry to systematically examine interactors have become more common place. The quantitative immunoprecipitation combined with knockdown method (QUICK) method developed by Selbach and Mann utilises co-immunoprecipitation combined with mass spectrometry, stable isotope labelling with amino acids in cell culture (SILAC) and protein knockdown (Selbach & Mann, 2006). The method allows for the identification of all physically interacting proteins while eliminating non-specific binding proteins.

Weak interactions

Techniques have been developed to aid in the identification of weakly interacting partners (Frato & Schleif, 2009; Morell, Espargaró, Avilés, & Ventura, 2007; Yao-Cheng Li et al., 2014), although no such methods have yet been carried out on dystrophin and its interaction partners. The methods involve tagging of the two proteins of interest to pairs of interacting peptide or DNA sequences. As a result, these methods are not systematic and require the weakly interacting proteins to be previously identified as possible interactors. They also suffer from the previously stated problems with tagging.

Prediction of interactions

Pairs of interactors can be identified through computational predictions based on sequence and structural comparison, which can be advantageous as this provides a relatively low-effort method of investigating thousands of possible interactions. Specific databases exist that list these predicted interactions. However, care should be taken as they may not be supported by *in vivo* or *in vitro* data.

Some approaches aim to identify interactions based upon their sequence and structural similarity to other known interactions. Sequences can be identified as interacting based upon primary, secondary, or tertiary similarities. Interactions are commonly inferred between species where the equivalent proteins exist and perform similar functions in both such as an interaction with dystrophin and beta-dystroglycan in human also presumed to occur in pig despite no direct evidence of the interaction. Interactions may also be inferred across tissues

expressing pairs of proteins that localise together and form similar functions as the original tissue or cell type. Binding to protein isoforms may also be inferred in this way if the binding region is known and found to be conserved in the alternate isoform. Recognisable binding domains are common across different proteins and can often interact with a known set of other binding domains and sequences (Deng, Mehta, Sun, & Chen, 2002). Protein pairs with similar structures to binding pairs are also suggested to interact. Protein structures must first be determined from amino acid sequences. This can be done computationally using methods such as the multimeric threading approach (L. Lu, Arakaki, Lu, & Skolnick, 2003) or with the aid of experimentally determined structural homologs (Q. C. Zhang et al., 2012). Other methods include chromosome proximity, *in silico* two-hybrid, phylogenetics and gene expression (Rao et al., 2014).

2H. Interaction databases

There are many databases that list known protein-protein interactions (B. Aranda et al., 2011; Lehne et al., 2009; Pedamallu & Ozdamar, 2014). Databases will list different interactions for dystrophin depending on the criteria used for curation of the databases. The way in which the database is created determines the reliability of the interactions listed. While manually and highly curated databases will provide a high confidence list of interacting proteins, databases that include predicted binding associations or incorporate large-scale unconfirmed association studies return a less reliable data set but do not require as much labour to create and update and may return true-positives along with the increased proportion of false-positives. Databases must be regularly updated to remain relevant to current research demands.

As most research is focused upon humans, mice, and yeast, most interactions are recorded in these species however significant research has been carried out in other species and these interactions are not always verified in human or mice and are worth considering. Multiple genome-wide studies identifying protein-protein interactions have been carried out in Drosophila melanogaster (fruit fly) and could potentially be relevant to dystrophin interactions in human (Costello et al., 2009; Formstecher et al., 2005; Giot et al., 2003; Jennings, 2011).

Databases split the interactions into subcategories such as direct interactions, physical interactions and co-localised associations, and there are variations in the types stored between databases. Additionally, some databases choose to include experimental and predicted interactions while others are exclusive to experimental or predicted.

Visualisation of the data is often helpful for understanding protein interactions and networks. Some databases offer their own visualisation tools (Warde-Farley et al., 2010) while others rely on third party software (Kerrien et al., 2012; Smoot, Ono, Ruscheinski, Wang, & Ideker, 2011). Databases and visualisation software will often allow searches to return specific interaction types however this is not always the case. The different visualisation tools will contain different features and data manipulation with software such as Cytoscape enabling data editing and additional data analysis.

It is possible to search and combine interactions from various databases using visualisation tools such as Cytoscape (Shannon et al., 2003; Smoot et al., 2011). Universal standards are now widely used for reporting protein-protein interactions across a large number of databases
(Orchard et al., 2012) however compiling data from databases that do not use the same method of reporting interactions remains an issue. Problems arise though differences in terminology, including the recording of protein identifiers, species, interaction type, experimental method and reference to the published research. For example, species may be recorded as Human or use the taxonomy identifier 9606 and a yeast two-hybrid experiment method could be listed as yeast two-hybrid or Y2H or the information could be absent.

In addition, common protein identifiers include gene name and Uniprot accession and are often used for database query terms however databases differ in which of these are used as the primary key in results tables, requiring further work to combine outputs. Most differences are readily understood when manually checking small datasets however issues arise when querying large datasets or relying on computational approaches to search and examine data. Uniprot accession numbers are unique to a given protein and species and so database searches across all species using this identifier can require numerous search terms (dystrophin returns 11 unique reviewed Uniprot accessions (as of April 2016) across a range of species, with more than 100 additional unreviewed accessions). Many accessions of a protein will not include any interaction data – for example, many of dystrophins unreviewed accessions represent small dystrophin fragments generated from a single published experiment however some accessions do have attributed interactions (such as E9PDN5 in the case of dystrophin). Dystrophin is represented by the gene name 'DMD' in humans and 'Dmd' in the majority of other species with a notable exception being 'dys' in the fruit fly. Using the same identifier across species is prevalent throughout the proteome and is advantageous for quickly generating networks incorporating multiple species. Unfortunately, gene names often represent multiple proteins as is the case with 'dmd' representing dimethylamine dehydrogenase in Hyphomicrobium and antitoxin Dmd in Enterobacteria phage T4 among others.

Further problems arise from proteins encoded by the same gene which are often indistinguishable through gene name or Uniprot accession. The DAG1 gene encodes an amino acid chain that is subsequently cleaved into alpha-dystroglycan and beta-dystroglycan with both proteins sharing the same gene name and Uniprot accession, DAG1 and Q14118 (in human) respectively.

Similarly, protein isoforms will share gene names and accessions although they can be distinguished when isoform specific Uniprot accessions are used (human dystrophin P11532 can be subdivided into P11532-1 to P11532-10, P11532-1 representing the full length protein

and P11532-7 representing Dp71). Some interactions state these isoform-specific accessions however others will not, resulting in the isoform information being lost from a network.

A standardised format, PSI-MI format (Proteomics Standard Initiative Molecular Interaction format) for databases to list information was created by the Human Proteome Organization Proteomics Standards Initiative (HUPO-PSI) and has since been adopted by many databases including the IMEx consortium (Kerrien et al., 2007; Orchard et al., 2012). The format includes an information-comprehensive XML format and a simplified MITAB format with specifically created PSI-MI identifiers for each piece of information. PSICQUIC (Proteomics Standard Initiative Common QUery InterfaCe) has created an interface to search across standardised curated databases currently incorporating 33 databases (B. Aranda et al., 2011). Although many large databases are not included, searching across the included databases is significantly simplified through use of the standardised format.

An issue which has not be addressed by databases and the PSI-MI format is the tissue specificity of interactions. Cell or tissue type used in experiments confirming an interaction are not commonly included presenting another challenge when generating tissue specific interaction networks. As lack of evidence does not equate to evidence of absence, tissue specificity of interactions will remain a problematic area.

Curated databases suffer from limitations in accuracy as they try to incorporate all interaction across an entire species or across all species and so may lack the comprehensive and reliable nature of a manually created network on a single or small subset of proteins. Computer generated interaction databases, however well-developed their algorithms, are always likely to contain falsely identified interactions or omit true interactions – this is exacerbated by the tendency for evolution to create nuanced variation in protein binding and function introduced by minor changes to amino acid sequence.

Due to the high cross-reactivity of the entire interactome, interaction sub-networks that are grown to include secondary, tertiary and more distant protein interactors rapidly lose specificity and meaning, as they come to incorporate a large subset of the total interactome. Competitive and non-competitive binding and interactor variations based upon cell type or protein localisation lead to the creation of misleading networks which imply proteins in complexes which do not interact *in vivo* and in reality form distinct complexes that happen to have a common protein present in each complex.

Interactions are given a weighting score based upon the confidence of the suggested interaction. Scoring can be used to distinguish the strength of the evidence for an interaction and eliminate false positives. Scores can be based upon aspects such as experiment size (with small scale experiments deemed more reliable), interaction type (direct interaction, physical interaction etc.), experimental methods (immunoprecipitation, pull-down assay, predicted etc.), the number of papers supporting this interaction, if specific binding sites are known, if the interaction is inferred from a different species or if proteins share common pathways or interacting proteins. There are numerous weighting algorithms including MISCORE (D. Wang & Tapan, 2012), MINT-score (Licata et al., 2012) and IntScore (Kamburov, Stelzl, & Herwig, 2012), with varying weight placed upon different scoring aspects, making it difficult to compare scores from different scoring methods and with no general agreed standard. PSISCORE (PSI confidence SCORing system) developed alongside the PSI-MI format (B. Aranda et al., 2011) allows users to place their own weightings and returns a score consistent across their own dataset or network. The weighting scores can be subsequently used to predict protein complexes (Zaki et al., 2013).

Interactions scores can be used to selectively keep only those interactions supported by relatively large numbers of observations, however these scores do not necessarily represent biological relevance, and clearly suffer an observation bias in favour of the most studied proteins.

As dystrophin has been the focus of a great deal of research interest, many websites exist dedicated to information on the protein and/or its related diseases. These sites can contain substantial information that can be used in combination with interaction databases to increase the understanding of the protein. These websites have the advantage of being focused solely on dystrophin and so can often provide a higher level of confidence for the data provided, due to deep and careful manual curation of the data. They also tend to put the information into context which increases the value of the data. eDystrophin contains a list of proteins that have had their interactions with dystrophin mapped to specific binding regions (Nicolas et al., 2012).

Objectives

This project was split in two parts;

 The first part of this project aims to validate cell lines that were immortalised by the incorporation of hTERT and Cdk4 transgenes (Mamchaoui et al., 2011). These cell lines have previously been investigated for their myogenicity (such as MyoD, NCAM and desmin), myotubes morphology (sarcomeric myosin staining) and *in vivo* myofibre formation capacity (Mamchaoui et al., 2011; C.-H. Zhu et al., 2007) as well as and unaltered membrane repair processes (Philippi et al., 2012) and Ca2+ release (Rokach et al., 2013) in select lines , however a transcriptomic wide analysis has not yet been carried out. Our analysis will enable us to investigate a wide range of cellular processes including processes not directly implicated with hTERT or Cdk4 related pathways. Pathways of particular interest which have yet to be investigated are integrin regulation, the PI3K/Akt pathway and microtubule stability, each of which has previously been linked with the cell cycle.

A transcriptomic analysis will be carried out to compare myogenic primary cells and immortalised cell lines derived from healthy individuals and DMD patients in their undifferentiated and differentiated states. An additional comparison against nonmyogenic cell populations will also be carried out. In order for the immortalisation process to be considered successful cell lines must show strong correlation with their primary population in both the undifferentiated and differentiated states and pathway genes must show to maintain similar levels.

Possessing cell lines which are protected against cellular senescence while still being representative of their primary population is of great value for research and the cell lines developed using this immortalisation process have already been used to investigate various therapeutic approaches (Echigoya, Mouly, Garcia, Yokota, & Duddy, 2015; Gonzalez-Hilarion et al., 2012; Ousterout et al., 2013; Popplewell et al., 2013).

2) The second part of this project aims to identify new interaction partners of dystrophin and incorporate these newly identified interactors into a comprehensive network of dystrophin's interactors. Dystrophin plays an important role in muscle cells and the absence of functional dystrophin results in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Through a more complete knowledge of dystrophin and its interactors, we can better understand processes behind the detrimental effects observed during the absence of functional dystrophin which will subsequently aid in the development treatments for DMD and related diseases. Although dystrophin has been the subject of extensive study this will be the first experiment to systematically investigating its binding partners.

We will use a quantitative immunoprecipitation combined with knockdown (QUICK) approach previous developed by Selbach and Mann (Selbach & Mann, 2006) in order to unbiasedly identify new physical interactors of dystrophin while eliminating false positives that common immunoprecipitation techniques are susceptible to. In addition to the new interactors that we hope to identify, we also expect to identify previously known dystrophin interactors.

A network based upon the previously understood dystrophin interactors (from interaction databases and published literature) within the context of differentiated skeletal muscle will be curated and will subsequently incorporate the newly identified dystrophin interactors. We aim to build a network which contains all of dystrophins relevant interactions yet remains accessible and easily understandable. The network will be a tool for aiding the understanding of dystrophin interactions, the links to other cellular compartments and processes, interpreting interaction related data and identifying possible new targets for dystrophic diseases.

Chapter 3 – hTERT/cdk4 immortalization protects the characteristics of human myogenic cells

Abstract

hTERT/cdk4 immortalized myogenic human cell lines represent an important tool for skeletal muscle research, being used as therapeutically-pertinent models of various neuromuscular disorders and in numerous fundamental studies of muscle cell function. However, the cell cycle is linked to other cellular processes such as integrin regulation, the PI3K/Akt pathway, and microtubule stability, raising the question as to whether transgenic modification of the cell cycle results in secondary effects that could undermine the validity of these cell models. Here we subjected nine healthy and disease lines to intensive transcriptomic analysis, comparing immortalized lines with their parent primary populations in both differentiated and undifferentiated states, and testing their myogenic character by comparison with non-myogenic (CD56-negative) cells. Selected lines were also tested for aneuploidy and chromosomal rearrangements. We found that immortalization had no observed effect on the myogenic cascade or on any other cellular processes, and it was protective against the systems level effects of senescence that are observed at higher division counts of primary cells.

Introduction

Research on neuromuscular disorders, including potential therapeutic options, depends on the careful observation of clinical symptoms and of biopsy material from human subjects, and also on the availability of disease models that both accurately reflect aspects of the pathology and facilitate experimental intervention. Animal models allow the experimental manipulation of fully vascularized, innervated muscle tissue, and they often recapitulate to a large extent the complexity of interactions between human cell and tissue types, and how those interactions change in disease and development. In contrast, the relative homogeneity of isolated and purified cell lines has a double-edged significance: it renders them pertinent only to certain aspects of certain pathologies, but it also facilitates the close study of specific molecular mechanistic events. In addition, where they are understood to closely recapitulate some measurable aspect of the pathology, cell models can be highly amenable to high-throughput studies.

From a systems biology perspective, compared with whole organisms, cell lines more closely (however imperfectly) represent a single enclosed apparatus in which changes to one or more component(s) have direct mechanistic impact on connected components. This is particularly true of pathologic muscle, in which processes such as regeneration, inflammation, fibrosis and adipogenesis all conspire to a general loss of order and increase in tissue heterogeneity. These changes in whole muscle composition can be observed in transcriptomes and other omics profiles, and may obscure underlying mechanistic details. However, isolated primary myoblasts suffer the disadvantage that they undergo senescence with amplification in tissue culture (Bigot et al., 2008). Immortalization avoids senescence and thereby facilitates subsequent cloning to select a highly pure model cell line (C.-H. Zhu et al., 2007).

Adult human primary myoblasts senesce after approximately 25 rounds of division in tissue culture due to cell cycle suppression by the p16^{Ink4a}-dependent stress pathway and progressive telomere shortening which triggers cell cycle exit mediated by activation of p53 (Renault, Thornell, Butler-Browne, & Mouly, 2002; Renault, Thornell, Eriksson, et al., 2002; Wright & Shay, 2002). We showed that immortalization of human myoblasts requires bypassing of both of these senescence mechanisms, and we achieved this by transduction of the murine cyclindependent kinase (cdk)-4, which overcomes the p16 pathway, and of human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) which preserves telomere length (C.-H. Zhu et al., 2007).

Using this method, we have created a large collection of immortalized human myoblasts isolated from a wide range of neuromuscular disorders. Several have been validated as experimental models for Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) (Echigoya, Mouly, et al., 2015; Gonzalez-Hilarion et al., 2012; Ousterout et al., 2013; Popplewell et al., 2013), limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2B (LGMD-2B) (Philippi et al., 2012), facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy (FSHD) - including mosaic-origin control lines from the same patient (Ansseau et al., 2009; Krom et al., 2012; Mariot et al., 2015), and excitation-contraction coupling and calcium homeostasis (Rokach et al., 2013). These cell lines have contributed to the development of therapeutic approaches such as oligonucleotide-mediated exon skipping (Echigoya, Mouly, et al., 2015), read-through of nonsense mutations (Gonzalez-Hilarion et al., 2012), and gene correction (Ousterout et al., 2013; Popplewell et al., 2013) for DMD, to the study of RyR1 deficiency in Congenital Myopathies (H. Zhou et al., 2013), cell senescence in myotonic dystrophy type I (Bigot et al., 2009), the involvement of IL-6 and Akt in the pathogenesis of myasthenia gravis (Maurer et al., 2015), the dysregulation of DUX4c (Ansseau et al., 2009) and the role of FAT1 (Mariot et al., 2015) in FSHD, and the shut-down of quiescence pathways in ageing (Bigot et al., 2015). They have also been used to explore fundamental aspects of muscle cell physiology including: the role of β -arrestins in myogenesis (Santos-Zas et al., 2015), the role of MMP-14 in human myoblast collagen invasion (Lund, Mouly, & Cornelison, 2014), nuclear protein spreading between nearby myonuclei (Ferreboeuf et al., 2014), the effects of oxidative stress on myoblast calcium-dependent proteolysis (Dargelos et al., 2010) and the proteome (Baraibar et al., 2011), engineering of 3D micromuscles (Kalman et al., 2015), and the function of miRNAs during myoblast differentiation (Polesskaya et al., 2013), this list being non exhaustive. Thus they have become an important resource to the muscle research community.

To validate the use of immortalized myoblasts we previously confirmed the expression of myogenic markers MyoD, NCAM (CD56), desmin, and various myosin isoforms, in differentiated myotubes, the morphology of myotubes by immunostaining of sarcomeric myosin, and their capacity to contribute to myofibre formation *in vivo* (Mamchaoui et al., 2011; C.-H. Zhu et al., 2007). A separate validation was carried out on two lines of healthy and 4 of dysferlin-deficient (LGMD-2B) immortalized clones: relative to their parent primary populations, they showed unaltered expression of myogenic markers MHC, alpha-tubulin, desmin, and caveolin-3, unaltered sarcomere formation and subcellular localization on immunofluorescence imaging of these same markers, and unaltered membrane repair processes

(Philippi et al., 2012). In a third study, the physical properties of Ca2+ release and its response to pharmacological intervention were unaltered in immortalized lines compared with primaries (Rokach et al., 2013).

However, the cell cycle is a major pathway that is linked to other cellular processes, including integrins (Moreno-Layseca & Streuli, 2014), the PI3K/Akt pathway (Chang et al., 2003), apoptosis (Kirshenbaum, 2001), and microtubule stability (Shohat-Tal & Eshel, 2011), each of which may be important to muscle cell function and pathology. Perturbations to the cell cycle may impact on these and on other less directly associated processes. Furthermore, it is increasingly understood that cyclin-dependent kinases are implicated in roles beyond the cell cycle, including aspects of transcription, metabolism, and stem cell self-renewal (reviewed (Lim & Kaldis, 2013)). Despite the wide use of our cdk4/hTERT immortalized human myoblasts, the potential secondary effects of immortalization have been tested only for those parameters listed above, relating to myogenesis and the functioning of membrane repair and calcium homeostasis. Secondary effects of cdk4/hTERT transduction on other processes that have not yet been tested would challenge the usefulness of these immortalized lines as experimental models and could undermine previous and ongoing studies that use these cell lines.

A second risk to the representativeness of these cell models occurs when we select a clonal line from the immortalized population: despite that the purity of our primary cell isolates is monitored by immunostaining against the myogenic marker desmin, the immortalized population may still exhibit cell-to-cell variability, so that any given clone may represent only part of its parent primary population. A third risk is that, relative to primary populations, immortalized clonal lines that undergo long-term experimental use are repetitively amplified and maintained for prolonged periods in tissue culture conditions, whereas time in tissue culture has been associated to loss of myogenic potential (Collins et al., 2005; Collins, Zammit, Ruiz, Morgan, & Partridge, 2007; Montarras, 2005). Thus it is important to determine whether immortalized clonal myogenic lines diverge from their mortal parent primary populations. Here we use extensive transcriptomic profiling of cdk4/hTERT immortalized human myoblasts in their undifferentiated and differentiated states, comparing them with their mortal parent populations, and with a non-myogenic (lacking the CD56 protein that is present on the cell surface of myogenic cells (Cashman, Covault, Wollman, & Sanes, 1987)) reference population. In this way we obtain a systems level view of cellular processes, allowing us to determine

whether secondary effects are incurred by cdk4/hTERT immortalization.

Materials and Methods

Ethics approval

Human-derived cell lines were obtained as described previously (Bigot et al., 2009; Mamchaoui et al., 2011): muscle biopsies were obtained from the MYOBANK BTR (Bank of Tissues for Research, a partner in the EU network EuroBioBank) in accordance with European recommendations and French legislation in accordance with European recommendations and French legislation. Cell lines of DMD subjects were obtained in collaboration with the team of F Muntoni, MRC CNMD Biobank (NHS Research Ethics Committee reference 06/Q0406/33; and HTA license number 12198), in the context of Myobank, affiliated to EuroBioBank (European certification).

Cell lines and media

Myogenic primaries and clonal lines of two healthy (CHQ and C25 and three DMD (DMD 6311, DMD 6594 and DMD 8036) subjects and CD56-negative cell lines (AB424, AB431, AB439, AB440, AB423, AB425, AB429 and AB451) of 8 healthy subjects were cultured in proliferation medium (1 volume of M199, 4 volumes of Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), 20% foetal bovine serum (Invitrogen), 50 µg/mL gentamicin (Invitrogen), 25 µg/mL fetuin, 0.5 ng/mL bFGF, 5 ng/mL EGF, 0.2 µg/mL dexamethasone, 5 µg/mL insulin) on Matrigel covered petri dishes (0.1 mg/mL, 1 mL per 19.5 cm² dish area, 45 min, 37 °C), incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO₂. Cells were differentiated in 1 volume of M199, 4 volumes of DMEM + 2 % foetal bovine serum + 1 µL/mL gentamicin.

Cell sorting/immunolabelling

Stocks of primary myogenic cells were purified by magnetic activated cell sorting using anti-CD56 (a specific marker of myoblasts (Cashman et al., 1987)) beads (MACS, Miltenyl Biotech). Purity before and after cell sorting was determined by immunolabelling (anti-desmin (1/100, clone D33, Dako) and anti-mouse IgG1 AlexaFluor 488 (1/400, LifeTechnologiesTM)). 100,000 cells were plated on a μ -dish 35 mm high ibidiTreat (ibidi®) in proliferating medium. After 48 hours (approx. 70 % confluence), the cells were washed 3 times with PBS and were cultured in DMEM to induce myogenic differentiation. At day 5 of differentiation cells were fixed and permeabilised with 200 μ L 95% ethanol at 4 °C overnight, and blocked with 20 % horse serum + 0.1 % Triton-X 100 in PBS, 500 μ L, 1 h, RT. Primary antibody anti-desmin (D33, IgG1, 1 :100, Dako) and secondary antibody goat anti-mouse IgG1 AlexaFluor 488 (1:400, InvitrogenTM) were used. Culture dishes were washed 3 times with PBS, counterstained with 1 μ g/ml DAPI for 1 min, RT, washed 3 times with PBS and mounted with ibidi mounting medium (ibidi®). 5 non-overlapping images were acquired with an Olympus IX70 and an Olympus UPlan FI 10x/0.30 Ph1 objective equipped with a Photomatics CoolSNAPTM HQ camera. Images were acquired using Metavue 7.5.6.0 software. The percentage of desmin positive cells (desmin to DAPI cells) was calculated. Sorted cells were found to be of equivalent of higher purity in each case and subsequently used in cell cultures.

RNA isolation

Cells were plated in 4 sets of 400,000 in 78.5 cm² Petri dishes (Falcon) for each cell. Cells were switched to differentiation medium after 2 days of proliferation (approx. 70 % confluence). After 9 days of differentiation, cells were scraped (100 μ L PBS, on ice) and collected. Cells were centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 minutes, and PBS supernatant removed. Each pellet was dissolved in TRIzol (1 mL). The RNA was subsequently isolated (PureLink RNA Mini Kit, 'Using TRIzol® Reagent with the PureLink® RNA Mini Kit' section of the standard protocol) with the RNA eluted in 30 μ L H2O.

RNA quality control

RNA quality and purity was determined using the Nanodrop 2000 (Thermo Scientific, nucleic acid setting) followed by Quality Control analysis (Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer, Eukaryote Total RNA Nano assay, Agilent RNA 6000 Nano Kit, Agilent RNA Nano LabChip) to determine the RNA integrity number (RIN, 28S/18S ratio).

Gene expression profiling

An aliquot of 150 ng of high-quality total RNA from each sample was used for mRNA expression profiling. Samples were analysed using Illumina® Gene Expression BeadChip Array technology (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA). Reverse Transcription for synthesis of the cDNA strand, followed by a single in vitro transcription (IVT) amplification, that incorporates biotin-labelled nucleotides, were performed with Illumina® TotalPrepTM -96 RNA Amplification Kit (Ambion, Austin, TX). 750ng of the biotin-labelled IVT product (cRNA) was hybridized to HumanHT-12v4_BeadChip (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA) for 16 hours, followed by washing, blocking, and streptavidin-Cy3 staining according to the WholeGenome Gene Expression Direct Hybridization protocol (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA). The arrays were scanned using HiScanSQ System and obtained decoded images were analysed by GenomeStudioTM Gene Expression Module – an integrated platform for the data visualization and analysis (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA).

Transcriptomic raw data treatment

Raw intensity values (Illumina idat files) of 94 samples were passed to the R lumidat library (https://github.com/drmjc/lumidat) to create an EListRaw class object compatible with further

downstream analyses in R/Bioconductor. Two samples were excluded at this stage due to having zero proportion of expressed probes (all other samples had more than 40% of probes expressed). The limma library (Ritchie et al., 2015) was then used to carry out neqc normalization – this involves background correction followed by quantile normalization, using negative control probes for background correction and both negative and positive controls for normalization (Wei Shi, Oshlack, & Smyth, 2010). Probes were excluded if: (1) they had low bead numbers in at least one sample; (2) they were not expressed (expression p-value < 0.01) in at least 16 arrays; (3) they were annotated as 'no match' or 'bad' quality according to the Bioconductor illuminaHumanv4.db library. This gave a total of 15,342 probes for further analysis. The Bioconductor library arrayQualityMetrics was used for quality assessment of the arrays (Kauffmann, Gentleman, & Huber, 2009). PCA was applied to the normalized values and visualized using R's prcomp and plot functions, and the rgl library for 3D visualization. The R 'pheatmap' library was used to produce heatmaps of selected genes. Linear regression for differential expression analysis was applied using Limma (Ritchie et al., 2015). Samples were grouped according to "cell type" (grouping samples into myoblasts, myotubes, CD56neg, and the C25 outlier), and this parameter was used to create a design matrix (~ 0 + cell_type), to which Limma fitted a linear model for the normalized expression values. Limma's 'arrayWeights' function was used to weight each sample according to its estimated reliability by measuring how well the expression values for that array followed the linear model (Ritchie et al., 2006), Limma's 'duplicateCorrelation' function was used to estimate the correlation between technical replicates (samples from the same subject, cell-type, and clonal state, were considered as technical replicates) (Smyth, Michaud, & Scott, 2005), and Limma's 'eBayes' function was used to rank genes in order of evidence for differential expression, based on an empirical Bayes method (Smyth, 2004).

The data are deposited in NCBI's Gene Expression Omnibus and are accessible through GEO series accession number GSE79263.

Functional analyses of transcriptomic data

Rank-based gene set enrichment tests were carried out using GSEA (Subramanian et al., 2005) on the 15,342 quality-filtered, normalized, non-log₂, gene expression values described above, applying default settings (e.g. permutations on phenotype, collapse genes to max of probesets) except that minimum overlap with gene sets was changed from 15 to 8 to allow for the small sizes of some muscle gene sets. Gene Sets were taken from the Muscle Gene Sets homepage (Muscle Gene Sets v2) 'http://sys-myo.rhcloud.com/muscle_gene_sets.php' or from the Molecular Signatures Database (http://software.broadinstitute.org/gsea/msigdb) (Subramanian

et al., 2005). Gene set enrichment mapping was generated using Cytoscape (Smoot et al., 2011) and Enrichment Map (Merico, Isserlin, Stueker, Emili, & Bader, 2010). Enrichment tests were carried out on the most differentially expressed 800 genes by fold-change after filtering for FDR < 0.05, using Enrichr (E. Y. Chen et al., 2013). Heatmaps were created using the pheatmap R function (Raivo Kolde, 2015).

For the consensus set of genes that were differentially expressed in previously published studies of myoblast differentiation, we downloaded public available gene expression data from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO; http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo) database. Four studies were chosen that included murine and human myoblasts and myotubes at 5 or more days of differentiation: GEO series GSE10424, GSE11415, GSE24811 and GSE26145. For each study, signals were converted to expression levels using robust multi-array averaging (Irizarry et al., 2003) and custom chip definition files based on Entrez genes from the BrainArray resource (Dai et al., 2005) at http://brainarray.mbni.med.umich.edu (mgu74av2mmentrezgcdf 17.1.0 for GSE10424, mouse4302mmentrezgcdf 17.1.0 for GSE11415, mogene10stmmentrezgcdf 17.1.0 for GSE24811 and huex10stv2hsrefseqcdf 17.1.0 for GSE26145). Specifically, raw CEL files were downloaded and fluorescence signals were background adjusted, normalized using quantile normalisation and log₂ expression values were calculated using median polish summarization. To identify differentially expressed genes for each study, the gene expression matrixes were analysed with Statistical Analysis of Microarray method (SAM) (Tusher, Tibshirani, & Chu, 2001). For each comparison, a two-class procedure was applied and the percentage false discovery rate (FDR) was calculated. The FDR threshold was set to 0.05 and the 300 most up-regulated genes in both groups in the comparison were selected for further analyses. All data analyses were performed using R program version 3.0.1, Bioconductor 2.12 libraries and R statistical packages.

Assay of Akt pathway activity and microtubule stability

Primary and immortalized myoblasts of lines C25 and DMD8036 were differentiated for 9 days as described above.

For Akt pathway activity, proteins were extracted in RIPA buffer containing phosphatase inhibitors. 15 μ g of protein lysates were separated on 4-12% bis-tris gels, then transferred onto PVDF membrane (overnight, 4°C, 15 V). After blocking the membrane for 1Hr at RT with 5% milk diluted in TBS-Tween, membrane was incubated with primary antibodies from the Phospho-Akt Pathway Antibody Sampler Kit (Cell Signalling Technology) at 1:1000 dilution: Phospho-Akt (Ser473), Akt (pan), Phospho-c- Raf (Ser259), Phospho-GSK- 3 β (Ser9), Phospho-PTEN (Ser380), Phospho-PDK1 (Ser241), and Phospho-Akt (Thr308). Each of these are phospho-specific except Akt (pan) which targets all Akt protein independent of its phosphorylation state. Secondary antibody was Anti-rabbit IgG (1:2000 dilution), HRP-linked. Bands were detected by SuperSignalTM West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Thermo Fisher) and X-ray film. C25 and DMD8036 films received 10 and 2 minute exposures, respectively, and were scanned using a Xerox Colorqube 9303.

For microtubule stability, cells were cultured in duplicate dishes, and cDNA was synthesized from RNA using Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche), and amplified by SYBR qPCR synthesis: denaturation 95°C 8 min; amplification (50cycles) 95°C for 15 sec, 52°C for 25 sec, 72°C for 15 sec; cooling 40°C for 30 sec. Product was separated on 2% agarose gel with EtBr and detected by UV light.

Results

Immortalized clonal lines retain the system profile of their primary parent population

We generated microarray gene expression profiles for 94 samples comprising primary myoblasts and their corresponding immortalized clones in both differentiated and undifferentiated states (average of 4 cell culture replicates of each preparation) from 5 human subjects (Table 2; 2 healthy and 3 with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy - DMD), together with primary populations of non-myogenic (CD56-ve) cells from the muscles of 8 other human subjects. Prior to analysis, each of the myogenic populations was sorted for CD56 using magnetic beads, and confirmed to be >90% desmin-positive (Figure 13). To maximize maturity and the expression levels of late myogenic markers, myotubes were maintained for 9 days in differentiation conditions, at which time no notable cell death or detachment had occurred (determined by observation under magnification).

Cell line	Phenotype	Mutation	Age of subject	Sex of subject	Muscle of origin
CHQ	Healthy	-	5.5 days	Female	Quadriceps
C25	Healthy	-	25 years	Male	Semitendinosus
DMD6594	Duchenne MD	Del 48-50	20 months	Male	Quadriceps
DMD6311	Duchenne MD	Del 45-52	23 months	Male	Quadriceps
DMD8036	Duchenne MD	Del 48-50	6 years	Male	Biceps

Table 2. Summary of the cell lines used in this experiment alongside relevant mutation and donor background information



Figure 13. Representative images of primary human myotubes. Myogenic cells were purified by magnetic bead sorting of CD56 expression then differentiated for 3 days. Myogenic cells were purified by magnetic bead sorting of CD56 expression then differentiated for 3 days. Examples here are from a DMD subject (A; DMD8036) and a healthy subject (B; CHQ). Myotubes were immunostained for desmin (green) to determine the percentage of myogenic purity (94% and 96% for DMD8036 and CHQ respectively). Nuclei are DAPI-stained.

Data complexity reduction using principal component analysis (PCA) showed that samples clustered into 3 groups: myoblasts and myotubes were separated from each other across principal components 1 and 2, whereas the CD56-negative population was separated from the others by principal component 3 (Figure 14). An overall view of the three groups, with primaries and clones indicated, is presented (Figure 14A), and the same data are shown again for myoblasts (Figure 14B) and myotubes (Figure 14C) alone (for comparison, CD56-neg are included in each case). Replicate culture dishes clustered tightly. Importantly, immortalized clones clustered closely to their parent primary populations, and data-points representing clones were not shifted in any particular direction relative to their parent primary population. Among the myoblasts, the primary C25 cell line population was an outlier, clustering separately

from the other myoblast populations (including from its own immortalized clonal line) - this primary population is analyzed and discussed further below.



Figure 14. Principal component analysis of gene expression data from primary cells and immortalized clones of human myoblasts and differentiated myotubes, and from primary non-myogenic (CD56-negative) muscle-resident cells. (A) Immortalized myoblasts (light green) cluster together with primary myoblasts (dark green) and immortalized myotubes (light red) together with primary myotubes (dark red). Both are separated from non-myogenic cells (cyan). Data-points are projected onto principal components 1, 2, and 3. (B and C) The same data for myoblasts (B) and myotubes (C) alone, projected onto principal components 1 and 2. For myoblasts, PC1 accounted for 43% and PC2 for 17% of the total variance in the data. For myotubes, PC1 accounted for 32% and PC2 for 22% of total variance. Each population is labelled and colored separately according to the key presented in (B). Each immortalized clone clustered near to its parent primary population, and clones were not shifted in any particular direction relative to their parent primary population. Each data-point corresponds to a separate culture dish (average n=4 dishes per cell line).

Differentiation of immortalized clonal lines follows the normal myogenic cascade

To study the behavior of genes involved in the myogenic cascade in immortalized and primary cell lines we created a consensus set of genes that were differentially expressed in 4 previously published studies of myoblast differentiation (Table S1). These studies included human and mouse primary myoblasts (Balb/c strain), and C2C12 myoblasts, and we retained genes that were strongly up or down-regulated after 5 or more days of differentiation in at least 3 of the 4

datasets. For the consensus down-regulated genes, a heatmap showing their relative expression levels across our samples is shown: note the rows near the top of the figure that indicate the 'cell_type' and 'clonal_state' (Figure 15). Hierarchical clustering analysis of the samples is presented on the same plot (branch lines at top of figure) and shows that these genes neatly separated myoblasts (cyan in the cell_type row) from myotubes (lilac in the cell_type row) with no effect of immortalization (green and yellow in the clonal_state row) – myoblast clones showed similar expression values to the myotube primary populations, and myotube clones showed similar expression values to the myotube primary populations.



Figure 15. Heatmap showing the expression levels in immortalized and primary myogenic human lines of genes that are consistently and strongly down-regulated in a panel of previous studies of myoblast differentiation. Heatmap showing the expression levels in immortalized and primary myogenic human lines of genes that are consistently and strongly down-regulated in a panel of previous studies of myoblast differentiation. A gene is shown if it was among the 300 most strongly down-regulated after 5 or more days of differentiation in at least 3 of 4 studies of human and mouse primary myoblasts, and C2C12 myoblasts. Expression values are row scaled (i.e. changes are relative across each row for ease of interpretation). Hierarchical clustering analysis of the cell lines, indicated by branches at top, places myotube lines (indicated in lilac in the cell_type bar at top) separately from myoblasts (cyan cell_type), except for the C25 primary cells (green cell_type). The non-myogenic population (orange cell_type) clusters with the myotubes. Immortalized clones (green clonal_state) show the same switch from myoblast to myotube as their parent primary populations (yellow clonal_state). Hierarchical clustering analysis was also applied to genes (branches to left).

Differentiation induced consistent downregulation in both primaries and immortalized clones of genes involved in cell cycle regulation and DNA replication, such as centromere components

(CENPA, CENPK), mini-chromosome maintenance (MCM3), DNA topoisomerases (TOP2A), regulation of mitotic spindle formation (CDCA8), G2/mitotic-specific cyclin-B2 (CCNB2), and the MyoD regulator ID2 (Langlands, Yin, Anand, & Prochownik, 1997). Genes such as cyclin-dependent kinase 1 (CDK1) and cyclin dependent kinase regulators (e.g. CKS1B) were down-regulated normally in clonal lines despite the presence of the murine cdk4 transgene.

For the consensus up-regulated genes, a similar heatmap is shown (Figure 16). Similarly to the consensus down-regulated genes, immortalization had no effect on the upregulation of the myogenic regulator MEF2C, metabolic genes such as creatine kinase (CKM), and ATPase 1A2 (ATP1A2), nor on contractile components and their regulators, including alpha-actinin (ACTN2), calpain-3 (CAPN3), myosins and their partners (MYBPH, MYL2, MYL4, MYLPF, MYH1, MYH3, MYH7, MYH8), troponins (TNNC1, TNNC2, TNNI1, TNNI2, TNNT1, TNNT3), myomesins (MYOM1, MYOM2), myozenin 2 (MYOZ2), and titin (TTN). Markers of mature myotube formation such as the dihydropyridine receptor calcium channel (CACNA1S), and the ryanodine receptor (RYR1), were also unaffected by immortalization.

There were few exceptions to the clustering of myoblasts separately from myotubes. The myotubes (both primary and immortalized) of one subject (DMD8036) showed stronger upregulation of myogenic genes and clustered separately from the other myotubes. The outlier myoblast primary line (C25) clustered with myotubes in the heatmap for downregulation, suggesting that this line had shut down its cell cycle. The myotubes of two lines (DMD6311 clones and DMD 6594 primaries), despite strong downregulation of the cell cycle, showed relatively weak upregulation of the myogenic cascade and clustered with myoblasts in the upregulated heatmap. As a general rule, the normal myogenic cascade was maintained in immortalized clonal lines.



Figure 16. Heatmap showing the expression levels in immortalized and primary myogenic human lines of genes that are consistently and strongly up-regulated in a panel of previous studies of myoblast differentiation. A gene is shown if it was among the 300 most strongly up-regulated after 5 or more days of differentiation in at least 3 of 4 studies of human and mouse primary myoblasts, and C2C12 myoblasts. Expression values are row scaled. Hierarchical clustering analysis of the cell lines and genes are indicated by branches at top and left, respectively. Cell type and differentiation state are indicated by the cell_type bar at top. Immortalized clones, primary myogenic cells, and non-myogenic cells are indicated by the clonal_state bar at top.

Immortalization has no effect on other systems processes and has no effects that are similar to previously reported perturbations of muscle cells.

We used rank-based gene set enrichment (GSEA) of 2,784 canonical pathways and gene ontology terms to test for effects of immortalization on systems processes, separately in myoblasts and myotubes. Neither myoblasts nor myotubes derived from immortalized clones showed any significantly enriched rank distributions with FDR q-val < 0.05 for any of the

canonical pathways and gene ontology terms. Since we expected the cdk4 transgene to elicit changes to cell cycle regulation in myoblasts, we specifically checked rank distribution patterns for related gene sets. Of 22 cell-cycle-related gene sets, none were significant (all had FDR q-val > 0.2), but 6 had nominal p-values < 0.05 (a measure that does not adjust for gene set size or multiple hypothesis testing). As these can be considered borderline significant, we include a heatmap (supplementary Figure 1) showing the expression levels of genes that are driving this effect (defined by the overlap of GSEA leading edges). These genes generally showed some upregulation in immortalized myoblast clones relative to primary myoblasts but with the C25 primary outlier showing relatively very strong dysregulation (most genes were downregulated in C25 relative to all of the other lines and a few were upregulated).

To test for effects on gene expression that were similar to previously reported perturbations of cells **GSEA** muscle applied to muscle (http://syswe gene sets myo.rhcloud.com/muscle_gene_sets.php). These gene sets were comprised of 393 lists of genes that were up- or down-regulated in a large variety of genetic and experimental comparisons in published muscle microarray studies, mainly of human or murine tissue and cell samples. These lists were obtained from more than 100 studies, and included the 4 in vitro differentiation datasets from which our consensus set was derived as described above. When immortalized clones of myoblasts or myotubes were compared to their respective primary cells, neither showed any significantly enriched rank distributions with FDR q-val < 0.05 for any of the 393 muscle gene sets. Muscle gene sets represent an ensemble of genes that are identified empirically to respond at the expression level to muscle perturbations, so their lack of change in immortalized v primary cells is indicative that immortalization has little effect on these lines. For instance, it is informative to contrast those results with the following: when genes of our dataset were ranked according to their change in myotubes v myoblasts, GSEA on the muscle gene sets specifically identified strong overlap with 35 of the 393 muscle gene sets with a very highly stringent statistical cut-off of FDR < 0.001: these highly significant muscle gene sets are visualized using an enrichment map – this shows gene sets that were down-regulated (in myotubes v myoblasts) in blue with color intensity proportional to the enrichment score (none of these highly significant gene sets were up-regulated in this case) and grey connections represent the sharing of genes between gene sets (i.e. some gene sets are similar to each other) (Figure 17). This analysis shows the strong similarity of previously published muscle differentiation gene expression changes with differentiation-induced changes in the present study when myotubes are compared to myoblasts - whereas the comparison of immortalized

with primary cells, in contrast, did not induce changes that were similar to any previously published data.



Figure 17. Mapping of rank-based gene set enrichments. Each node represents a set of genes that was dysregulated in a previously published muscle transcriptome study, and edges indicate sharing of the same genes between nodes (thicker edges indicates more overlap). The color of the node shows whether this gene set was upor down-regulated (i.e. positively or negatively enriched – colored red or blue respectively – in this specific analysis, upregulated gene sets were not observed) in the comparison of myotubes v myoblasts in the present study. Included on this map are only gene sets having the most significant enrichment scores (FDR < 0.001) from among the 393 muscle gene sets that were tested. A similar comparison of immortalized v primary lines (tested independently for both myoblasts and myotubes) yielded no significant muscle gene sets, even at the weaker cutoff of FDR < 0.05.

Rank-based gene set enrichment testing of canonical pathways, gene ontology, and previous muscle studies, were all consistent with hTERT/cdk4 immortalization having a minimal effect on the systems characteristics of human myoblasts.

In addition, we tested for specific effects of immortalization on other pathways previously observed to be influenced by the cell cycle. We found no change in the levels of specific phosphorylated proteins involved in the regulation of Akt pathway activity (supplementary Figure 2) or in the expression of genes involved in microtubule stability (supplementary Figure 3), and heatmaps of relative gene expression levels for gene ontology terms relating to these

processes show no clustering of primary samples separately from immortalized lines (supplementary Figures 4, 5, and 6).

Down-regulation of the cell cycle is the main effect that distinguishes the C25 primary myoblasts as outliers

Unlike their immortalized clones, primary myoblasts of the C25 line clustered more closely to myotubes than to myoblasts from other donors (figure 14). These cells showed shutdown of cell cycle genes relative to myoblasts (figure 15), but none of the upregulation of contractile components observed in myotubes (figure 16). Differential expression analysis and over-representation tests showed that these processes represented the strongest differences of C25 primary myoblasts with other myoblasts and with myotubes (supplementary Figure 7). Our interpretation of these data relate to our previous observations that human primary myoblasts senesce in tissue culture (Barberi et al., 2013; Bigot et al., 2015; Mamchaoui et al., 2011). At the time of harvesting for analysis, which was at 16 cell divisions for the C25 primary line, our transcriptomic data strongly indicate cell cycle shut-down for this line. This coincides with cellular senescence, since our previously published analyses (Mamchaoui et al., 2011) indicate that the rate of mean population doubling for the C25 primary population begins to slow after 10-15 divisions, indicative of slowing of the cell cycle as the population begins to senesce. This did not occur in any of the immortalized lines, thus immortalization is protective from senescent shut-down of the cell cycle.

Discussion

Immortalization does not confer any general dysregulation of normal myogenic processes, nor of any canonical pathways or gene ontology terms. While senescence shuts down the cell cycle of primary human myogenic isolates after a number of divisions in tissue culture, hTERT/cdk4 immortalized lines are protected, retaining the characteristics of non-senescent primary lines. Indeed, the single outlier group in our dataset was a population of primary myoblasts – whereas immortalized clones derived from that primary population remained similar to the other myoblast lines.

In the search for therapeutic strategies, it is important to have models that are representative of the *in vivo* nature of a pathology but that also allow close dissection of the mechanistic details of the pathology. When care is taken to understand the differences between humans and animal models (Terence A. Partridge, 2013), these models can be used to gain insight into the full complexity of the human condition such as in the cross-talk between cell and tissue types, and the relationship of disease progression to developmental changes and age. Even as advances are made in the modelling of artificial muscle tissue (Kalman et al., 2015), animal models remain our only possibility to observe the effects of experimental perturbations on normally vascularized and innervated muscle tissue. However, whole muscle tissue samples are not homogenous, instead consisting of a mix of constituents including myofibers, satellite cells, extracellular matrix, vascular and nerve tissue, interstitial deposits of fibrous and fatty material, fibroblasts, fat cells, and immune cells. When transcriptomic profiles are derived from whole muscle of patients and animal models it is impossible to separate minor gene dysregulation in myonuclei (representing the bulk of the tissue) from large expression changes in a lesser component of the tissue (Ramsköld, Wang, Burge, & Sandberg, 2009). For instance, if immune genes are upregulated this may reflect a response of the myofibers themselves and/or an increased infiltration of immune cells. At worst, as much can be told from the whole muscle transcriptome as can be guessed from simple microscopy of a stained muscle section. In these cases, the transcriptome becomes just another measure of disease progression, because any insight into the underlying molecular mechanisms is hidden by changes in tissue composition. Laser capture microscopy can be applied to obtain pure tissue from muscle sections (Bochmann et al., 2010; Budak et al., 2004), but it is highly laborious to obtain sufficient material by this method and it is rarely used.

Cell models cannot represent the more complex whole organism interactions described above, which is why a full understanding of a pathology will likely require multiple types of model. However, from the systems biology perspective, isolated cells can represent a relatively homogenous sample type so that changes in the transcriptome or in other omics profiles can be assumed to reflect changes in the mechanistically linked components of a single cellular system. So long as it is understood that an omics profile reflects an averaging across the population of harvested cells (except if single cell methods are applied), this assumption can be applied to carefully purified cell sub-populations such as the desmin-positive primary myoblast lines used in our study. To remain as close as possible to the human pathology, ideally human cell lines are used. However, adult human myoblasts quickly senesce during in vitro culture (Barberi et al., 2013; Renault, Thornell, Butler-Browne, et al., 2002; Wright & Shay, 2002; C.-H. Zhu et al., 2007). Our recent work underlines the grave importance of this in the interpretation of experimental data (Bigot et al., 2015). Immortalized lines require genetic interference with the cell cycle, but we developed these lines in order to have an inexhaustible source of cell model material and we have continued in their use because we did not observe morphological or other obvious abnormalities, and because of pressing needs in therapeutic development. However, question-marks had remained as to whether immortalization has knock-on effects on other cellular processes that would overwhelm their natural biological variation and thus challenge their usefulness as experimental models. The results presented here show that immortalized cells retain gene expression patterns that are characteristic of their cell type, as distinct from the non-selected (CD56-ve) fraction, and whether as undifferentiated myoblasts or as differentiated myotubes. Furthermore, immortalized cells generally remain very close in expression profile to their parent primary populations in both their differentiated and undifferentiated states: the exception that we observed was linked to loss of normal profile in the primary cells rather than the immortalized cells. Thus immortalization is protective of the characteristics of the primary population against the effects of senescence in cell culture.

A second concern was that we typically select clonal lines from within each immortalized population on the basis of their capacity to form morphologically well-defined myotubes, visualized by desmin immunostaining (chosen for its early expression relative to other myogenic markers (Fürst, Osborn, & Weber, 1989)), thus selecting just one cell sub-type from among the variation that was present in the original primary population. Our data would suggest that this does not lead to any systematic biases. Differentiated clones did not show any

systematic over-expression of myogenic and muscle contractile genes relative to primary cells (Figure 16).

Conclusions

Immortalization using hTERT and cdk4 transgenes preserves and protects the natural biological variation of desmin-purified human primary myoblasts. Clones isolated from immortalized primaries are representative of their parent primary population and represent valuable research tools for the study of human neuromuscular disease.

Supplemental data



Supplementary Figure 1. Heatmap showing the expression levels in immortalized and primary human myoblasts of genes that may be mildly affected by immortalization. We specifically checked rank distribution patterns of 22 cell-cycle-related canonical pathways and gene ontologies. None of these were significantly enriched (all had FDR q-val > 0.2) but 6 had nominal p-values < 0.05 (a measure that does not adjust for gene set size or multiple hypothesis testing). As these can be considered borderline significant, we show here the expression levels of genes that were present in 3 or more of these 6 cell-cycle-related pathways/ontologies. These genes generally showed some upregulation in immortalized myoblast clones relative to primary myoblasts but with the C25 primary outlier showing relatively very strong dysregulation. Expression values are row scaled (i.e. changes are relative across each row for ease of interpretation). Hierarchical clustering analysis of the cell lines, indicated by branches at top, to some extent separates immortalized clones (green clonal_state) from their parent primary populations (green clonal_state). Hierarchical clustering analysis was also applied to genes (branches to left).



Supplementary Figure 2. Proteins involved in the regulation of Akt pathway activity. Lysates from differentiated cells of C25 and DMD8036 primary (labelled P) and immortalised (labelled C) cell lines. The antibodies used were those provided by the Phospho-Akt Pathway Antibody Sampler Kit (Cell Signalling Technology). They target Akt protein levels (Akt pan), and its activation at two phosphorylation sites (Akt-P308 and Akt-P473), as well as PTEN (a major negative regulator if the Akt pathway), GSK-3beta (regulated by Akt and involved in glycogen synthesis), c-Raf (regulated by Akt and involved in apoptosis), and PDK1 (an activator of Akt). The primaries and clones of the individual cell lines displayed similar levels of the detected proteins.



Supplementary Figure 3. Expression levels of genes involved in microtubule stability. cDNA synthesized from RNA isolated from differentiated cells of C25 and DMD8036 primary (labelled P) and immortalized (labelled C) cell lines. These genes encode microtubule interacting proteins (CLASP1, CLASP2, MAP4, MAPT, and STMN1); and/or are involved in microtubule organization and biogenesis (CLASP1, MAPT, and STMN1), in polymerization/depolymerisation (CLASP1, CLASP2, MAP4, MAPT, CLASP2, MAP4, MAPT, and STMN1), or in spindle organization and biogenesis (CLASP1, CLASP2, MAP4, MAPT, and STMN1), or in spindle organization and biogenesis (CLASP1, CLASP2, MAP4, MAPT, and STMN1), or in spindle organization and biogenesis (CLASP1, CLASP2, MAPT, and STMN1), or in spindle organization and biogenesis (CLASP1, CLASP2, MAPT, and STMN1), or in spindle organization and biogenesis (CLASP1, CLASP2, MAPT, and STMN1), or in spindle organization and biogenesis (CLASP1, CLASP2, MAPT, SPIN, SPIN,



Supplementary Figure 4. Heatmap of gene expression for genes manually annotated to the microtubule term of the Gene Ontology, including genes assayed by PCR above. Hierarchical clustering analysis of the cell line is indicated by branches at top, and was also applied to genes (branches to left).



Supplementary Figure 5. Heatmap of gene expression for genes annotated to the integrin complex term of the Gene Ontology. Hierarchical clustering analysis of the cell line is indicated by branches at top, and was also applied to genes (branches to left).



Supplementary Figure 6. Heatmap of gene expression for genes annotated to the protein kinase B binding (i.e. Akt binding) term of the Gene Ontology. Hierarchical clustering analysis of the cell line is indicated by branches at top, and was also applied to genes (branches to left).

C25 v myoblast

Index	Name	÷	P-value 🔶	Z- score [♦]	Combined Score 🔻
1	mitotic cell cycle (GO:0000278)		7.252e- 22	-2.30	93.27
2	cellular response to type I interferon (GO:0071357)		5.970e- 17	-2.17	65.71
3	response to type I interferon (GO:0034340)		8.111e- 17	-2.17	65.66
4	type I interferon signaling pathway (GO:0060337)		5.970e- 17	-2.17	65.62
5	extracellular matrix organization (GO:0030198)		3.425e- 15	-2.37	63.50
6	extracellular structure organization (GO:0043062)		3.800e- 15	-2.37	63.49
7	cell cycle phase transition (GO:0044770)		1.372e- 12	-2.31	48.61
8	mitotic cell cycle phase transition (GO:0044772)		3.659e- 12	-2.31	46.86
9	response to virus (GO:0009615)		1.028e- 11	-2.35	46.01
10	mitotic nuclear division (GO:0007067)		3.387e- 12	-2.26	45.97

C25 v myotube

Index	Name	♦ P-	-value 🔶	Z- score ♦	Combined Score ▼
1	muscle system process (GO:0003012)	1	1.039e- 19	-2.32	82.32
2	actin-myosin filament sliding (GO:0033275)	1	1.547e- 17	-2.44	77.75
3	muscle filament sliding (GO:0030049)	1	1.547e- 17	-2.44	77.63
4	muscle contraction (GO:0006936)	1	1.044e- 17	-2.29	72.84
5	actin-mediated cell contraction (GO:0070252)) 3	3.987e- 17	-2.31	72.07
6	actin filament-based movement (GO:0030048)	5	5.938e- 15	-2.22	58.46
7	extracellular matrix organization (GO:0030198)	9	9.578e- 13	-2.36	51.28
8	extracellular structure organization (GO:0043062)	1	1.050e- 12	-2.36	51.27
9	type I interferon signaling pathway (GO:0060337)	1	1.362e- 13	-2.16	50.61
10	cellular response to type I interferon (GO:0071357)	1	1.362e- 13	-2.15	50.52

Supplementary Figure 7. Over-representation analysis of differentially expressed genes shows that the primary change in C25 primary myoblasts v the other myoblasts investigated in this experiment is in the down-regulation of cell cycle processes (upper table), and in C25 primary myoblasts v myotubes it is the down-regulation of muscle contractile components (lower table). Enrichment of gene ontology biological processes among the top 800 by fold-change of genes having FDR < 0.05.

GEO series	Platform	GEO samples	Reference
GSE11415		GSM288014	
		GSM288015	
	Mouse Genome 430.2.0	GSM288016	1
	Mouse Genome 430 2.0	GSM288032	
		GSM288033	
		GSM288034	
		GSM610848	
		GSM610849	
GSE24811	Mouse Gene 1.0 ST	GSM610850	2
00224011		GSM610854	2
		GSM610855	
		GSM610856	
		GSM443913	
		GSM443914	
GSE26145	Human Exon 1.0 ST	GSM443915	з
00220140		GSM443916	0
		GSM443917	
		GSM443918	
		GSM263671	
		GSM263672	
	Murine Genome U74A Version 2	GSM263673	
		GSM263674	
GSE10424		GSM263675	
		GSM263676	
		GSM263677	
		GSM263678	
		GSM263679	
		GSM263752	
		GSM263753	
		GSM263754	
		GSM263755	
		GSM263756	
		GSM263757	
		GSM263758	
		GSM263759	
		GSM263760	

Supplementary table 1. Complete list of gene expression datasets used in this study and their sources

Chapter 4 – The dystrophin interactome reveals a link with secreted vesicles

Abstract

Dystrophin at the sarcolemmal membrane of muscle fibres acts as a nucleus for the formation of an intricate complex whose primary role is to pin the actin and also microtubule cell scaffold structures to the membrane and extracellular matrix, thereby protecting the membrane from tearing during muscle contraction. Dystrophin also possesses lipid-binding properties that may further stabilize the membrane during muscle force generation or may allow it to interact with vesicle-mediated secretory pathways. Signalling and structural functions have been assigned to a number of other proteins that contribute to the wider dystrophin-associated complex. Loss of several of these proteins by mutation results in human myopathy. Here we used a high-sensitivity proteomics approach, combining siRNA knockdown of dystrophin expression, dystrophin immunoprecipitation, and heavy isotope labelling (SILAC), to identify systematically the binding partners of dystrophin in muscle myotubes. Our results suggest previously unidentified mechanistic linkers, including to vesicle trafficking. We survey existing literature and bioinformatics resources and present these along with proteomic data, overlaid on a functional association network map, in a web-based data exploration tool: <u>sys-myo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome.</u>

Introduction

Dystrophin is a 427 kDa protein, located under the sarcolemma and at the neuromuscular junction, where it interacts with trans-membrane and cytoskeletal proteins - proteins that have a key role in the architecture and the stability of muscle fibres (Ohlendieck & Campbell, 1991; Ohlendieck et al., 1993). It is thought to synchronize the movement of the plasma membrane and the contractile apparatus to avoid sarcolemma disruption during muscle contraction (Engel, Arahata, & Biesecker, 1984; Petrof, Shrager, Stedman, Kelly, & Sweeney, 1993; Williams & Bloch, 1999). Its absence results in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), while a truncated protein can result in the less severe Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD) phenotype (Flanigan, 2014). Mutations resulting in the absence of expression or altered post-transcriptional maturation of its interaction partners leads to muscle diseases such as dystroglycanopathy (Moore & Winder, 2012), desminopathy (Jaka, Casas-Fraile, López de Munain, & Sáenz, 2015) or sarcoglycanopathy (Kirschner & Lochmüller, 2011). These observations suggest that dystrophin forms the nucleus of an important and complex protein network in which each member's localization, expression, and post-transcriptional maturation are vital for the muscle fibre.

Several previous studies looked at dystrophin interactors, through techniques such as immunoprecipitations and yeast two-hybrid approaches (Murphy & Ohlendieck, 2016). Well-supported partners of dystrophin constitute the dystrophin associated protein complex (DAPC), and include transmembrane proteins such as the sarcoglycans, sarcospan, and dystroglycan, as well as intracellular proteins such as dystrobrevin, syntrophin, n-NOS and F-actin (K J Amann et al., 1999; Ervasti & Campbell, 1993; Levine et al., 1992; Pilgram, Potikanond, Baines, Fradkin, & Noordermeer, 2010; G D Thomas & Victor, 1998; Townsend, 2014). In addition, dystrophin interacts with a variety of other proteins including structural linker proteins alpha-actinin-2, ankyrin-2 and ankyrin-3 (Ayalon et al., 2008; Hance et al., 1999). A link to caveolae is suggested by limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 1C (LGMD1C and LGMD2C-F), which results from mutation of caveolin-3 and presents a mislocation or a lower expression level of dystrophin (F Galbiati et al., 2001; Herrmann et al., 2000).

The projected outcomes of therapeutic strategies for DMD or BMD, such as exon skipping and gene therapy are dependent on understanding the functional roles of dystrophin, to tailor treatments towards re-establishing the important interactions and pathways that have been lost
or disrupted. In this context, understanding the entire composition of the dystrophin interactome will help to unravel new functions of dystrophin other than muscle structure and may have a considerable impact on therapeutic strategy for DMD and BMD.

Here we sought to systematically identify dystrophin interactors, using the 'QUICK' method for protein interaction screening by quantitative immunoprecipitation combined with knockdown (Selbach & Mann, 2006). This method allowed us to confidently identify dystrophin interactors, eliminating the multitude of false positive proteins pulled-down through unspecific binding to both the beads and the antibodies. In addition, we generated an interactome of dystrophin based upon the current literature, expanding out key cell compartments, and subsequently using our own experimental data to add additional important cellular compartment and protein interactions that are relevant to dystrophin and dystrophin function. Dystrophin's roles vary between different cell types along with dystrophin isoform expression and localisations. We will focus on the roles and interactions of the full-length dystrophin within the context of skeletal muscle.

Materials and Methods

Ethics approval

Human-derived cell lines were obtained as described previously (Bigot et al., 2009; Mamchaoui et al., 2011): muscle biopsies were obtained from the MYOBANK BTR (Bank of Tissues for Research, a partner in the EU network EuroBioBank) in accordance with European recommendations and French legislation in accordance with European recommendations and French legislation.

Cell line maintenance and labelling with stable isotopes

Myogenic immortalised line of a healthy subject was cultured in proliferation medium (1 volume of M199, 4 volumes of Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), 20% foetal bovine serum (Invitrogen), 1 μ L/mL gentamicin (Invitrogen), 25 μ g/mL fetuin, 0.5 ng/mL bFGF, 5 ng/mL EGF, 0.2 μ g/mL dexamethasone, 5 μ g/mL insulin) in petri dishes (30 dishes, 225 cm² dish area), incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO₂. Cells were differentiated in 1 volume of M199, 4 volumes of DMEM + 1 μ L/mL gentamicin. SILAC DMEM and M199, lacking L-arginine and L-lysine were used to prepare 'heavy' and 'light' medium. Heavy isotope medium was prepared by adding 84 mg/L ${}^{13}C_{6}{}^{15}N_{4}$ L-Arginine and 146 mg/L ${}^{13}C_{6}{}^{15}N_{2}$ L-Lysine to SILAC DMEM and 35 mg/L ${}^{13}C_{6}{}^{15}N_{4}$ L-Arginine and 35 mg/L ${}^{13}C_{6}{}^{14}N_{4}$ L-Arginine and 146 mg/L ${}^{12}C_{6}{}^{14}N_{4}$ L-Arginine and 146 mg/L ${}^{12}C_{6}{}^{14}N_{2}$ L-Lysine at the same masses. Cells were cultured in the relevant medium for at least 3 cycles before transfection.

Enough cells were cultured for a total of 4 mass spectrometry runs. Each run consisted of 6 * 225 cm² petridishes (3 cultured in heavy medium, 3 cultured in light medium) with 2 million cells plated in each. Three mass spectrometry runs were comprised of no transfection of the cells in light medium and transfection of the cells targeting dystrophin knockdown in heavy medium. One mass spectrometry run was comprised of no transfection of the cells in light medium and a negative control transfection of the cells in heavy medium.

Dystrophin knockdown

Transfections (where relevant) were carried out using DMD Silencer Select Pre-designed siRNA (ID: s4157, Ambion) for dystrophin knockdown. Transfections were performed using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX Transfection Reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Transfections were carried out at about 60% confluence (D-2), 2 days later after

changing to differentiation medium (D-0) and a final time two days later (D+2). Cells were harvested five days after differentiation (D+5). Knockdown efficiency was examined at the protein level by western blot analysis of the treated lysates. No dystrophin band was observed in dystrophin knockdown lysates.

Protein isolation

Day 5 of differentiation was determined to be the earliest time point at which dystrophin was expressed at significant levels in this cell line. At differentiation day 5, petri dishes were place on ice, medium removed (decanted) and washed three times with PBS. RIPA buffer (650 µL, 50 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 1% Triton X-100 and 5 mM EDTA with Halt[™] Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail) was added to each dish and left on ice for 30 minutes. Cells were scraped and collected (1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes), centrifuged (13,000 rpm, 4 °C, 10 minutes). The supernatant was taken for protein analysis. Protein concentration

Protein concentrations were determined using Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit, using 190 μ L working reagent and 10 μ L of 1:10 sample diluted in H₂O. Each sample was carried out in triplicate. Each protein sample concertation was adjusted to 1 μ g/ μ L, and the sets of six samples that would made up each mass spectrometry run were combined in equal volumes.

Immunoprecipitation

Immunoprecipitations were carried out using 1000 μ L of 1 μ g/ μ L lysate, and either Dys-2 (NCL-Dys2, Clone 6C5, Leica) or MANDYS102 (Clone 7D2, DSHB) antibody. The two antibodies recognise different antibodies, in order to decrease the possibility of dystrophin binding partners blocking the antibody recognition site which would otherwise prevent pull down of the protein complex.

For each immunoprecipitation, antibodies (5 μ g) were bound to A/G magnetic beads (25 μ L, Pierce), and crosslinked using DSS (0.25 mM in DMSO) to prevent antibody elution and interference with the mass spectrometry run. Sample lysates were incubated overnight at 4 °C with constant gentle rotation. Washes were performed once with RIPA buffer and twice with H₂O. The bound proteins were eluted by two sets of incubation for 7 minutes at RT with 1 % SDS in 50 mM Tris, pH 8.0.

Each mass spectrometry run sample was made up of 8 immunoprecipitations; 2 heavy isotope labelled lysates pull downed with Dys-2 antibody (5 μ g), 2 light isotope labelled lysates pull down with Dys-2 antibody (5 μ g), 2 heavy isotope labelled lysates pull down with MANDYS102 antibody (5 μ g) and 2 light isotope labelled lysates pull down with MANDYS102 antibody (5 μ g).

All eight elutions for a single mass spectrometry run were combined (8 * 200µL).

Single myosin (MF20, DSHB) and dystrophin (Dys-2, Leica) immunoprecipitation for western blot analysis were performed using 500 μ L of 1 μ g/ μ L lysate, 2.5 ug antibody, 12.5 μ L A/G magnetic beads (Pierce) and crosslinked using DSS (0.25 mM in DMSO)

Protein precipitation

4 volumes MeOH was added to each sample (1.6 mL, 1 volume), vortexed and centrifuged (10 seconds, 7,000 g). 1 volume chloroform was added, vortexed and centrifuged (10 seconds, 7,000 g). 3 volumes of water were added, vortexed vigorously and centrifuged (1 minute, 7,000 g (for phase separation)). The upper phase was carefully removed and discarded (water), without disturbing the interphase containing the proteins. 3 volumes MeOH was added to the remaining lower phase + interphase, vortexed gently and centrifuged (5 min at 12,000 g). The supernatant was carefully removed and the pellet was left to air dry for 5 minutes.

In solution digest and stage tip purification

Precipitated protein pellets were solubilized in 6 M urea / 2 M thiourea in 10 mM HEPES (pH 8.0, 20 μ L). Samples were reduced (1 μ L DTT, incubated for 30 minutes, RT), alkylated (1 μ L iodoacetamide, incubated for 20 minutes, RT in the dark), digested (1 μ g endoproteinase LysC (Wako) in 50 mM Ammonium Bicarbonate, incubated for 3 h, RT), diluted four fold with 50 mM Ammonium Bicarbonate and digested further (1 μ g trypsin (Promega) in 50 mM Ammonium Bicarbonate, incubated overnight, RT). The sample pH was adjusted to 2.5 with 10% TFA.

Detection by western blot

20 µg of protein lysates were loaded onto 3-8 % Tris-Acetate gels (midi gels, NuPage Novex) in Tris-Acetate running buffer (NuPage) and semi-dry transferred (20 V, 7 min) (iBlot dry

blotting system, Thermo). After blocking the membrane (1 h, 5 % milk in TBS-Tween), the membrane was incubated with primary antibodies Dys-2 (1:200 dilution), Creatine Kinase (CK-1F7, DSHB) (1:1000) and Myosin heavy chain (MF20, DSHB) (1:1000) (2 h, RT). Secondary antibodies (Anti-mouse IgG, 1:2000, HRP-linked) was used (1 hour, RT). Bands were detected by SuperSignal[™] West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Thermo Fisher).

Mass spectrometry run

Peptides were concentrated and desalted on reversed phase C18 disks (Rappsilber, Ishihama, & Mann, 2003) and analysed by nanoflow liquid chromatography an Agilent 1100 LC system (Agilent Technologies Inc.) coupled to a LTQ-Orbitrap mass spectrometer (Thermo Electron). Peptides were separated on a C18-reversed phase column packed with Reprosil (ReproSil-Pur C18-AQ 3-µm resin) and directly mounted on the electrospray ion source of an LTQ-FT or LTQ-Orbitrap. We used a 140 min gradient from 2% to 60% acetonitrile in 0.5% acetic acid at a flow of 250 nl/min. The LTQ-FT instrument was operated in the data dependent mode switching automatically between MS survey scans and high mass accuracy SIM (Single Ion Monitoring) scans (both acquired in the FT-ICR cell) and MS/MS spectra acquisition in the linear ion trap as described previously(Olsen, Ong, & Mann, 2004). The LTQ-Orbitrap was operated in the data dependent mode with a full scan in the Orbitrap followed by five MS/MS scans in the LTQ.

Mass spectrometry analysis

Initial mass spectrometry analysis was carried out using MaxQuant, similar to previously reported (Selbach & Mann, 2006). Briefly, each of the raw mass spectrometry files were processed simultaneously using MaxQuant against the human protein database (http://www.ebi.ac.uk, Swiss-Prot and TrEMBL). Carbamidomethylation as a fixed modification and 'Oxidation of methionine' and 'N-acetylation of the protein' as variable modifications were selected. Specific digestion with Trypsin/P with a maximum of two missed cleavages was required. A multiplicity of two was selected, with 'Arg10' ($^{13}C_6^{15}N_4$ arginine) and 'Lys8' ($^{13}C_6^{15}N_2$ lysine) selected for the heavy labels. A false discovery rate of 0.01 was used as a cut off for both peptide and protein. The analysis was run twice, once with the requantify feature enabled and once with the feature disabled. The three runs of dystrophin knockdown heavy medium, non-transfected light medium were labelled as 'Forward 1/2/3'. The one run of non-transfected heavy medium, dystrophin knockdown light medium was

labelled 'Reverse'. The resulting protein ratio files was exported to Excel (Microsoft) for further analysis. Ratios were reported as Heavy/Light (H/L) ratios, and were normalised to correct for varying protein amounts across samples. Proteins with less than two peptides identified were discarded. Ratios with 'NaN' values were discarded. Fold changes of ratios were calculated (log₂ ratio) and normalised to a positive fold change for a ratio representing a dystrophin association (all forward run fold changes multiplied by minus one, reverse run fold changes unaltered). Results were filtered for proteins that had positive fold change values across all valid runs with at least one valid forward run and a valid reverse run. Each protein was given a rank based upon the average fold change and average fold change against rank was used to determine a set of high confidence physically interacting proteins with a fold change value significantly higher (standard error) than the calculated rank to fold change background relationship.

Adjusted analysis workflow for proteins having higher levels in non-knockdown samples but had been disregarded by the standard analysis workflow due to having zero background levels in one or more of the knockdown samples: the initial mass spectrometry analysis was carried out with MaxQuant software with the re-quantify option enabled. In cases where evidence of a protein is only detected in one of the isotopes of a run the re-quantify option instructs the software to research the position where the equivalent peptides of missing isotope mass would be expected. In cases where the protein is absent in the alternatively labelled sample, the software will often detect background noise, which is then used to return a ratio value. The incorporation of these forced ratio values is helpful in the analysis large data sets by increasing the number of identified proteins with valid ratio values however it also leads to the discarding of peptides for which no ratio could be determined due to very low background. The same experimental data was re-ran with the re-quantify option disabled. Four proteins were subsequently identified which were detected in all four immunoprecipitates from dystrophin expressing lysates and had no detection in the immunoprecipitates from dystrophin knockdown lysates (Table 4).

RNA isolation

Cells were plated in 2 sets of 400,000 cells in 19.5 cm² petri dishes (Falcon) for each cell. Cells were transfected following the same protocol and time points as previously described in the 'Cell line, media and knockdown' section, with one plate transfected for dystrophin knockdown, one plate transfected with scrambled siRNA (Silencer Select Negative Control

No. 1 siRNA (Ambion)) and two non-transfected plates. At day 5 differentiation, Trizol (1 mL) was used to harvest the cell. The RNA was subsequently isolated (PureLink RNA Mini Kit, 'Using TRIzol® Reagent with the PureLink® RNA Mini Kit' section of the standard protocol) with the RNA eluted in 30 μ L H2O.

RNA quality control

RNA quality and purity was determined using the Nanodrop 2000 (Thermo Scientific, nucleic acid setting) followed by Quality Control analysis (Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer, Eukaryote Total RNA Nano assay, Agilent RNA 6000 Nano Kit, Agilent RNA Nano LabChip) to determine the RNA integrity number (RIN, 28S/18S ratio).

Gene expression profiling

An aliquot of 150 ng of high-quality total RNA from each sample was used for mRNA expression profiling. Samples were analysed using Illumina® Gene Expression BeadChip Array technology (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA). Reverse Transcription for synthesis of the cDNA strand, followed by a single in vitro transcription (IVT) amplification, that incorporates biotin-labelled nucleotides, were performed with Illumina® TotalPrepTM -96 RNA Amplification Kit (Ambion, Austin, TX). 750ng of the biotin-labelled IVT product (cRNA) was hybridized to HumanHT-12v4_BeadChip (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA) for 16 hours, followed by washing, blocking, and streptavidin-Cy3 staining according to the WholeGenome Gene Expression Direct Hybridization protocol (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA). The arrays were scanned using HiScanSQ System and obtained decoded images were analysed by GenomeStudioTM Gene Expression Module – an integrated platform for the data visualization and analysis (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA).

Transcriptomic raw data treatment

Raw intensity values (Illumina idat files) of non-transfected, dystrophin-knocked down and scrambled siRNA samples were passed to the R lumidat library (https://github.com/drmjc/lumidat) to create an EListRaw class object compatible with further downstream analyses in R/Bioconductor. Data of healthy and disease lines used for comparisons (C25 clones, CHQ clones, DMD6311 clones, DMD6594 clones and DMD8036 clones) was obtained previously (Thorley *et al*; Paper in revision). All samples had more than

40% of probes expressed. The limma library (Ritchie et al., 2015) was then used to carry out neqc normalization – this involves background correction followed by quantile normalization, using negative control probes for background correction and both negative and positive controls for normalization (Wei Shi et al., 2010). Probes were excluded if: (1) they had low bead numbers in at least one sample; (2) they were not expressed (expression p-value < 0.01) in at least 6 arrays; (3) they were annotated as 'no match' or 'bad' quality according to the Bioconductor illuminaHumanv4.db library. This gave a total of 15,932 probes for further analysis. The Bioconductor library arrayQualityMetrics was used for quality assessment of the arrays (Kauffmann et al., 2009). PCA was applied to the normalized values and visualized using R's prcomp and plot functions.

Literature interactome generation

Literature searches were guided by publically available interaction databases. The databases were accessed through Cytoscape (Shannon et al., 2003) and/or the relevant database websites. PubMed was used to access and verify referenced interactions of interest. Literature searches were independently made using PubMed and Google/Google Scholar, with various combinations of keyword search terms such as (but limited not to); dystrophin/dmd/Duchenne/interactome/direct/immunoprecipitation/Y2H, and protein names of interest. High-throughput data papers were also independently searched.

Expansion of dystrophin's direct interaction partners to include important secondary and tertiary protein interactors was accomplished through further literature mining. Immunoprecipitations with dystrophin or other members of the dystrophin associated protein complex were of particular use. Attempts were made to ensure any secondary, tertiary or more distant interactors were relevant to dystrophin and not involved in competitive binding with dystrophin or in mutually exclusive complexes. Competing interactions were not included unless, as is the case with caveolin-3 which competes with dystrophin for the same binding site of beta-dystroglycan, the protein has been observed to physically associate with dystrophin (Song et al., 1996; Sotgia et al., 2000) in which case an alternative dashed line was used to represent this interaction. Many suggested dystrophin physical interactors found during database searches, that were found not to be direct interactors, were added during this phase. Additional closely associated proteins candidates were found using interactome browsers such GeneMANIA (Warde-Farley et al., 2010), Reactome (Croft et al., 2014; Milacic et al., 2012) and CellWhere (L. Zhu et al., 2015) (which makes use of Mentha (Calderone, Castagnoli, &

Cesareni, 2013)). CellWhere was additionally used for assisting with protein localisation for the final visual interactome, along with the Gene Ontology's Cellular Compartment (Ashburner et al., 2000; The Gene Ontology Consortium, 2014) and the literature. Literature mining and The Human Protein Atlas (Pontén, Jirström, & Uhlen, 2008) were used to determine protein interaction relevancy in the context of skeletal muscle.

Expression in skeletal muscle was determined through evidence presented in previously published literature and/or the Human Protein Atlas database (Pontén et al., 2008). In a similar fashion, protein cellular localisations during association with dystrophin was determined through previously published literature, CellWhere and Gene Ontology cellular compartment terms (Ashburner et al., 2000; The Gene Ontology Consortium, 2014). Examples of eliminated interactions include the binding of the nuclear-located LMNA to the Dp71 dystrophin isoform (Villarreal-Silva et al., 2011), the brain specific expression of gamma-1-syntrophin and the non-DAPC interacting *in vivo* gamma-2-syntrophin (Alessi et al., 2006; Piluso et al., 2000). Caution was exercised with interactions based solely on predicted or high-throughput data without significant follow up evidence however Y2H experiments documenting direct interactions of dystrophin with DISC1 and alpha-catenin were subsequently included due to other closely related interactions.

Interactome visualisation

The interactome was visualised using Cytoscape (Version 3.2.1) (Shannon et al., 2003). Web visualisation using Cytoscape Web (Version 0.8) (Lopes et al., 2010), available at 'http://sys-myo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome'.

Results

271 dystrophin interactors identified through QUICK strategy

Stably immortalised human-derived myotubes were cultured in the presence (labelled) or absence (unlabelled) of heavy isotope amino acids, and unlabelled cells were treated using siRNA to knock-down expression of dystrophin (see Materials and Methods; 'Cell line maintenance and labelling with stable isotopes' section for more details and supplementary Figure 8F for blot analysis). Immunoprecipitation of dystrophin followed by mass spectrometry identified binding partners that were at higher levels in the labelled vs. unlabelled samples, whereas the levels of proteins that bound non-specifically to the antibody were unchanged. This method had the advantages of not requiring protein tagging or overexpression, not being prone to false positive or false negative results and in being systematic.

In order to minimise the risk of secondary effects of dystrophin knockdown on the proteome, we determined the earliest myotube differentiation time point (day 5) at which levels of dystrophin became strongly detectable (relative to a late differentiation time point (day 10)) (supplementary Figure 8A), and we confirmed by transcriptomic analysis that knockdown did not affect the myogenic program or the capacity to form myotubes (supplementary Figure 9A, B).

We optimized (1) the lysis buffer strength to preserve the majority of the protein interactions with dystrophin (supplementary Figure 8B); (2) the immunoprecipitation using two antibodies - one directed against the C-terminal of dystrophin (Dys-2) and one against spectrin repeat 16 of the rod domain (MANDYS102) - in order to maintain pull-down of complexes that feature binding at an antibody recognition site on dystrophin (supplementary Figure 8C); and (3) the elution buffer, as myosin heavy chain is a recurrent contaminant of any immunoprecipitation performed in muscle samples (supplementary Figure 8D, E). Efficient knockdown of dystrophin was confirmed (supplementary Figure 8F). A single immunoprecipitation elution mass spectrometry run (without any controls to eliminate unspecific binding) identified more than 3000 proteins (data not shown).

Our mass spectrometry analysis incorporated four runs, each comprising of heavy-labelled cells and light-labelled cells as described in supplementary Figure 10, and resulted in the identification of 3332 proteins. Taking into account only proteins that were identified by at

least two peptides in one of the forward runs and in the reverse run and for which all fold change values were positive (representing a consistent dystrophin interaction), and removing potential contaminants such as proteins that were only identified by site or were identified from the reverse decoy database were removed, we identified 271 proteins interacting with dystrophin (Supplementary Table 2).

Identification of 20 high confidence physical interactors

Each of the 271 potential binding partners identified above was assigned a rank based on the average fold change, with the highest fold change (4.30) being given rank 1 and the lowest fold change (0.01) being given rank 271 (Figure 18A). To obtain a baseline above which highconfidence interactors were ascribed, the linear regression of rank against fold change from ranks 80 to 220 was used ($R^2 = 0.995$) (Figure 18B-D), resulting in the identification of 18 high-confidence dystrophin interacting proteins. This set of 18 proteins includes the known dystrophin-binding proteins alpha-dystrobrevin and beta-1-syntrophin. A complete list of these 18 proteins and their fold changes can be found in Table 3. Dystrophin itself is pulled down and also passed these criteria (as would be expected). A further four high-confidence proteins were identified at consistently higher levels in non-knockdown samples, two of which had been disregarded by the standard analysis workflow due to having zero background levels in one or more of the knockdown samples (Table 4, further details in materials and methods). Two of these four proteins, alpha-dystrobrevin and beta-2-syntrophin are well established dystrophin interactors. Dystrophin and tensin - an integrin binding protein (McCleverty, Lin, & Liddington, 2007) - have actin as a common binding partner (Lo, Janmey, Hartwig, & Chen, 1994). Tensin-1 was previously shown to form a strong interaction with the integrin complex through the integrin beta tail and focal adhesion, which may suggest a physical interaction between dystrophin, tensin and the focal adhesion complex. The fourth protein, myeloidassociated differentiation marker (MYADM) has not previously been identified to interact with dystrophin in skeletal muscle cells. MYADM has been studied in smooth muscle cells (L. Sun et al., 2016) and endothelial cells (J. F. Aranda et al., 2013) or cancer cell lines (J. F. Aranda et al., 2011).



Figure 18. Identification of high-confidence physical interactors of dystrophin. The process was used to determine a higher confidence list of proteins from a list of 271 proteins which had consistent ratios indicative of a dystrophin interaction. 18 proteins were determined to be high confidence dystrophin interactors. (A) Average fold changes of the 271 proteins that consistently associated with dystrophin across runs. (B) Linear correlation of proteins ranked 80 to 210. (C) Predicted fold change (orange) for each rank value calculated based upon the linear correlation obtained. (D) The difference between the actual and the predicted fold change against rank with standard error for each protein calculated to determine proteins significantly higher than their predicted score. Standard errors were calculated with n=2/3/4.

Table 3. 18 high-confidence proteins identified to be physically interacting with dystrophin as determined through rank based fold change predictions. The 18 proteins include DAPC proteins beta-1-syzntrophin and alpha-dystroglycan. Dystrophin (bold) also based the thresholds implemented and is included in the table for reference. Average fold changes and standard errors are based upon all valid ratios obtained from the mass spectrometry data (n=2/3/4). Difference minus standard error was required to be above zero to be included in the set of high confidence proteins. Proteins 39S ribosomal protein L12, mitochondrial (MRPL12) and SUMO-activating enzyme subunit 1 (SAE1) (shown in italics) were later removed from the list of interacting proteins due to likelihood of false positives due to localisations within the mitochondria and nucleus respectively. Beta-2-syntrophin and tensin-1 were determined to be dystrophin interactors through alternative analysis (Table 4) and were subsequently included in the high confidence list.

Protein names	Gene names	Average fold change	Predicted non- interacting fold change (based on rank)	Difference (actual – predicted)	Standard error	Difference - standard error
Brain-specific angiogenesis inhibitor 1-associated protein 2	BAIAP2	3.10	1.72	1.38	0.92	0.46
CD97 antigen	CD97	2.22	1.68	0.54	0.47	0.07
Dystrophin	DMD	3.97	1.72	2.25	0.81	1.43
Alpha-dystrobrevin	DTNA	2.91	1.71	1.20	0.69	0.51
LIM domain only protein 7	LMO7	1.72	1.55	0.18	0.17	0.00
39S ribosomal protein L12, mitochondrial	MRPL12	1.92	1.62	0.30	0.04	0.27
Matrix-remodeling- associated protein 7	MXRA7	1.35	1.34	0.01	0.00	0.01
Myeloid-associated differentiation marker	MYADM	2.64	1.70	0.94	0.39	0.55
NACHT, LRR and PYD domains-containing protein 13	NLRP13	4.88	1.73	3.15	1.24	1.92
1-phosphatidylinositol 4,5- bisphosphate phosphodiesterase delta-1	PLCD1	2.19	1.68	0.51	0.47	0.04
26S proteasome non- ATPase regulatory subunit 9	PSMD9	1.80	1.59	0.22	0.13	0.09
Protein S100-A7	S100A7	2.73	1.71	1.02	0.82	0.20
SUMO-activating enzyme subunit 1	SAE1	1.75	1.56	0.19	0.10	0.10
SH3 domain-binding glutamic acid-rich-like protein	SH3BGRL	1.97	1.64	0.33	0.22	0.11
SH3 domain-binding glutamic acid-rich-like protein 3	SH3BGRL3	2.67	1.70	0.96	0.84	0.13
Beta-1-syntrophin	SNTB1	2.55	1.69	0.85	0.76	0.09
Sorcin	SRI	1.60	1.52	0.09	0.07	0.02
Thioredoxin domain- containing protein 12	TXNDC12	2.09	1.66	0.42	0.03	0.40
Vacuolar protein sorting- associated protein 28 homolog	VPS28	1.99	1.65	0.33	0.02	0.32

Table 4. Physical interactors of dystrophin identified through the disabling of the re-quantify option of MaxQuant. The mass spectrometry analysis was rerun with the re-quantify feature disabled in order to allow for the determination of proteins that were consistently and exclusively present in the dystrophin pull down sample, displaying no background binding in the dystrophin absent samples. Four were determined to be interacting with dystrophin through this method. Alpha-dystrobrevin and myeloid-associated differentiation marker were previously identified as high confidence interactors, beta-2-syntrophin and tensin-1 were previously identified in the list of low confidence interactors. As a result of this analysis, beta-2-syntrophin and tensin-1 were added to the list of high confidence interactors. Peptide numbers in each of the runs for each protein with the re-quantify featured enabled and disabled are displayed in order to demonstrate agreement between the two analysis methods.

Protein	Protein name	Gene	Num	Re-quantify			
ID	Frotein name	name	Run 1	Run 2	Run 3	Reverse	enabled?
Q13425	Beta-2-syntrophin	SNTB2	5	7	9	12	No
Q13425	Beta-2-syntrophin	SNTB2	5	7	9	12	Yes
M0QZ28	Dystrobrevin alpha	DTNA	7	9	12	8	No
Q9Y4J8	Dystrobrevin alpha	DTNA	8	9	13	7	No
M0QZ28	Dystrobrevin alpha	DTNA	6	8	11	7	Yes
Q9Y4J8	Dystrobrevin alpha	DTNA	8	10	13	7	Yes
C9JZL8	Myeloid-associated differentiation marker	MYADM	3	3	2	2	No
C9JZL8	Myeloid-associated differentiation marker	MYADM	3	3	2	2	Yes
E9PGF5	Tensin-1	TNS1	31	20	10	13	No
E9PGF5	Tensin-1	TNS1	30	20	10	13	Yes

Enrichment analysis suggests a link between dystrophin and vesicle trafficking

To search for shared characteristics the set of 20 high-confidence interactors was tested for enrichment of Gene Ontology (GO) Biological Processes, Cellular Components, and Molecular Functions, using Enrichr (E. Y. Chen et al., 2013; Kuleshov et al., 2016). Results for cellular compartment terms are shown in Table 5. The 20 high-confidence interactors returned strong enrichments of multiple cell junction terms due to proteins CD97 antigen, LIM domain only protein 7, beta-1-syntrophin, tensin-1 and protein S100-A7. Links to junctions were similarly represented within the direct interacting proteins. A notable enrichment was found within the extracellular vesicular exosome term (p-values < 0.05). Vacuolar protein sorting-associated protein 28 homolog (VPS28) and sorcin (SRI) represented endosomal and vesicle membrane terms respectively. Representations of the most common cellular compartment locations for

these proteins were carried out using CellWhere (L. Zhu et al., 2015) (Figure 19) confirming a high proportion of proteins have been annotated to junctions or exosomal locations.

Table 5. Enrichment analysis of experimental and curated gene set Cellular Compartment GO term ranks. Separate enrichments were carried out used our high confidence protein set (referred to as 'physical') and the direct interactors of dystrophin from previously published data (referred to as 'direct'). Selected terms of interest are shown, in particular the increased representation of vesicle and focal adhesion related term results.

GO term	Rank physical	Rank direct	Gene physical	Gene direct	Physical p-value	Direct p- value
focal adhesion (GO:0005925)	1	9	CD97;LMO7;SNTB1; ACTN2;DAG1;SNTB1; TNS1;S100A7 SNTB2;PLEC		4.72E-05	1.53E-04
cell-substrate adherens junction (GO:0005924)	2	10	CD97;LMO7;SNTB1; TNS1;S100A7	ACTN2;DAG1;SNTB1; SNTB2;PLEC	5.11E-05	1.65E-04
cell-substrate junction (GO:0030055)	3	11	CD97;LMO7;SNTB1; TNS1;S100A7	ACTN2;DAG1;SNTB1; SNTB2;PLEC	5.38E-05	1.74E-04
adherens junction (GO:0005912)	4	7	CD97;LMO7;SNTB1; TNS1;S100A7	SYNM;ACTN2;DAG1; SNTB1;SNTB2;PLEC	9.11E-05	2.29E-05
anchoring junction (GO:0070161)	5	8	CD97;LMO7;SNTB1; TNS1;S100A7	SYNM;ACTN2;DAG1; SNTB1;SNTB2;PLEC	1.07E-04	2.77E-05
extracellular vesicular exosome (GO:0070062)	6	37	CD97;SH3BGRL; MYADM; SH3BGRL3;SRI; BAIAP2;PLCD1; VPS28;S100A7	97;SH3BGRL; MYADM; I3BGRL3;SRI; JAP2;PLCD1; PS28;S100A7 ACTA1;KRT19; TUBA1A;ACTN2; DAG1;CALM1; SNTB2;PLEC		3.72E-02
ESCRT complex (GO:0036452)	7	-	VPS28	-	1.68E-02	-
cytosol (GO:0005829)	9	14	PSMD9;SRI; BAIAP2;SAE1; PLCD1;VPS28; S100A7	PSMD9;SRI; BAIAP2;SAE1; PLCD1;VPS28; S100A7 ACTA1;TUBA1A; ACTN2;TNNT1; TNNC1;NDE1;ANK2; NOS1;CALM1; CTNNAL1.PLEC		3.78E-03
ESCRT I complex (GO:0000813)	21	-	VPS28	-	1.20E-02	-
secretory granule membrane (GO:0030667)	22	-	SRI	-	6.44E-02	-
endosomal part (GO:0044440)	36	-	VPS28	-	2.17E-01	-
endosome membrane (GO:0010008)	39	-	VPS28 -		1.93E-01	-
cytoplasmic vesicle membrane (GO:0030659)	41	-	SRI	-	2.44E-01	-
vesicle membrane (GO:0012506)	42	-	SRI	-	2.63E-01	-
cytoplasmic vesicle part (GO:0044433)	43	80	SRI	ACTN2	3.60E-01	4.27E-01



Figure 19. CellWhere representation of the probable localisations of the 18 physically interacting proteins. The potential localisations of the 18 proteins listed in Table 3 were obtained using Uniprot and GO and the muscle flavor. MXRA7 is identified as a membrane protein. NLRP13 did not return any localisation information and so is not present in this figure. Cellular compartments were similar to those suggested in the enrichment analysis in Table 5. MRP12 and SAE1 display locations within the mitochondria and nucleus leading to the possibility of not likely interacting with dystrophin *in vivo*. Subsequent review of known localisations could not establish plausible localisations with dystrophin and so the two proteins were subsequently removed from the high confidence data set.

With the gene enrichment analysis supporting a dystrophin involvement with exosome secretion we searched the list of 271 proteins that mass spectrometry data found to be consistently associated with dystrophin. A cavin family member muscle-related coiled-coil protein (MURC / Cavin-4) immunoprecipitated with dystrophin across the four runs with an average fold change of 1.19 (supplementary Table 2). EH domain-containing protein 2 (EHD2), was also consistently observed in the four runs and associated with dystrophin with an average fold change of 1.25 in our experiment. Interestingly, both MURC and EHD2 both synergistically act with protein polymerase I and transcript release factor (PTRF / cavin-4) in caveolae recruitment, regulation (Johnson et al., 2012) and endocytosis (Morén et al., 2012; Parton & del Pozo, 2013), the latter being a pathway overlapping with exosome biogenesis (Colombo, Raposo, & Théry, 2014).

Interactive web tool for exploration of the dystrophin interactome, incorporating literature and web resource survey

To integrate our new data with previous observations, we surveyed the existing literature on specific dystrophin-binding partners, and we gathered and curated data on known partners from functional association and pathway resources: IntAct (Kerrien et al., 2012), GeneMANIA (Warde-Farley et al., 2010), CellWhere (L. Zhu et al., 2015), Mentha (Calderone et al., 2013), and Reactome (Croft et al., 2014; Milacic et al., 2012). As well as direct 'primary' binding associations, we included many secondary and tertiary protein interactors where they are implicated in known functional roles of dystrophin, such as the contractile apparatus and transmembrane channels.

The resulting network is available in an interactive format online at 'http://sysmyo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome' (represented in Figure 20). The dystrophin protein is split into four segments, representing the calponin homology domain, spectrin repeats, cysteine rich domain and C-terminal allowing for interaction known to interact at specific regions on dystrophin to be represented. The network includes dystrophins direct interactors and more distant interactors which physically interact with dystrophin. Interactions between dystrophin interactions which occur while in complex with dystrophin are also included. The interactome incorporates 72 dystrophin interactors and displays dystrophin's links to numerous transmembrane proteins involved in molecule and ion transportation and cell signalling and adhesion, caveolae and exosomal related proteins, linker proteins and cytoskeletal proteins. Simplified small networks of the dystrophin associated protein complex and direct interactors are also available on the same website.

The website is intended to allow for a simple analysis of dystrophin and its interactors. Each protein node is movable and contains a proteins full name, gene ID, UniProt accession and reference to a relevant paper demonstrating the interaction with dystrophin. Each edge references the direct interaction represented. The website also offers download of the complete .cys version of the website which allows for complete modification within Cytoscape. This additionally offers the ability to add or remove nodes depending on the researcher interests. Transcriptomic or protein expression data can be overlaid onto the network in order to easily visualise the interactors of dystrophin that have been impacted.

This tool will provide an easily accessible platform to examine dystrophin's currently known direct and physical interactors. Proteins of interest can be investigated to determine how they may be interacting with dystrophin if an interaction with a dystrophin associated protein of the network is known. The interactome will be particularly useful in the analysis of dystrophic-related transcriptomic data, allowing to easily determine the affected proteins that associate with dystrophin and their relationship to dystrophin and its roles. Newly identified interactors can be added to the network and used to aid in determining how they likely interact with dystrophin. Some proteins, such as some of the newly identified physical interactors of dystrophin do not have any clear links to dystrophin through direct interactions. This suggests as-yet unknown interactions or interactors that are relevant to dystrophin that would connect these proteins, highlighting that dystrophin still contains interactions that have yet to be elucidated.



Page 124 of 210

Figure 20. Dystrophin interactome of direct and physical interactions constructed based upon previously published data and our experimental data. The interactome is built from the previously established direct interactors to subsequently include physically interacting dystrophin partners (including the newly identified high-confidence physical interactors). Relevant interactions between interactors in the network are included if they are believed to occur while in association with dystrophin. Enzymes which act upon dystrophin have not been included. Proteins are placed in accordance to their cellular location. The taller nodes in a line across the top of the interactome represent membrane located proteins (transmembrane proteins and channels). The proteins above these taller nodes represent proteins located extracellularly, all proteins below the taller nodes are intracellular. The line of proteins across the bottom of the interactome represent proteins that make up the cytoskeleton. Stronger protein complexes or proteins cooperating in similar roles have been clustered closer together (such as the dystrophin physical interactors that are part of the integrin focal adhesion complex labelled in dark green). The interactome is also available at 'sys-myo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome' where it can also be downloaded in .cys format in order to allow full interactively and modification as desired.

Discussion

Dystrophin, localized under the sarcolemma, binds to F-actin through its N-terminal domain and to the alpha/beta-dystroglycan transmembrane protein complex through its C-Terminal domain. Thanks to these physical interactions, dystrophin creates a link between the contractile apparatus and the extracellular matrix network. We built an in silico dystrophin network, establishing the previously identified dystrophin interactors within the context of other previous interactors and their location within the cell. We used a systematic experimental approach in order to identify new interactors. This approach allowed us to unbiasedly identify previously unknown dystrophin interactors that may otherwise not have been investigated. Our proteomic analysis identified 20 confident partners of dystrophin and begins to unravel the interaction of dystrophin with a new cell compartment: secreted vesicles including exosomes. It is important to note that these new interactions have been determined through a skeletal muscle cell line; and may not represent interactions of dystrophin that are present in cardiac or smooth muscle or other tissues. The new interactors have been incorporated to the dystrophin interactome and the link between dystrophins and secreted vesicle has been strengthened. This is available as a separate network with the additional proteins highlighted in yellow. All new interactions are based on supporting direct interaction data. No direct links with dystrophin have been added. This new, larger dystrophin interactome is represented in Figure 20 and also available at 'http://sys-myo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome'. This network, combining in silico and in vitro approaches, is available online and can be used as tool to determine strategy therapeutic for BMD or DMD.

Comparison with previous findings

Of the 21 direct interactors established previously for skeletal muscle (Figure 21 and supplementary Table 3), 14 were identified in our mass spectrometry data of which 7 consistently displayed greater pull down in the presence of dystrophin, displayed in Table 6 along with relevant DAPC and closely related proteins. These 7 confirmed direct interactors included alpha-dystrobrevin and alpha-, beta-1- and beta-2-syntrophin, proteins known to bind to the first helix of the coiled-coil domain of dystrophin's C-terminal (Sadoulet-Puccio et al., 1997; Yang et al., 1995). Of note, alpha-dystrobrevin is well known to strongly bind to syncoilin (Newey et al., 2001), suggesting that syncoilin presence in our pull down experiment is likely due to this interaction rather than being a direct interaction to dystrophin. Skeletal muscle is known to express all three isoforms of syntrophin mentioned (SNTA, SNTB1 and SNTB2), with SNTA being the predominant muscle isoform (Peters, Adams, & Froehner, 1997). Syntrophins interact with dystrophin in pairs with syntrophin B1 binding site being located precisely at amino acid sequence 3447-3481 (Yang et al., 1995). Although, syntrophin pairs of SNTA with either SNTB1 or SNTB2 are most common (Peters et al., 1997), experiments observing SNTB1 and SNTB2 pull down along with dystrophin have also been reported (Camp et al., 2015) and correlates with our data. SNTB2 is usually expressed at low levels and generally localises to the neuromuscular junction however it is also weakly detectable at the sarcolemma (Kramarcy & Sealock, 2000; Peters, Kramarcy, Sealock, & Froehner, 1994). SNTA levels have previously been found to decrease as a result of dystrophin deficiency while SNTB1 and SNTB2 levels increase.



Figure 21. Direct interaction of full length dystrophin within myotubes. Literature searches were guided by interaction databases of both experimental (in vivo and in vitro) and computational data across all species, with particular attention given to manually curated databases. Databases were accessed either through their own interaction viewer software, through the third party interaction viewer Cytoscape (Shannon et al., 2003) or as a text based table. Each resulting interaction was independently verified or discarded based upon a review of the interactions paper of origin listed by the interaction databases and an independent journal search. Literature searches independent of interactions listed by databases were performed within PubMed and Google/Google Scholar using various keywords combinations including (but not limited to): dystrophin, dmd, Duchenne, interactome, direct, immunoprecipitation, Y2H and protein names of interest. Relevant high-throughput data sets were also independently searched however further evidence was required to be incorporated into this network. Direct interactions involving enzymes that acted upon dystrophin (such as proteases ubiquitin and calpain I and II or kinases par-1b and CaM kinase) are not included in the network. Colours correlate to those used in supplementary Table 3 and are based upon protein roles. Yellow: DAPC, Green: enzyme, Purple: regulatory protein, Pink: cytoskeleton, Grey: linker, Blue: microtubules.

Table 6. DAPC members and other select known interactors of dystrophin that were identified as potential physical interactors in our mass spectrometry analysis. Beta-dystrobrevin, commonly not considered to be expressed in the skeletal muscle was identified. All fold changes are calculated with positive values representing increased pull down in the presence of dystrophin. Runs were no ratio could be calculated have no fold change value.

Uniprot	Protein name	Gene	Total number	al Number of peptides ber identified Fold Change Ave		Fold Change			Average Fold			
Cimptot		name	of	Run	Run	Run	Reverse	Run	Run	Run	Reverse	Change
			proteins	1	2	3		1	2	3		
P11532	Dystrophin	DMD	15	208	221	227	206	2.24	5.40	5.32	2.92	3.97
H0Y304	Dystrophin	DMD	3	74	77	82	77	0.58	2.20	3.03	0.85	1.67
Q9Y4J8	Alpha- dystrobrevin	DTNA	6	8	10	13	7	0.32	2.11	3.43	1.85	1.93
M0QZ28	Alpha- dystrobrevin	DTNA	3	6	8	11	7	3.67	3.72	3.40	0.86	2.91
Q13424	Alpha-1- syntrophin	SNTA1	1	0	1	1	2	-	1.26	-	-	1.26
Q13884	Beta-1-syntrophin	SNTB1	2	21	18	26	21	1.30	2.26	4.77	1.88	2.55
Q13425	Beta-2-syntrophin	SNTB2	5	5	7	9	12	0.21	1.47	2.01	3.74	1.86
Q16585	Beta-sarcoglycan	SGCB	1	2	2	0	1	0.78	1.63	-	1.31	1.24
Q13326	Gamma- sarcoglycan	SGCG	1	2	1	0	2	-	-	-	3.26	3.26
Q9H7C4	Syncoilin	SYNC	3	8	7	6	6	0.57	1.34	1.93	1.19	1.26
F8WBR5	Calmodulin	CALM2	10	0	0	3	1	-	-	0.44	0.28	0.36
Q15149	Plectin	PLEC	5	208	224	219	234	2.28	0.89	0.39	0.36	0.98
K7EMS3	Keratin-19	KRT19	1	2	5	8	5	-	-	3.11	-	3.11
E7EVB6	Beta-dystrobrevin	DTNB	7	4	7	11	7	-	2.11	2.81	0.98	1.97

Other proteins that are known to directly interact with dystrophin were not shown to consistently interact with dystrophin across the runs or were not detected. As different interactors will be present at earlier or later differentiation time points (Min et al., 2010), during different cell states (such as stress) (Yih, Peck, & Lee, 2002) and can vary between human and murine cells or cell lines (Zheng-Bradley et al., 2010) it is not surprising that not all potential interactors were positively identified. For instance, nNOS expression is altered when cells are

exposed to oxidative stress conditions (Kar, Kellogg, & Roman, 2015). Problems with the release of transmembrane proteins while maintaining interaction is a common issue which is could be present in these data, with beta- and gamma-sarcoglycan positively associating with dystrophin at low levels, and the detection of delta-sarcoglycan and beta-dystroglycan at similarly low levels (each with just one protein identified). In addition, other interactors such as ankyrin-2 and -3 are known to have solubility problems (Ayalon et al., 2008), suggesting that hydrophobic proteins are difficult to pull down with dystrophin and may be absent of the soluble interactome.

MYADM, a new partner for dystrophin

MYADM is new partner identified in our study. This protein has been described as a membrane raft protein involved in membrane condensation, cell spreading and migration through Rac1 (J. F. Aranda et al., 2011). All of its currently known physical interactors have come through high-throughput screens and includes interaction with the transmembrane protein TGF-beta receptor type-2 located in the caveolae (Bizet et al., 2011; Huttlin et al., 2015). Knowing that dystrophin is described to be involved in membrane maintenance during muscle contraction, a partner such as MYADM would make sense to support this function.

Dystrophin is linked to secreted vesicles

Dystrophin has not been widely implicated in vesicular exosome trafficking in the literature, although dystrophin deficiency is known to alter the secretion profile (Hathout et al., 2014, 2015). Dystrophin deficient mdx myotubes have previously been shown to have an increase in secreted LAMP1 positive vesicles (Duguez et al., 2013) implicating the lack of dystrophin to subsequently cause a dysregulation in vesicle trafficking with subsequent dystrophin expression able to normalise vesicle trafficking to some extent. Our curated dystrophin interactome provides a potential link to some form of trafficking through the dystrophin-NDE1-LIS1 complex involvement with dynein/dynactin microtubule intracellular transport.

VPS28, a component of the ESCRT-1 complex along with TSG101 and HCRP1, which is involved in vesicle trafficking (Bache et al., 2004) and colocalise on LAMP1 positive vesicles. VPS28 binding to TSG101 inhibits the degradation of TSG101 and thus regulate the complex expression (McDonald & Martin-Serrano, 2008).

Dystrophin interaction with caveolae

PTRF was initially found to immunoprecipitate with dystrophin in heart, although this was not found in skeletal muscle (Johnson et al., 2012) however subsequent PTRF immunoprecipitation in skeletal muscle did return low levels of dystrophin and strong associations to beta-dystroglycan (Johnson et al., 2013). Dystrophin absence (mdx mice) resulted in a decreased level of PTRF and a subsequent decrease of PTRF immunoprecipitated with beta-dystroglycan. A direct interactor has not yet been identified.

PTRF and the muscle specific MURC (Way & Parton, 1996) colocalise at the caveolae, interacting with the muscle specific caveolin-3 in skeletal muscle. Both MURC and PTRF play roles in localisation of caveolin-3 and formation of caveolae. PTRF knockdown has been shown to result in the complete absence of other cavin member and caveolin-3 from muscle sarcolemma (Hansen et al., 2013) and resulting loss of caveolae (Liu et al., 2008). Caveolin-3 has strong links to muscular dystrophy, and been shown to associate with the DAPC (McNally et al., 1998). The increase of caveolin-3 in dystrophin deficient cells indicates that dystrophin is not required for the requirement or localisation of PTRF or MURC.

Perhaps of note is the presence of beta-2-syntrophin in Johnson's and our experimental data in which a cavin member co-immunoprecipitated. Beta-2-syntrophin was not observed in the skeletal muscle of Johnson's experiment in which PTRF was not immunoprecipitated with dystrophin (Johnson et al., 2012).

EH domain-containing protein 2 (EHD2), a protein associating with dystrophin with an average fold change of 1.25 in our experiment, also requires PTRF expression for correct localisation. EHD2 has roles in the regulation of caveolae endocytosis dynamics (Morén et al., 2012; Parton & del Pozo, 2013) and downregulation GLUT4 vesicle formation. EHD2 absence hence causes an increase of caveolin-3 at the sarcolemma, with a less stable, more dynamic formation of caveolin-3 resulting from the decrease in regulation usually provided by EHD2.

Conclusions

Our study combined an innovative experimental proteomic approach with a review of literature and *in silico* resources to establish a systematic interactome of the known binding partners of the dystrophin protein. Based upon our experimental data we identified 20 physically interacting partners of dystrophin. The interactome is available online at 'http://sysmyo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome', and includes the complexes commonly linked to dystrophin function, including the contractile apparatus, intermediate filaments, microtubules and intermediate filaments as well as the links to vesicle trafficking, the caveolae and focal adhesion complexes, that are supported by our proteomic data. This online tool acts as an accessible platform to understand the interactions of dystrophin and aid in the comprehension of related interaction data. Given that each compartment within our interactome has been shown to be disrupted to some extent in dystrophic cells, it may also provide possible therapeutic targets for dystrophin related diseases. Supplementary data



Supplementary Figure 8. Optimisation of the conditions for the culture and immunoprecipitation protocols. A. Expression of dystrophin after different days of differentiation in our skeletal muscle immortalised cell line. The number above each lane represents days of differentiation before harvesting. Dystrophin detected using the Dys-2 antibody which recognises the dystrophin C-terminal. Each lane was loaded with equal amount of protein lysate (20 µg). Day five was determined to be an early time point at which high amounts of dystrophin expression are observed. B. Lysis buffers of various strengths were tested in order to find the weakest buffer that would extract the most dystrophin. A sample of some of the buffers tested are shown. Lane 1; 0.5% Triton X-100, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.05% SDS, 20 mM Tris buffer, Lane 2; 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.05% SDS, 20 mM Tris buffer, Lane 3; 0.25% Triton X-100, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 20 mM Tris buffer, Lane 4; 0.5% Triton X-100, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 20 mM Tris buffer, Lane 5; 1% Triton X-100, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 20 mM Tris buffer, Lane 6; 2% Triton X-100, 2% sodium deoxycholate, 0.2% SDS, 20 mM Tris buffer and Lane 7; 1% Triton X-100, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 50 mM Tris buffer. C. Dystrophin immunoprecipitation using various antibodies was tested. A successful immunoprecipitation using MANDYS102 and an unsuccessful attempt using MANDYS125 are shown. Of the antibodies tested (DYS2, MANDYS102, MANDYS107, MANDYS125 and MANEX50), DYS2, targeting the C-terminal, and MANDYS102, targeting R16 of the rod domain, immunoprecipitated the highest levels of dystrophin. D. Elution buffers were tested to increase dystrophin elution during immunoprecipitation. Of the elution buffers tested (glycine 0.1M at pH 2/3/10, glycine 0.2M at pH 1, KCl 3M, urea 8M, 0.2 % SDS + 0.1 % Triton X-100 and 1 % SDS of which 1 % SDS, 0.2 % + 0.1 % Triton X-100 and 0.1 M glycine, pH 1 are shown). 1 % SDS proved the most effective. E1 and E2 represent first and second elution, B represent elution through heating the beads and indicates the protein left uneluted from the previous elutions. E. Attempts to deplete myosin were investigated through myosin immunoprecipitation and serial transfer of the lysate prior to dystrophin immunoprecipitation. Lanes 1 and 2 are from elution of the myosin immunoprecipitation, representing dystrophin and myosin that has been removed from the lysates. Lanes 3-6 are subsequent elutions after dystrophin immunoprecipitation. F. Confirmation of successful and efficient dystrophin knockdown. Cell cultures were treated with siDystrophin at time points 2 days before differentiation, on the day of differentiation and two days after differentiation (as described in Materials and Methods). Treated cell lysates (labelled si1-4) were compared against untreated cell lysates (labelled D1-4).



Supplementary Figure 9. Analysis of cells after dystrophin knockdown. A. Transcriptomic analysis of dystrophin expressing and dystrophin knocked down cells. Data sets were compared against healthy and DMD cell lines in order to establish if the knockdown of dystrophin had a significant effect on the cells. B. Myotubes imaged at day 5 differentiation, transfected with 50 nm siDys pool and RNAiMAX reagent (left) and no transfection (right). Transfection was carried out at two days before differentiation, upon differentiation and at day 2 differentiation. No differences are seen between the transfected and non-transfected myotubes.



Supplementary Figure 10. Schematic of the method plan used to obtain mass spectrometry data of the three forward and one reverse runs.

		L -		_					
Gene name	Av. fold	Gene name	Av. fold	Gene name	Av. fold	Gene	Av. fold	Gene	Av. fold
	change		change		change	name	change	name	change
AASS	1,17	DUSP27	0,88	KLHL40	1,55	PGRMC2	1,57	SNX18	0,89
ABCD3	1,01	DYNLT1	0,77	LAMTOR3	1,57	PKP1	1,30	SNX6	1,08
ABHD10	1,05	ECM29	0,76	LARS	0,52	PLBD2	1,19	SORT1	1,04
ACAA1	1,09	EEF1E1	0,42	LDHA	0,65	PLCD1	2,19	SPCS3	1,17
ACO1	1,77	EHD2	1,25	LIMA1	0,58	PLEC	0,98	SPNS1	0,59
AHNAK2	0,94	EIF3A	1,01	LMO7	1,72	POM121C	1,59	SPTLC1	0,86
AIMP2	0,69	EIF3C	0,56	LMO7	1,52	PREPL	1,68	SQRDL	1,82
AK3	0,25	EIF3F	0,53	LMO7	1,54	PRKAG1	0,75	SRI	1,60
AKAP2	1,29	EIF3H	1,37	LSM14A	0,51	PRRC2C	0,61	SRM	0,80
ALDH18A1	0,81	EIF4A1	1,51	MAN2B1	0,95	PSMC5	0,42	SRP54	1,41
AP3B1	0,39	ELOVL1	0,64	MAPK1IP1L	0,96	PSMD10	1,30	SRP72	0,34
APOOL	0,86	EPRS	0,62	MBNL1	0,88	PSMD9	1,80	SRPK3	0,54
ARF5	1,14	EPS15L1	0,98	MBOAT7	1,28	PSMF1	1,34	SSBP1	0,19
ARHGAP1	1,26	ERBB2IP	1,96	MLIP	2,01	PTPN12	1,47	SSR4	0,32
ARHGEF10	1.07	ESYT2	0.80	MPI	1.51	PURA	1.88	STOM	0.97
ARHGEF2	0.62	EXOC8	0.25	MPV17	1.46	RAB21	0.64	STT3A	0.96
ARL1	0.91	F13A1	1.84	MRPL12	1.92	RAD50	0.38	STX7	1.54
ARSA	1.49	FAM129B	0.93	MRPI 15	1.29	RAF1	0.86	STXBP3	0.66
	1 11	FRI	0,55	MRPI 49	1.03	RALA	1 01	SUGP2	0.73
	1 / 2	FBXO30	0,07	MRPS10	0.12	RADH1	0.50		1 18
	0.16	FERMT3	1 33	MRDS17	0,12	RARS	0,30	SUN2	0.92
	0,10		1,35		0.96		1 74	SVNC	1.26
	0,84		1,49	MDDC22	0,90		1,74		1,20
BAIAPZ	3,10		1,32	IVIRPS22	0,98		0,51		0,97
BID	1,82	FARI	1,85	IVIRP325	1,44	RCIN3	2,11	TAGLIN	1,58
CALIVI2	0,36	FXR1	0,63	MIRPS35	0,53	RDH5	1,40	TAX18P3	1,80
CAPN1	0,96	GAMI	1,25	IVISI2	1,06	RERI	1,13	TBCD	2,32
CBFB	0,97	GE14	1,95	MI-AIP6	0,78	RFIN1	0,74	TMEM11	1,26
CD276	2,37	GLS	1,33	MICH1	0,99	RMDN3	1,63	TMEM173	1,09
CD47	0,49	GLS	0,57	MT-CO1	0,99	RPA2	0,73	TMEM33	1,27
CD97	2,22	GMPS	0,93	MT-ND1	0,76	RPL4	0,81	TNPO2	0,27
CDC42BPB	1,40	GOLPH3	1,15	MT-ND4	1,72	RPL6	1,15	TNS1	1,59
CDIPT	1,36	GRAMD3	0,87	MURC	1,19	RRAS	1,17	TNS3	1,42
CDK18	0,95	GTPBP1	0,63	MXRA7	1,35	RWDD1	0,77	TOR1AIP1	0,75
CDK5	1,33	HACD2	1,53	MYADM	2,64	S100A11	1,10	TRAP1	1,31
CDK5RAP3	1,62	HGS	1,80	MY01C	1,10	S100A7	2,73	TRIM23	1,02
CHCHD3	1,23	HIBCH	1,31	NAPG	1,42	SAE1	1,75	TRIM72	1,41
CNOT1	1,74	HLA-C	0,77	NCLN	0,72	SCCPDH	0,98	TRIO	1,18
CNPY2	0,79	HNRNPF	0,86	NDUFA10	0,58	SEC24D	0,80	TRMT1L	0,90
COASY	1,11	HNRNPH2	0,99	NDUFA6	0,40	SERPINF1	0,87	TSFM	0,93
COMMD8	0,32	HP1BP3	1,00	NDUFS7	0,84	SERPINH1	0,75	TXNDC12	2,09
COPS6	1,41	HSD17B12	1,40	NLRP13	4,88	SGCB	1,24	UBQLN1	1,11
COX7A2	0,65	IAH1	1,27	NUBP2	0,82	SH3BGRL	1,97	UFM1	1,23
CUL4A	0,96	IARS	0,48	NXF1	0,58	SH3BGRL3	2,67	UTRN	0,94
DCTN3	1,18	INF2	0,83	OGDH	1,38	SKP1	0,65	VPS13C	1,78
DDAH2	1,23	INPP1	1,07	OSBPL8	0,86	SLC12A2	1,40	VPS28	1,99
DDX21	0,79	IPO4	1,36	OSTF1	1,22	SLC20A2	1,54	VPS45	1,53
DERL1	0,96	IPO8	0,67	PAK2	1,36	SLC25A3	0,38	YARS2	1,27
DHCR7	1,04	IPO9	0,64	PCNA	0,32	SLC2A1	1,35	YIPF5	0,69
DMD	3.97	IVD	2.09	PDCD6IP	0,66	SLC33A1	1.11	YTHDF1	1.39
DMD	1.67	JAGN1	1.15	PDLIM1	0,99	SLC39A7	1,11	ZBTB20	1.98
DNAJC3	0.49	KANK2	1.19	PDLIM2	1.32	SLC9A3R1	0.95	ZYX	1.00
DR1	0.82	KCMF1	1,16	PDLIM3	0,81	SMPX	0,59	1	_,
DTNA	2,91	KIAA1033	0.50	PDLIM5	1.56	SNAP23	1.53		
DTNA	1 93	KIF134	1 71	PDLIM7	1 25	SNTB1	2 55		
DTNB	1 97	KIC1	0.50	PGM3	1 25	SNTB2	1.86		

Supplementary table 2. All proteins with a consistently positive fold change across at least two of the four runs. 271 protein results were determined to be potential dystrophin interactors with 265 unique gene IDS. Proteins DMD, DTNA, FXR1, GLS returned two unique protein IDs while LMO7 returned three unique IDs.

Uniprot	Gene name	Full name	Function	Binding domains on dystrophin
Q14118	DAG1	Beta-dystroglycan	DAPC	Hinge 4 / Cysteine rich domain
Q9Y4J8	DTNA	Alpha-dystrobrevin	DAPC	Coiled-coil motif (C-terminal)
Q13424	SNTA1	Alpha-1-syntrophin	DAPC	Coiled-coil motif (C-terminal)
Q13884	SNTB1	Beta-1-syntrophin	DAPC	Coiled-coil motif (C-terminal)
Q13425	SNTB2	Beta-2-syntrophin	DAPC	Coiled-coil motif (C-terminal)
P29475	NOS1	nNOS	Enzyme	Rod domain repeats 16 and 17
P63316	TNNC1	Troponin C	Regulatory protein	Calponin homology domain
P13805	TNNT1	Troponin T	Regulatory protein	C-terminal
P62158	CALM1/2/3	Calmodulin	Regulatory protein	Calponin homology domain
015061	SYNM	Alpha-synemin	Cytoskeleton	Rod domain repeat 3 and Cysteine rich domain
015061	SYNM	Beta-synemin	Cytoskeleton	Rod domain repeat 3
P08727	KRT19	Keratin 19	Cytoskeleton	Calponin homology domain
P68133	ACTA1	F-actin	Cytoskeleton	Calponin homology domain, Rod domain repeats 11 to 17
		Alpha/Beta tubulin dimer	Cytoskeleton	Rod domain repeats 20 to 23
Q01484	ANK2	Ankyrin-2	Linker	Cysteine rich domain
Q12955	ANK3	Ankyrin-3	Linker	Cysteine rich domain
P35609	ACTN2	Alpha-actinin-2	Linker	C-terminal
Q15149	PLEC	Plectin 1f	Linker	Cysteine rich domain
Q9UBT7	CTNNAL1	Alpha-catulin	Linker	Unknown
Q9NXR1	NDE1	Nuclear distribution protein nudE homolog 1	Microtubule development / mitosis	C-terminal domain
Q8N3K9	CMYA5	Myospryn	Not well defined	Cysteine rich domain / C- terminal

Supplementary table 3. Known dystrophin interactors, role and binding domains on dystrophin.

Discussion

Immortalised cell lines

Immortalised cell lines provide a convenient and relatively low cost of carrying out studies of a single cell type. They are able to provide a cell platform which is isolated from the wider tissue and organism effects and complications, allowing for an analyses of a uniform cell population. Primary cells suffer from senescence after a relatively small number of divisions, making their use problematic. The immortalisation procedure allows us to use the cell line without senescence taking effect, however the disruption of one or more core cell pathways can inevitably have effects upon other pathways. As cell lines must attempt to embody a true representation of the original cell it is important that minimal deviation from the primary cells is observed. While a single gene transfection would present a decreased potential for cellular disruption, hTERT alone is not sufficient to fully protect against cellular senescence in myoblasts (K. M. Lee, Choi, & Ouellette, 2004): a second gene (cdk4) is required in order to adequately stop telomerase shortening (C.-H. Zhu et al., 2007). Thus it was important in this work to verify the downstream effects of these two transfections on the systems processes of immortalized myoblasts.

In regard to the hTERT/cdk4 immortalisation process, several important pathways had been previously investigated, however it was necessary to carry out a genomic wide analysis in order to check the overall state of the cell lines and a comprehensive analysis of the cell pathways. The heavy involvement of cdk4 in many cellular processes and the many possible secondary effects from cell cycle impairment makes it difficult to predict which pathways may have been altered. As a result, while it is possible to individually check important or closely related pathways, to fully verify that the cell line accurately portrays the original primary cells, a wide analysis is required.

Through our transcriptome-wide analysis, we have demonstrated that this particular method of cell line immortalisation was successful in creating a cell line representative of its cell of origin. The small variations between the primary and immortalised cell lines were insignificant compared to the differences between the cells originating from different patients (or different sex, age and tissue). Importantly, myogenic and non-myogenic cells remained in distinct populations, confirming that the immortalised myogenic cell lines are useful representations of

muscle cells. The immortalisation was found not to affect any other cellular processes. We also confirmed that the process was successful at protecting the cell line from the effects of senescence. A primary cell line which had undergone further divisions since the immortalisation process had become significantly distinct from the immortalised line.

Having confirmed the immortalisation process across multiple myogenic and non-myogenic cell lines in differentiated and undifferentiated states, we can not only confirm the validity of the cell lines tested, but also the use of all cell lines generated through the same process (at least within human healthy and DMD lines), allowing the cell lines to be used as representations of their origin cells with some confidence.

Aside from the healthy and DMD tested cell lines that were the subject of our experiment, cell lines of facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy (FSHD), oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy (OPMD), congenital muscular dystrophy (CMD) and limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2B (LGMD2B) are among the other immortalised cell lines developed through the same hTERT/cdk4 transduction method (Mamchaoui et al., 2011). The cell lines developed are of great use for experiments that require large numbers of cells and/or optimisation of procedures prior to analysis, as was the case with our experiment in Chapter 4 and will be of use in the myology field as well as other fields. Immortalisation through a number of different techniques have been carried out on a wide variety of cells, with the goal of halting cellular senescence with minimal effects on other cellular processes (Perez-Reyes, Halbert, Smith, Benditt, & McDougall, 1992; Philippi et al., 2012; Ramboer et al., 2014; Shiomi et al., 2011; Stadler et al., 2011). Thousands of cell lines have been developed, many of which can be obtained from cell banks. Reagents and kits are also available for researchers to develop their own cell lines (Robin et al., 2015).

Due to their wide use, it becomes important to ensure the results generated through the utilisation of cell lines are accurate. Problems regarding the cell backgrounds and contamination of cell lines have been previously reported, affecting thousands of research papers (Hughes, Marshall, Reid, Parkes, & Gelber, 2007; Neimark, 2015). When a cell line is not adequately validated, this can cast doubt on the validity of the research carried out using the line. Contamination, by which a foreign cell is introduced, grown and isolated from the initial culture, is also a potential problem with immortalised cell lines that have not been carefully investigated. It can also result from the introduction of a foreign immortalised cell into the immortalised culture. Mislabelling of cells has the same effect. As such, most cell

databases will now validate cell lines before being accepted. Methods such as DNA barcoding are performed to confirm the identity of cells (Cooper et al., 2007; Hebert, Cywinska, Ball, & deWaard, 2003; Hebert, Ratnasingham, & deWaard, 2003).

Through our analysis we have validated the hTERT/cdk4 immortalised cell lines of DMD and healthy patients and in doing so, validated the hTERT/cdk4 technique for developing immortalised cell lines of the DMD and healthy cells, providing added confidence to the use of the other disease variant cell lines developed through the same approach. We have carried out a methodology to validate the cell lines which can be followed for a similar validation approach of other cell lines. While the scale of this analysis may not be feasible for cell lines immortalised for single experiments, cell lines that are generated with the intent of being used across a larger number of experiments would certainly benefit from this analysis design.

Finding new interactors using the QUICK approach

Due to the critical role of dystrophin, as demonstrated by the severity of pathology in patients with dystrophin mutation or absence, dystrophin and its interaction partners have been heavily researched. Identifying its interactors not only increases our understanding of the protein and its roles within the cell, but also offers insight into dystrophin related diseases and can aid the research towards developing effective treatments. Despite the amount of previous research, a systematic approach to identifying its interactors has never been previously undertaken. Previous identification of interactors has relied heavily on common techniques such as immunoprecipitations and yeast two-hybrid, both of which are susceptible to false positive results (Brückner et al., 2009; Fletcher, Bowden, & Marrion, 2003; Solstad, Bull, Breivik, & Fladmark, 2008). Additionally, western blots are commonly used to identify proteins present in the immunoprecipitation elution, requiring prior knowledge of the suspected protein interactor (Lal, Haynes, & Gorospe, 2005; Thompson, 2004).

Through the use of the QUICK method we were able to identify a set of highly confident physically interacting proteins. This set of proteins, identified through mass spectrometry, screening peptides against the thousands of reviewed human protein sequences available from Uniprot, allowed for identification of interacting proteins without any previous knowledge bias. While immunoprecipitations using no control (3000+ proteins identified by a mass spectrometry analysis of a dystrophin immunoprecipitation) or using a beads without antibody immunoprecipitation control, run the risk of identifying numerous false positive interacting

proteins, our protein data set is largely protected from this through the knockdown of dystrophin in the control immunoprecipitation. We used a control which was identical to the original sample, but with dystrophin knockdown. Due to the importance of dystrophin in multiple cell functions, dystrophin knockdown introduces the possibility of affecting the cell and causing secondary effects (Seno et al., 2010). We chose an early differentiation time point at which dystrophin is expressed in order to limit the knock-on effects of dystrophin absence. A transcriptomic analysis of the dystrophin expressing and knockdown samples confirmed that the two maintain similar profiles. Using dystrophin expressing and dystrophin knockdown lysates from the same cell line, each subjected to the same immunoprecipitation conditions (including beads and antibody), we were able to obtain a control closely resembling the dystrophin expressing elution sample. Culturing the dystrophin expressing and dystrophin absent cells in different SILAC medium allowed for the combination of the two different lysates to directly compare the two samples in the same mass spectrometry run.

Ideally, SILAC samples should be combined at the earliest stage possible. Once combined, any procedure performed will subject the different isotope labelled samples to exactly the same conditions and biases. Performing a procedure on the uncombined samples will inevitably subject the samples to slight differences. A drawback to the use of immunoprecipitation and SILAC to identify protein interactors is the need for the immunoprecipitation to be performed prior to mixing of the SILAC proteins (due to the dynamic nature of protein interactions, mixing prior to immunoprecipitation would result in the exchange of the differently labelled isotopes between interactions).

Each mass spectrometry analysis was carried out using a dystrophin knockdown and dystrophin expressing immunoprecipitation elution. An elution was preformed using sample lysate on four separate immunoprecipitations (two immunoprecipitations using DYS-2 antibody and two immunoprecipitations using MANDYS102 antibody) which were then combined and subsequently combined with the four immunoprecipitations of the alternatively labelled sample elution. Immunoprecipitations using the different antibodies and the differently isotope labelled dystrophin expressing and dystrophin absent lysates were performed in random batches in order to eliminate the potential differences caused by the procedure before the mixing of the differently labelled samples, with the small random differences distributed across a number of samples.
From our mass spectrometry data (which consisted of three 'forward' runs and one 'reverse' run) we implemented thresholds (described in detail in Chapter 4) which were necessary to elucidate the highest confidence interacting partners. Requiring all the runs of a given protein to display higher pulldown in the dystrophin expressing elution isotope (indicating a possible dystrophin interaction) resulted in 271 proteins, all of which are identified from our experiment as possible interactors of dystrophin. In order to identify the interactors that we could determine with high confidence we calculated the standard error for each protein across the runs. This produced a set of 18 physical interactors of dystrophin.

Within the high confidence protein set were the dystrophin-associated protein complex members alpha-dystrobrevin and beta-1-syntrophin. Within the 251 proteins excluded from the high confidence set were known interactors of dystrophin such as beta-dystrobrevin, plectin, beta-sarcoglycan and beta-2-syntrophin. The original set of 271 proteins were required to have valid ratios in at least two of the four runs. With an increased number of runs it is likely we would have been able to identify a greater number of the set of large protein interactors with high confidence.

A weakness of using ratio values for cut offs is that the ratio magnitude is not representative of the strength of the dystrophin interaction. Ratios values are affected by the amount of total protein compared to the amount of protein that is interacting with dystrophin. As mass spectrometry analysis relies upon the detection of amino acids, larger proteins that result in a higher number of peptides after trypsinisation are affected in a similar way. This inherently makes proteins that are more highly expressed, or proteins with higher unspecific background binding, susceptible to lower fold change values. High amounts of unspecific binding and a small amount of specific binding reduces an interactor's fold change value making the protein more difficult to confidently identify as an interactor. The highly expressed dystrophin interactor plectin was detected across all four runs with a consistent ratio indicating a dystrophin interaction however its high detection levels in both the isotope samples results in a ratio which does not allow it to be classified as high confidence by the criteria we have used.

On the other extreme, proteins with very low expression may only be detected in a small number of the total runs of an experiment. This could result in the protein being eliminated from the data, which was the case in our experiment if only one of the four runs returned a fold change value even if this value was indicative of a dystrophin interaction. Despite the experimental design to increase sensitivity as much as possible many proteins where removed due to this threshold requirement.

Failure to produce a valid ratio value may also lead to an interactor being overlooked. To return a ratio value a protein must be detected in both the heavy and light isotopes of a single run. If a protein does not display any unspecific binding, which is an increased possibility of lowly expressed proteins, no valid ratio can be assigned. MaxQuant, the program that was used for our raw mass spectrometry data analysis, is able to combat this through the 're-quantify' feature that rescans areas where missing isotope amino acids would be. In doing this the program will often detect signals, commonly background noise, which can then be used to (artificially, in the case of noise detection) produce a ratio value. If the originally detected protein had a low intensity, the noise signal detected can mask a possible interactor that had been exclusively pulled down in the dystrophin expressing elution. Running the whole analysis without the requantify feature generated results in which a large number of proteins had many non-valid ratio values, making this an unfeasible way to carry out the overall analysis.

We ran a secondary analysis of our data with all the same parameters as the main run but without the re-quantify option enabled. In doing so we identified four proteins that were detected solely in the dystrophin expressing elution of each of the four runs; DTNA, MYADM, SNTB2 and TNS1, of which DTNA and SNTB2 are both well-established binding partners of dystrophin and fellow members of the dystrophin associated protein complex. DTNA and MYADM were present in our set of 18 high confidence interactors. SNTB2 and TNS1 were both present in the larger 271 protein data set. These two additionally identified dystrophin interactors where subsequently included in our high confidence protein data set.

Through the building of the *in silico* interactome we also became interested in the possible link between dystrophin and the caveolae due to the previously identified interaction with PTRF. While PTRF was not identified in our protein set, cavin family member MURC and the closely associated EHD2 were in our 271 protein data set. The previous data suggesting a physical interaction of dystrophin with the cavin family (PTRF) in heart combined with our data suggesting a possible interaction (with MURC) in skeletal muscle indicates that the dystrophin interaction with cavin may be present within both tissues.

Solubility issues and weak interactions (which can be difficult to maintain through normal immunoprecipitation methods) remain a limitation with this approach and will have inhibited

the identification of some dystrophin interactors (Jafferali et al., 2014; Kast & Klockenbusch, 2010). Membrane proteins have common solubility problems as they must be extracted from the membrane, however increasing the lysis buffer strength in order to release the proteins can result in disruption of protein-protein interactions. Dystrophin has many interactions with transmembrane proteins through both direct and indirect interactions. While the DAPC proteins syntrophins (beta-1 and beta-2, but not alpha) and dystrobrevins (alpha and beta) isoforms where identified in our dystrophin interactor data sets, dystroglycans and sarcoglycans (with the exception of beta-sarcoglycan) were not identified as interactors.

Although several methods have been developed to investigate interactors of membrane proteins, high-throughput screening between membrane and non-membrane proteins are still limited (Hunke & Müller, 2012; Walian et al., 2012). Immunoprecipitation techniques are not well suited for these interactions and predominantly rely upon tagging approaches such as FRET and Y2H (Ivanusic, Eschricht, & Denner, 2014). As a result, the QUICK approach is limited in its ability to identify membrane proteins.

Although our experiment successfully eliminated many false positives that are prevalent in common immunoprecipitation methods, false positives were still possible. Some of the proteins identified through our analysis where identified as being unlikely to be expressed *in vivo*, and others may be present in our extended low confidence incorporating data set. Proteins that would not be present in the same cellular location as dystrophin *in vivo* (such as within the nucleus or mitochondria), once lysed from their cellular compartment, become free to interact with dystrophin and dystrophin interacting proteins. While these proteins were removed from our list of interacting proteins after being identified through mass spectrometry, optimization of conditions (through careful lysis buffer consideration) in order to reduce the non-cytoplasmic proteins could be advantageous. However, the reductions in lysis buffer strength required to achieve this would have an adverse effect on any true dystrophin interactions with the membrane proteins of the cellular membrane and the internal organelle membranes.

Dystrophin and the vesicle transport pathways

Dystrophin deficiency has been previously shown to affect the protein secretion profile as well as the types of exosomes secreted (Coenen-Stass et al., 2015; Duguez et al., 2013; Hathout et al., 2015). Dystrophin deficiency has many adverse effects on the cell through direct and indirect causes along with a decrease in the overall health of the cell (Blake, Weir, Newey, &

Davies, 2002; Straub & Campbell, 1997). It is therefore not always evident whether changes seen in dystrophin deficient cells are due to the disruption of a dystrophin interaction or dystrophin pathway disruption or a secondary downstream consequence. We have provided strong evidence for dystrophins involvement in the vesicle transport pathways through a physical interaction and identified MURC and MYADM as two proteins involved in dystrophins interaction with the vesicle transport pathway. The interaction with MURC is supported by a previous study which identified cavin family member PTRF as a dystrophin interacting protein (Johnson et al., 2012). EHD2, a protein closely associated to the cavin family members and the caveolae, was also likely to be interacting with dystrophin according to our experimental data.

Caveolin-3, a muscle specific caveolin that resides in the caveolae, is well known to be upregulated upon dystrophin knockdown (F Galbiati et al., 2000; Ferruccio Galbiati, Razani, & Lisanti, 2001; Repetto et al., 1999). The interaction of dystrophin with a fellow caveolae protein that has previously been implicated in caveolin regulation at the membrane could additionally implicate dystrophin in the regulation of caveolin. MURC was found to positively regulate the recruitment of caveolin-3 to the membrane (in cardiomyocytes) (Naito et al., 2015). MURC itself is dependent on caveolin-3 for its localisation at the membrane (Bastiani et al., 2009). The coiled-coil domain of MURC is involved in the localisation to the membrane, with the remaining sequence capable of caveolin binding (Naito et al., 2015).

The effect of DMD on the caveolae requires further investigation and in particular an analysis of the cavin family members may be beneficial. Cavin members form tissue specific complexes (Bastiani et al., 2009) and so the disruption of a dystrophin-cavin interaction could have different effects in the different tissues. This could also provide further insight into the caveolin-dystrophin relationship and ultimately contribute to an increased understanding of the mechanisms behind the secretion profile changes that result from dystrophin deficiency.

The medium from the mass spectrometry analysis presented in Chapter 4 has been subsequently used to isolate exosomes and microparticles (which are SILAC labelled). Heavy and light dystrophin knockdown and dystrophin expressing samples of the exosomes and microparticles were combined for mass spectrometry analysis. These results are currently being analysed however preliminary analysis displays a distinct difference between the composition of exosomes and microparticles in presence and absence of dystrophin, in line with dystrophin association with vesicle transport and the altered secretion previously seen.

Dystrophin and the focal adhesion complex

Dystrophin has many links to adhesion complexes (G Anastasi et al., 2003; Burkin et al., 2001; Cerna et al., 2006; Lakonishok, Muschler, & Horwitz, 1992; Rozo, Li, & Fan, 2016; Senter et al., 1993; T. Yoshida, Pan, Hanada, Iwata, & Shigekawa, 1998) and this was reflected in our experimental data with a direct interaction between dystrophin and alpha-actinin-2, which had previously been established (Hance et al., 1999). Alpha-actinin-2 is present along the Z disc where it is primarily involved in the crosslinking of actin filaments and binding between actin and integrin at the membrane (Otey et al., 1990; Roca-Cusachs et al., 2013; Sjöblom, Salmazo, & Djinović-Carugo, 2008). Dystrophin isoform Dp71 is present in an integrin complex in neurons which also features alpha-actinin (Cerna et al., 2006). Dp71 domains are present in the full length skeletal muscle dystrophin isoform and so it is likely that the full length dystrophin retains its ability to bind to the integrin complex. We identified a physical association between dystrophin and the integrin-mediated adhesion complex protein tensin. The relationship between the DAPC and the integrin focal adhesion complex is not well understood however providing additional evidence for a strong link between the two complexes may aid in future work investigating their association.

Future investigation into the interactors

Of the newly identified interactors of dystrophin we will attempt to determine if any of the proteins are associated by direct interaction, using protein ligation assays (PLA). Many of the proteins identified were able to be placed in our literature curated interactome of dystrophin's physical interactors and so are likely to be interacting through common interactors. However, some of the proteins were not able to be placed in the interactome with a connection to dystrophin and so are either binding directly or via one or more common binding partner(s) which is/are currently unknown. Previously data linking cavin member PTRF with dystrophin was originally determined to be heart specific (Johnson et al., 2012), however a cavin interaction with dystroglycan (the interaction was maintain in the presence and absence of dystrophin) was later found in skeletal muscle (Johnson et al., 2013). Beta-2-syntrophin was notably present in both the cardiac and skeletal muscle experiments along with dystroglycan. While our experiments did not identify a dystroglycan interaction (likely due to membrane solubility issues), beta-1-syntrophin was identified as in interactor, along with cavin member

MURC. Through PLA we will therefore investigate the possible direct interaction of MURC with beta-2-syntrophin and MURC with dystrophin.

Online dystrophin interactome

We have generated an online dystrophin interactome based upon dystrophin's interactions in human skeletal muscle comprised of data mined from previously published papers and online interaction databases alongside our newly identified interactors. The interactome is based upon the identified 21 direct interactions of full length dystrophin in skeletal muscle with additional secondary and more distantly related interactors which have been demonstrated to physically interact with dystrophin and are hence also of relevance to dystrophin's roles within the cell. The interactome is available at 'http://sys-myo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome'. This interactome will aid in the analysis of future dystrophin related research by facilitating virtual exploration of the dystrophin interaction network as an aid to explaining experimental observations. The interactome can be downloaded and subsequently edited with Cytoscape, allowing for full customisation by the user. This includes the addition or removal of proteins and protein interactions from the network and the overlay of a researcher's own data (such as gene and protein fold change values).

Such an interactome cannot be easily derived through purely computational approaches and simple database network building. Attempts to do this often result in complex 'hairball' networks which are not easily understandable and offer little useable information. When trying to understand the function of dystrophin, images similar to the one shown in Figure 22A are a useful common starting point. The great complexity and non-specificity of networks generated from interaction databases when searching the primary, secondary, tertiary and further interactors of dystrophin is rarely of use (Figure 22B). To more readily explore the roles of dystrophin within the cell, it is informative to consider only selected interactions from the secondary and tertiary (and sometimes more distant) shells of interaction.



Figure 22. Different approaches to displaying protein interactions. A. A typical representation of dystrophin, the dystrophin-associated protein complex and other relevant proteins (Imaged derived from Fairclough et al., 2013) (Fairclough et al., 2013). Laminin and actin are often included due to their involvement in dystrophins most well defined role, providing a link between the actin cytoskeleton and the extracellular matrix to protect against mechanical stress. The interactions show only a small number of the total interactions relevant to dystrophin's roles. B. The interactions of full length human dystrophin (Uniprot accession P11532 only, P11532-5 corresponding to Dp71 excluded) generated using Cytoscape using the IMEX databases (IntAct, MINT, DIP, I2D-IMEx, UniProt, BHF-UCL, MolCon and InnateDB-IMEx). The resulting interaction network is hard to make sense of and contains many interactions that are not relevant to dystrophin. Many interactions that are relevant to dystrophin are not present due to the small section of databases used to generate this network.

The network generated in Figure 22B only contains two primary dystrophin interactions, disrupted in schizophrenia 1 protein (Q9NRI5, DISC1) and ankyrin-2 (Q01484, ANK2), displayed in Figure 23 (DISC1 and ANK2 highlighted in green, DMD highlighted in yellow).



Figure 23. The primary and secondary interactors of dystrophin generated using Cytoscape using the IMEX databases (IntAct, MINT, DIP, I2D-IMEx, UniProt, BHF-UCL, MolCon and InnateDB-IMEx). Dystrophin (DMD), labelled P11532, is highlighted in yellow, primary interactors Disrupted in schizophrenia 1 protein (DISC1), labelled Q9NRI5, and Ankyrin-2 (ANK2), labelled Q01484, are highlighted in green. The network is derived from Figure 22B in which the same interaction databases were used to generate a network incorporating more distant interactions of dystrophin. From the previously complicated network, just two primary dystrophin interactors were responsible for the entire network.

DISC1, a 'hub protein', is responsible for 80 of the 84 secondary interacting proteins of dystrophin in this network and in effect becoming the dominant focus of the entire network. The resulting network is in no way representative of dystrophin's interactions or roles within the cell. Further compounding matters, the interaction between DISC1 and dystrophin has been reported in a single high throughput analysis in the brain (Camargo et al., 2007). DISC1 expression levels in skeletal muscle are very low, far less than in the brain and the majority of other tissues (Pontén et al., 2008). Thus it is important to have a carefully curated and comprehensive network that includes only the relevant dystrophin interaction data.

The high research interest in dystrophin has resulted in a mass of data which can be difficult to fully comprehend. Our newly created dystrophin interactome offers much of the accessibility and ease of understanding associated with simplified diagrams while incorporating the additional useful information hidden within databases and complicated networks. Maintaining the localisation organisation of the diagrams and carefully restricting the interactions are necessities to achieve this. The ability to easily add and remove information to and from the network adds additional network versatility.

Due to the large nature of the interactome created due to the many interactors of dystrophin and high involvement with many proteins in order to fulfil its many roles within the cell we created several smaller networks derived from the full interactome for additional simplicity. These smaller networks highlight the different proteins involved in different aspects of cell function in an attempt to further facilitate the understanding of dystrophin's interactors.

Identifying additional interactors

As interactors may change under different conditions, carrying out a similar experiment under altered conditions could be used to identify additional dystrophin interactors. One possibility of this would be to allow an increased cell maturity (through increasing the number of days after inducing differentiation at which the cells are harvested). However, this would come with additional considerations into the knock-on effects of dystrophin absence in the control cell cultures: downstream effects of the loss of dystrophin following knockdown would have longer to express themselves, increasing the probability of false positives where a downregulated gene masquerades as a dystrophin-dependent pull-down. Different cell lines will vary in protein expression and interactions and so the same experiment in alternative cell lines may also provide a means of identifying additional interactors. As already mentioned, the membrane proteins which are responsible for a large number of interactions with dystrophin are problematic to identify via immunoprecipitation methods. Dystrophin would benefit from analysis through development of improved high-throughput methods to identify interactions between membrane and non-membranous proteins.

Similar experiments with the use of microdystrophin constructs could be useful to determine interactions localised to particular regions of dystrophin, or what effect the absence of a certain region has on dystrophin's interactions. There are two ways in which this could be done. The first would be to compare a dystrophin expressing cell line to a DMD cell line which has been transfected with a microdystrophin construct. This would allow the determination of dystrophin interactors that are not present in the microdystrophin construct. The use of two different cell lines is a considerable drawback to this approach. Protein expression and transcriptomic analysis of each cell line could be performed to try to identify the potential differences between the cell lines (for example, our previous transcriptomic analysis of cell lines in Chapter 3 found C25 and DMD8036 immortalised lines to display common features within myotubes in our PCA plot (Figure 14C)), however differences will always exist. The second method involves

comparing the DMD cell line transfected with the microdystrophin construct to the same cell line with no transfection, thereby studying the truncated dystrophin interactome against a dystrophin absent control. This would allow analysis of cells with identical backgrounds, as in our experiment. Similar methods replacing microdystrophin transfection with exon skipping strategies could be used to generate larger dystrophin proteins and proteins with relevance to the exon skipping field. These methods may be useful to understand truncated dystrophin functions that would follow successful AAV truncated dystrophin delivery and exon skipping gene therapy treatments.

Conclusion

We have successfully validated immortalised cell lines (hTERT and cdk4) derived from healthy individuals and DMD patients through a transcriptomic wide analysis of the primary and immortalised cells in both the undifferentiated and differentiated states. The immortalised cells were protected against the effects of senescence while maintaining similar characteristics to their primary cells and do not display alterations in other cellular pathways. The cell lines can be used with confidence to accurately represent their primary cells.

Using a cell line derived from the same immortalisation process, a proteomic approach identified 20 high confidence physically interacting. Notably, proteins associated with vesicle trafficking, the caveolae and focal adhesion complexes were present in these 20 proteins. The 20 experimentally determined proteins along with data mined from literature and *in silico* database searches were used to build a network of dystrophin's currently identified physical and direct interactions. This is available online at 'http://sys-myo.rhcloud.com/dystrophin-interactome' and aims to aid in the understanding of the currently known dystrophin interactions and the interpretation of future identified interactors. It may also be of assistance in finding new therapeutic targets for dystrophin related diseases.

As this is a systematic approach, proteins were identified based solely upon detected binding with dystrophin with no selection bias towards suspected binding partners. Subsequently, many of the proteins identified had no previous relationship with dystrophin and so how they interact with dystrophin has not yet been determined. Future work will seek to determine whether any of the newly identified dystrophin interactors directly bind to dystrophin or through a common binding partner. Direct interactors may be able to be mapped onto specific binding domains of dystrophin.

References

- Aartsma-Rus, A., Fokkema, I., Verschuuren, J., Ginjaar, I., van Deutekom, J., van Ommen, G.-J., & den Dunnen, J. T. (2009). Theoretic applicability of antisense-mediated exon skipping for Duchenne muscular dystrophy mutations. *Human Mutation*, 30(3), 293–9. http://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20918
- Aartsma-Rus, A., Janson, A. A. M., Kaman, W. E., Bremmer-Bout, M., van Ommen, G.-J. B., den Dunnen, J. T., & van Deutekom, J. C. T. (2004). Antisense-induced multiexon skipping for Duchenne muscular dystrophy makes more sense. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 74(1), 83–92. http://doi.org/10.1086/381039
- Abdul-Razak, H., Malerba, A., & Dickson, G. (2016). Advances in gene therapy for muscular dystrophies. *F1000Research*, 5. http://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.8735.1
- Adams, M. E., Anderson, K. N. E., & Froehner, S. C. (2010). The alpha-syntrophin PH and PDZ domains scaffold acetylcholine receptors, utrophin, and neuronal nitric oxide synthase at the neuromuscular junction. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 30(33), 11004–10. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1930-10.2010
- Adams, M. E., Mueller, H. A., & Froehner, S. C. (2001). In vivo requirement of the alphasyntrophin PDZ domain for the sarcolemmal localization of nNOS and aquaporin-4. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *155*(1), 113–22. http://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200106158
- Ahmed, R. M., Hannigan, I. P., MacDougall, H. G., Chan, R. C., & Halmagyi, G. M. (2012). Gentamicin ototoxicity: a 23-year selected case series of 103 patients. *The Medical Journal of Australia*, 196(11), 701–704. http://doi.org/10.5694/mja11.10850
- Ahn, A. H., & Kunkel, L. M. (1995). Syntrophin binds to an alternatively spliced exon of dystrophin. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 128(3), 363–71. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2120343&tool=pmcentrez& rendertype=abstract
- Alessi, A., Bragg, A. D., Percival, J. M., Yoo, J., Albrecht, D. E., Froehner, S. C., & Adams, M. E. (2006). gamma-Syntrophin scaffolding is spatially and functionally distinct from that of the alpha/beta syntrophins. *Experimental Cell Research*, *312*(16), 3084–95. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2006.06.019
- Allen, D. G., & Whitehead, N. P. (2011). Duchenne muscular dystrophy What causes the increased membrane permeability in skeletal muscle? *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 43(3), 290–294. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2010.11.005
- Amann, K. J., Guo, A. W., & Ervasti, J. M. (1999). Utrophin lacks the rod domain actin binding activity of dystrophin. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(50), 35375–80. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10585405
- Amann, K. J., Renley, B. A., & Ervasti, J. M. (1998). A cluster of basic repeats in the dystrophin rod domain binds F-actin through an electrostatic interaction. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(43), 28419–28423. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.43.28419
- Amenta, A. R., Yilmaz, A., Bogdanovich, S., McKechnie, B. A., Abedi, M., Khurana, T. S., & Fallon, J. R. (2011). Biglycan recruits utrophin to the sarcolemma and counters dystrophic pathology in mdx mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(2), 762–7. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1013067108
- Ameziane-Le Hir, S., Raguénès-Nicol, C., Paboeuf, G., Nicolas, A., Le Rumeur, E., & Vié, V. (2014). Cholesterol favors the anchorage of human dystrophin repeats 16 to 21 in membrane at physiological surface pressure. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1838(5),

1266–73. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2014.01.010

- Anastasi, G., Amato, A., Tarone, G., Vita, G., Monici, M. C., Magaudda, L., ... Cutroneo, G. (2003). Distribution and localization of vinculin-talin-integrin system and dystrophinglycoprotein complex in human skeletal muscle. Immunohistochemical study using confocal laser scanning microscopy. *Cells, Tissues, Organs, 175*(3), 151–64. http://doi.org/74631
- Anastasi, G., Cutroneo, G., Sidoti, A., Santoro, G., D'Angelo, R., Rizzo, G., ... Favaloro, A. (2005). Sarcoglycan subcomplex in normal human smooth muscle: An immunohistochemical and molecular study. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 16(3), 367–374.
- Ansseau, E., Laoudj-Chenivesse, D., Marcowycz, A., Tassin, A., Vanderplanck, C., Sauvage, S., ... Coppée, F. (2009). DUX4c is up-regulated in FSHD. It induces the MYF5 protein and human myoblast proliferation. *PloS One*, 4(10), e7482. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007482
- Aoki, Y., Yokota, T., Nagata, T., Nakamura, A., Tanihata, J., Saito, T., ... Takeda, S. (2012). Bodywide skipping of exons 45-55 in dystrophic mdx52 mice by systemic antisense delivery. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(34), 13763–8. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1204638109
- Apweiler, R., Hermjakob, H., & Sharon, N. (1999). On the frequency of protein glycosylation, as deduced from analysis of the SWISS-PROT database. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1473(1), 4–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10580125
- Aranda, B., Blankenburg, H., Kerrien, S., Brinkman, F. S. L., Ceol, A., Chautard, E., ... Hermjakob, H. (2011). PSICQUIC and PSISCORE: accessing and scoring molecular interactions. *Nature Methods*, 8(7), 528–9. http://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1637
- Aranda, J. F., Reglero-Real, N., Kremer, L., Marcos-Ramiro, B., Ruiz-Sáenz, A., Calvo, M., ... Alonso, M. A. (2011). MYADM regulates Rac1 targeting to ordered membranes required for cell spreading and migration. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 22(8), 1252– 62. http://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E10-11-0910
- Aranda, J. F., Reglero-Real, N., Marcos-Ramiro, B., Ruiz-Sáenz, A., Fernández-Martín, L., Bernabé-Rubio, M., ... Millán, J. (2013). MYADM controls endothelial barrier function through ERM-dependent regulation of ICAM-1 expression. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 24(4), 483–94. http://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E11-11-0914
- Armelle Bonet-Kerrache, M. F. F. C. C. G.-R. (2005). The GTPase RhoA increases utrophin expression and stability, as well as its localization at the plasma membrane. *Biochemical Journal*, *391*(Pt 2), 261.
- Asakura, A. (2012). Skeletal Muscle-derived Hematopoietic Stem Cells: Muscular Dystrophy Therapy by Bone Marrow Transplantation. *Journal of Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, *Suppl 11*. http://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7633.S11-005
- Ashburner, M., Ball, C. A., Blake, J. A., Botstein, D., Butler, H., Cherry, J. M., ... Sherlock, G. (2000). Gene ontology: tool for the unification of biology. The Gene Ontology Consortium. *Nature Genetics*, 25(1), 25–9. http://doi.org/10.1038/75556
- Ayalon, G., Davis, J. Q., Scotland, P. B., & Bennett, V. (2008). An ankyrin-based mechanism for functional organization of dystrophin and dystroglycan. *Cell*, 135(7), 1189–200. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.10.018
- Baban, D., Davies, K. E., Emery, A., Emery, E., Muntoni, F., Chamberlain, J. S., ... al., et. (2008). Microarray analysis of mdx mice expressing high levels of utrophin: therapeutic implications for dystrophin deficiency. *Neuromuscular Disorders : NMD*, 18(3), 239–47. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2007.11.011
- Bache, K. G., Slagsvold, T., Cabezas, A., Rosendal, K. R., Raiborg, C., & Stenmark, H.

(2004). The growth-regulatory protein HCRP1/hVps37A is a subunit of mammalian ESCRT-I and mediates receptor down-regulation. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, *15*(9), 4337–46. http://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E04-03-0250

- Bandi, S., Singh, S. M., & Mallela, K. M. G. (2015). Interdomain Linker Determines Primarily the Structural Stability of Dystrophin and Utrophin Tandem Calponin-Homology Domains Rather than Their Actin-Binding Affinity. *Biochemistry*, 54(35), 5480–5488. http://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biochem.5b00741
- Banks, G. B., Gregorevic, P., Allen, J. M., Finn, E. E., & Chamberlain, J. S. (2007). Functional capacity of dystrophins carrying deletions in the N-terminal actin-binding domain. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 16(17), 2105–13. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddm158
- Banks, G. B., Judge, L. M., Allen, J. M., & Chamberlain, J. S. (2010). The polyproline site in hinge 2 influences the functional capacity of truncated dystrophins. *PLoS Genetics*, 6(5), e1000958. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1000958
- Baraibar, M. A., Hyzewicz, J., Rogowska-Wrzesinska, A., Ladouce, R., Roepstorff, P., Mouly, V., & Friguet, B. (2011). Oxidative stress-induced proteome alterations target different cellular pathways in human myoblasts. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, 51(8), 1522–32. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.06.032
- Barberi, L., Scicchitano, B. M., De Rossi, M., Bigot, A., Duguez, S., Wielgosik, A., ... Musarò, A. (2013). Age-dependent alteration in muscle regeneration: the critical role of tissue niche. *Biogerontology*, 14(3), 273–292. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10522-013-9429-4
- Barton-Davis, E. R., Cordier, L., Shoturma, D. I., Leland, S. E., & Sweeney, H. L. (1999).
 Aminoglycoside antibiotics restore dystrophin function to skeletal muscles of mdx mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 104(4), 375–81. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI7866
- Barzegar, M., Habibi, P., Bonyady, M., Topchizadeh, V., & Shiva, S. (2015). Exon Deletion Pattern in Duchene Muscular Dystrophy in North West of Iran. *Iranian Journal of Child Neurology*, 9(1), 42. Retrieved from /pmc/articles/PMC4322498/?report=abstract
- Bastiani, M., Liu, L., Hill, M. M., Jedrychowski, M. P., Nixon, S. J., Lo, H. P., ... Parton, R. G. (2009). MURC/Cavin-4 and cavin family members form tissue-specific caveolar complexes. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 185(7), 1259–73. http://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200903053
- Baum, O., Vieregge, M., Koch, P., Gül, S., Hahn, S., Huber-Abel, F. A. M., ... Hoppeler, H. (2013). Phenotype of capillaries in skeletal muscle of nNOS-knockout mice. *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 304(12), R1175–82. http://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00434.2012
- Behrens, W., Schweinitzer, T., McMurry, J. L., Loewen, P. C., Buettner, F. F. R., Menz, S., ... Rappuoli, R. (2016). Localisation and protein-protein interactions of the Helicobacter pylori taxis sensor TlpD and their connection to metabolic functions. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 23582. http://doi.org/10.1038/srep23582
- Belanto, J. J., Mader, T. L., Eckhoff, M. D., Strandjord, D. M., Banks, G. B., Gardner, M. K., ... Ervasti, J. M. (2014). Microtubule binding distinguishes dystrophin from utrophin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(15), 5723–8. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1323842111
- Bell, M. R., Engleka, M. J., Malik, A., & Strickler, J. E. (2013). To fuse or not to fuse: what is your purpose? *Protein Science : A Publication of the Protein Society*, 22(11), 1466–77. http://doi.org/10.1002/pro.2356
- Bellayou, H., Hamzi, K., Rafai, M. A., Karkouri, M., Slassi, I., Azeddoug, H., ... Nadifi, S. (2009). Duchenne and Becker Muscular Dystrophy: Contribution of a Molecular and Immunohistochemical Analysis in Diagnosis in Morocco. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2009, 1–5. http://doi.org/10.1155/2009/325210

- Berger, J., & Currie, P. D. (2012). Zebrafish models flex their muscles to shed light on muscular dystrophies. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 5(6), 726–32. http://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.010082
- Béroud, C., Collod-Béroud, G., Boileau, C., Soussi, T., & Junien, C. (2000). UMD (Universal mutation database): a generic software to build and analyze locus-specific databases. *Human Mutation*, 15(1), 86–94. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-1004(200001)15:1<86::AID-HUMU16>3.0.CO;2-4
- Béroud, C., Tuffery-Giraud, S., Matsuo, M., Hamroun, D., Humbertclaude, V., Monnier, N., ... Claustres, M. (2007). Multiexon skipping leading to an artificial DMD protein lacking amino acids from exons 45 through 55 could rescue up to 63% of patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Human Mutation*, 28(2), 196–202. http://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20428
- Beytía, M. de los A., Vry, J., & Kirschner, J. (2012). Drug treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy: available evidence and perspectives. *Acta Myologica : Myopathies and Cardiomyopathies : Official Journal of the Mediterranean Society of Myology / Edited by the Gaetano Conte Academy for the Study of Striated Muscle Diseases, 31*(1), 4–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22655510
- Bhosle, R. C., Michele, D. E., Campbell, K. P., Li, Z., & Robson, R. M. (2006). Interactions of intermediate filament protein synemin with dystrophin and utrophin. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 346(3), 768–777. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.05.192
- Bigot, A., Duddy, W. J., Ouandaogo, Z. G., Negroni, E., Mariot, V., Ghimbovschi, S., ...
 Duguez, S. (2015). Age-Associated Methylation Suppresses SPRY1, Leading to a
 Failure of Re-quiescence and Loss of the Reserve Stem Cell Pool in Elderly Muscle. *Cell Reports*, 13(6), 1172–82. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.09.067
- Bigot, A., Jacquemin, V., Debacq-Chainiaux, F., Butler-Browne, G. S., Toussaint, O., Furling, D., & Mouly, V. (2008). Replicative aging down-regulates the myogenic regulatory factors in human myoblasts. *Biology of the Cell / under the Auspices of the European Cell Biology Organization*, 100(3), 189–99. http://doi.org/10.1042/BC20070085
- Bigot, A., Klein, A. F., Gasnier, E., Jacquemin, V., Ravassard, P., Butler-Browne, G., ... Furling, D. (2009). Large CTG repeats trigger p16-dependent premature senescence in myotonic dystrophy type 1 muscle precursor cells. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *174*(4), 1435–42. http://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2009.080560
- Bish, L. T., Morine, K., Sleeper, M. M., Sanmiguel, J., Wu, D., Gao, G., ... Sweeney, H. L. (2008). Adeno-associated virus (AAV) serotype 9 provides global cardiac gene transfer superior to AAV1, AAV6, AAV7, and AAV8 in the mouse and rat. *Human Gene Therapy*, 19(12), 1359–68. http://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2008.123
- Bizet, A. A., Liu, K., Tran-Khanh, N., Saksena, A., Vorstenbosch, J., Finnson, K. W., ... Philip, A. (2011). The TGF-β co-receptor, CD109, promotes internalization and degradation of TGF-β receptors. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, *1813*(5), 742–53. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.01.028
- Blake, D. J., Weir, A., Newey, S. E., & Davies, K. E. (2002). Function and Genetics of Dystrophin and Dystrophin-Related Proteins in Muscle. *Physiological Reviews*, 82(2).
- Blankinship, M. J., Gregorevic, P., Allen, J. M., Harper, S. Q., Harper, H., Halbert, C. L., ... Chamberlain, J. S. (2004). Efficient transduction of skeletal muscle using vectors based on adeno-associated virus serotype 6. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, 10(4), 671–8. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2004.07.016
- Bochmann, L., Sarathchandra, P., Mori, F., Lara-Pezzi, E., Lazzaro, D., & Rosenthal, N. (2010). Revealing new mouse epicardial cell markers through transcriptomics. *PloS*

One, 5(6), e11429. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011429

- Böhm, S. V, Constantinou, P., Tan, S., Jin, H., & Roberts, R. G. (2009). Profound human/mouse differences in alpha-dystrobrevin isoforms: a novel syntrophin-binding site and promoter missing in mouse and rat. *BMC Biology*, 7(1), 85. http://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-7-85
- Bolaños-Jiménez, F., Bordais, A., Behra, M., Strähle, U., Sahel, J., & Rendón, A. (2001). Dystrophin and Dp71, two products of the DMD gene, show a different pattern of expression during embryonic development in zebrafish. *Mechanisms of Development*, 102(1-2), 239–241. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4773(01)00310-0
- Boldrin, L., Zammit, P. S., & Morgan, J. E. (2015). Satellite cells from dystrophic muscle retain regenerative capacity. *Stem Cell Research*, 14(1), 20–9. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2014.10.007
- Bouchet-Seraphin C. (2015). Dystroglycanopathies : About Numerous Genes Involved in Glycosylation of One Single Glycoprotein. *Journal of Neuromuscular Diseases*, 2, 1. Retrieved from http://www.myobase.org/index.php?lvl=notice_display&id=58385
- Bowe, M. A., Mendis, D. B., & Fallon, J. R. (2000). The small leucine-rich repeat proteoglycan biglycan binds to alpha-dystroglycan and is upregulated in dystrophic muscle. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *148*(4), 801–10. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10684260
- Bowles, D. E., McPhee, S. W. J., Li, C., Gray, S. J., Samulski, J. J., Camp, A. S., ... Samulski, R. J. (2012). Phase 1 gene therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy using a translational optimized AAV vector. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, 20(2), 443–55. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2011.237
- Brenman, J. E., Chao, D. S., Gee, S. H., McGee, A. W., Craven, S. E., Santillano, D. R., ... Bredt, D. S. (1996). Interaction of Nitric Oxide Synthase with the Postsynaptic Density Protein PSD-95 and α1-Syntrophin Mediated by PDZ Domains. *Cell*, 84(5), 757–767. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81053-3
- Broderick, M. J. F., & Winder, S. J. (2005). Spectrin, α-Actinin, and Dystrophin. *Advances in Protein Chemistry*, *70*, 203–246. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-3233(05)70007-3
- Brückner, A., Polge, C., Lentze, N., Auerbach, D., & Schlattner, U. (2009). Yeast twohybrid, a powerful tool for systems biology. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 10(6), 2763–88. http://doi.org/10.3390/ijms10062763
- Budak, M. T., Bogdanovich, S., Wiesen, M. H. J., Lozynska, O., Khurana, T. S., & Rubinstein, N. A. (2004). Layer-specific differences of gene expression in extraocular muscles identified by laser-capture microscopy. *Physiological Genomics*, 20(1), 55–65. http://doi.org/10.1152/physiolgenomics.00191.2004
- Bulfield, G., Siller, W. G., Wight, P. A., & Moore, K. J. (1984). X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy (mdx) in the mouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 81(4), 1189–92. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6583703
- Büning, H. (2013). Gene therapy enters the pharma market: the short story of a long journey. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*, 5(1), 1–3. http://doi.org/10.1002/emmm.201202291
- Burkin, D. J., Wallace, G. Q., Nicol, K. J., Kaufman, D. J., & Kaufman, S. J. (2001).
 Enhanced expression of the alpha 7 beta 1 integrin reduces muscular dystrophy and restores viability in dystrophic mice. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *152*(6), 1207–18.
 Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11257121
- Buzin, C. H., Feng, J., Yan, J., Scaringe, W., Liu, Q., den Dunnen, J., ... Sommer, S. S. (2005). Mutation rates in the dystrophin gene: a hotspot of mutation at a CpG dinucleotide. *Human Mutation*, 25(2), 177–88. http://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20132
- Calcedo, R., & Wilson, J. M. (2013). Humoral Immune Response to AAV. Frontiers in

Immunology, 4, 341. http://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2013.00341

- Calderone, A., Castagnoli, L., & Cesareni, G. (2013). mentha: a resource for browsing integrated protein-interaction networks. *Nature Methods*, *10*(8), 690–1. http://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2561
- Camargo, L. M., Collura, V., Rain, J.-C., Mizuguchi, K., Hermjakob, H., Kerrien, S., ... Brandon, N. J. (2007). Disrupted in Schizophrenia 1 Interactome: evidence for the close connectivity of risk genes and a potential synaptic basis for schizophrenia. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 12(1), 74–86. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001880
- Camp, N. D., Lee, K.-S., Wacker-Mhyre, J. L., Kountz, T. S., Park, J.-M., Harris, D.-A., ... Hague, C. (2015). Individual protomers of a G protein-coupled receptor dimer integrate distinct functional modules. *Cell Discovery*, 1, 15011. http://doi.org/10.1038/celldisc.2015.11
- Carsana, A., Frisso, G., Tremolaterra, M. R., Lanzillo, R., Vitale, D. F., Santoro, L., & Salvatore, F. (2005). Analysis of dystrophin gene deletions indicates that the hinge III region of the protein correlates with disease severity. *Annals of Human Genetics*, 69(Pt 3), 253–9. http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1529-8817.2005.00160.x
- Cashman, N. R., Covault, J., Wollman, R. L., & Sanes, J. R. (1987). Neural cell adhesion molecule in normal, denervated, and myopathic human muscle. *Annals of Neurology*, 21(5), 481–9. http://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410210512
- Caviedes, R., Caviedes, P., Liberona, J. L., & Jaimovich, E. (1994). Ion channels in a skeletal muscle cell line from a Duchenne muscular dystrophy patient. *Muscle & Nerve*, *17*(9), 1021–8. http://doi.org/10.1002/mus.880170909
- Cerna, J., Cerecedo, D., Ortega, A., García-Sierra, F., Centeno, F., Garrido, E., ... Cisneros, B. (2006). Dystrophin Dp71f associates with the beta1-integrin adhesion complex to modulate PC12 cell adhesion. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 362(5), 954–65. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2006.07.075
- Chamberlain, J. S. (2013). Removing the Immune Response From Muscular Dystrophy Research. *Molecular Therapy*, 21(10), 1821–1822. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2013.209
- Chang, F., Lee, J. T., Navolanic, P. M., Steelman, L. S., Shelton, J. G., Blalock, W. L., ... McCubrey, J. A. (2003). Involvement of PI3K/Akt pathway in cell cycle progression, apoptosis, and neoplastic transformation: a target for cancer chemotherapy. *Leukemia*, 17(3), 590–603. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2402824
- Chao, D. S., Gorospe, J. R., Brenman, J. E., Rafael, J. A., Peters, M. F., Froehner, S. C., ... Bredt, D. S. (1996). Selective loss of sarcolemmal nitric oxide synthase in Becker muscular dystrophy. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 184(2), 609–618. http://doi.org/10.1084/jem.184.2.609
- Chao, D. S., Gorospe, J. R., Brenman, J. E., Rafael, J. A., Peters, M. F., Froehner, S. C., ... Bredt, D. S. (1996). Selective loss of sarcolemmal nitric oxide synthase in Becker muscular dystrophy. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 184(2), 609–18. Retrieved from

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2192729&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract

- Chapman, M. R., Balakrishnan, K. R., Li, J., Conboy, M. J., Huang, H., Mohanty, S. K., ... Sohn, L. L. (2013). Sorting single satellite cells from individual myofibers reveals heterogeneity in cell-surface markers and myogenic capacity. *Integrative Biology : Quantitative Biosciences from Nano to Macro*, 5(4), 692–702. http://doi.org/10.1039/c3ib20290a
- Chaubourt, E., Fossier, P., Baux, G., Leprince, C., Israël, M., & De La Porte, S. (1999). Nitric oxide and l-arginine cause an accumulation of utrophin at the sarcolemma: a possible compensation for dystrophin loss in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Neurobiology of*

Disease, 6(6), 499–507. http://doi.org/10.1006/nbdi.1999.0256

- Chen, E. Y., Tan, C. M., Kou, Y., Duan, Q., Wang, Z., Meirelles, G. V., ... Ma'ayan, A. (2013). Enrichr: interactive and collaborative HTML5 gene list enrichment analysis tool. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 14, 128. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-14-128
- Chen, H. I., & Sudol, M. (1995). The WW domain of Yes-associated protein binds a prolinerich ligand that differs from the consensus established for Src homology 3-binding modules (protein-protein interactions/polyproline/modular domains). *Biochemistry*, 92, 7819–7823.
- Chen, Y.-J., Spence, H. J., Cameron, J. M., Jess, T., Ilsley, J. L., & Winder, S. J. (2003). Direct interaction of beta-dystroglycan with F-actin. *The Biochemical Journal*, *375*(Pt 2), 329–37. http://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20030808
- Christopherson, K. S., Hillier, B. J., Lim, W. A., & Bredt, D. S. (1999). PSD-95 Assembles a Ternary Complex with theN-Methyl-D-aspartic Acid Receptor and a Bivalent Neuronal NO Synthase PDZ Domain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(39), 27467–27473. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.39.27467
- Cirak, S., Feng, L., Anthony, K., Arechavala-Gomeza, V., Torelli, S., Sewry, C., ... Muntoni, F. (2012). Restoration of the Dystrophin-associated Glycoprotein Complex After Exon Skipping Therapy in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Molecular Therapy*, 20(2), 462– 467. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2011.248
- Cisternas, F. A., Vincent, J. B., Scherer, S. W., & Ray, P. N. (2003). Cloning and characterization of human CADPS and CADPS2, new members of the Ca2+-dependent activator for secretion protein family. *Genomics*, *81*(3), 279–91. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12659812
- Coenen-Stass, A. M. L., McClorey, G., Manzano, R., Betts, C. A., Blain, A., Saleh, A. F., ... Saeed, A. I. (2015). Identification of novel, therapy-responsive protein biomarkers in a mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy by aptamer-based serum proteomics. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 17014. http://doi.org/10.1038/srep17014
- Collins, C. A., Olsen, I., Zammit, P. S., Heslop, L., Petrie, A., Partridge, T. A., & Morgan, J. E. (2005). Stem Cell Function, Self-Renewal, and Behavioral Heterogeneity of Cells from the Adult Muscle Satellite Cell Niche. *Cell*, *122*(2), 289–301. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.010
- Collins, C. A., Zammit, P. S., Ruiz, A. P., Morgan, J. E., & Partridge, T. A. (2007). A population of myogenic stem cells that survives skeletal muscle aging. *Stem Cells* (*Dayton, Ohio*), 25(4), 885–94. http://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2006-0372
- Colombo, M., Raposo, G., & Théry, C. (2014). Biogenesis, Secretion, and Intercellular Interactions of Exosomes and Other Extracellular Vesicles. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol*, 30, 255–89. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101512-122326
- Conboy, M. J., Cerletti, M., Wagers, A. J., & Conboy, I. M. (2010). Immuno-Analysis and FACS Sorting of Adult Muscle Fiber-Associated Stem/Precursor Cells (pp. 165–173). http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-063-2_11
- Conboy, M. J., & Conboy, I. M. (2010). Preparation of adult muscle fiber-associated stem/precursor cells. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, 621, 149–63. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-063-2_10
- Constantin, B., Sebille, S., & Cognard, C. (2006). New insights in the regulation of calcium transfers by muscle dystrophin-based cytoskeleton: implications in DMD. *Journal of Muscle Research and Cell Motility*, 27(5-7), 375–386. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10974-006-9085-2
- Cooper, J. K., Sykes, G., King, S., Cottrill, K., Ivanova, N. V., Hanner, R., & Ikonomi, P. (2007). Species identification in cell culture: a two-pronged molecular approach. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Animal*, 43(10), 344–351.

http://doi.org/10.1007/s11626-007-9060-2

- Corrado, K., Rafael, J. A., Mills, P. L., Cole, N. M., Faulkner, J. A., Wang, K., & Chamberlain, J. S. (1996). Transgenic mdx Mice Expressing Dystrophin with a Deletion in the Actin-binding Domain Display a "Mild Becker" Phenotype. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 134, 873–884.
- Cossu, G., Previtali, S. C., Napolitano, S., Cicalese, M. P., Tedesco, F. S., Nicastro, F., ... Ciceri, F. (2015). Intra-arterial transplantation of HLA-matched donor mesoangioblasts in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*, 7(12), 1513–28. http://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201505636
- Costello, J. C., Dalkilic, M. M., Beason, S. M., Gehlhausen, J. R., Patwardhan, R., Middha, S., ... Quackenbush, J. (2009). Gene networks in Drosophila melanogaster: integrating experimental data to predict gene function. *Genome Biology*, 10(9), R97. http://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2009-10-9-r97
- Côté, P. D., Moukhles, H., & Carbonetto, S. (2002). Dystroglycan is not required for localization of dystrophin, syntrophin, and neuronal nitric-oxide synthase at the sarcolemma but regulates integrin alpha 7B expression and caveolin-3 distribution. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(7), 4672–9. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M106879200
- Cottin, P., Poussard, S., Mornet, D., Brustis, J. J., Mohammadpour, M., Leger, J., & Ducastaing, A. (1992). In vitro digestion of dystrophin by calcium-dependent proteases, calpains I and II. *Biochimie*, 74(6), 565–70. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1520736
- Courdier-Fruh, I., & Briguet, A. (2006). Utrophin is a calpain substrate in muscle cells. *Muscle & Nerve*, 33(6), 753–9. http://doi.org/10.1002/mus.20549
- Crawford, G. E., Faulkner, J. A., Crosbie, R. H., Campbell, K. P., Froehner, S. C., & Chamberlain, J. S. (2000). Assembly of the Dystrophin-Associated Protein Complex Does Not Require the Dystrophin Cooh-Terminal Domain. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *150*(6), 1399–1410. http://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.150.6.1399
- Croft, D., Mundo, A. F., Haw, R., Milacic, M., Weiser, J., Wu, G., ... D'Eustachio, P. (2014). The Reactome pathway knowledgebase. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(Database issue), D472–7. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt1102
- Crosbie, R. H., Barresi, R., & Campbell, K. P. (2002). Loss of sarcolemma nNOS in sarcoglycan-deficient muscle. *The FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, *16*(13), 1786–1791. http://doi.org/10.1096/fj.02-0519com
- Crosbie, R. H., Lim, L. E., Moore, S. A., Hirano, M., Hays, A. P., Maybaum, S. W., ... Campbell, K. P. (2000). Molecular and genetic characterization of sarcospan: insights into sarcoglycan-sarcospan interactions. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 9(13), 2019–2027. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/9.13.2019
- Crosbie, R. H., Straub, V., Vnzke, D. P., Yun, H. Y., Chamberlain, J. S., Dawson, V. L., ... Campbell, K. P. (1997). Dystrophin and nnos double knockout mice maintain dystrophic phenotype. *FASEB Journal*, 11(9).
- Dai, M., Wang, P., Boyd, A. D., Kostov, G., Athey, B., Jones, E. G., ... Meng, F. (2005). Evolving gene/transcript definitions significantly alter the interpretation of GeneChip data. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 33(20), e175. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gni179
- Dargelos, E., Brulé, C., Stuelsatz, P., Mouly, V., Veschambre, P., Cottin, P., & Poussard, S. (2010). Up-regulation of calcium-dependent proteolysis in human myoblasts under acute oxidative stress. *Experimental Cell Research*, 316(1), 115–25. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2009.07.025
- De Geest, B. R., Van Linthout, S. A., & Collen, D. (2003). Humoral immune response in

mice against a circulating antigen induced by adenoviral transfer is strictly dependent on expression in antigen-presenting cells. *Blood*, *101*(7), 2551–6. http://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2002-07-2146

- de León, M. B., Montañez, C., Gómez, P., Morales-Lázaro, S. L., Tapia-Ramírez, V., Valadez-Graham, V., ... Cisneros, B. (2005). Dystrophin Dp71 expression is downregulated during myogenesis: role of Sp1 and Sp3 on the Dp71 promoter activity. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(7), 5290–9. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M411571200
- Deconinck, A. E., Rafael, J. A., Skinner, J. A., Brown, S. C., Potter, A. C., Metzinger, L., ... Davies, K. E. (1997). Utrophin-Dystrophin-Deficient Mice as a Model for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Cell*, 90(4), 717–727. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80532-2
- DelloRusso, C., Scott, J. M., Hartigan-O'Connor, D., Salvatori, G., Barjot, C., Robinson, A. S., ... Chamberlain, J. S. (2002). Functional correction of adult mdx mouse muscle using gutted adenoviral vectors expressing full-length dystrophin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(20), 12979–84. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.202300099
- Deng, M., Mehta, S., Sun, F., & Chen, T. (2002). Inferring domain-domain interactions from protein-protein interactions. *Genome Research*, 12(10), 1540–8. http://doi.org/10.1101/gr.153002
- DeWolf, C., McCauley, P., Sikorski, A. F., Winlove, C. P., Bailey, A. I., Kahana, E., ... Gratzer, W. B. (1997). Interaction of dystrophin fragments with model membranes. *Biophysical Journal*, 72(6), 2599–604. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(97)78903-3
- Di Rocco, G., Iachininoto, M. G., Tritarelli, A., Straino, S., Zacheo, A., Germani, A., ... Capogrossi, M. C. (2006). Myogenic potential of adipose-tissue-derived cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, 119(Pt 14), 2945–52. http://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.03029
- Donsante, A., Miller, D. G., Li, Y., Vogler, C., Brunt, E. M., Russell, D. W., & Sands, M. S. (2007). AAV vector integration sites in mouse hepatocellular carcinoma. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 317(5837), 477. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1142658
- Donsante, A., Vogler, C., Muzyczka, N., Crawford, J. M., Barker, J., Flotte, T., ... Sands, M. S. (2001). Observed incidence of tumorigenesis in long-term rodent studies of rAAV vectors. *Gene Therapy*, 8(17), 1343–6. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3301541
- Doorenweerd, N., Straathof, C. S., Dumas, E. M., Spitali, P., Ginjaar, I. B., Wokke, B. H., ... Kan, H. E. (2014). Reduced cerebral gray matter and altered white matter in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Annals of Neurology*, 76(3), 403–11. http://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24222
- Duddy, W., Duguez, S., Johnston, H., Cohen, T. V, Phadke, A., Gordish-Dressman, H., ... Partridge, T. (2015). Muscular dystrophy in the mdx mouse is a severe myopathy compounded by hypotrophy, hypertrophy and hyperplasia. *Skeletal Muscle*, *5*, 16. http://doi.org/10.1186/s13395-015-0041-y
- Duguez, S., Duddy, W., Johnston, H., Lainé, J., Le Bihan, M. C., Brown, K. J., ... Partridge, T. (2013). Dystrophin deficiency leads to disturbance of LAMP1-vesicle-associated protein secretion. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : CMLS*. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-1248-2
- Dumont, N. A., Wang, Y. X., von Maltzahn, J., Pasut, A., Bentzinger, C. F., Brun, C. E., & Rudnicki, M. A. (2015). Dystrophin expression in muscle stem cells regulates their polarity and asymmetric division. *Nature Medicine*, 21(12), 1455–1463. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3990
- Echigoya, Y., Aoki, Y., Miskew, B., Panesar, D., Touznik, A., Nagata, T., ... Yokota, T. (2015). Long-Term Efficacy of Systemic Multiexon Skipping Targeting Dystrophin

Exons 45–55 With a Cocktail of Vivo-Morpholinos in Mdx52 Mice. *Molecular Therapy—Nucleic Acids*, 4(2), e225. http://doi.org/10.1038/mtna.2014.76

- Echigoya, Y., Mouly, V., Garcia, L., Yokota, T., & Duddy, W. (2015). In silico screening based on predictive algorithms as a design tool for exon skipping oligonucleotides in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *PloS One*, *10*(3), e0120058. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120058
- Ehmsen, J., Poon, E., & Davies, K. (2002). The dystrophin-associated protein complex. *Journal of Cell Science*, 115(14).
- Engel, A., Arahata, K., & Biesecker, G. (1984). Mechanisms of muscle fiber destruction. In G. Serratrice (Ed.), *Neuromuscular diseases* (pp. 137–141). Raven Press, New York.
- Ervasti, J. M., & Campbell, K. P. (1993). A role for the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex as a transmembrane linker between laminin and actin. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *122*(4), 809–23. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2119587&tool=pmcentrez&
- rendertype=abstract Fadic, R., Mezzano, V., Alvarez, K., Cabrera, D., Holmgren, J., & Brandan, E. (2006). Increase in decorin and biglycan in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Role of fibroblasts as cell source of these proteoglycans in the disease. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular*

Medicine, 10(3), 758–769. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2006.tb00435.x

- Fairclough, R. J., Wood, M. J., & Davies, K. E. (2013). Therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy: renewed optimism from genetic approaches. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, 14(6), 373–8. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3460
- Fajardo, V. A., Gamu, D., Rietze, B. A., Kwon, F., Chambers, P. J., Quadrilatero, J., & Tupling, A. R. (2016). Sarcolipin Deletion in mdx Mice Worsens Dystrophic Pathology by Impairing Calcineurin Signaling and Reducing Utrophin Expression. *The FASEB Journal*, 30(1 Supplement), 1224.6–1224.6.
- Fall, A. M., Johnsen, R., Honeyman, K., Iversen, P., Fletcher, S., & Wilton, S. D. (2006). Induction of revertant fibres in the mdx mouse using antisense oligonucleotides. *Genetic Vaccines and Therapy*, 4, 3. http://doi.org/10.1186/1479-0556-4-3
- Farini, A., Meregalli, M., Belicchi, M., Battistelli, M., Parolini, D., D'Antona, G., ... Torrente, Y. (2007). T and B lymphocyte depletion has a marked effect on the fibrosis of dystrophic skeletal muscles in the scid/mdx mouse. *The Journal of Pathology*, 213(2), 229–38. http://doi.org/10.1002/path.2213
- Faulkner, J. A., Ng, R., Davis, C. S., Li, S., & Chamberlain, J. S. (2008). Diaphragm muscle strip preparation for evaluation of gene therapies in mdx mice. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology & Physiology*, 35(7), 725–9. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1681.2007.04865.x
- Ferreboeuf, M., Mariot, V., Furling, D., Butler-Browne, G., Mouly, V., & Dumonceaux, J. (2014). Nuclear protein spreading: implication for pathophysiology of neuromuscular diseases. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 23(15), 4125–33. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddu129
- Finzel, B. C., Weber, P. C., Hardman, K. D., & Salemme, F. R. (1985). Structure of ferricytochrome c' from Rhodospirillum molischianum at 1.67 A resolution. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 186(3), 627–43. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3005592
- Fisher, R., Tinsley, J. M., Phelps, S. R., Squire, S. E., Townsend, E. R., Martin, J. E., & Davies, K. E. (2001). Non-toxic ubiquitous over-expression of utrophin in the mdx mouse. *Neuromuscular Disorders : NMD*, 11(8), 713–21. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11595513

Flanigan, K. M. (2014). Duchenne and Becker Muscular Dystrophies. Neurologic Clinics,

32(3), 671-688. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ncl.2014.05.002

- Fletcher, S., Bowden, S. E. H., & Marrion, N. V. (2003). False interaction of syntaxin 1A with a Ca(2+)-activated K(+) channel revealed by co-immunoprecipitation and pulldown assays: implications for identification of protein-protein interactions. *Neuropharmacology*, 44(6), 817–27. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12681380
- Formstecher, E., Aresta, S., Collura, V., Hamburger, A., Meil, A., Trehin, A., ... Daviet, L. (2005). Protein interaction mapping: a Drosophila case study. *Genome Research*, 15(3), 376–84. http://doi.org/10.1101/gr.2659105
- Frato, K. E., & Schleif, R. F. (2009). A DNA-assisted binding assay for weak protein-protein interactions. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 394(5), 805–14. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2009.09.064
- Fuentes-Mera, L., Rodríguez-Muñoz, R., González-Ramírez, R., García-Sierra, F., González, E., Mornet, D., & Cisneros, B. (2006). Characterization of a novel Dp71 dystrophinassociated protein complex (DAPC) present in the nucleus of HeLa cells: members of the nuclear DAPC associate with the nuclear matrix. *Experimental Cell Research*, *312*(16), 3023–35. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2006.06.002
- Fürst, D. O., Osborn, M., & Weber, K. (1989). Myogenesis in the mouse embryo: differential onset of expression of myogenic proteins and the involvement of titin in myofibril assembly. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 109(2), 517–27. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2474551
- Galbiati, F., Engelman, J. A., Volonte, D., Zhang, X. L., Minetti, C., Li, M., ... Lisanti, M. P. (2001). Caveolin-3 null mice show a loss of caveolae, changes in the microdomain distribution of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex, and t-tubule abnormalities. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(24), 21425–33. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M100828200
- Galbiati, F., Razani, B., & Lisanti, M. P. (2001). Caveolae and caveolin-3 in muscular dystrophy. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 7(10), 435–441. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4914(01)02105-0
- Galbiati, F., Volonte, D., Chu, J. B., Li, M., Fine, S. W., Fu, M., ... Lisanti, M. P. (2000).
 Transgenic overexpression of caveolin-3 in skeletal muscle fibers induces a Duchennelike muscular dystrophy phenotype. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(17), 9689–94. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.160249097
- Galvagni, F. (1998). The Dystrophin Promoter Is Negatively Regulated by YY1 in Undifferentiated Muscle Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(50), 33708–33713. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.50.33708
- Gao, X., Zhao, J., Han, G., Zhang, Y., Dong, X., Cao, L., ... Yin, H. (2014). Effective dystrophin restoration by a novel muscle-homing peptide-morpholino conjugate in dystrophin-deficient mdx mice. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, 22(7), 1333–41. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2014.63
- García-Cardeña, G., Martasek, P., Masters, B. S., Skidd, P. M., Couet, J., Li, S., ... Sessa, W. C. (1997). Dissecting the interaction between nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and caveolin. Functional significance of the nos caveolin binding domain in vivo. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(41), 25437–40. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9325253
- Gauthier-Rouvière, C., & Bonet-Kerrache, A. (2009). *RhoA leads to up-regulation and relocalization of utrophin in muscle fibers. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* (Vol. 384).
- Gazzerro, E., Assereto, S., Bonetto, A., Sotgia, F., Scarfi, S., Pistorio, A., ... Minetti, C. (2010). Therapeutic potential of proteasome inhibition in Duchenne and Becker

muscular dystrophies. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *176*(4), 1863–77. http://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2010.090468

- Gee, S. H., Madhavan, R., Levinson, S. R., Caldwell, J. H., Sealock, R., & Froehner, S. C. (1998). Interaction of muscle and brain sodium channels with multiple members of the syntrophin family of dystrophin-associated proteins. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 18(1), 128–37. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9412493
- Gee, S. H., Sekely, S. A., Lombardo, C., Kurakin, A., Froehner, S. C., & Kay, B. K. (1998).
 Cyclic Peptides as Non-carboxyl-terminal Ligands of Syntrophin PDZ Domains. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(34), 21980–21987.
 http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.34.21980
- Gentil, C., Leturcq, F., Ben Yaou, R., Kaplan, J.-C., Laforet, P., Pénisson-Besnier, I., ... Piétri-Rouxel, F. (2012). Variable phenotype of del45-55 Becker patients correlated with nNOSµ mislocalization and RYR1 hypernitrosylation. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 21(15), 3449–60. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/dds176
- Ghahramani Seno, M. M., Graham, I. R., Athanasopoulos, T., Trollet, C., Pohlschmidt, M., Crompton, M. R., & Dickson, G. (2008). RNAi-mediated knockdown of dystrophin expression in adult mice does not lead to overt muscular dystrophy pathology. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 17(17), 2622–32. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddn162
- Ghosh, A., Yue, Y., Long, C., Bostick, B., & Duan, D. (2007). Efficient whole-body transduction with trans-splicing adeno-associated viral vectors. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, 15(4), 750–5. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mt.6300081
- Giot, L., Bader, J. S., Brouwer, C., Chaudhuri, A., Kuang, B., Li, Y., ... Rothberg, J. M. (2003). A protein interaction map of Drosophila melanogaster. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *302*(5651), 1727–36. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1090289
- Goh, C.-S., Milburn, D., & Gerstein, M. (2004). Conformational changes associated with protein–protein interactions. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, *14*(1), 104–109. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2004.01.005
- Gonzalez-Hilarion, S., Beghyn, T., Jia, J., Debreuck, N., Berte, G., Mamchaoui, K., ...
 Lejeune, F. (2012). Rescue of nonsense mutations by amlexanox in human cells.
 Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases, 7, 58. http://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1172-7-58
- Gordon, B. S., Lowe, D. A., & Kostek, M. C. (2014). Exercise increases utrophin protein expression in the mdx mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Muscle & Nerve*, 49(6), 915–8. http://doi.org/10.1002/mus.24151
- Goyenvalle, A., Babbs, A., van Ommen, G.-J. B., Garcia, L., & Davies, K. E. (2009).
 Enhanced exon-skipping induced by U7 snRNA carrying a splicing silencer sequence: Promising tool for DMD therapy. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, *17*(7), 1234–40. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2009.113
- Grady, R. M., Grange, R. W., Lau, K. S., Maimone, M. M., Nichol, M. C., Stull, J. T., & Sanes, J. R. (1999). Role for alpha-dystrobrevin in the pathogenesis of dystrophindependent muscular dystrophies. *Nature Cell Biology*, 1(4), 215–20. http://doi.org/10.1038/12034
- Greenwood, C., Ruff, D., Kirvell, S., Johnson, G., Dhillon, H. S., & Bustin, S. A. (2015). Proximity assays for sensitive quantification of proteins. *Biomolecular Detection and Quantification*, *4*, 10–6. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bdq.2015.04.002
- Griffin, M. D., Ryan, A. E., Alagesan, S., Lohan, P., Treacy, O., & Ritter, T. (2013). Antidonor immune responses elicited by allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells: what have we learned so far? *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 91(1), 40–51. http://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2012.67

- Grozdanovic, Z., & Gossrau, R. (1998). Co-localization of nitric oxide synthase I (NOS I) and NMDA receptor subunit 1 (NMDAR-1) at the neuromuscular junction in rat and mouse skeletal muscle. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 291(1), 57–63. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9394043
- Grum, V. L., Li, D., MacDonald, R. I., & Mondragón, A. (1999). Structures of two repeats of spectrin suggest models of flexibility. *Cell*, *98*(4), 523–35. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10481916
- Gunetti, M., Tomasi, S., Giammò, A., Boido, M., Rustichelli, D., Mareschi, K., ... Carone, R. (2012). Myogenic potential of whole bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in vitro and in vivo for usage in urinary incontinence. *PloS One*, 7(9), e45538. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0045538
- Guo, C., Willem, M., Werner, A., Raivich, G., Emerson, M., Neyses, L., & Mayer, U. (2006). Absence of alpha 7 integrin in dystrophin-deficient mice causes a myopathy similar to Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 15(6), 989–98. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddl018
- Guo, Y., Petrof, B. J., & Hussain, S. N. (2001). Expression and localization of protein inhibitor of neuronal nitric oxide synthase in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Muscle & Nerve*, 24(11), 1468–75. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11745948
- Gussoni, E., Bennett, R. R., Muskiewicz, K. R., Meyerrose, T., Nolta, J. A., Gilgoff, I., ... Weinberg, K. (2002). Long-term persistence of donor nuclei in a Duchenne muscular dystrophy patient receiving bone marrow transplantation. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 110(6), 807–14. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI16098
- Han, R., Rader, E. P., Levy, J. R., Bansal, D., Campbell, K. P., Koenig, M., ... Bloch, R. (2011). Dystrophin deficiency exacerbates skeletal muscle pathology in dysferlin-null mice. *Skeletal Muscle*, 1(1), 35. http://doi.org/10.1186/2044-5040-1-35
- Hance, J. E., Fu, S. Y., Watkins, S. C., Beggs, A. H., & Michalak, M. (1999). alpha-actinin-2 is a new component of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex. *Archives of Biochemistry* and Biophysics, 365(2), 216–22. http://doi.org/10.1006/abbi.1999.1172
- Hansen, C. G., Shvets, E., Howard, G., Riento, K., & Nichols, B. J. (2013). Deletion of cavin genes reveals tissue-specific mechanisms for morphogenesis of endothelial caveolae. *Nature Communications*, 4, 1831. http://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2808
- Harding, S. E., & Rowe, A. J. (2010). Insight into protein-protein interactions from analytical ultracentrifugation. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 38(4), 901–907. http://doi.org/10.1042/BST0380901
- Harper, S. Q., Hauser, M. A., DelloRusso, C., Duan, D., Crawford, R. W., Phelps, S. F., ... Chamberlain, J. S. (2002). Modular flexibility of dystrophin: Implications for gene therapy of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Nature Medicine*, 8(3), 253–261. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm0302-253
- Hathout, Y., Brody, E., Clemens, P. R., Cripe, L., DeLisle, R. K., Furlong, P., ... Gold, L. (2015). Large-scale serum protein biomarker discovery in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 112(23), 7153–8. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1507719112
- Hathout, Y., Marathi, R. L., Rayavarapu, S., Zhang, A., Brown, K. J., Seol, H., ... McDonald, C. (2014). Discovery of serum protein biomarkers in the mdx mouse model and crossspecies comparison to Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 23(24), 6458–69. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddu366
- Hayashi, Y., Nishio, M., Naito, Y., Yokokura, H., Nimura, Y., Hidaka, H., & Watanabe, Y. (1999). Regulation of Neuronal Nitric-oxide Synthase by Calmodulin Kinases. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 274(29), 20597–20602.

http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.29.20597

- Hayashiji, N., Yuasa, S., Miyagoe-Suzuki, Y., Hara, M., Ito, N., Hashimoto, H., ... Fukuda, K. (2015). G-CSF supports long-term muscle regeneration in mouse models of muscular dystrophy. *Nature Communications*, 6, 6745. http://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7745
- Hebert, P. D. N., Cywinska, A., Ball, S. L., & deWaard, J. R. (2003). Biological identifications through DNA barcodes. *Proceedings. Biological Sciences / The Royal Society*, 270(1512), 313–21. http://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2002.2218
- Hebert, P. D. N., Ratnasingham, S., & deWaard, J. R. (2003). Barcoding animal life: cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 divergences among closely related species. *Proceedings. Biological Sciences / The Royal Society*, S96–9. http://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2003.0025
- Henricson, E. K., Abresch, R. T., Cnaan, A., Hu, F., Duong, T., Arrieta, A., ... McDonald, C. M. (2013). The cooperative international neuromuscular research group Duchenne natural history study: glucocorticoid treatment preserves clinically meaningful functional milestones and reduces rate of disease progression as measured by manual muscle testing. *Muscle & Nerve*, 48(1), 55–67. http://doi.org/10.1002/mus.23808
- Henry, M. D., Satz, J. S., Brakebusch, C., Costell, M., Gustafsson, E., Fässler, R., & Campbell, K. P. (2001). Distinct roles for dystroglycan, beta1 integrin and perlecan in cell surface laminin organization. *Journal of Cell Science*, *114*(Pt 6), 1137–44. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11228157
- Herrmann, R., Straub, V., Blank, M., Kutzick, C., Franke, N., Jacob, E. N., ... Voit, T. (2000). Dissociation of the dystroglycan complex in caveolin-3-deficient limb girdle muscular dystrophy. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 9(15), 2335–40. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11001938
- Hillier, B. J., Christopherson, K. S., Prehoda, K. E., Bredt, D. S., & Lim, W. A. (1999). Unexpected modes of PDZ domain scaffolding revealed by structure of nNOSsyntrophin complex. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 284(5415), 812–5. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10221915
- Hirn, C., Shapovalov, G., Petermann, O., Roulet, E., & Ruegg, U. T. (2008). Nav1.4 deregulation in dystrophic skeletal muscle leads to Na+ overload and enhanced cell death. *The Journal of General Physiology*, *132*(2), 199–208. http://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.200810024
- Hnia, K., Zouiten, D., Cantel, S., Chazalette, D., Hugon, G., Fehrentz, J.-A., ... Winder, S. J. (2007). ZZ domain of dystrophin and utrophin: topology and mapping of a betadystroglycan interaction site. *The Biochemical Journal*, 401(3), 667–77. http://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20061051
- Hodges, B., Hayashi, Y., Nonaka, I., Wang, W., Arahata, K., & Kaufman, S. (1997). Altered expression of the alpha7beta1 integrin in human and murine muscular dystrophies. J. Cell Sci., 110(22), 2873–2881. Retrieved from http://jcs.biologists.org/content/110/22/2873.abstract?ijkey=e43ab25081390e392547628 00029bc3cc5e45797&keytype2=tf_ipsecsha
- Hoffman, E. P., Brown, R. H., & Kunkel, L. M. (1987). Dystrophin: The protein product of the duchenne muscular dystrophy locus. *Cell*, 51(6), 919–928. http://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(87)90579-4
- Hofstra, R. M. W., Mulder, I. M., Vossen, R., de Koning-Gans, P. A. M., Kraak, M., Ginjaar, I. B., ... den Dunnen, J. T. (2004). DGGE-based whole-gene mutation scanning of the dystrophin gene in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy patients. *Human Mutation*, 23(1), 57–66. http://doi.org/10.1002/humu.10283
- Hollinger, K., & Chamberlain, J. S. (2015). Viral vector-mediated gene therapies. Current Opinion in Neurology, 28(5), 522–7. http://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.00000000000241
- Hong, Y. H., Frugier, T., Zhang, X., Murphy, R. M., Lynch, G. S., Betik, A. C., ...

McConell, G. K. (2015). Glucose uptake during contraction in isolated skeletal muscles from neuronal nitric oxide synthase μ knockout mice. *Journal of Applied Physiology* (*Bethesda, Md. : 1985*), *118*(9), 1113–21.

http://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00056.2015

- Hosing, C. (2012). Hematopoietic stem cell mobilization with G-CSF. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.), 904,* 37–47. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779-943-3_3
- Howell, J. M., Fletcher, S., Kakulas, B. A., O'Hara, M., Lochmuller, H., & Karpati, G. (1997). Use of the dog model for Duchenne muscular dystrophy in gene therapy trials. *Neuromuscular Disorders : NMD*, 7(5), 325–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9267846
- Huang, X., Poy, F., Zhang, R., Joachimiak, A., Sudol, M., & Eck, M. J. (2000). Structure of a WW domain containing fragment of dystrophin in complex with beta-dystroglycan. *Nature Structural Biology*, 7(8), 634–8. http://doi.org/10.1038/77923
- Huard, J., Roy, R., Guérette, B., Verreault, S., Tremblay, G., & Tremblay, J. P. (1994). Human myoblast transplantation in immunodeficient and immunosuppressed mice: evidence of rejection. *Muscle & Nerve*, 17(2), 224–34. http://doi.org/10.1002/mus.880170214
- Hughes, P., Marshall, D., Reid, Y., Parkes, H., & Gelber, C. (2007). The costs of using unauthenticated, over-passaged cell lines: how much more data do we need? *BioTechnqiues*, 43, 575–586. http://doi.org/10.2144/000112598
- Hunke, S., & Müller, V. S. (2012). Approaches to Analyze Protein-Protein Interactions of Membrane Proteins.
- Huttlin, E. L., Ting, L., Bruckner, R. J., Gebreab, F., Gygi, M. P., Szpyt, J., ... Gygi, S. P. (2015). The BioPlex Network: A Systematic Exploration of the Human Interactome. *Cell*, 162(2), 425–440. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.06.043
- Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O., Ervasti, J. M., Leveille, C. J., Slaughter, C. A., Sernett, S. W., & Campbell, K. P. (1992). Primary structure of dystrophin-associated glycoproteins linking dystrophin to the extracellular matrix. *Nature*, 355(6362), 696–702. http://doi.org/10.1038/355696a0
- Ichim, T. E., Alexandrescu, D. T., Solano, F., Lara, F., Campion, R. D. N., Paris, E., ... Riordan, N. H. (2010). Mesenchymal stem cells as anti-inflammatories: implications for treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Cellular Immunology*, 260(2), 75–82. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2009.10.006
- Im, W., Phelps, S. F., Copen, E. H., Adams, E. G., Slightom, J. L., & Chamberlain, J. S. (1996). Differential expression of dystrophin isoforms in strains of mdx mice with different mutations. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 5(8), 1149–1153. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/5.8.1149
- Imamura, M., Mochizuki, Y., Engvall, E., & Takeda, S. (2005). Epsilon-sarcoglycan compensates for lack of alpha-sarcoglycan in a mouse model of limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 14(6), 775–83. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddi072
- Incitti, T., De Angelis, F. G., Cazzella, V., Sthandier, O., Pinnarò, C., Legnini, I., & Bozzoni, I. (2010). Exon skipping and duchenne muscular dystrophy therapy: selection of the most active U1 snRNA antisense able to induce dystrophin exon 51 skipping. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, 18(9), 1675–82. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2010.123
- Irizarry, R. A., Hobbs, B., Collin, F., Beazer-Barclay, Y. D., Antonellis, K. J., Scherf, U., & Speed, T. P. (2003). Exploration, normalization, and summaries of high density oligonucleotide array probe level data. *Biostatistics (Oxford, England)*, 4(2), 249–64. http://doi.org/10.1093/biostatistics/4.2.249

- Ishikawa-Sakurai, M., Yoshida, M., Imamura, M., Davies, K. E., & Ozawa, E. (2004). ZZ domain is essentially required for the physiological binding of dystrophin and utrophin to beta-dystroglycan. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *13*(7), 693–702. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddh087
- Ivanusic, D., Eschricht, M., & Denner, J. (2014). Investigation of membrane protein–protein interactions using correlative FRET-PLA. *BioTechniques*, 57, 188–198. http://doi.org/10.2144/000114215
- Jafferali, M. H., Vijayaraghavan, B., Figueroa, R. A., Crafoord, E., Gudise, S., Larsson, V. J., & Hallberg, E. (2014). MCLIP, an effective method to detect interactions of transmembrane proteins of the nuclear envelope in live cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes*, 1838(10), 2399–2403. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2014.06.008
- Jaka, O., Casas-Fraile, L., López de Munain, A., & Sáenz, A. (2015). Costamere proteins and their involvement in myopathic processes. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine*, 17, e12. http://doi.org/10.1017/erm.2015.9
- Jansen, M., van Alfen, N., Geurts, A. C. H., & de Groot, I. J. M. (2013). Assisted bicycle training delays functional deterioration in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: the randomized controlled trial "no use is disuse". *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 27(9), 816–27. http://doi.org/10.1177/1545968313496326
- Jarmin, S., Kymalainen, H., Popplewell, L., & Dickson, G. (2014). New developments in the use of gene therapy to treat Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, *14*(2), 209–30. http://doi.org/10.1517/14712598.2014.866087
- Jarrett, H. W., & Foster, J. L. (1995). Alternate binding of actin and calmodulin to multiple sites on dystrophin. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(10), 5578–86. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7890677
- Jennings, B. H. (2011). Drosophila a versatile model in biology & amp; medicine. *Materials Today*, *14*(5), 190–195. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-7021(11)70113-4
- Johnson, E. K., Li, B., Yoon, J. H., Flanigan, K. M., Martin, P. T., Ervasti, J., ... Gygi, S. (2013). Identification of New Dystroglycan Complexes in Skeletal Muscle. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8), e73224. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0073224
- Johnson, E. K., Zhang, L., Adams, M. E., Phillips, A., Freitas, M. A., Froehner, S. C., ... Montanaro, F. (2012). Proteomic analysis reveals new cardiac-specific dystrophinassociated proteins. *PloS One*, 7(8), e43515. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0043515
- Jonuschies, J., Antoniou, M., Waddington, S., Boldrin, L., Muntoni, F., Thrasher, A., & Morgan, J. (2014). The human desmin promoter drives robust gene expression for skeletal muscle stem cell-mediated gene therapy. *Current Gene Therapy*, 14(4), 276–88. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25039614
- Judge, L. M., Haraguchiln, M., & Chamberlain, J. S. (2006). Dissecting the signaling and mechanical functions of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex. *Journal of Cell Science*, 119(Pt 8), 1537–46. http://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.02857
- Jung, D., Yang, B., Meyer, J., Chamberlain, J. S., & Campbell, K. P. (1995). Identification and characterization of the dystrophin anchoring site on beta-dystroglycan. *The Journal* of *Biological Chemistry*, 270(45), 27305–10. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7592992
- Kaboord, B., & Perr, M. (2008). Isolation of proteins and protein complexes by immunoprecipitation. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, 424, 349–64. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60327-064-9_27
- Kachinsky, A. M., Froehner, S. C., & Milgram, S. L. (1999). A PDZ-containing scaffold related to the dystrophin complex at the basolateral membrane of epithelial cells. *The*

Journal of Cell Biology, *145*(2), 391–402. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10209032

- Kalman, B., Monge, C., Bigot, A., Mouly, V., Picart, C., & Boudou, T. (2015). Engineering human 3D micromuscles with co-culture of fibroblasts and myoblasts. *Computer Methods in Biomechanics and Biomedical Engineering*, 18 Suppl 1, 1960–1. http://doi.org/10.1080/10255842.2015.1069557
- Kamburov, A., Stelzl, U., & Herwig, R. (2012). IntScore: a web tool for confidence scoring of biological interactions. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40(Web Server issue), W140–6. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks492
- Kameya, S., Miyagoe, Y., Nonaka, I., Ikemoto, T., Endo, M., Hanaoka, K., ... Takeda, S. (1999). alpha1-syntrophin gene disruption results in the absence of neuronal-type nitricoxide synthase at the sarcolemma but does not induce muscle degeneration. *The Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 274(4), 2193–200. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9890982
- Kar, R., Kellogg, D. L., & Roman, L. J. (2015). Oxidative stress induces phosphorylation of neuronal NOS in cardiomyocytes through AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK). *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 459(3), 393–7. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.02.113
- Kast, J., & Klockenbusch, C. (2010). Optimization of formaldehyde cross-linking for protein interaction analysis of non-tagged integrin ?? 1. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2010, 927585. http://doi.org/10.1155/2010/927585
- Katwal, A. B., Konkalmatt, P. R., Piras, B. A., Hazarika, S., Li, S. S., John Lye, R., ... French, B. A. (2013). Adeno-associated virus serotype 9 efficiently targets ischemic skeletal muscle following systemic delivery. *Gene Therapy*, 20(9), 930–8. http://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2013.16
- Kauffmann, A., Gentleman, R., & Huber, W. (2009). arrayQualityMetrics--a bioconductor package for quality assessment of microarray data. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, 25(3), 415–6. http://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btn647
- Keefe, A. C., & Kardon, G. (2015). A new role for dystrophin in muscle stem cells. *Nature Medicine*, 21(12), 1391–1393. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4006
- Kemaladewi, D. U., Hoogaars, W. M., van Heiningen, S. H., Terlouw, S., de Gorter, D. J., den Dunnen, J. T., ... Qiu, Y. (2011). Dual exon skipping in myostatin and dystrophin for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *BMC Medical Genomics*, 4(1), 36. http://doi.org/10.1186/1755-8794-4-36
- Kerrien, S., Aranda, B., Breuza, L., Bridge, A., Broackes-Carter, F., Chen, C., ... Hermjakob, H. (2012). The IntAct molecular interaction database in 2012. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40(Database issue), D841–6. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkr1088
- Kerrien, S., Orchard, S., Montecchi-Palazzi, L., Aranda, B., Quinn, A. F., Vinod, N., ... Hermjakob, H. (2007). Broadening the horizon--level 2.5 of the HUPO-PSI format for molecular interactions. *BMC Biology*, 5, 44. http://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-5-44
- Khorchid, A., & Ikura, M. (2002). How calpain is activated by calcium. *Nature Structural Biology*, *9*(4), 239–241. http://doi.org/10.1038/nsb0402-239
- Kim, W., Bennett, E. J., Huttlin, E. L., Guo, A., Li, J., Possemato, A., ... Gygi, S. P. (2011). Systematic and quantitative assessment of the ubiquitin-modified proteome. *Molecular Cell*, 44(2), 325–40. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2011.08.025
- Kirschner, J., & Lochmüller, H. (2011). Sarcoglycanopathies. In *Handbook of Clinical Neurology* (Vol. 101, pp. 41–46). http://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-045031-5.00003-7
- Kirshenbaum, L. A. (2001). Death-Defying Pathways Linking Cell Cycle and Apoptosis. *Circulation Research*, 88(10), 978–980. http://doi.org/10.1161/hh1001.091865
- Kitao, H., & Takata, M. (2006). Purification of TAP-tagged proteins by two-step pull down

from DT40 cells. *Sub-Cellular Biochemistry*, 40, 409–13. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17623931

- Kleopa, K. A., Drousiotou, A., Mavrikiou, E., Ormiston, A., & Kyriakides, T. (2006). Naturally occurring utrophin correlates with disease severity in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 15(10), 1623–8. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddl083
- Komeima, K., Hayashi, Y., Naito, Y., & Watanabe, Y. (2000). Inhibition of neuronal nitricoxide synthase by calcium/ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IIalpha through Ser847 phosphorylation in NG108-15 neuronal cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(36), 28139–43. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M003198200
- Koo, T., Popplewell, L., Athanasopoulos, T., & Dickson, G. (2014). Triple trans-splicing adeno-associated virus vectors capable of transferring the coding sequence for fulllength dystrophin protein into dystrophic mice. *Human Gene Therapy*, 25(2), 98–108. http://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2013.164
- Kornegay, J. N., Bogan, D. J., Bogan, J. R., Dow, J. L., Wang, J., Fan, Z., ... Wagner, K. R. (2016). Dystrophin-deficient dogs with reduced myostatin have unequal muscle growth and greater joint contractures. *Skeletal Muscle*, 6, 14. http://doi.org/10.1186/s13395-016-0085-7
- Kornegay, J. N., Bogan, J. R., Bogan, D. J., Childers, M. K., Li, J., Nghiem, P., ... Hoffman, E. P. (2012). Canine models of Duchenne muscular dystrophy and their use in therapeutic strategies. *Mammalian Genome : Official Journal of the International Mammalian Genome Society*, 23(1-2), 85–108. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00335-011-9382-y
- Kramarcy, N. R., & Sealock, R. (2000). Syntrophin isoforms at the neuromuscular junction: developmental time course and differential localization. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, *15*(3), 262–274. http://doi.org/10.1006/mcne.1999.0823
- Krom, Y. D., Dumonceaux, J., Mamchaoui, K., den Hamer, B., Mariot, V., Negroni, E., ... van der Maarel, S. M. (2012). Generation of isogenic D4Z4 contracted and noncontracted immortal muscle cell clones from a mosaic patient: a cellular model for FSHD. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 181(4), 1387–401. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.07.007
- Kuleshov, M. V, Jones, M. R., Rouillard, A. D., Fernandez, N. F., Duan, Q., Wang, Z., ... Ma'ayan, A. (2016). Enrichr: a comprehensive gene set enrichment analysis web server 2016 update. *Nucleic Acids Research*. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw377
- Kumar-Singh, R., & Chamberlain, J. S. (1996). Encapsidated adenovirus minichromosomes allow delivery and expression of a 14 kb dystrophin cDNA to muscle cells. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 5(7), 913–21. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8817325
- Lai, Y., Thomas, G. D., Yue, Y., Yang, H. T., Li, D., Long, C., ... Duan, D. (2009).
 Dystrophins carrying spectrin-like repeats 16 and 17 anchor nNOS to the sarcolemma and enhance exercise performance in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *119*(3), 624–35. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI36612
- Lakonishok, M., Muschler, J., & Horwitz, A. F. (1992). The alpha 5 beta 1 integrin associates with a dystrophin-containing lattice during muscle development. *Developmental Biology*, 152(2), 209–20. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1644216
- Lal, A., Haynes, S. R., & Gorospe, M. (2005). Clean Western blot signals from immunoprecipitated samples. *Molecular and Cellular Probes*, 19(6), 385–8. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcp.2005.06.007
- Lancioni, A., Rotundo, I. L., Kobayashi, Y. M., D'Orsi, L., Aurino, S., Nigro, G., ... Nigro, V. (2011). Combined deficiency of alpha and epsilon sarcoglycan disrupts the cardiac

dystrophin complex. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 20(23), 4644–54. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddr398

- Landau, G., Bercovich, Z., Park, M. H., & Kahana, C. (2010). The Role of Polyamines in Supporting Growth of Mammalian Cells Is Mediated through Their Requirement for Translation Initiation and Elongation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(17), 12474– 12481. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.106419
- Langlands, K., Yin, X., Anand, G., & Prochownik, E. V. (1997). Differential interactions of Id proteins with basic-helix-loop-helix transcription factors. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(32), 19785–19793. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.32.19785
- Lebakken, C. S., Venzke, D. P., Hrstka, R. F., Consolino, C. M., Faulkner, J. A., Williamson, R. A., & Campbell, K. P. (2000). Sarcospan-Deficient Mice Maintain Normal Muscle Function. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 20(5), 1669–1677. http://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.20.5.1669-1677.2000
- Lee, H. S., Qi, Y., Im, W., Dwek, R. A., Cummings, R. D., Varki, A., ... Shaw, D. E. (2015). Effects of N-glycosylation on protein conformation and dynamics: Protein Data Bank analysis and molecular dynamics simulation study. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 8926. http://doi.org/10.1038/srep08926
- Lee, K. M., Choi, K. H., & Ouellette, M. M. (2004). Use of exogenous hTERT to immortalize primary human cells. *Cytotechnology*, 45(1-2), 33–38. http://doi.org/10.1007/10.1007/s10616-004-5123-3
- Lee, T., Takeshima, Y., Kusunoki, N., Awano, H., Yagi, M., Matsuo, M., & Iijima, K. (2014). Differences in carrier frequency between mothers of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy patients. *Journal of Human Genetics*, 59(1), 46–50. http://doi.org/10.1038/jhg.2013.119
- Legardinier, S., Raguénès-Nicol, C., Tascon, C., Rocher, C., Hardy, S., Hubert, J.-F., & Le Rumeur, E. (2009). Mapping of the lipid-binding and stability properties of the central rod domain of human dystrophin. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *389*(3), 546–58. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2009.04.025
- Legrand, B., Giudice, E., Nicolas, A., Delalande, O., & Le Rumeur, E. (2011). Computational study of the human dystrophin repeats: interaction properties and molecular dynamics. *PloS One*, *6*(8), e23819. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023819
- Lehne, B., Schlitt, T., Fields, S., Song, O., Rigaut, G., Shevchenko, A., ... Sander, C. (2009). Protein-protein interaction databases: keeping up with growing interactomes. *Human Genomics* 2009 3:3, 3(3), 245–246. http://doi.org/10.1186/1479-7364-3-3-291
- Leonoudakis, D., Conti, L. R., Anderson, S., Radeke, C. M., McGuire, L. M. M., Adams, M. E., ... Vandenberg, C. A. (2004). Protein trafficking and anchoring complexes revealed by proteomic analysis of inward rectifier potassium channel (Kir2.x)-associated proteins. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(21), 22331–46. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M400285200
- Levine, B. A., Moir, A. J., Patchell, V. B., & Perry, S. V. (1992). Binding sites involved in the interaction of actin with the N-terminal region of dystrophin. *FEBS Letters*, 298(1), 44–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1544421
- Levy, N. (2012). The use of animal as models: ethical considerations. *International Journal of Stroke*, 7(5), 440–442. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-4949.2012.00772.x
- Lewit-Bentley, A., & Réty, S. (2000). EF-hand calcium-binding proteins. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, *10*(6), 637–643. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-440X(00)00142-1
- Li, D., Bareja, A., Judge, L., Yue, Y., Lai, Y., Fairclough, R., ... Duan, D. (2010). Sarcolemmal nNOS anchoring reveals a qualitative difference between dystrophin and utrophin. *Journal of Cell Science*, *123*(Pt 12), 2008–13. http://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.064808

- Li, D., Long, C., Yue, Y., & Duan, D. (2009). Sub-physiological sarcoglycan expression contributes to compensatory muscle protection in mdx mice. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 18(7), 1209–20. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddp015
- Li, H., Lin, S.-W., Giles-Davis, W., Li, Y., Zhou, D., Xiang, Z. Q., ... Ertl, H. C. (2009). A Preclinical Animal Model to Assess the Effect of Pre-existing Immunity on AAVmediated Gene Transfer. *Molecular Therapy*, 17(7), 1215–1224. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2009.79
- Li, H., Meininger, C. J., Kelly, K. A., Hawker, J. R., Morris, S. M., Wu, G., ... Bazer, F. (2002). Activities of arginase I and II are limiting for endothelial cell proliferation. *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 282(1), R64–9. http://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/89.8.533
- Li, J. (2013). Preparation of Adult Mouse Muscle Stem Cells. *Bio-Protocol*, 3(24). Retrieved from http://www.bio-protocol.org/e1003
- Li, X., Zhao, L., Zhou, S., Hu, C., Shi, Y., Shi, W., ... Wang, Y. (2015). A comprehensive database of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy patients (0-18 years old) in East China. *Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases*, *10*(1), 5. http://doi.org/10.1186/s13023-014-0220-7
- Licata, L., Briganti, L., Peluso, D., Perfetto, L., Iannuccelli, M., Galeota, E., ... Cesareni, G. (2012). MINT, the molecular interaction database: 2012 update. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40(Database issue), D857–61. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkr930
- Lim, S., & Kaldis, P. (2013). Cdks, cyclins and CKIs: roles beyond cell cycle regulation. *Development (Cambridge, England)*, 140(15), 3079–93. http://doi.org/10.1242/dev.091744
- Lipscomb, L., Piggott, R. W., Emmerson, T., & Winder, S. J. (2016). Dasatinib as a treatment for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 25(2), 266–74. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddv469
- Liu, L., Brown, D., McKee, M., Lebrasseur, N. K., Yang, D., Albrecht, K. H., ... Pilch, P. F. (2008). Deletion of Cavin/PTRF causes global loss of caveolae, dyslipidemia, and glucose intolerance. *Cell Metabolism*, 8(4), 310–7. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.07.008
- Lo, S. H., Janmey, P. A., Hartwig, J. H., & Chen, L. B. (1994). Interactions of tensin with actin and identification of its three distinct actin-binding domains. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 125(5), 1067–75. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2120063&tool=pmcentrez& rendertype=abstract
- Loh, N. Y., Nebenius-Oosthuizen, D., Blake, D. J., Smith, A. J., & Davies, K. E. (2001). Role of beta-dystrobrevin in nonmuscle dystrophin-associated protein complex-like complexes in kidney and liver. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 21(21), 7442–8. http://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.21.21.7442-7448.2001
- Loh, N. Y., Newey, S. E., Davies, K. E., & Blake, D. J. (2000). Assembly of multiple dystrobrevin-containing complexes in the kidney. *Journal of Cell Science*, 113 (Pt 1, 2715–24. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10893187
- Long, C., Amoasii, L., Mireault, A. A., McAnally, J. R., Li, H., Sanchez-Ortiz, E., ... Olson, E. N. (2015). Postnatal genome editing partially restores dystrophin expression in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 351(6271), 400–403. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad5725
- Lopes, C. T., Franz, M., Kazi, F., Donaldson, S. L., Morris, Q., & Bader, G. D. (2010). Cytoscape Web: an interactive web-based network browser. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, 26(18), 2347–8. http://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btq430
- Louis Jeune, V., Joergensen, J. A., Hajjar, R. J., & Weber, T. (2013). Pre-existing anti-adeno-

associated virus antibodies as a challenge in AAV gene therapy. *Human Gene Therapy Methods*, 24(2), 59–67. http://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2012.243

- Lu, A., Proto, J. D., Guo, L., Tang, Y., Lavasani, M., Tilstra, J. S., ... Huard, J. (2012). NFκB negatively impacts the myogenic potential of muscle-derived stem cells. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, 20(3), 661–8. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2011.261
- Lu, L., Arakaki, A. K., Lu, H., & Skolnick, J. (2003). Multimeric threading-based prediction of protein-protein interactions on a genomic scale: application to the Saccharomyces cerevisiae proteome. *Genome Research*, 13(6A), 1146–54. http://doi.org/10.1101/gr.1145203
- Lu, Q., Cirak, S., & Partridge, T. (2014). What Can We Learn From Clinical Trials of Exon Skipping for DMD? *Molecular Therapy—Nucleic Acids*, 3(3), e152. http://doi.org/10.1038/mtna.2014.6
- Lumeng, C., Phelps, S., Crawford, G. E., Walden, P. D., Barald, K., & Chamberlain, J. S. (1999). Interactions between beta 2-syntrophin and a family of microtubule-associated serine/threonine kinases. *Nature Neuroscience*, 2(7), 611–7. http://doi.org/10.1038/10165
- Lund, D. K., Mouly, V., & Cornelison, D. D. W. (2014). MMP-14 is necessary but not sufficient for invasion of three-dimensional collagen by human muscle satellite cells. *American Journal of Physiology. Cell Physiology*, 307(2), C140–9. http://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00032.2014
- Lynch, G. S., Hinkle, R. T., Chamberlain, J. S., Brooks, S. V, & Faulkner, J. A. (2001). Force and power output of fast and slow skeletal muscles from mdx mice 6-28 months old. *The Journal of Physiology*, *535*(Pt 2), 591–600. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.00591.x
- Macias, M. J., Wiesner, S., & Sudol, M. (2002). WW and SH3 domains, two different scaffolds to recognize proline-rich ligands. *FEBS Letters*, *513*(1), 30–37. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(01)03290-2
- Madhavan, R., & Jarrett, H. W. (1999). Phosphorylation of dystrophin and alpha-syntrophin by Ca(2+)-calmodulin dependent protein kinase II. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, *1434*(2), 260–74. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10525145
- Maëva Le Hir, A. G. C. P. G. P. K. E. D. T. V. L. G. S. L. (2013). AAV Genome Loss From Dystrophic Mouse Muscles During AAV-U7 snRNA-mediated Exon-skipping Therapy. *Molecular Therapy*, 21(8), 1551.
- Majumdar, R., Shao, L., Minocha, R., Long, S., & Minocha, S. C. (2013). Ornithine: the overlooked molecule in the regulation of polyamine metabolism. *Plant & Cell Physiology*, *54*(6), 990–1004. http://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pct053
- Mali, P., Yang, L., Esvelt, K. M., Aach, J., Guell, M., DiCarlo, J. E., ... Church, G. M. (2013). RNA-guided human genome engineering via Cas9. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 339(6121), 823–6. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1232033
- Malmendal, A., Linse, S., Evenäs, J., Forsén, S., & Drakenberg, T. (1999). Battle for the EF-Hands: Magnesium–Calcium Interference in Calmodulin [†]. *Biochemistry*, 38(36), 11844–11850. http://doi.org/10.1021/bi9909288
- Mamchaoui, K., Trollet, C., Bigot, A., Negroni, E., Chaouch, S., Wolff, A., ... Mouly, V. (2011). Immortalized pathological human myoblasts: towards a universal tool for the study of neuromuscular disorders. *Skeletal Muscle*, 1, 34. http://doi.org/10.1186/2044-5040-1-34
- Margraf-Schönfeld, S., Böhm, C., & Watzl, C. (2011). Glycosylation affects ligand binding and function of the activating natural killer cell receptor 2B4 (CD244) protein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(27), 24142–9.

http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.225334

- Mariot, V., Roche, S., Hourdé, C., Portilho, D., Sacconi, S., Puppo, F., ... Dumonceaux, J. (2015). Correlation between low FAT1 expression and early affected muscle in facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy. *Annals of Neurology*, 78(3), 387–400. http://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24446
- Marshall, J. L., Chou, E., Oh, J., Kwok, A., Burkin, D. J., & Crosbie-Watson, R. H. (2012). Dystrophin and utrophin expression require sarcospan: loss of α7 integrin exacerbates a newly discovered muscle phenotype in sarcospan-null mice. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 21(20), 4378–93. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/dds271
- Martin, P. T. (2003). Dystroglycan glycosylation and its role in matrix binding in skeletal muscle. *Glycobiology*, *13*(8), 55R–66R. http://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/cwg076
- Martin, P. T., Shelton, G. D., Dickinson, P. J., Sturges, B. K., Xu, R., LeCouteur, R. A., ... Lyons, L. A. (2008). Muscular dystrophy associated with alpha-dystroglycan deficiency in Sphynx and Devon Rex cats. *Neuromuscular Disorders : NMD*, 18(12), 942–52. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2008.08.002
- Matsumura, K., Ervasti, J. M., Ohlendieck, K., Kahl, S. D., & Campbell, K. P. (1992). Association of dystrophin-related protein with dystrophin-associated proteins in mdx mouse muscle. *Nature*, 360(6404), 588–91. http://doi.org/10.1038/360588a0
- Matsumura, T., Saito, T., Fujimura, H., Shinno, S., & Sakoda, S. (2011). [A longitudinal cause-of-death analysis of patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy]. *Rinshō Shinkeigaku = Clinical Neurology*, *51*(10), 743–50. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22019865
- Maurer, M., Bougoin, S., Feferman, T., Frenkian, M., Bismuth, J., Mouly, V., ... Berrih-Aknin, S. (2015). IL-6 and Akt are involved in muscular pathogenesis in myasthenia gravis. Acta Neuropathologica Communications, 3, 1. http://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-014-0179-6
- McCleverty, C. J., Lin, D. C., & Liddington, R. C. (2007). Structure of the PTB domain of tensin1 and a model for its recruitment to fibrillar adhesions. *Protein Science : A Publication of the Protein Society*, 16(6), 1223–9. http://doi.org/10.1110/ps.072798707
- McDonald, B., & Martin-Serrano, J. (2008). Regulation of Tsg101 expression by the steadiness box: a role of Tsg101-associated ligase. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, *19*(2), 754–63. http://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E07-09-0957
- McElnay, J. C., & D'Arcy, P. F. (1983). Protein binding displacement interactions and their clinical importance. *Drugs*, 25(5), 495–513. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6345130
- McElroy, S. P., Nomura, T., Torrie, L. S., Warbrick, E., Gartner, U., Wood, G., ... Mukherjee, A. (2013). A Lack of Premature Termination Codon Read-Through Efficacy of PTC124 (Ataluren) in a Diverse Array of Reporter Assays. *PLoS Biology*, *11*(6), e1001593. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001593
- McGreevy, J. W., Hakim, C. H., McIntosh, M. A., & Duan, D. (2015). Animal models of Duchenne muscular dystrophy: from basic mechanisms to gene therapy. *Disease Models* & *Mechanisms*, 8(3), 195–213. http://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.018424
- McNally, E. M., de Sá Moreira, E., Duggan, D. J., Bönnemann, C. G., Lisanti, M. P., Lidov, H. G., ... Kunkel, L. M. (1998). Caveolin-3 in muscular dystrophy. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 7(5), 871–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9536092
- Mendell, J. R., Goemans, N., Lowes, L. P., Alfano, L. N., Berry, K., Shao, J., ... Eteplirsen Study Group and Telethon Foundation DMD Italian Network. (2016). Longitudinal effect of eteplirsen versus historical control on ambulation in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Annals of Neurology*, 79(2), 257–71. http://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24555
- Mendell, J. R., Shilling, C., Leslie, N. D., Flanigan, K. M., al-Dahhak, R., Gastier-Foster, J.,

... Weiss, R. B. (2012). Evidence-based path to newborn screening for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Annals of Neurology*, *71*(3), 304–13. http://doi.org/10.1002/ana.23528

- Meng, J., Bencze, M., Asfahani, R., Muntoni, F., Morgan, J. E., Morizumi, H., ... Morgan, J. (2015). The effect of the muscle environment on the regenerative capacity of human skeletal muscle stem cells. *Skeletal Muscle*, 5(1), 11. http://doi.org/10.1186/s13395-015-0036-8
- Mercado, M. L., Amenta, A. R., Hagiwara, H., Rafii, M. S., Lechner, B. E., Owens, R. T., ... Fallon, J. R. (2006). Biglycan regulates the expression and sarcolemmal localization of dystrobrevin, syntrophin, and nNOS. *FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 20(10), 1724–6. http://doi.org/10.1096/fj.05-5124fje
- Mercieca, K., & Mercieca, F. (2007). Side effects of postoperative administration of methylprednisolone and gentamicin into the posterior sub-Tenon's space. *Journal of Cataract and Refractive Surgery*, 33(5), 815–8. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrs.2007.01.029
- Merico, D., Isserlin, R., Stueker, O., Emili, A., & Bader, G. D. (2010). Enrichment map: a network-based method for gene-set enrichment visualization and interpretation. *PloS One*, 5(11), e13984. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013984
- Metzinger, L. (1997). Dystrobrevin deficiency at the sarcolemma of patients with muscular dystrophy. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 6(7), 1185–1191. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/6.7.1185
- Milacic, M., Haw, R., Rothfels, K., Wu, G., Croft, D., Hermjakob, H., ... Stein, L. (2012). Annotating cancer variants and anti-cancer therapeutics in reactome. *Cancers*, 4(4), 1180–211. http://doi.org/10.3390/cancers4041180
- Miller, G., Moore, C. J., Terry, R., La Riviere, T., Mitchell, A., Piggott, R., ... Winder, S. J. (2012). Preventing phosphorylation of dystroglycan ameliorates the dystrophic phenotype in mdx mouse. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 21(20), 4508–20. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/dds293
- Min, W.-K., Kim, S., Chun, S., Lee, W., Chung, H.-J., Choi, S. J., ... Yoo, J.-I. (2010). Protein Expression Profiles during Osteogenic Differentiation of UCB-MSCs Protein Expression Profiles during Osteogenic Differentiation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Derived from Human Umbilical Cord Blood. *Tohoku J. Exp. Med. Tohoku J. Exp. Med*, 221(2212), 141–150. http://doi.org/10.1620/tjem.221.141
- Minetti, C., Sotgia, F., Bruno, C., Scartezzini, P., Broda, P., Bado, M., ... Zara, F. (1998). Mutations in the caveolin-3 gene cause autosomal dominant limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. *Nature Genetics*, 18(4), 365–368. http://doi.org/10.1038/ng0498-365
- Mingozzi, F., & High, K. A. (2013). Immune responses to AAV vectors: overcoming barriers to successful gene therapy. *Blood*, *122*(1), 23–36. http://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-01-306647
- Mintseris, J., & Weng, Z. (2005). Structure, function, and evolution of transient and obligate protein-protein interactions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(31), 10930–10935. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0502667102
- Miskew Nichols, B., Aoki, Y., Kuraoka, M., Lee, J. J. A., Takeda, S., & Yokota, T. (2016). Multi-exon Skipping Using Cocktail Antisense Oligonucleotides in the Canine X-linked Muscular Dystrophy. *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, (111). http://doi.org/10.3791/53776
- Mizuno, Y., Nonaka, I., Hirai, S., & Ozawa, E. (1993). Reciprocal expression of dystrophin and utrophin in muscles of Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients, female DMD-carriers and control subjects. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, *119*(1), 43–52.

Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8246010

- Mizuno, Y., Thompson, T. G., Guyon, J. R., Lidov, H. G., Brosius, M., Imamura, M., ... Kunkel, L. M. (2001). Desmuslin, an intermediate filament protein that interacts with alpha -dystrobrevin and desmin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(11), 6156–61. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.111153298
- Moghadaszadeh, B., Albrechtsen, R., Guo, L. T., Zaik, M., Kawaguchi, N., Borup, R. H., ... Wewer, U. M. (2003). Compensation for dystrophin-deficiency: ADAM12 overexpression in skeletal muscle results in increased alpha 7 integrin, utrophin and associated glycoproteins. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 12(19), 2467–79. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddg264
- Moisset, P. A., Skuk, D., Asselin, I., Goulet, M., Roy, B., Karpati, G., & Tremblay, J. P. (1998). Successful transplantation of genetically corrected DMD myoblasts following ex vivo transduction with the dystrophin minigene. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 247(1), 94–9. http://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1998.8739
- Molza, A.-E., Mangat, K., Le Rumeur, E., Hubert, J.-F., Menhart, N., & Delalande, O. (2015). Structural Basis of Neuronal Nitric-oxide Synthase Interaction with Dystrophin Repeats 16 and 17. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(49), 29531–29541. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.680660
- Monaco, A. P., Neve, R. L., Colletti-Feener, C., Bertelson, C. J., Kurnit, D. M., & Kunkel, L. M. (1986). Isolation of candidate cDNAs for portions of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene. *Nature*, 323(6089), 646–50. http://doi.org/10.1038/323646a0
- Montarras, D. (2005). Direct Isolation of Satellite Cells for Skeletal Muscle Regeneration. *Science*, *309*(5743), 2064–2067. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1114758
- Moon, H. M., Youn, Y. H., Pemble, H., Yingling, J., Wittmann, T., & Wynshaw-Boris, A. (2014). LIS1 controls mitosis and mitotic spindle organization via the LIS1-NDEL1dynein complex. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 23(2), 449–66. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddt436
- Moore, C. J., & Winder, S. J. (2012). The inside and out of dystroglycan post-translational modification. *Neuromuscular Disorders : NMD*, 22(11), 959–65. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2012.05.016
- Moorwood, C., Lozynska, O., Suri, N., Napper, A. D., Diamond, S. L., & Khurana, T. S. (2011). Drug discovery for Duchenne muscular dystrophy via utrophin promoter activation screening. *PloS One*, 6(10), e26169. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026169
- Mora, M., Angelini, C., Bignami, F., Bodin, A.-M., Crimi, M., Di Donato, J.-H., ... Lochmüller, H. (2015). The EuroBioBank Network: 10 years of hands-on experience of collaborative, transnational biobanking for rare diseases. *European Journal of Human Genetics* : *EJHG*, 23(9), 1116–23. http://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2014.272
- Morell, M., Espargaró, A., Avilés, F. X., & Ventura, S. (2007). Detection of transient proteinprotein interactions by bimolecular fluorescence complementation: the Abl-SH3 case. *Proteomics*, 7(7), 1023–36. http://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200600966
- Morén, B., Shah, C., Howes, M. T., Schieber, N. L., McMahon, H. T., Parton, R. G., ... Lundmark, R. (2012). EHD2 regulates caveolar dynamics via ATP-driven targeting and oligomerization. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 23(7), 1316–29. http://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E11-09-0787
- Moreno-Layseca, P., & Streuli, C. H. (2014). Signalling pathways linking integrins with cell cycle progression. *Matrix Biology*, *34*, 144–153. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2013.10.011
- Morgan, J. E., Beauchamp, J. R., Pagel, C. N., Peckham, M., Ataliotis, P., Jat, P. S., ... Partridge, T. A. (1994). Myogenic cell lines derived from transgenic mice carrying a

thermolabile T antigen: a model system for the derivation of tissue-specific and mutation-specific cell lines. *Developmental Biology*, *162*(2), 486–98. http://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1994.1103

- Morgan, J. E., & Zammit, P. S. (2010). Direct effects of the pathogenic mutation on satellite cell function in muscular dystrophy. *Experimental Cell Research*, *316*(18), 3100–8. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.05.014
- Morizane, A., Doi, D., Kikuchi, T., Okita, K., Hotta, A., Kawasaki, T., ... Xu, Y. (2013). Direct Comparison of Autologous and Allogeneic Transplantation of iPSC-Derived Neural Cells in the Brain of a Nonhuman Primate. *Stem Cell Reports*, 1(4), 283–292. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.08.007
- Muntoni, F., Torelli, S., & Ferlini, A. (2003). Dystrophin and mutations: one gene, several proteins, multiple phenotypes. *The Lancet Neurology*, 2(12), 731–740. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(03)00585-4
- Murphy, S., & Ohlendieck, K. (2016). The biochemical and mass spectrometric profiling of the dystrophin complexome from skeletal muscle. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, 14, 20–7. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2015.11.002
- Muses, S., Morgan, J. E., & Wells, D. J. (2011). A new extensively characterised conditionally immortal muscle cell-line for investigating therapeutic strategies in muscular dystrophies. *PloS One*, 6(9), e24826. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0024826
- Muthu, M., Richardson, K. A., Sutherland-Smith, A. J., Wallace, G., McNally, E., Blake, D.,
 ... Sutherland-Smith, A. (2012). The Crystal Structures of Dystrophin and Utrophin
 Spectrin Repeats: Implications for Domain Boundaries. *PLoS ONE*, 7(7), e40066.
 http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0040066
- Naito, D., Ogata, T., Hamaoka, T., Nakanishi, N., Miyagawa, K., Maruyama, N., ... Ueyama, T. (2015). The coiled-coil domain of MURC/cavin-4 is involved in membrane trafficking of caveolin-3 in cardiomyocytes. *American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 309(12), H2127–36. http://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00446.2015
- Nehlin, J. O., Just, M., Rustan, A. C., & Gaster, M. (2011). Human myotubes from myoblast cultures undergoing senescence exhibit defects in glucose and lipid metabolism. *Biogerontology*, 12(4), 349–65. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10522-011-9336-5
- Neimark, J. (2015). Line of attack. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *347*(6225), 938–40. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.347.6225.938
- Nelson, C. E., Hakim, C. H., Ousterout, D. G., Thakore, P. I., Moreb, E. A., Castellanos Rivera, R. M., ... Gersbach, C. A. (2016). In vivo genome editing improves muscle function in a mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 351(6271), 403–7. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad5143
- Nevo, Y., Muntoni, F., Sewry, C., Legum, C., Kutai, M., Harel, S., & Dubowitz, V. (2003). Large in-frame deletions of the rod-shaped domain of the dystrophin gene resulting in severe phenotype. *The Israel Medical Association Journal : IMAJ*, 5(2), 94–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12674656
- Newey, S. E., Benson, M. A., Ponting, C. P., Davies, K. E., & Blake, D. J. (2000). Alternative splicing of dystrobrevin regulates the stoichiometry of syntrophin binding to the dystrophin protein complex. *Current Biology* : *CB*, 10(20), 1295–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11069112
- Newey, S. E., Howman, E. V, Ponting, C. P., Benson, M. A., Nawrotzki, R., Loh, N. Y., ... Blake, D. J. (2001). Syncoilin, a novel member of the intermediate filament superfamily that interacts with alpha-dystrobrevin in skeletal muscle. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(9), 6645–55. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M008305200
- Ng, S. K., Weissbach, R., Ronson, G. E., & Scadden, A. D. J. (2013). Proteins that contain a
functional Z-DNA-binding domain localize to cytoplasmic stress granules. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *41*(21), 9786–99. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt750

- Nicolas, A., Lucchetti-Miganeh, C., Yaou, R. Ben, Kaplan, J.-C., Chelly, J., Leturcq, F., ... Le Rumeur, E. (2012). Assessment of the structural and functional impact of in-frame mutations of the DMD gene, using the tools included in the eDystrophin online database. *Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases*, 7, 45. http://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1172-7-45
- Nik-Ahd, F., & Bertoni, C. (2014). Ex vivo gene editing of the dystrophin gene in muscle stem cells mediated by peptide nucleic acid single stranded oligodeoxynucleotides induces stable expression of dystrophin in a mouse model for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio)*, *32*(7), 1817–30. http://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1668
- Nishi, H., Hashimoto, K., & Panchenko, A. R. (2011). Phosphorylation in Protein-Protein Binding: Effect on Stability and Function. *Structure*, *19*(12), 1807–1815. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2011.09.021
- Norwood, F. L., Sutherland-Smith, A. J., Keep, N. H., & Kendrick-Jones, J. (2000). The structure of the N-terminal actin-binding domain of human dystrophin and how mutations in this domain may cause Duchenne or Becker muscular dystrophy. *Structure*, 8(5), 481–491. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0969-2126(00)00132-5
- Nowak, J. A., Malowitz, J., Girgenrath, M., Kostek, C. A., Kravetz, A. J., Dominov, J. A., & Miller, J. B. (2004). Immortalization of mouse myogenic cells can occur without loss of p16INK4a, p19ARF, or p53 and is accelerated by inactivation of Bax. *BMC Cell Biology*, 5, 1. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2121-5-1
- Oddoux, S., Zaal, K. J., Tate, V., Kenea, A., Nandkeolyar, S. A., Reid, E., ... Ralston, E. (2013). Microtubules that form the stationary lattice of muscle fibers are dynamic and nucleated at Golgi elements. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 203(2), 205–13. http://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201304063
- Ohlendieck, K., & Campbell, K. P. (1991). Dystrophin-associated proteins are greatly reduced in skeletal muscle from mdx mice. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *115*(6), 1685–94. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1757468
- Ohlendieck, K., Matsumura, K., Ionasescu, V. V, Towbin, J. A., Bosch, E. P., Weinstein, S. L., ... Campbell, K. P. (1993). Duchenne muscular dystrophy: deficiency of dystrophin-associated proteins in the sarcolemma. *Neurology*, 43(4), 795–800. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8469343
- Olsen, J. V, Ong, S.-E., & Mann, M. (2004). Trypsin cleaves exclusively C-terminal to arginine and lysine residues. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics : MCP*, *3*(6), 608–14. http://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.T400003-MCP200
- Onori, A., Pisani, C., Strimpakos, G., Monaco, L., Mattei, E., Passananti, C., ... Barbas, C. (2013). UtroUp is a novel six zinc finger artificial transcription factor that recognises 18 base pairs of the utrophin promoter and efficiently drives utrophin upregulation. *BMC Molecular Biology*, *14*(1), 3. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2199-14-3
- Orchard, S., Kerrien, S., Abbani, S., Aranda, B., Bhate, J., Bidwell, S., ... Hermjakob, H. (2012). Protein interaction data curation: the International Molecular Exchange (IMEx) consortium. *Nature Methods*, *9*(4), 345–350. http://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1931
- Otey, C. A., Pavalko, F. M., & Burridge, K. (1990). An interaction between alpha-actinin and the beta 1 integrin subunit in vitro. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *111*(2), 721–9. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2116421
- Ousterout, D. G., Kabadi, A. M., Thakore, P. I., Perez-Pinera, P., Brown, M. T., Majoros, W. H., ... Gersbach, C. A. (2015). Correction of dystrophin expression in cells from Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients through genomic excision of exon 51 by zinc finger nucleases. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene*

Therapy, 23(3), 523–32. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2014.234

- Ousterout, D. G., Perez-Pinera, P., Thakore, P. I., Kabadi, A. M., Brown, M. T., Qin, X., ... Gersbach, C. A. (2013). Reading frame correction by targeted genome editing restores dystrophin expression in cells from Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, 21(9), 1718–26. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2013.111
- Pääsuke, R., Eimre, M., Piirsoo, A., Peet, N., Laada, L., Kadaja, L., ... Paju, K. (2016). Proliferation of Human Primary Myoblasts Is Associated with Altered Energy Metabolism in Dependence on Ageing In Vivo and In Vitro. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2016, 8296150. http://doi.org/10.1155/2016/8296150
- Parton, R. G., & del Pozo, M. A. (2013). Caveolae as plasma membrane sensors, protectors and organizers. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 14(2), 98–112. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3512
- Partridge, T. A. (2013). The mdx mouse model as a surrogate for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *FEBS Journal*, 280(17), 4177–4186. http://doi.org/10.1111/febs.12267
- Partridge, T. A., Morgan, J. E., Coulton, G. R., Hoffman, E. P., & Kunkel, L. M. (1989). Conversion of mdx myofibres from dystrophin-negative to -positive by injection of normal myoblasts. *Nature*, 337(6203), 176–9. http://doi.org/10.1038/337176a0
- Pawlisz, A. S., & Feng, Y. (2011). Three-dimensional regulation of radial glial functions by Lis1-Nde1 and dystrophin glycoprotein complexes. *PLoS Biology*, 9(10), e1001172. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001172
- Pearce, M., Blake, D. J., Tinsley, J. M., Byth, B. C., Campbell, L., Monaco, A. P., & Davies, K. E. (1993). The utrophin and dystrophin genes share similarities in genomic structure. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 2(11), 1765–72. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8281135
- Pearlman, J. A., Powaser, P. A., Elledge, S. J., & Caskey, C. T. (1994). Troponin T is capable of binding dystrophin via a leucine zipper. *FEBS Letters*, 354(2), 183–186. http://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(94)01119-2
- Pedamallu, C. S., & Ozdamar, L. (2014). A Review on Protein-Protein Interaction Network Databases (pp. 511–519). Springer International Publishing. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-04849-9_30
- Peltz, S. W., Morsy, M., Welch, E. M., & Jacobson, A. (2013). Ataluren as an agent for therapeutic nonsense suppression. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 64, 407–25. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-120611-144851
- Percival, J. M., Anderson, K. N. E., Gregorevic, P., Chamberlain, J. S., & Froehner, S. C. (2008). Functional deficits in nNOSmu-deficient skeletal muscle: myopathy in nNOS knockout mice. *PloS One*, 3(10), e3387. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0003387
- Perez-Reyes, N., Halbert, C. L., Smith, P. P., Benditt, E. P., & McDougall, J. K. (1992). Immortalization of primary human smooth muscle cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89(4), 1224–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1311088
- Périé, S., Trollet, C., Mouly, V., Vanneaux, V., Mamchaoui, K., Bouazza, B., ... St Guily, J. L. (2014). Autologous Myoblast Transplantation for Oculopharyngeal Muscular Dystrophy: a Phase I/Iia Clinical Study. *Molecular Therapy*, 22(1), 219–225. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2013.155
- Perini, I., Elia, I., Lo Nigro, A., Ronzoni, F., Berardi, E., Grosemans, H., ... Sampaolesi, M. (2015). Myogenic induction of adult and pluripotent stem cells using recombinant proteins. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 464(3), 755–61. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.07.022
- Perkins, J. R., Diboun, I., Dessailly, B. H., Lees, J. G., & Orengo, C. (2010). Transient

protein-protein interactions: structural, functional, and network properties. *Structure* (London, England : 1993), 18(10), 1233–43. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2010.08.007

- Peter, A. K., Marshall, J. L., & Crosbie, R. H. (2008). Sarcospan reduces dystrophic pathology: stabilization of the utrophin–glycoprotein complex. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *183*(3), 419–427. http://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200808027
- Peter, A. K., Miller, G., & Crosbie, R. H. (2007). Disrupted mechanical stability of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex causes severe muscular dystrophy in sarcospan transgenic mice. *Journal of Cell Science*, *120*(Pt 6), 996–1008. http://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.03360
- Peters, M. F., Adams, M. E., & Froehner, S. C. (1997). Differential association of syntrophin pairs with the dystrophin complex. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *138*(1), 81–93. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2139947&tool=pmcentrez&

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2139947&tool=pmcentrez& rendertype=abstract

- Peters, M. F., Kramarcy, N. R., Sealock, R., & Froehner, S. C. (1994). beta 2-Syntrophin: localization at the neuromuscular junction in skeletal muscle. *Neuroreport*, 5(13), 1577– 80. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7819523
- Peters, M. F., Sadoulet-Puccio, H. M., Grady, M. R., Kramarcy, N. R., Kunkel, L. M., Sanes, J. R., ... Froehner, S. C. (1998). Differential membrane localization and intermolecular associations of alpha-dystrobrevin isoforms in skeletal muscle. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 142(5), 1269–78. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9732287
- Petrof, B. J., Shrager, J. B., Stedman, H. H., Kelly, A. M., & Sweeney, H. L. (1993).
 Dystrophin protects the sarcolemma from stresses developed during muscle contraction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 90(8), 3710–4. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8475120
- Philippi, S., Bigot, A., Marg, A., Mouly, V., Spuler, S., & Zacharias, U. (2012). Dysferlindeficient immortalized human myoblasts and myotubes as a useful tool to study dysferlinopathy. *PLoS Currents*, 4, RRN1298. http://doi.org/10.1371/currents.RRN1298
- Pietraszewska-Bogiel, A., & Gadella, T. W. J. (2011). FRET microscopy: from principle to routine technology in cell biology. *Journal of Microscopy*, 241(2), 111–8. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2818.2010.03437.x
- Pilgram, G. S. K., Potikanond, S., Baines, R. A., Fradkin, L. G., & Noordermeer, J. N. (2010). The roles of the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex at the synapse. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 41(1), 1–21. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-009-8089-5
- Piluso, G., Mirabella, M., Ricci, E., Belsito, A., Abbondanza, C., Servidei, S., ... Nigro, V. (2000). Gamma1- and gamma2-syntrophins, two novel dystrophin-binding proteins localized in neuronal cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(21), 15851–60. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M000439200
- Polesskaya, A., Degerny, C., Pinna, G., Maury, Y., Kratassiouk, G., Mouly, V., ... Harel-Bellan, A. (2013). Genome-wide exploration of miRNA function in mammalian muscle cell differentiation. *PloS One*, 8(8), e71927. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071927
- Pontén, F., Jirström, K., & Uhlen, M. (2008). The Human Protein Atlas--a tool for pathology. *The Journal of Pathology*, *216*(4), 387–93. http://doi.org/10.1002/path.2440
- Popplewell, L., Koo, T., Leclerc, X., Duclert, A., Mamchaoui, K., Gouble, A., ... Dickson, G. (2013). Gene correction of a duchenne muscular dystrophy mutation by meganucleaseenhanced exon knock-in. *Human Gene Therapy*, 24(7), 692–701. http://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2013.081
- Prins, K. W., Humston, J. L., Mehta, A., Tate, V., Ralston, E., & Ervasti, J. M. (2009).

Dystrophin is a microtubule-associated protein. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *186*(3), 363–9. http://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200905048

- Qasim, W., Amrolia, P. J., Samarasinghe, S., Ghorashian, S., Zhan, H., Stafford, S., ... Pule,
 M. (2015). Abstract 2016: First Clinical Application of Talen Engineered Universal
 CAR19 T Cells in B-ALL. Orlando, Florida: American Society of Hematology 2015.
- Rafael, J. A., Cox, G. A., Corrado, K., Jung, D., Campbell, K. P., & Chamberlain, J. S. (1996). Forced expression of dystrophin deletion constructs reveals structure-function correlations. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 134(1), 93–102. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8698825
- Rafii, M. S., Hagiwara, H., Mercado, M. L., Seo, N. S., Xu, T., Dugan, T., ... Fallon, J. R. (2006). Biglycan binds to alpha- and gamma-sarcoglycan and regulates their expression during development. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 209(2), 439–47. http://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.20740
- Ramboer, E., De Craene, B., De Kock, J., Vanhaecke, T., Berx, G., Rogiers, V., & Vinken, M. (2014). Strategies for immortalization of primary hepatocytes. *Journal of Hepatology*, *61*(4), 925–43. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2014.05.046
- Rameau, G. A., Chiu, L.-Y., & Ziff, E. B. (2004). Bidirectional regulation of neuronal nitricoxide synthase phosphorylation at serine 847 by the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(14), 14307–14. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M311103200
- Ramos, J., & Chamberlain, J. S. (2015). Gene Therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Expert Opinion on Orphan Drugs*, 3(11), 1255–1266. http://doi.org/10.1517/21678707.2015.1088780
- Ramsköld, D., Wang, E. T., Burge, C. B., & Sandberg, R. (2009). An abundance of ubiquitously expressed genes revealed by tissue transcriptome sequence data. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 5(12), e1000598. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000598
- Rando, T. A., & Blau, H. M. (1994). Primary mouse myoblast purification, characterization, and transplantation for cell-mediated gene therapy. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 125(6), 1275–1287. http://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.125.6.1275
- Rao, V. S., Srinivas, K., Sujini, G. N., Kumar, G. N. S., Rao, V. S., Srinivas, K., ... Kumar, G. N. S. (2014). Protein-Protein Interaction Detection: Methods and Analysis. *International Journal of Proteomics*, 2014, 1–12. http://doi.org/10.1155/2014/147648
- Rappsilber, J., Ishihama, Y., & Mann, M. (2003). Stop and go extraction tips for matrixassisted laser desorption/ionization, nanoelectrospray, and LC/MS sample pretreatment in proteomics. *Analytical Chemistry*, 75(3), 663–70. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12585499
- Rath, M., Müller, I., Kropf, P., Closs, E. I., & Munder, M. (2014). Metabolism via Arginase or Nitric Oxide Synthase: Two Competing Arginine Pathways in Macrophages. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5, 532. http://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00532
- Rees, M. L. J., Lien, C.-F., & Górecki, D. C. (2007). Dystrobrevins in muscle and nonmuscle tissues. *Neuromuscular Disorders : NMD*, 17(2), 123–34. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2006.11.003
- Renault, V., Thornell, L.-E., Butler-Browne, G., & Mouly, V. (2002). Human skeletal muscle satellite cells: aging, oxidative stress and the mitotic clock. *Experimental Gerontology*, *37*(10-11), 1229–1236. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0531-5565(02)00129-8
- Renault, V., Thornell, L.-E., Eriksson, P.-O., Butler-Browne, G., Mouly, V., & Thorne, L.-E. (2002). Regenerative potential of human skeletal muscle during aging. *Aging Cell*, 1(2), 132–9.
- Rentschler, S., Linn, H., Deininger, K., Bedford, M. T., Espanel, X., & Sudol, M. (1999). The WW domain of dystrophin requires EF-hands region to interact with beta-dystroglycan.

Biological Chemistry, 380(4), 431–42. http://doi.org/10.1515/BC.1999.057

- Repetto, S., Bado, M., Broda, P., Lucania, G., Masetti, E., Sotgia, F., ... Minetti, C. (1999). Increased number of caveolae and caveolin-3 overexpression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 261(3), 547–50. http://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1999.1055
- Requena, T., Cabrera, S., Martín-Sierra, C., Price, S. D., Lysakowski, A., & Lopez-Escamez, J. A. (2015). Identification of two novel mutations in FAM136A and DTNA genes in autosomal-dominant familial Meniere's disease. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 24(4), 1119–1126. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddu524
- Reynolds, J. G., McCalmon, S. A., Donaghey, J. A., & Naya, F. J. (2008). Deregulated Protein Kinase A Signaling and Myospryn Expression in Muscular Dystrophy. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(13), 8070.
- Rezniczek, G. A., Konieczny, P., Nikolic, B., Reipert, S., Schneller, D., Abrahamsberg, C.,
 ... Wiche, G. (2007). Plectin 1f scaffolding at the sarcolemma of dystrophic (mdx)
 muscle fibers through multiple interactions with beta-dystroglycan. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *176*(7), 965–77. http://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200604179
- Ritchie, M. E., Diyagama, D., Neilson, J., van Laar, R., Dobrovic, A., Holloway, A., & Smyth, G. K. (2006). Empirical array quality weights in the analysis of microarray data. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 7(1), 261. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-7-261
- Ritchie, M. E., Phipson, B., Wu, D., Hu, Y., Law, C. W., Shi, W., & Smyth, G. K. (2015). limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 43(7), e47. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv007
- Roberts, R. G. (2001, April 5). Dystrophins and dystrobrevins. *Genome Biology*. BioMed Central. http://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2001-2-4-reviews3006
- Roberts, R. G., Freeman, T. C., Kendall, E., Vetrie, D. L., Dixon, A. K., Shaw-Smith, C., ... Bobrow, M. (1996). Characterization of DRP2, a novel human dystrophin homologue. *Nature Genetics*, 13(2), 223–6. http://doi.org/10.1038/ng0696-223
- Robin, J. D., Wright, W. E., Zou, Y., Cossette, S. C., Lawlor, M. W., & Gussoni, E. (2015). Isolation and immortalization of patient-derived cell lines from muscle biopsy for disease modeling. *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, (95), 52307. http://doi.org/10.3791/52307
- Roca-Cusachs, P., del Rio, A., Puklin-Faucher, E., Gauthier, N. C., Biais, N., & Sheetz, M. P. (2013). Integrin-dependent force transmission to the extracellular matrix by α-actinin triggers adhesion maturation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(15), E1361–70. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1220723110
- Rodrigues, M., Echigoya, Y., Fukada, S., & Yokota, T. (2016). Current Translational Research and Murine Models For Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Journal of Neuromuscular Diseases*, *3*(1), 29–48. http://doi.org/10.3233/JND-150113
- Rokach, O., Ullrich, N. D., Rausch, M., Mouly, V., Zhou, H., Muntoni, F., ... Treves, S. (2013). Establishment of a human skeletal muscle-derived cell line: biochemical, cellular and electrophysiological characterization. *The Biochemical Journal*, 455(2), 169–77. http://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20130698
- Roy, R., Hohng, S., & Ha, T. (2008). A practical guide to single-molecule FRET. *Nature Methods*, 5(6), 507–516. http://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1208
- Rozo, M., Li, L., & Fan, C.-M. (2016). Targeting β1-integrin signaling enhances regeneration in aged and dystrophic muscle in mice. *Nature Medicine*, 22(8), 889–896. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4116
- Russo, K., Di Stasio, E., Macchia, G., Rosa, G., Brancaccio, A., & Petrucci, T. C. (2000). Characterization of the beta-dystroglycan-growth factor receptor 2 (Grb2) interaction. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 274(1), 93–8.

http://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2000.3103

- Sabourin, J., Lamiche, C., Vandebrouck, A., Magaud, C., Rivet, J., Cognard, C., ... Constantin, B. (2009). Regulation of TRPC1 and TRPC4 cation channels requires an alpha1-syntrophin-dependent complex in skeletal mouse myotubes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(52), 36248–61. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.012872
- Sacco, A., Mourkioti, F., Tran, R., Choi, J., Llewellyn, M., Kraft, P., ... Peres, C. A. (2010). Short telomeres and stem cell exhaustion model Duchenne muscular dystrophy in mdx/mTR mice. *Cell*, 143(7), 1059–71. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.039
- Sadoulet-Puccio, H. M., Rajala, M., & Kunkel, L. M. (1997). Dystrobrevin and dystrophin: an interaction through coiled-coil motifs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(23), 12413–8. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=24974&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract
- Sahin, E., Grillo, A. O., Perkins, M. D., & Roberts, C. J. (2010). Comparative effects of pH and ionic strength on protein-protein interactions, unfolding, and aggregation for IgG1 antibodies. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 99(12), 4830–48. http://doi.org/10.1002/jps.22198
- Salerno, J. C., Ray, K., Poulos, T., Li, H., & Ghosh, D. K. (2013). Calmodulin activates neuronal nitric oxide synthase by enabling transitions between conformational states. FEBS Letters (Vol. 587).
- Salih, M. A., Sunada, Y., Al-Nasser, M., Ozo, C. O., Al-Turaiki, M. H., Akbar, M., & Campbell, K. P. (1996). Muscular dystrophy associated with beta-Dystroglycan deficiency. *Annals of Neurology*, 40(6), 925–8. http://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410400617
- Santos-Zas, I., Gurriarán-Rodríguez, U., Cid-Díaz, T., Figueroa, G., González-Sánchez, J., Bouzo-Lorenzo, M., ... Camiña, J. P. (2015). β-Arrestin scaffolds and signaling elements essential for the obestatin/GPR39 system that determine the myogenic program in human myoblast cells. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : CMLS*. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-015-1994-z
- Sarepta Therapeutics Inc. (2016a). Sarepta Issues Statement on Advisory Committee Outcome for Use of Eteplirsen in the Treatment of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. Retrieved July 25, 2016, from http://investorrelations.sarepta.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=64231&p=irolnewsArticle&ID=2161215
- Sarepta Therapeutics Inc. (2016b). Sarepta Therapeutics Announces FDA Request For Dystrophin Data Prior To Making A Decision on Eteplirsen NDA. Retrieved July 25, 2016, from http://investorrelations.sarepta.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=64231&p=irolnewsArticle&ID=2175522
- Sarepta Therapeutics Inc. (2016c). Sarepta Therapeutics Announces FDA Will Not Complete the Review of the Eteplirsen New Drug Application By The PDUFA Date. Retrieved July 25, 2016, from http://investorrelations.sarepta.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=64231&p=irolnewsArticle&ID=2172185
- Scott, J. M., Li, S., Harper, S. Q., Welikson, R., Bourque, D., DelloRusso, C., ... Chamberlain, J. S. (2002). Viral vectors for gene transfer of micro-, mini-, or full-length dystrophin. In *Neuromuscular Disorders* (Vol. 12). http://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8966(02)00078-0
- Selbach, M., & Mann, M. (2006). Protein interaction screening by quantitative immunoprecipitation combined with knockdown (QUICK). *Nature Methods*, 3(12), 981–3. http://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth972
- Selsby, J. T., Ross, J. W., Nonneman, D., & Hollinger, K. (2015). Porcine models of

muscular dystrophy. *ILAR Journal / National Research Council, Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources*, *56*(1), 116–26. http://doi.org/10.1093/ilar/ilv015

- Seno, M. M. G., Trollet, C., Athanasopoulos, T., Graham, I. R., Hu, P., Dickson, G., ... Skaletsky, H. (2010). Transcriptomic analysis of dystrophin RNAi knockdown reveals a central role for dystrophin in muscle differentiation and contractile apparatus organization. *BMC Genomics 2010 11:1*, *11*(1), 1189–1192. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-11-345
- Senter, L., Ceoldo, S., Petrusa, M. M., & Salviati, G. (1995). Phosphorylation of dystrophin:effects on actin binding. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 206(1), 57–63. http://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1995.1009
- Senter, L., Luise, M., Presotto, C., Betto, R., Teresi, A., Ceoldo, S., & Salviati, G. (1993). Interaction of dystrophin with cytoskeletal proteins: binding to talin and actin. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 192(2), 899–904. http://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1993.1500
- Shannon, P., Markiel, A., Ozier, O., Baliga, N. S., Wang, J. T., Ramage, D., ... Ideker, T. (2003). Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. *Genome Research*, 13(11), 2498–504. http://doi.org/10.1101/gr.1239303
- Sherman, D. L., Wu, L. M. N., Grove, M., Gillespie, C. S., & Brophy, P. J. (2012). Drp2 and periaxin form Cajal bands with dystroglycan but have distinct roles in Schwann cell growth. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 32(27), 9419–28. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1220-12.2012
- Shi, W., Chen, Z., Schottenfeld, J., Stahl, R. C., Kunkel, L. M., & Chan, Y.-M. (2004). Specific assembly pathway of sarcoglycans is dependent on beta- and delta-sarcoglycan. *Muscle & Nerve*, 29(3), 409–19. http://doi.org/10.1002/mus.10566
- Shi, W., Oshlack, A., & Smyth, G. K. (2010). Optimizing the noise versus bias trade-off for Illumina whole genome expression BeadChips. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 38(22), e204. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq871
- Shiga, K., Yoshioka, H., Matsumiya, T., Kimura, I., Takeda, S., & Imamura, M. (2006). Zetasarcoglycan is a functional homologue of gamma-sarcoglycan in the formation of the sarcoglycan complex. *Experimental Cell Research*, *312*(11), 2083–92. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2006.03.011
- Shimizu-Motohashi, Y., Miyatake, S., Komaki, H., Takeda, S., & Aoki, Y. (2016). Recent advances in innovative therapeutic approaches for Duchenne muscular dystrophy: from discovery to clinical trials. *American Journal of Translational Research*, 8(6), 2471–89. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27398133
- Shiomi, K., Kiyono, T., Okamura, K., Uezumi, M., Goto, Y., Yasumoto, S., ... Hashimoto, N. (2011). CDK4 and cyclin D1 allow human myogenic cells to recapture growth property without compromising differentiation potential. *Gene Therapy*, 18(9), 857–866. http://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2011.44
- Shohat-Tal, A., & Eshel, D. (2011). Cell cycle regulators interact with pathways that modulate microtubule stability in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Eukaryotic Cell*, 10(12), 1705–13. http://doi.org/10.1128/EC.05215-11
- Sicinski, P., Geng, Y., Ryder-Cook, A., Barnard, E., Darlison, M., & Barnard, P. (1989). The molecular basis of muscular dystrophy in the mdx mouse: a point mutation. *Science*, 244(4912).
- Sienkiewicz, D., Kulak, W., Okurowska-Zawada, B., Paszko-Patej, G., & Kawnik, K. (2015). Duchenne muscular dystrophy: current cell therapies. *Therapeutic Advances in Neurological Disorders*, 8(4), 166–77. http://doi.org/10.1177/1756285615586123
- Simões, G. F., Benitez, S. U., & Oliveira, A. L. R. (2014). Granulocyte colony-stimulating

factor (G-CSF) positive effects on muscle fiber degeneration and gait recovery after nerve lesion in MDX mice. *Brain and Behavior*, *4*(5), 738–53. http://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.250

- Singh, S. M., Bandi, S., & Mallela, K. M. G. (2015). The N- and C-Terminal Domains Differentially Contribute to the Structure and Function of Dystrophin and Utrophin Tandem Calponin-Homology Domains. *Biochemistry*, 54(46), 6942–50. http://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biochem.5b00969
- Sjöblom, B., Salmazo, A., & Djinović-Carugo, K. (2008). Alpha-actinin structure and regulation. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : CMLS*, 65(17), 2688–701. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-008-8080-8
- Smoot, M. E., Ono, K., Ruscheinski, J., Wang, P.-L., & Ideker, T. (2011). Cytoscape 2.8: new features for data integration and network visualization. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, 27(3), 431–2. http://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btq675
- Smyth, G. K. (2004). Linear models and empirical bayes methods for assessing differential expression in microarray experiments. *Statistical Applications in Genetics and Molecular Biology*, *3*, Article3. http://doi.org/10.2202/1544-6115.1027
- Smyth, G. K., Michaud, J., & Scott, H. S. (2005). Use of within-array replicate spots for assessing differential expression in microarray experiments. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, 21(9), 2067–75. http://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bti270
- Solá, R. J., & Griebenow, K. (2009). Effects of glycosylation on the stability of protein pharmaceuticals. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *98*(4), 1223–45. http://doi.org/10.1002/jps.21504
- Solstad, T., Bull, V., Breivik, L., & Fladmark, K. E. (2008). Identification of protein interaction partners by immunoprecipitation: Possible pitfalls and false positives., *4*(1), 21–27.
- Song, K. S., Scherer, P. E., Tang, Z., Okamoto, T., Li, S., Chafel, M., ... Lisanti, M. P. (1996). Expression of caveolin-3 in skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscle cells. Caveolin-3 is a component of the sarcolemma and co-fractionates with dystrophin and dystrophin-associated glycoproteins. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(25), 15160–5. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8663016
- Sonnemann, K. J., Heun-Johnson, H., Turner, A. J., Baltgalvis, K. A., Lowe, D. A., & Ervasti, J. M. (2009). Functional Substitution by TAT-Utrophin in Dystrophin-Deficient Mice. *PLoS Medicine*, 6(5), e1000083. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000083
- Sotgia, F., Lee, J. K., Das, K., Bedford, M., Petrucci, T. C., Macioce, P., ... Lisanti, M. P. (2000). Caveolin-3 directly interacts with the C-terminal tail of beta -dystroglycan. Identification of a central WW-like domain within caveolin family members. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(48), 38048–58. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M005321200
- Squire, S., Raymackers, J. M., Vandebrouck, C., Potter, A., Tinsley, J., Fisher, R., ... Davies, K. E. (2002). Prevention of pathology in mdx mice by expression of utrophin: analysis using an inducible transgenic expression system. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *11*(26), 3333–44. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12471059
- Stadler, G., Chen, J. C., Wagner, K., Robin, J. D., Shay, J. W., Emerson Jr, C. P., ... Ritter, M. (2011). Establishment of clonal myogenic cell lines from severely affected dystrophic muscles - CDK4 maintains the myogenic population. *Skeletal Muscle*, 1(1), 12. http://doi.org/10.1186/2044-5040-1-12
- Stone, M. R., O'Neill, A., Catino, D., & Bloch, R. J. (2005). Specific interaction of the actinbinding domain of dystrophin with intermediate filaments containing keratin 19. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 16(9), 4280–93. http://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E05-02-0112
 Straub, V., & Campbell, K. P. (1997). Muscular dystrophies and the dystrophin-glycoprotein

complex. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, *10*(2), 168–75. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9146999

- Straub, V., Ettinger, A. J., Durbeej, M., Venzke, D. P., Cutshall, S., Sanes, J. R., & Campbell, K. P. (1999). epsilon-sarcoglycan replaces alpha-sarcoglycan in smooth muscle to form a unique dystrophin-glycoprotein complex. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(39), 27989–96. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10488149
- Stromberg, A., Darin, N., Kroksmark, A. K., & Tulinius, M. (2012). S.P.31 What was the age and cause of death in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy in Sweden during 2000–2010? *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 22(9), 880–881. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2012.06.256
- Subramanian, A., Tamayo, P., Mootha, V. K., Mukherjee, S., Ebert, B. L., Gillette, M. A., ... Mesirov, J. P. (2005). Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(43), 15545–50. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0506580102
- Sugiyama, J., Bowen, D. C., & Hall, Z. W. (1994). Dystroglycan binds nerve and muscle agrin. *Neuron*, *13*(1), 103–115. http://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(94)90462-6
- Sumigray, K. D., Chen, H., & Lechler, T. (2011). Lis1 is essential for cortical microtubule organization and desmosome stability in the epidermis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 194(4), 631–42. http://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201104009
- Suminaga, R., Takeshima, Y., Wada, H., Yagi, M., & Matsuo, M. (2004). C-Terminal Truncated Dystrophin Identified in Skeletal Muscle of an Asymptomatic Boy with a Novel Nonsense Mutation of the Dystrophin Gene. *Pediatric Research*, 56(5), 739–743. http://doi.org/10.1203/01.PDR.0000142734.46609.43
- Sun, J. Y., Anand-Jawa, V., Chatterjee, S., & Wong, K. K. (2003). Immune responses to adeno-associated virus and its recombinant vectors. *Gene Therapy*, 10(11), 964–76. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3302039
- Sun, L., Bai, Y., Zhao, R., Sun, T., Cao, R., Wang, F., ... Du, G. (2016). Oncological miR-182-3p, a Novel Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotype Modulator, Evidences From Model Rats and Patients. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 36(7), 1386–97. http://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.307412
- Swiderski, K., Shaffer, S. A., Gallis, B., Odom, G. L., Arnett, A. L., Scott Edgar, J., ... Chamberlain, J. S. (2014). Phosphorylation within the cysteine-rich region of dystrophin enhances its association with β-dystroglycan and identifies a potential novel therapeutic target for skeletal muscle wasting. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 23(25), 6697–711. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddu388
- Tabebordbar, M., Zhu, K., Cheng, J. K. W., Chew, W. L., Widrick, J. J., Yan, W. X., ... Wagers, A. J. (2016). In vivo gene editing in dystrophic mouse muscle and muscle stem cells. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 351(6271), 407–11. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad5177
- Taglia, A., Petillo, R., D'Ambrosio, P., Picillo, E., Torella, A., Orsini, C., ... Politano, L. (2015). Clinical features of patients with dystrophinopathy sharing the 45-55 exon deletion of DMD gene. Acta Myologica : Myopathies and Cardiomyopathies : Official Journal of the Mediterranean Society of Myology / Edited by the Gaetano Conte Academy for the Study of Striated Muscle Diseases, 34(1), 9–13. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26155064
- Talts, J. F., Andac, Z., Göhring, W., Brancaccio, A., & Timpl, R. (1999). Binding of the G domains of laminin alpha1 and alpha2 chains and perlecan to heparin, sulfatides, alphadystroglycan and several extracellular matrix proteins. *The EMBO Journal*, 18(4), 863– 70. http://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/18.4.863

- Tebas, P., Stein, D., Tang, W. W., Frank, I., Wang, S. Q., Lee, G., ... June, C. H. (2014). Gene editing of CCR5 in autologous CD4 T cells of persons infected with HIV. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(10), 901–10. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1300662
- Tejvir S. Khurana, A. G. R. J. S. T. O. B. K. S. D. S. G. (1999). Activation of Utrophin Promoter by Heregulin via the ets-related Transcription Factor Complex GA-binding Protein α/β. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, *10*(6), 2075.
- The Gene Ontology Consortium. (2014). Gene Ontology Consortium: going forward. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 43(Database issue), D1049–56. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku1179
- Thomas, G. D. (2013). Functional muscle ischemia in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *4*, 381. http://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2013.00381
- Thomas, G. D., & Victor, R. G. (1998). Nitric oxide mediates contraction-induced attenuation of sympathetic vasoconstriction in rat skeletal muscle. *The Journal of Physiology*, *506 (Pt 3*, 817–26. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2230749&tool=pmcentrez& rendertype=abstract
- Thompson, S. (2004). Immunoprecipitation and blotting: the visualization of small amounts of antigens using antibodies and lectins. *Methods in Molecular Medicine*, 94, 33–45. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14959821
- Tinsley, J. M., Fairclough, R. J., Storer, R., Wilkes, F. J., Potter, A. C., Squire, S. E., ... Davies, K. E. (2011). Daily Treatment with SMTC1100, a Novel Small Molecule Utrophin Upregulator, Dramatically Reduces the Dystrophic Symptoms in the mdx Mouse. *PLoS ONE*, 6(5).
- Torelli, S., Brown, S. C., Jimenez-Mallebrera, C., Feng, L., Muntoni, F., & Sewry, C. A. (2004). Absence of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) as a pathological marker for the diagnosis of Becker muscular dystrophy with rod domain deletions. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 30(5), 540–5. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2990.2004.00561.x
- Toropova, K., Zou, S., Roberts, A. J., Redwine, W. B., Goodman, B. S., Reck-Peterson, S. L., & Leschziner, A. E. (2014). Lis1 regulates dynein by sterically blocking its mechanochemical cycle. *eLife*, *3*. http://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.03372
- Townsend, D. (2014). Finding the sweet spot: assembly and glycosylation of the dystrophinassociated glycoprotein complex. *Anatomical Record (Hoboken, N.J. : 2007)*, 297(9), 1694–705. http://doi.org/10.1002/ar.22974
- Tran, D. T., Lim, J.-M., Liu, M., Stalnaker, S. H., Wells, L., Ten Hagen, K. G., & Live, D. (2012). Glycosylation of -Dystroglycan: O-MANNOSYLATION INFLUENCES THE SUBSEQUENT ADDITION OF GalNAc BY UDP-GalNAc POLYPEPTIDE N-ACETYLGALACTOSAMINYLTRANSFERASES. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(25), 20967–20974. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.370387
- Tuffery-Giraud, S., Béroud, C., Leturcq, F., Yaou, R. Ben, Hamroun, D., Michel-Calemard, L., ... Claustres, M. (2009). Genotype-phenotype analysis in 2,405 patients with a dystrophinopathy using the UMD-DMD database: a model of nationwide knowledgebase. *Human Mutation*, 30(6), 934–45. http://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20976
- Tuffery-Giraud, S., Saquet, C., Chambert, S., Echenne, B., Marie Cuisset, J., Rivier, F., ... Claustres, M. (2004). The role of muscle biopsy in analysis of the dystrophin gene in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: experience of a national referral centre. *Neuromuscular Disorders : NMD*, 14(10), 650–8. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2004.05.002
- Tusher, V. G., Tibshirani, R., & Chu, G. (2001). Significance analysis of microarrays applied to the ionizing radiation response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(9), 5116–21. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.091062498

- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2016). FDA grants accelerated approval to first drug for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Retrieved October 3, 2016, from http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm521263.htm
- Utpal Basu, M. G.-H. S. M. B. O. L. T. O. B. K. C. J. J. M. F. T. S. K. (2007). Heregulininduced Epigenetic Regulation of the Utrophin-A Promoter. *FEBS Letters*, 581(22), 4153.
- Vaghy, P. L., Fang, J., Wu, W., & P. Vaghy, L. (1998). Increased caveolin-3 levels in mdx mouse muscles. *FEBS Letters*, 431(1), 125–127. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(98)00738-8
- Vainzof, M., Passos-Bueno, M. R., Canovas, M., Moreira, E. S., Pavanello, R. C., Marie, S. K., ... Zatz, M. (1996). The sarcoglycan complex in the six autosomal recessive limb-girdle muscular dystrophies. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 5(12), 1963–9. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8968750
- Vallese, D., Negroni, E., Duguez, S., Ferry, A., Trollet, C., Aamiri, A., ... Mouly, V. (2013). The Rag2–Il2rb–Dmd– Mouse: a Novel Dystrophic and Immunodeficient Model to Assess Innovating Therapeutic Strategies for Muscular Dystrophies. *Molecular Therapy*, 21(10), 1950–1957. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2013.186
- van Putten, M., Kumar, D., Hulsker, M., Hoogaars, W. M. H., Plomp, J. J., van Opstal, A., ... Brooks, S. V. (2012). Comparison of skeletal muscle pathology and motor function of dystrophin and utrophin deficient mouse strains. *Neuromuscular Disorders : NMD*, 22(5), 406–17. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2011.10.011
- van Vliet, L., de Winter, C. L., van Deutekom, J. C., van Ommen, G.-J. B., Aartsma-Rus, A., Deutekom, J. van, ... Ommen, G. van. (2008). Assessment of the feasibility of exon 45– 55 multiexon skipping for duchenne muscular dystrophy. *BMC Medical Genetics*, 9(1), 105. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2350-9-105
- Vandebrouck, C., Imbert, N., Constantin, B., Duport, G., Raymond, G., & Cognard, C. (2002). Normal calcium homeostasis in dystrophin-expressing facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy myotubes. *Neuromuscular Disorders : NMD*, 12(3), 266–72. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11801398
- Villarreal-Silva, M., Centeno-Cruz, F., Suárez-Sánchez, R., Garrido, E., & Cisneros, B. (2011). Knockdown of dystrophin Dp71 impairs PC12 cells cycle: localization in the spindle and cytokinesis structures implies a role for Dp71 in cell division. *PloS One*, 6(8), e23504. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023504
- Voisin, V., Sébrié, C., Matecki, S., Yu, H., Gillet, B., Ramonatxo, M., ... De la Porte, S. (2005). L-arginine improves dystrophic phenotype in mdx mice. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 20(1), 123–30. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2005.02.010
- Voit, T., Topaloglu, H., Straub, V., Muntoni, F., Deconinck, N., Campion, G., ... Kraus, J. E. (2014). Safety and efficacy of drisapersen for the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DEMAND II): an exploratory, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2 study. *The Lancet. Neurology*, *13*(10), 987–96. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70195-4
- Wagner, K. R. (1993). The 87K Postsynaptic Membrane Protein from Torpedo Is a Protein-Tyrosine Kinase Substrate Homologous to Dystrophin. *Neuron*, *10*, 511–522.
- Wagner, S. A., Beli, P., Weinert, B. T., Nielsen, M. L., Cox, J., Mann, M., & Choudhary, C. (2011). A proteome-wide, quantitative survey of in vivo ubiquitylation sites reveals widespread regulatory roles. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics : MCP*, 10(10), M111.013284. http://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M111.013284
- Walian, P. J., Allen, S., Shatsky, M., Zeng, L., Szakal, E. D., Liu, H., ... Jap, B. K. (2012).
 High-throughput isolation and characterization of untagged membrane protein complexes: outer membrane complexes of Desulfovibrio vulgaris. *Journal of Proteome*

Research, 11(12), 5720-35. http://doi.org/10.1021/pr300548d

- Wang, D., & Tapan, S. (2012). MISCORE: a new scoring function for characterizing DNA regulatory motifs in promoter sequences. *BMC Systems Biology*, 6 Suppl 2(Suppl 2), S4. http://doi.org/10.1186/1752-0509-6-S2-S4
- Wang, Z., Storb, R., Lee, D., Kushmerick, M. J., Chu, B., Berger, C., ... Tapscott, S. J. (2010). Immune responses to AAV in canine muscle monitored by cellular assays and noninvasive imaging. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, 18(3), 617–24. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2009.294
- Warde-Farley, D., Donaldson, S. L., Comes, O., Zuberi, K., Badrawi, R., Chao, P., ... Morris, Q. (2010). The GeneMANIA prediction server: biological network integration for gene prioritization and predicting gene function. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 38(Web Server issue), W214–20. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq537
- Way, M., & Parton, R. G. (1996). M-caveolin, a muscle-specific caveolin-related protein. *FEBS Letters*, *378*(1), 108–112. http://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(96)82884-5
- Wehling-Henricks, M., & Tidball, J. G. (2011). Neuronal nitric oxide synthase-rescue of dystrophin/utrophin double knockout mice does not require nNOS localization to the cell membrane. *PloS One*, 6(10), e25071. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0025071
- Weibrecht, I., Leuchowius, K.-J., Clausson, C.-M., Conze, T., Jarvius, M., Howell, W. M., ... Söderberg, O. (2010). Proximity ligation assays: a recent addition to the proteomics toolbox. *Expert Review of Proteomics*, 7(3), 401–9. http://doi.org/10.1586/epr.10.10
- Weir, A. P., Morgan, J. E., & Davies, K. E. (2004). A-utrophin up-regulation in mdx skeletal muscle is independent of regeneration. *Neuromuscular Disorders : NMD*, 14(1), 19–23. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14659408
- Wenzel, J., Sanzenbacher, R., Ghadimi, M., Lewitzky, M., Zhou, Q., Kaplan, D. R., ... Janssen, O. (2001). Multiple interactions of the cytosolic polyproline region of the CD95 ligand: hints for the reverse signal transduction capacity of a death factor. *FEBS Letters*, 509(2), 255–62. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11741599
- Wheeler, M. T., Zarnegar, S., & McNally, E. M. (2002). Zeta-sarcoglycan, a novel component of the sarcoglycan complex, is reduced in muscular dystrophy. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 11(18), 2147–54. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12189167
- White, J. K., Stewart, A., Popoff, J.-F., Wilson, S., & Blackwell, J. M. (2004). Incomplete glycosylation and defective intracellular targeting of mutant solute carrier family 11 member 1 (Slc11a1). *The Biochemical Journal*, 382(Pt 3), 811–9. http://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20040808
- Whiteley, G., Collins, R. F., & Kitmitto, A. (2012). Characterization of the Molecular Architecture of Human Caveolin-3 and Interaction with the Skeletal Muscle Ryanodine Receptor. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(48), 40302.
- Whitmore, C., & Morgan, J. (2014). What do mouse models of muscular dystrophy tell us about the DAPC and its components? *International Journal of Experimental Pathology*, *95*(6), 365–77. http://doi.org/10.1111/iep.12095
- Williams, M. W., & Bloch, R. J. (1999). Extensive but coordinated reorganization of the membrane skeleton in myofibers of dystrophic (mdx) mice. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 144(6), 1259–70. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10087268
- Winder, S. J., Gibson, T. J., & Kendrick-Jones, J. (1995). Dystrophin and utrophin: the missing links! *FEBS Letters*, 369(1), 27–33. http://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(95)00398-S
- Wood, K. J., Issa, F., & Hester, J. (2016). Understanding Stem Cell Immunogenicity in Therapeutic Applications. *Trends in Immunology*, 37(1), 5–16. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2015.11.005

- Wooltorton, E. (2002). Ototoxic effects from gentamicin ear drops. CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association Journal = Journal de l'Association Medicale Canadienne, 167(1), 56. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12137084
- Wright, W. E., & Shay, J. W. (2002). Historical claims and current interpretations of replicative aging. *Nature Biotechnology*, 20(7), 682–8. http://doi.org/10.1038/nbt0702-682
- Wu, H., Truncali, K., Ritchie, J., Kroe-Barrett, R., Singh, S., Robinson, A. S., & Roberts, C. J. (2015). Weak protein interactions and pH- and temperature-dependent aggregation of human Fc1. *mAbs*, 7(6), 1072–83. http://doi.org/10.1080/19420862.2015.1079678
- Wu, Y., Li, Q., & Chen, X.-Z. (2007). Detecting protein-protein interactions by Far western blotting. *Nature Protocols*, 2(12), 3278–84. http://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2007.459
- Xu, L., Park, K. H., Zhao, L., Xu, J., El Refaey, M., Gao, Y., ... Han, R. (2016). CRISPR-mediated Genome Editing Restores Dystrophin Expression and Function in mdx Mice. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, 24(3), 564–9. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2015.192
- Yamashita, K., Suzuki, A., Satoh, Y., Ide, M., Amano, Y., Masuda-Hirata, M., ... Ohno, S. (2010). The 8th and 9th tandem spectrin-like repeats of utrophin cooperatively form a functional unit to interact with polarity-regulating kinase PAR-1b. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 391(1), 812–7. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.11.144
- Yang, B., Jung, D., Rafael, J. A., Chamberlain, J. S., & Campbell, K. P. (1995). Identification of -Syntrophin Binding to Syntrophin Triplet, Dystrophin, and Utrophin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(10), 4975–4978. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.10.4975
- Yao-Cheng Li, A., Wei Rodewald, L., Wertman, K. F., Wahl Correspondence, G. M., Li, Y.-C., Hoppmann, C., ... Wahl, G. M. (2014). A Versatile Platform to Analyze Low-Affinity and Transient Protein-Protein Interactions in Living Cells in Real Time Cell Reports Resource A Versatile Platform to Analyze Low-Affinity and Transient Protein-Protein Interactions in Living Cells in Real Time. *CellReports*, 9, 1946–1958. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.10.058
- Yatsenko, A., Kucherenko, M., Pantoja, M., Fischer, K., Madeoy, J., Deng, W.-M., ...
 Ruohola-Baker, H. (2009). The conserved WW-domain binding sites in Dystroglycan C-terminus are essential but partially redundant for Dystroglycan function. *BMC Developmental Biology*, 9(1), 18. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-213X-9-18
- Yatsenko, A. S., Gray, E. E., Shcherbata, H. R., Patterson, L. B., Sood, V. D., Kucherenko, M. M., ... Ruohola-Baker, H. (2007). A Putative Src Homology 3 Domain Binding Motif but Not the C-terminal Dystrophin WW Domain Binding Motif Is Required for Dystroglycan Function in Cellular Polarity in Drosophila. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(20), 15159–15169. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M608800200
- Yih, L.-H., Peck, K., & Lee, T.-C. (2002). Changes in gene expression profiles of human fibroblasts in response to sodium arsenite treatment. *Carcinogenesis*, 23(5), 867–76. http://doi.org/10.1093/CARCIN/23.5.867
- Yoshida, M., Hama, H., Ishikawa-Sakurai, M., Imamura, M., Mizuno, Y., Araishi, K., ... Ozawa, E. (2000). Biochemical evidence for association of dystrobrevin with the sarcoglycan-sarcospan complex as a basis for understanding sarcoglycanopathy. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 9(7), 1033–1040. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/9.7.1033
- Yoshida, T., Pan, Y., Hanada, H., Iwata, Y., & Shigekawa, M. (1998). Bidirectional signaling between sarcoglycans and the integrin adhesion system in cultured L6 myocytes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(3), 1583–90. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9430699
- Yue, Y., Liu, M., & Duan, D. (2006). C-terminal-truncated microdystrophin recruits

dystrobrevin and syntrophin to the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex and reduces muscular dystrophy in symptomatic utrophin/dystrophin double-knockout mice. *Molecular Therapy : The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*, *14*(1), 79–87. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2006.01.007

- Yue, Y., Pan, X., Hakim, C. H., Kodippili, K., Zhang, K., Shin, J.-H., ... Duan, D. (2015). Safe and bodywide muscle transduction in young adult Duchenne muscular dystrophy dogs with adeno-associated virus. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 24(20), 5880–90. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddv310
- Zaki, N., Efimov, D., Berengueres, J., Zaki, =NM, Berengueres, =J, Dongen, S., ... Wu, M. (2013). Protein complex detection using interaction reliability assessment and weighted clustering coefficient. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 14(1), 163. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-14-163
- Zhang, G., Wooddell, C. I., Hegge, J. O., Griffin, J. B., Huss, T., Braun, S., & Wolff, J. A. (2010). Functional efficacy of dystrophin expression from plasmids delivered to mdx mice by hydrodynamic limb vein injection. *Human Gene Therapy*, 21(2), 221–37. http://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2009.133
- Zhang, Q. C., Petrey, D., Deng, L., Qiang, L., Shi, Y., Thu, C. A., ... Honig, B. (2012). Structure-based prediction of protein–protein interactions on a genome-wide scale. *Nature*, 490(7421), 556–560. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature11503
- Zheng, J. K., Wang, Y., Karandikar, A., Wang, Q., Gai, H., Liu, A. L., ... Sheng, H. Z. (2006). Skeletal myogenesis by human embryonic stem cells. *Cell Research*, 16(8), 713–22. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cr.7310080
- Zheng-Bradley, X., Rung, J., Parkinson, H., Brazma, A., Yanai, I., Graur, D., ... Parmigiani, G. (2010). Large scale comparison of global gene expression patterns in human and mouse. *Genome Biology*, 11(12), R124. http://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2010-11-12-r124
- Zhou, H., Rokach, O., Feng, L., Munteanu, I., Mamchaoui, K., Wilmshurst, J. M., ... Muntoni, F. (2013). RyR1 deficiency in congenital myopathies disrupts excitationcontraction coupling. *Human Mutation*, 34(7), 986–96. http://doi.org/10.1002/humu.22326
- Zhou, M., Lucas, D. A., Chan, K. C., Issaq, H. J., Petricoin, E. F., Liotta, L. A., ... Conrads, T. P. (2004). An investigation into the human serum "interactome". *Electrophoresis*, 25(9), 1289–98. http://doi.org/10.1002/elps.200405866
- Zhou, Y. W., Thomason, D. B., Gullberg, D., & Jarrett, H. W. (2006). Binding of laminin alpha1-chain LG4-5 domain to alpha-dystroglycan causes tyrosine phosphorylation of syntrophin to initiate Rac1 signaling. *Biochemistry*, 45(7), 2042–52. http://doi.org/10.1021/bi0519957
- Zhu, C.-H., Mouly, V., Cooper, R. N., Mamchaoui, K., Bigot, A., Shay, J. W., ... Wright, W. E. (2007). Cellular senescence in human myoblasts is overcome by human telomerase reverse transcriptase and cyclin-dependent kinase 4: consequences in aging muscle and therapeutic strategies for muscular dystrophies. *Aging Cell*, 6(4), 515–23. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2007.00306.x
- Zhu, L., Malatras, A., Thorley, M., Aghoghogbe, I., Mer, A., Duguez, S., ... Duddy, W. (2015). CellWhere: graphical display of interaction networks organized on subcellular localizations. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 43(W1), W571–5. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv354
- Zincarelli, C., Soltys, S., Rengo, G., Koch, W. J., & Rabinowitz, J. E. (2010). Comparative cardiac gene delivery of adeno-associated virus serotypes 1-9 reveals that AAV6 mediates the most efficient transduction in mouse heart. *Clinical and Translational Science*, *3*(3), 81–9. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-8062.2010.00190.x
- Zincarelli, C., Soltys, S., Rengo, G., & Rabinowitz, J. E. (2008). Analysis of AAV Serotypes

1–9 Mediated Gene Expression and Tropism in Mice After Systemic Injection. *Molecular Therapy*, *16*(6), 1073–1080. http://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2008.76

Annex 1 – CellWhere paper (Non-thesis, third author)

Published online 16 April 2015

Nucleic Acids Research, 2015, Vol. 43, Web Server issue W571–W575 doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv354

CellWhere: graphical display of interaction networks organized on subcellular localizations

Lu Zhu^{1,2,†}, Apostolos Malatras^{2,†}, Matthew Thorley², Idonnya Aghoghogbe^{2,3}, Arvind Mer⁴, Stéphanie Duquez², Gillian Butler-Browne², Thomas Voit² and William Duddy^{2,*}

¹Bioinformatics Department, Bielefeld University, Bielefeld, D-33501, Germany, ²Center for Research in Myology, Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06, INSERM UMRS975, CNRS FRE3617, 47 Boulevard de l'hôpital, 75013 Paris, France, ³Orthopaedics and Musculoskeletal Science, University College London, London, WC1E 6BT, UK and ⁴Medical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, SE-17177, Sweden

Received January 30, 2015; Revised March 27, 2015; Accepted April 02, 2015

ABSTRACT

Given a query list of genes or proteins, CellWhere produces an interactive graphical display that mimics the structure of a cell, showing the local interaction network organized into subcellular locations. This user-friendly tool helps in the formulation of mechanistic hypotheses by enabling the experimental biologist to explore simultaneously two elements of functional context: (i) protein subcellular localization and (ii) protein-protein interactions or gene functional associations. Subcellular localization terms are obtained from public sources (the Gene Ontology and UniProt-together containing several thousand such terms) then mapped onto a smaller number of CellWhere localizations. These localizations include all major cell compartments, but the user may modify the mapping as desired. Protein-protein interaction listings, and their associated evidence strength scores, are obtained from the Mentha interactome server, or power-users may upload a pre-made network produced using some other interactomics tool. The Cytoscape.js JavaScript library is used in producing the graphical display. Importantly, for a protein that has been observed at multiple subcellular locations, users may prioritize the visual display of locations that are of special relevance to their research domain. CellWhere is at http://cellwhere-myology.rhcloud.com.

INTRODUCTION

In the analysis of omics data, a researcher is often confronted with a short list of genes and, by extension, their encoded proteins. This list may simply contain differentially expressed genes from a single experimental comparison, or

it may result from some secondary analysis, such as functional enrichment using a tool such as DAVID (1), leading edge analysis of Gene Set enrichments (2), clustering of transcripts based on the correlation of their expression profiles (3) or network clustering based on gene functional associations (4,5). More generally, based on specialist knowledge, genes/proteins may be listed based on their special interest to a particular research project. In any case, to interpret such a list and to formulate mechanistic hypotheses, it is useful to explore previously published data concerning two areas of functional context: (i) subcellular locations at which the proteins have been reported and (ii) interactions between proteins, both within the list and with other proteins outside the list. These two types of data are now available from various public sources, but a tool to combine them in an informative and user-friendly way has not existed in the public domain.

Subcellular localization

Owing to the annotation efforts of model organism databases, high-quality subcellular localization information for the proteins of many organisms can be obtained from two carefully curated sources: UniProt (6) and the Gene Ontology (GO) (7). UniProt stores this information in its 'Subcellular location' field for each protein, while GO annotates proteins to the Cellular Component branch of its ontology. In both annotation systems, terms may vary from low specificity (e.g. 'Membrane') to higher specificity (e.g. 'Gap junction'), and a given protein may be annotated to multiple terms. As of writing, some 1283 terms are in use by UniProt, and 3812 by GO. Terms are fewer in UniProt because they are applied conservatively: in general only the more classically recognized location(s) of a given protein are noted, whereas GO is structured toward a systematic listing of all of the known (published) locations of a protein, even those that are rarely observed. For example, the protein Dystrophin is most studied at the membrane

© The Author(s) 2015. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of Nucleic Acids Research.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/), which permits non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com

 $^{^{*}}$ To whom correspondence should be addressed. Tel: +33 6 21 81 28 94; Fax: +33 1 42 16 57 00; Email: william.duddy@upmc.fr † These authors contributed equally to the paper as first authors.

of muscle cells and its Uniprot Subcellular location is restricted to this location. However, GO lists several related and sometimes more specific Cellular Components including the 'dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex' and 'Z disc', but also 'Filopodium' which has been reported not in muscle cells but in platelets. Thus, the UniProt subcellular location field is useful to obtain the 'classically' described location(s) of a protein, whereas GO can suggest locations that are of special interest to a specific research area.

Protein-protein interactions and gene functional associations

Interaction networks are usually based on empirical data from direct physical protein-protein binding assays (such as co-immunoprecipitation or yeast 2-hybrid experiments) and/or from indirect 'functional associations' such as gene co-expression or genetic interactions, but may also incorporate derived knowledge of signaling pathways. Various userfriendly interactome exploration tools are easily accessible to the bench researcher (a few examples include: NetGestalt (5), GeneMANIA (4), PathwayLinker (8), STRING (9), IntAct (10) and Mentha (11)). These tools vary in the types of experimental data that they include. For example, IntAct consists of curated listings of direct protein-protein interactions (PPIs) or colocalizations conforming to the MIMIx standard (for the minimum information required for reporting a molecular interaction experiment (12)), whereas GeneMANIA includes multiple functional association types from a large set of selected publications. Tools may combine data from stringent curation of individual experiments but also from text-mining and predictive approaches. Mentha is one of the more stringent: similarly to IntAct, it limits itself to direct physical PPIs curated by members of the International Molecular Exchange consortium (IMEx; (13)). It is also unique in having both a powerful interface for programmatic access and a simple scoring function that allows query cut-offs based on the strength of the interaction evidence. Each of these interactomics tools may serve different purposes and in CellWhere we make direct use of Mentha to build PPI networks from query lists, but we also facilitate (via Cytoscape 3 (14,15)) the import of networks created using other tools.

RATIONALE

The purpose of CellWhere is to enable bench researchers to quickly explore the reported subcellular locations of a list of genes/proteins, and to put these subcellular locations into the context of previously identified physical interactions that could be occurring between them and other genes/proteins within the cell. As such, CellWhere was created with three goals in mind:

- (i) To aid in the formulation of mechanistic hypotheses by showing where proteins are typically described to locate in the cell and what their most strongly evidenced interactions are.
- (ii) To act as a screening tool to show whether proteins and their interactors could be at selected locations of special interest.

(iii) To add subcellular location information to gene association networks that have been created using other tools.

METHODS: NETWORK GENERATION, PROTEIN LO-CALIZATION AND GRAPH ORGANIZATION

UniProt compiles a downloadable data file that includes both UniProt and GO localizations for all manually annotated (i.e. Swiss-Prot) and non-redundant protein sequences. Mentha maintains a file listing protein interactions. CellWhere downloads these files automatically within 24 h of each UniProt or Mentha update. Identifiers, localizations and interactions are then parsed and organized together with mapping information in a relational database. A CellWhere query begins by first mapping submitted gene symbols or other identifiers to the Swiss-Prot accession of the corresponding protein.

Mentha data are queried to obtain (i) evidence scores for interactions between proteins of the query list and (ii) proteins that interact with the query list, selected based on the strength of the evidence score. In this way a network is created and grown, up to a maximum size set by the user. Certain proteins (for example, Ubiquitins and heat shock proteins) form a great many interactions due to general functions that are unlikely to be pertinent to a specific mechanistic pathway. To filter out such 'promiscuous interactors', CellWhere pre-processes the Mentha data, making interaction counts for every protein. By default, when adding interactors, CellWhere ignores proteins that bind more than 100 partners. This corresponds to 1271 (1.6%) of the 81 919 proteins currently documented by Mentha. The user may adjust this cut-off as desired.

The UniProt accessions of the network are mapped to localization terms from UniProt and/or GO. These terms are then mapped to CellWhere's own localizations. This is achieved by means of a manually created mapping file, which maps UniProt/GO terms to 50 CellWhere localizations. These 50 localizations include all major cell compartments, and 50 is a sufficiently small number that the output visual display does not become overly crowded by different localizations. However, if desired the user may modify the mapping file to add more CellWhere localizations. CellWhere currently maps all Uniprot and GO localization terms that have been applied to more than 25 proteins. This covers more than 99% of all protein localization annota-tions (1 258 337 out of a total of 1 269 645) and includes the most frequently used 1013 of the 3812 terms that comprise the GO Cellular Component namespace, and 422 of the 1283 terms parsed from the Uniprot Subcellular location field. The user may modify these mappings, including to add mappings for the rarely used terms

An example localization procedure is shown in Table 1. For a given query gene or protein, all of its retrieved localization terms and their mappings to CellWhere localizations can be downloaded from CellWhere in tabular format, but for proteins with multiple CellWhere locations only selected locations are chosen at which to display the protein in CellWhere's interactive graph display. The user has two options regarding how these locations are chosen: a generic option, in which the most frequently annotated locations

are selected, and a prioritization option, in which a location is selected based on its user-specified score (which the user may set, for example, in accordance with the relevance of the location to their research project). Table 1 shows several examples, indicating (by the red coloring) which CellWhere location would be selected using either of the two options. Selection using the generic option is according to the 'frequency' column, whereas selection by the prioritization option is according to the score set in a user-defined 'flavor' (in this example, we set priority scores according to the location's relevance to muscle physiology, the 'Muscle flavor priority'). Using the Generic option would place RRAD, EMILIN2 and ACTC1, primarily at the Membrane, ECM and Cytoplasm, respectively. Whereas, using the muscle prioritization flavor, ACTC1 would be placed into the 'Focal adhesion' location, because the muscle flavor sets a high priority score on this location, due to its being of special interest to muscle research. The user may choose whether the graph will show only the most frequently annotated location or also show duplicate nodes at alternative locations.

Several pre-made flavors for prioritization scoring are provided, but the user can customize their own flavor by creating and uploading a new mapping file. Instructions to do this are given in drop-down information on CellWhere's front page, and in the User Guide section. As described on the site, users are encouraged to email their flavors to us to be included on the drop-down list available as a pre-made option to all users.

After localizations have been obtained, automated spatial organization of the graph is then achieved using a limited vocabulary that was created to tell CellWhere how to place locations relative to the boundaries of the cell. This vocabulary includes terms such as 'IN Cytoplasm' 'UNDER Membrane' and 'ACROSS Membrane' and is explained in more detail in the user guide. Spatial relation mappings are provided, but may also be set by the user. The Cytoscape.js JavaScript library (http://cytosca github.io/cytoscape.js/) is used to produce the graphical display in an html format that is readable by all common web browsers. Cytoscape.js was chosen over other graphing platforms-such as Cytoscape Web (16), D3 (http://d3js. org/) or sigmajs (http://sigmajs.org/)—in large part because of its built-in support for compound nodes (used by Cell-Where to group proteins into their localizations), but also its shared philosophy with the Cytoscape desktop application.

RESULTS: VISUAL DISPLAY AND INTERFACE

The user can submit a list of query IDs—several identifier types are supported—or upload a pre-made network (in xgmml format from Cytoscape 3) and has the option to retrieve localizations from UniProt, GO or both. Localizations may be prioritized based on their annotation frequency ('generic') or by priority scores (a user-created 'flavor', or one of those already provided). If the option to add Mentha interactions and interactors is selected, then the maximum size of the network can be selected. If a pre-made network is uploaded, then a parameter (e.g. 'fold-change') may be used on which to color the nodes of the network. Example output is shown in Figure 1. The localized network is graphed to resemble a physical map of the cell, placing proteins in a way that can help to hypothesize and interpret mechanistic links between genes or proteins of interest. Edges connecting the nodes are thicker when the Mentha evidence to support the interaction is stronger. The graph is interactive: edges can be selected to list Mentha evidence, and links are provided to supporting publications in PubMed; protein nodes link to their UniProt page; nodes and localization groupings can be moved around by the user.

The output may be downloaded in html format for sharing, or as a network for more advanced manipulation in the Cytoscape 3 desktop application (or any other tool capable of importing xgmml format). For each query, a complete unfiltered list of retrieved localizations and their CellWhere location mappings can be downloaded.

As well as the user-friendly interface, there is also an API for programmatic access using the http POST method. This is explained in detail, listing input fields and example code, in the developer guide section of the help menu.

RESULTS: COMPARISON WITH RELATED TOOLS

A general-purpose network manipulation and analysis tool such as Cytoscape can facilitate the integration and visualization of many types of information, including to group or color nodes according to subcellular localizations, but localization information must first be obtained and summarized. Further work is then required if the user desires to organize the graphical layout based on these localizations, such that the network resembles a schematic of the cell. Besides Cytoscape, there are several popular free-to-access tools that are focused on biological network analysis and/or visualization (some of which are listed above), but these tools generally lack the automatic integration of subcellular localization information. However, the localization-related functionalities of CellWhere have limited overlap with two existing pieces of software, one publicly available (Cerebral viewer (17)) and the other commercial (Ingenuity IPA (QI-AGEN Redwood City, www.qiagen.com/ingenuity)).

Cerebral viewer is a plug-in currently only available for the older version 2.8 of the Cytoscape desktop application. It facilitates a stratified graph layout based on localizations, but does not provide localization or interaction information, which must be provided by the user (discussed further in Supplementary note S1).

Ingenuity IPA is a data integration and exploration tool for omics data analysis. Provided as part of its networkbased clustering approach is a graph output in which genes are positioned into stratified localizations. IPA identifies interactions and localizations using a proprietary knowledgebase derived from Ingenuity's in-house literature curation. To highlight the similarities and differences between IPA and CellWhere, we re-analyzed in CellWhere a previously published (18) network that was produced using IPA (Supplementary note S1). A notable difference was that, whereas the IPA-generated network is limited to primary compartments (nucleus, cytoplasm, membrane, extracellular), CellWhere can display and automatically position numerous sub-compartments. If we ignore sub-compartments

W574 Nucleic Acids Research, 2015, Vol. 43, Web Server issue

INPUT	RETRIEVAL				OUTPUT		
Query ID	Uniprot ACC	Localization source	Localization term	Description	CellWhere localization	Frequency	Muscle flavor priority
RRAD	P55042	GO UniProt GO	GO:0005886 Cell membrane GO:0016020	plasma membrane Cell membrane membrane	Membrane	100%	2500
EMILIN2	Q9BXX0	GO GO UniProt GO	GO:0031012 GO:0005578 extracellular matrix GO:0005581 GO:0005576 Secreted extracellular space	extracellular matrix proteinaceous extracellular matrix extracellular matrix collagen	Extracellular matrix	57%	4200
		GO UniProt UniProt		extracellular region Secreted extracellular space	Extracellular	43%	4100
ACTC1	P68032	GO	GO:0005925	focal adhesion	Focal adhesion	8%	7250
		GO GO	GO:0031674 GO:0030017	I band sarcomere	Sarcomere	17%	7200
		GO	GO:0005884	actin filament	Actin cytoskeleton	8%	6200
		GO	GO:0070062	extracellular vesicular exosome	Vesicular exosome	8%	4900
		GO	GO:0005615	extracellular space	Extracellular	8%	4100
		GO	GO:0016020	membrane	Membrane	8%	2500
		GO	GO:0005856	cytoskeleton	Cytoplasm	42%	
		GO	GO:0005737	cytoplasm			
		GO	GO:0005829	cytosol			2000
		UniProt	cytoskeleton	cytoskeleton			
		UniProt	Cytoplasm	Cytoplasm			

Table 1. In this example of CellWhere's localization procedure, three query IDs are submitted

Localizations are retrieved for their corresponding UniProt (Swiss-Prot) accessions and mapped to CellWhere localizations. For each query protein a single CellWhere localization is selected for display on the network graph. Selection may be 'generic'—based on annotation frequency—or by localization 'flavor'—based on priority scores (provided or set by the user) to select localizations that are of special interest to a particular research domain (in the example, muscle research is chosen).



Figure 1. Screenshot of an interactive graph generated by submitting CellWhere's pre-loaded example query. Proteins can be placed into their classically reported locations or, as in this example, the user can prioritize locations that are of special interest to their research area (in this case, muscle; DGC = Dystroglycan complex—a complex of glycoproteins that interact with Dystrophin, located at the muscle cell membrane).

and compare the tools' placements of proteins into just the four primary compartments and use CellWhere's 'generic' localization option, then the placement outputs were similar (87% of proteins were placed into the same compartment). Where differences arose, it was usually among proteins that were annotated to multiple locations by UniProt and GO, usually with clear biological basis: for example, heat shock factor protein 2 (HSF2) is cytoplasmic (where it was placed by CellWhere) during normal growth and moves to the nucleus (where it was placed by IPA) upon activation (more examples are given in Supplementary note S1).

Thus CellWhere showed strong agreement of generic lo-calizations with the IPA-generated network, but it provides a more deeply resolved representation of protein sublocations within the cell, and in addition it provides the facility to highlight rare localizations according to the user's interests.

CONCLUSION

Tools such as Cerebral viewer and Ingenuity IPA have shown that it can be informative and useful to integrate a summary of subcellular localization into an interaction network. Integrated displays can help to suggest mechanistic links between parts of the network. CellWhere is the first free-to-access public tool to summarize subcellular localizations and integrate this information with the local interactome. CellWhere can be used to visually structure a network based on the classically known locations of proteins. Notably, it can also be used as a screening tool to identify proteins (and their interactors) that may be present at locations of special interest to a specific research project or domain.

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Supplementary Data are available at NAR Online.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank David Lynn for kind advice and for sharing details of InnateDB (http://www.innatedb.com), which inspired the localization mapping approach used by Cell-Where. We also thank the reviewers for their insightful and constructive comments.

FUNDING

The French Muscular Dystrophy Association; the Myo-Grad International Graduate School for Myology, University Pierre and Marie Curie [to M.T. and A.M.]. Funding for open access charge: Association Institut de Myologie. Conflict of interest statement. None declared.

REFERENCES

Huang, D.W., Sherman, B.T. and Lempicki, R.A. (2009) Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. *Nat. Protoc.*, 4, 44–57.

- Subramanian, A., Tamayo, P., Mootha, V.K., Mukherjee, S., Ebert, B.L., Gillette, M.A., Paulovich, A., Pomeroy, S.L., Golub, T.R., Lander, E.S. et al. (2005) Gene set enrichment analysis: a
- Lander, E. S. et al. (2005) Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 102, 15545–15550. Michalopoulos, I., Pavlopoulos, G.A., Malatras, A., Karelas, A., Kostadima, M.-A., Schneider, R. and Kossida, S. (2012) Human gene correlation analysis (HGCA): a tool for the identification of transcriptionally co-expressed genes. BMC Res. Notes, 5, 265. Zuberi, K., Franz, M., Rodriguez, H., Montojo, J., Lopes, C.T., Bader, G.D. and Morris, Q. (2013) GeneMANIA prediction server 2013 update. Nucleic Acids Res., 41, W115–W122. Shi, Z., Wang, J. and Zhang, B. (2013) NetGestalt: integrating multidimensional omics data over biological networks. Nat. Methods
- multidimensional omics data over biological networks. Nat. Methods,
- 10.597-598 6. Activities at the Universal Protein Resource (UniProt). (2014) Nucleic
- Acids Res., 42, D191–D198. Ashburner,M., Ball,C.A., Blake,J.A., Botstein,D., Butler,H., Cherry,J.M., Davis,A.P., Dolinski,K., Dwight,S.S., Eppig,J.T. et al.
- Cherry J.M., Davis, A.P., Dolinski, K., Dwight, S.S., Eppig, J.T. et al. (2000) Gene ontology: tool for the unification of biology. The Gene Ontology Consortium. Nat. Genet., 25, 25–29.
 Farkaşl, J., Szántó-Várnagy, A. and Korcsmáros, T. (2012) Linking proteins to signaling pathways for experiment design and evaluation. PLoS One, 7, e36202.
 Franceschini, A., Szklarczyk, D., Frankild, S., Kuhn, M., Simonovic, M., Roth, A., Lin, J., Minguez, P., Bork, P., von Mering, C. et al. (2013) STRING v9.1: protein-protein interaction networks, with increased coverage and integration. Nucleic Acids Res., 41, D808–D815. D808-D815
- D808–D815.
 Orchard,S., Ammari,M., Aranda,B., Breuza,L., Briganti,L., Broackes-Carter,F., Campbell,N.H., Chavali,G., Chen,C., Del-Toro,N. et al. (2014) The MIntAct project–IntAct as a common curation platform for 11 molecular interaction databases. Nucleic Acids Res., 42, D358–D363.
 Calderone,A., Castagnoli,L. and Cesareni,G. (2013) mentha: a resource for browsing integrated protein-interaction networks. Nat. Natl. 60, 600
- Methods, 10, 690–691. Orchard,S., Salwinski,L., Kerrien,S., Montecchi-Palazzi,L., Oesterheld,M., Stümpflen,V., Ceol,A., Chatr-aryamontri,A., Armstrong,J., Woollard,P. et al. (2007) The minimum information required for reporting a molecular interaction experiment (MIMIx). *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **25**, 894–898.
- Nat. Biotechnol., 25, 894–898.
 Orchard,S., Kerrien,S., Abbani,S., Aranda,B., Bhate,J., Bidwell,S., Bridge,A., Briganti,L., Brinkman,F.S.L., Brinkman,F. et al. (2012) Protein interaction data curation: the International Molecular Exchange (IMEX) consortium. Nat. Methods, 9, 345–350.
 Cline,M.S., Smoot,M., Cerami,E., Kuchinsky,A., Landys,N., Workman,C., Christmas,R., Avila-Campilo,J., Creech,M., Gross,B. et al. (2007) Integration of biological networks and gene expression data using Cytoscape. Nat. Protoc., 2, 2366–2382.
 Smoot,M.E., Ono,K., Ruscheinski,J., Wang,P.-L. and Ideker,T. (2011) Cytoscape 2.8: new features for data integration and network visualization. Bioinformatics, 27, 431–432.
 Lopes,C.T., Franz,M., Kazi,F., Donaldson,S.L., Morris,Q. and Bader,G.D. (2010) Cytoscape Web: an interactive web-based network browser. Bioinformatics, 26, 2347–2348.
 Barsky,A., Gardy,J.L., Hancock, R.E.W. and Munzner,T. (2007)

- Barsky,A., Gardy,J.L., Hancock,R.E.W and Munzner,T. (2007) Cerebral: a Cytoscape plugin for layout of and interaction with 17. biological networks using subcellular localization annotation. Bioinformatics, 23, 1040–1042.
 Nghiem, P.P., Hoffman, E.P., Mittal, P., Brown, K.J., Schatzberg, S.J.,
- Ghimbovschi, S., Wang, Z. and Kornegay, J.N. (2013) Sparing of the dystrophin-deficient cranial sartorius muscle is associated with classical and novel hypertrophy pathways in GRMD dogs. *Am. J. Pathol.*, **183**, 1411–1424.

Annex 2 – Aging Review (Non-thesis, co-first author)

Journal of Neuromuscular Diseases 2 (2015) 205–217 DOI 10.3233/JND-150097 IOS Press

Review

Changes in Communication between Muscle Stem Cells and their Environment with Aging

Matthew Thorley^{a,b,c,d,1}, Apostolos Malatras^{a,b,c,d,1}, William Duddy^{a,b,c,d,1}, Laura Le Gall^{a,b,c,d}, Vincent Mouly^{a,b,c,d}, Gillian Butler Browne^{a,c,b,c,d} and Stéphanie Duguez^{a,b,c,d,*} ^aSorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06, Center of Research in Myology UMRS 974, F-75013, Paris, France ^bINSERM UMRS 974, F-75013, Paris, France ^cCNRS FRE 3617, F-75013, Paris, France

^dInstitut de Myologie, F-75013, Paris, France

Abstract. Aging is associated with both muscle weakness and a loss of muscle mass, contributing towards overall frailty in the elderly. Aging skeletal muscle is also characterised by a decreasing efficiency in repair and regeneration, together with a decline in the number of adult stem cells. Commensurate with this are general changes in whole body endocrine signalling, in local muscle secretory environment, as well as in intrinsic properties of the stem cells themselves. The present review discusses the various mechanisms that may be implicated in these age-associated changes, focusing on aspects of cell-cell communication and long-distance signalling factors, such as levels of circulating growth hormone, IL-6, IGF1, sex hormones, and inflammatory cytokines. Changes in the local environment are also discussed, implicating IL-6, IL-4, FGF-2, as well as other myokines, and processes that lead to thickening of the extra-cellular matrix. These factors, involved primarily in communication, can also modulate the intrinsic properties of muscle stem cells, including reduced DNA accessibility and repression of specific genes by methylation. Finally we discuss the decrease in the stem cell pool, particularly the failure of elderly myoblasts to re-quiesce after activation, and the consequences of all these changes on general muscle homeostasis.

Keywords: Aging, adult stem cells, muscles, skeletal, myoblasts, intercellular signaling peptides and proteins, homeostasis

INTRODUCTION

Over the last 60 years, work performed on animal models, chiefly mouse, rat, and avian, and on human samples, has revealed and explored the capacity of adult stem cells - also called somatic stem cells - to self-renew and to differentiate into unipotent progeny within their residing tissue [1], generally for the purpose of repair. Resident stem cell populations have now been described in most tissues, including bone marrow

¹Co first author.

*Correspondence to: Stéphanie Duguez. Tel.: +33 1 42 16 57 19; Fax: +33 1 42 16 57 00; E-mail: stephanie.duguez@upmc.fr. [2], blood vessels [3], peripheral blood [4], skin [5], teeth [6], gut [7], liver [8], heart [9], brain [10] and skeletal muscle [11]. Once body growth has stopped and adulthood is reached, most of these stem cells become quiescent, and will only be activated for tissue turnover. Although this turnover can be very active as in circulating blood or gut epithelium in other tissues such as liver the stem cells usually remain unsolicited as hepatic damage rarely occurs in healthy adults [8]. Despite this heterogeneity, a decline in number and properties is universally observed in aged stem cells, a phenomenon which alters the maintenance of tissue homeostasis with aging. In aged skeletal muscle, a tissue with low turnover, this decline in the adult stem

ISSN 2214-3599/15/\$35.00 © 2015 – IOS Press and the authors. All rights reserved This article is published online with Open Access and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License.

cell (also called satellite cell), which is responsible for muscle repair [12], is associated with muscle atrophy and muscle weakness [13–15], although their depletion in the mouse has differential effects depending on the muscle [12].

Muscle stem cells or satellite cells are localized beneath the basal lamina, peripheral to the muscle fibers [11], and express Pax7 [16] and Notch3 [17]. After muscle injury, satellite cells are driven out of their quiescent state, and start to proliferate. Most of the activated satellite cells rapidly co-express MyoD or Myf5 [16, 18]. The proliferating satellite cells - also called myogenic precursor cells or myoblasts - expand under the control of Notch3 [17] and Notch1/Hey1 pathways [19, 20]. They divide asymmetrically, with self-renewal of the stem cell pool being maintained by a minor population of myogenic precursor cells that down-regulate their expression of MyoD and Myf5 and return to a quiescent state [18, 21-23]. This asymmetrical division involves Numb, an antagonist of the Notch signalling pathway [19, 24]. Numb is asymmetrically localized during myoblast mitosis and it is the cell that has a high level of Numb that goes back to quiescence for self-renewal [19, 24-26]. After several rounds of proliferation, activated myoblasts decrease their expression levels of Pax7, Myf5 [16, 18] and Notch3 [17]. The Notch1 pathway is then repressed by Stra13 [20] through the CBF1 pathway [20, 27]. Simultaneously, the Wnt pathway is activated and promotes myoblast differentiation through β-catenin [28]. Myoblasts exit the cell cycle by expressing p57 [29], and then cyclin inhibitors - p21 and hypophosphorylated pRb [30-32] - together with higher levels MyoD followed by myogenin, a driver which triggers the expression of the differentiation genes [33, 34]. The myoblasts consequently undergo differentiation into myocytes, and fuse either with each other or with existing multi-nucleated myofibers in order to repair injured muscle [35, 36]. The differentiation and maturation process is regulated by MEF2, MEF3, and Mrf4 pathways [37-39], while other factors, such as Myomaker, are involved in fusion [40]. Muscle precursor cell proliferation, fusion and differentiation are tightly orchestrated by circulating hormones (e.g. growth hormone [41], testosterone [42, 43] and thyroid hormones [44, 45]), growth factors (e.g. IGF system [41], FGF system [46-48], TGF-b [49, 50]), G-CSF [51], chemokines (e.g. interleukines [52-55], MPC [55, 56]) and other secreted components (e.g. vesicles [57, 58]) present in the muscle stem cell environment.

Aged human [59] or murine [60–62] muscle can regenerate and repair, although the rate of regeneration

declines [60-62]. This slower regeneration can be explained by: (1) changes in the muscle stem cell environment (growth factors, growth hormones, inflammation, and extracellular matrix content); (2) a lowered responsiveness of progenitor cells to repair stimuli; and (3) decrease in the number of muscle stem cells with aging. Each of these factors may impact on muscle homeostasis and each may both participate to, and be affected by, age-associated changes in intercellular communication. The subsequent sections will describe the different roles that intercellular communication may play in muscle aging, from hormonal and other circulating endocrine factors to local paracrine and autocrine secretory environment of the stem cell niche that may also modify the intrinsic properties of the stem cells themselves.

HORMONAL AND OTHER CIRCULATING FACTORS: CHANGE IN ENDOCRINE COMMUNICATION WITH AGING

The decline in muscle regenerative capacity with age [63] has been partly attributed to a decline in extrinsic environmental cues (see Fig. 1). Levels of circulating hormones, such as testosterone or IL-6 or growth hormone (GH) or IGF-1, are low in serum samples of aged subjects [64–66].

The endocrine hypothalamic-pituitary axis is altered with aging, leading to changes in hormone secretion that can contribute to cognitive decline or depression. Epidemiological studies have also shown a correlation between the decrease in growth hormone (GH) secretion and sarcopenia as well as other signatures of aging (e.g. intra-abdominal adiposity, osteopenia, etc.) [67]. GH is a stress hormone produced by the hypothalamus. It plays a key role in muscle mass maintenance through life [66]. It acts on myoblasts through its receptor GHR and activates NFATc2 that in turn stimulates the expression and secretion of IL-4 [41, 68, 69] - IL-4 being critical for myoblast fusion [68, 69]. GH also stimulates IGF-1 secretion by both liver and muscle [66]. IGF-1 and its splice variants - IGF-1Ea and IGF-1Eb modulate myoblast proliferation [70] and differentiation [71] through MAPK and ERK1/2 signalling [70]. The latter regulates myogenesis, for example by interacting with $p38\alpha\beta$ MAPK and the asymmetric division and self-renewal of satellite cells [72].

These age-associated changes in the endocrine hypothalamic-pituitary axis can have further effects on the gonadotropic axis. Sex-steroid privation associated with age participates to, among other phenomena,



Fig. 1. Age alters serum composition and thereby affects intercellular communication at distance. The endocrine hypothalamic-pituitary axis is altered with aging, affecting the composition of circulating hormones in the serum. For instance, the secretion of growth hormone is decreased, leading to loss of muscle mass. In addition, the lower level of growth hormone will also stimulate less the secretion of IGF-1 - IGF-1 being involved in muscle mass maintenance and in the satellite cell myogenic program. The endocrine hypothalamic-gonadotropic axis is also affected, leading to a decrease of sex steroids such as Testosterone, another hormone involved in muscle mass maintenance. Similarly, a decrease in cestrogen can act on the myogenic program through IGF-1 signaling. The decrease in circulating hormones affects the capacity of the satellite cells to respond to muscle damage. Aging is also associated with an increase in inflammation. The cytokines secretion by aged inflammatory cells as well as their ROS production is modified and can also affect the capacity of the satellite cells to respond to muscle damage. The modification of the entire serum composition with aging has negative effects on muscle mass and on muscle regeneration capacity.

loss of muscle mass [67]. The sex-steroid testosterone, secreted by the testis, has been extensively studied in muscle, and can be considered as a double-sided blade, acting both on myoblast proliferation and differentiation. It acts on myoblasts through the androgen receptor localized in the nucleus [73] or through G protein-coupled receptors [74]. It promotes myoblast proliferation through protein kinase C (PKC) signaling [74] - for instance through nPKC δ and extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 (ERK1/2) activation [75]. Once ERK1/2 is phosphorylated, it is accompanied by an increase in cyclin E and Cdk2 – which are involved in myoblast proliferation [76]. Testosterone

acts also on myoblast differentiation via protein kinase A (PKA) signaling [74] - PKA being required for myoblast fusion [77, 78]. Interestingly, oestrogens act similarly on the myogenic program through IGF-1 signaling [79].

Aging is associated with an increase in low grade chronic and systemic inflammation, also called inflammaging [80]. Inflammaging could be due to microbial infection, cell debris, over-activated coagulation system, or an increase in cellular senescence with the associated changes in secretion [80]. This increased inflammation is generally attributed to a modified immune partner. Indeed, while young macrophages

have been shown to have a beneficial effect to clear muscle debris after injury and stimulate myogenesis [81-83], aged macrophages can release a higher level of osteopontin that inhibits the muscle regeneration process [84]. Not only macrophages are involved in the muscle regeneration process, but also neutrophils, lymphocytes, dendritic cells, etc. These inflammatory cells secrete numerous chemokines and cytokines, but little is known about the impact of aging on cytokine secretion [85]. In the literature, it is described that IL-6 serum level is decreasing during aging [65]. IL-6 originates from the inflammatory cells, but also from the skeletal muscle itself [86]. It has been shown to be an important regulator of muscle stem cells [53], as it activates janus kinase 2 (Jak2) that will in turn phosphorylate STAT3 [52]. Once STAT3 is phosphorylated, it homodimerizes and translocates to the nucleus to bind to the γ -interferon activation sequence [87] in the promoter regions of genes involved in myoblast proliferation such as c-myc [52]. IL-6 not only regulates myoblast proliferation, but also promotes myoblast differentiation through the p38 MAPK pathway [88]. A decrease in IL-6 serum level could thus impact muscle regeneration efficacy.

The tissues from which circulating factors originate, such as muscle, hypothalamus, gonads, and liver, become atrophic and less active with age [8, 66, 89]. This change in body composition and activity with aging can thus participate to the decrease in circulating hormones (see Fig. 1). Consequently, when muscle damage occurs in an aged person, satellite cells be less prone to activation and differentiation, leading to a less efficient repair. Ten years ago, Conboy et al. elegantly showed that muscle regeneration could be partly rescued in aged mice exposed to serum from young mice through a parabiosis system [90]. Similarly, hormones released during pregnancy rescued the muscle regenerative capacity of aged female mice [91]. When aged subjects are trained, a rejuvenating effect is observed on muscle. This benefit effect could probably be due to a decrease of the inflammation for instance, as observed in exercised patients affected by myositis [92, 93]. When aged muscle stem cells were engrafted into young mice [94], their capacities to proliferate and differentiate were partly restored. Together these data suggest that circulating agents, which can originate from different tissues, impinge on muscle regeneration efficiency. Aging affects both the size and function of each tissue and consequently tissue secretory capacity. This alters the composition of circulating serum effecting intercellular communication at distance.

SECRETORY ENVIRONMENT OF THE STEM CELL NICHE: CHANGE IN PARACRINE AND AUTOCRINE CELL-CELL COMMUNICATION WITH AGING

In addition to its classical role as a locomotive system, skeletal muscle has recently been shown to have a secretory activity. For instance, IL-6 [86] and musculin [95] have been identified to originate from and be secreted by skeletal muscle in vivo. In vitro, the secretome profile of C2C12 myotubes [55, 56], human myotubes [57] and rat muscle explants [96] suggest that muscle cells secrete numerous growth factors (e.g. follistatin like protein 1, IGF-2, TGF, etc.) and cytokines. Secreted proteins - also named myokines [95] - may act in an autocrine/paracrine manner on neighboring muscle cells and contribute to muscle growth and regeneration. This local muscle secretome can be altered with aging. For instance, Chakkalakal et al. have shown that an increased secretion of FGF-2 by aged myofibers in mice inhibits sprouty1 expression in satellite cells, and consequently reduces their capacity to go back to quiescence and replenish the pool of the muscle stem cell [47]. The muscle secretome includes not only hormones, but also extracellular matrix components (ECM, e.g. TIMP2, fibronectin), miRNAs, and vesicles (exosomes and microvesicles) [57, 58, 97, 98]. Interestingly, exosomes originating from differentiated myocytes stimulate the myogenic program of proliferating myoblasts [58]. Myocyte exosomes contain miRNAs that inhibit Sirtuin expression, and thus stimulate the myoblast differentiation into myotubes [98]. A decrease in muscle mass with aging may thus reduce muscle secretory output. In a transcriptomic analysis performed on quadriceps muscle from young (15-24 years old) and elderly (72-80 years old) subjects, we indeed observed down-regulation of secretome markers in aged muscle [99]. However, little is known about the changes in the composition of the muscle secretome of aged muscle and further investigation is needed.

The local niche of muscle stem cells includes growth factors and cytokines secreted not only by the myofibers themselves, but also potentially by other cell types present within muscle, such as fibroblasts, endothelial or peri-endothelial cells [100, 101]. This local secretome can also be altered with aging (Fig. 2). For instance, fibroblasts present in aged skeletal muscle express a high level of TGF- β [101] – a growth factor that inhibits differentiation of myoblasts [102], and thus slows down the regeneration process. In addition, aging is described to be associated with an increase

M. Thorley et al. / Cell-Cell Communication with Age in Muscle Stem Cells



Fig. 2. Aging changes the microenvironment of the satellite cell. Decreased muscle mass can be accompanied by a decrease in myokines and vesicles secreted into the microenvironment of the satellite cells. Aged myofibers produce more ROS and FGF-2, factors that can change epigenetic marking of the satellite cells and shut down their myogenic program and their capacity to re-quiesce. They also release less NO into their environment, stimulating vasoconstriction which may inhibit serum tissue perfusion. Aged fibroblasts present in the muscle can secrete more fibrous proteins, thickening the ECM. In turn, this decreases the diffusion of growth factors toward the satellite cells and thus their responsiveness to muscle repair cues. Increase in sensecent cells with age can secrete factors that inhibit tissue regeneration. The microenvironment of the satellite cells is thus altered and affects their capacity to respond to any muscle damage.

in senescent or pre-senescent cells in muscle and other tissue [103, 104]. During the last decade, the secretome of senescent cells from different tissues has been investigated and has been described to have an impact on the inflammatory response (by stimulating it in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [105]) and to be instrumental in poor tissue regeneration (as observed in aged skin [106]). Altogether, these data suggest that the presence of senescent cells distinct from satellite cells within muscle tissue could alter these microenvironment of the satellite cells, and thus their behavior.

Muscle perfusion is decreased with aging [107], which may render myofibers and satellite cells less accessible to circulating hormones. This loss of perfusion may be maintained by the muscle loss itself. Indeed, sarcopenic muscle presents a disruption of the dystroglycan complex [108], leading to NOS-1 mislocalization, due to the link of NOS-1 to the dystrophin protein [109]. The mis-localization of NOS-1 results in decreased NO production, thereby diminishing muscle perfusion [110]. A second effect of decreased NO production is a reduction in satellite cell activation [111].

Aged skeletal muscle presents a thickening of the ECM and a general increase in fibrosis [112]. Even if muscle fibers can secrete collagens and other components of the ECM [57, 97], little is known about their role in ECM thickening. A recent study shows that fibroblasts present in aged rat muscles express a higher level of collagen IVa2 and laminin 2 - which may participate in the thickening of the ECM [101]. This increase in the ECM thickness can interfere with the muscle regeneration process by modifying myoblast activation, proliferation and migration [48, 113]. Finally, a thickened ECM may act as a partial barrier, reducing the accessibility of the satellite cells to circulating growth factors, as observed for smooth muscle cells [114], and thus impair satellite cell activation and differentiation during muscle repair.

Together, these data suggest that the changes in the secretory composition of the muscle stem cell's local niche with aging can slow down the regeneration process and decrease the replenishment of the pool of reserve cells. Repetitive iterations of this could contribute to the loss of muscle stem cells with aging.

CHANGE IN THE INTRINSIC PROPERTIES OF STEM CELLS WITH AGING

Exposure to a young environment by engraftment into young subjects or by parabiosis experiments only partly rescues the properties of aged satellite cells [90]. For instance their capacity to replenish the pool of reserve cells is not rescued (our unpublished data and [115]). These data suggest that some intrinsic properties of satellite cells are altered with aging and are not easily manipulated by external cues.

Intrinsic properties rely at least partly on DNA methylation, which may regulate gene expression in two ways [116]: (1) the accessibility of methylated enhancer regions to transcription factors is reduced, resulting in gene expression repression; (2) methyl-CpG-binding proteins bind to methylated DNA and alter the activity of histone deacetylases and methyltransferases. Consequently, local histones are hypermethylated, stabilizing the nucleosomes, so that DNA in methylated regions is tightly packed preventing binding of transcription factors or RNA polymerases. A recent study shows that histone methylation patterns are different between aged and young satellite cells in mice [117], and that the methylation profile can be modified by the presence of local growth factors such as FGF-2 [118]. The authors associated this histone methylation profile to a slower capacity of aged satellite cells to re-enter the cell cycle for aged satellite cells [117]. Interestingly, this study [117], as well as our own observations on culture of aged human muscle stem cells, show that once activated, aged satellite cells have a similar myogenic potential to young satellite cells. This indicates that muscle stem cells do not lose their differentiation potency with age, suggesting that the decrease with aging in the differentiation program during muscle regeneration is strongly related to changes in circulating factors.

DNA methylation has been shown to be increased in several tissues with aging, and the skeletal muscle is no exception [119, 120]. We have observed a higher level of DNA methylation in satellite cells of aged subjects (unpublished data). This hypermethylation could impact on the satellite cell fate and interfere with their capacity for self-renewal as observed in previously published studies (our data and [47, 115]). How DNA methylation is regulated with aging is not well known. Repeated stress over time can be one of the parameters implicated [121], involving for instance reactive oxygen species (ROS) [122]. Increased ROS production with age can be due to an increase in inflammation with aging [80] or to mitochondrial dysfunction in aged muscle [123, 124]. A decrease of circulating GH is also associated with a higher level of ROS and a lower level of anti-oxidants [125]. This overproduction of ROS could participate to increased DNA damage observed with aging [126]. Consequently, DNA methyltransferases (DNMT) are recruited to the DNA damage site, potentially inducing DNA silencing of the region nearby [127]. When we re-analyzed the transcriptome data available online (GSE9103), we indeed confirm a significant enrichment in the cellular response to oxidative stress in aged muscles (Fig. 3), suggesting a higher stress in aged muscle. ROS diffuse easily through membranes of fibers, thus potentially affecting DNA damage in neighboring satellite cells, and modifying their methylation status.

Factors discussed above - changes in the composition of circulating hormones in serum, as well as in the microenvironment - could also modify the epigenetic status of satellite cells and thus their behavior during regeneration, slowing satellite cell activation and decreasing their capacity to go back to quiescence

THE LOSS OF MUSCLE STEM CELLS WITH AGING AND ITS CONSEQUENCES ON MUSCLE HOMEOSTASIS

The number of muscle stem cells declines with age in mouse [13, 47, 90, 94] and humans [128, 129]. Although this loss can be caused by an increase in cell death, cellular senescence, or a deficiency in re-quiescence, apoptosis is rarely observed in aged murine and human muscle stem cells [94, 130, 131], suggesting that this cannot by itself explain the loss of muscle stem cells with aging. However, we cannot exclude the fact that apoptosis is a short punctual event that may be missed experimentally. Cellular senescence - also called replicative senescence - is defined as a phenomenon by which normal diploid cells cease to divide. It can be induced by telomere shortening that occurs during cell proliferation, and has been proposed to contribute to the loss of satellite cell function with aging [103]. However, shortened telomere length has not been reported in aged human satellite cells.

M. Thorley et al. / Cell-Cell Communication with Age in Muscle Stem Cells



Fig. 3. Increase of oxidative stress response in aged muscles. For this analysis we retrieved the gene expression matrix of old and young muscles of sedentary subjects (series GSE9103 from the Gene Expression Omnibus [139]). We discarded three samples as they did not pass the quality control threshold. To identify differentially expressed genes we used the characteristic direction method [140] followed by gene set enrichment with Enrichr [141]. The top figure depicts a bar graph from the top 10 up-regulated GO Biological Processes (combined score: *p*-value multiplied by *z*-score) and the bottom figure a network of the same Processes, where each node represents the enriched term and the edges represent the gene content similarity between the nodes.

Furthermore, there may be insufficient activation and turnover of satellite cells to allow senescence to be a major contributor to stem cell decline. Satellite cells are rarely activated in healthy adult human or mouse, and once muscle growth is complete in young human adults [14], subsequent myonuclear turnover is slow, being estimated at 15 years during adulthood [132]. In mouse models, myofiber growth by the addition of new nuclei through satellite cell fusion is completed by 21 days postnatally [133], and there is little evidence to suggest significant turnover. As discussed earlier, the capacity to re-quiesce through the sprouty1 pathway is decreased in aged stem cells [47, 117]. Consequently, when satellite cells are activated for muscle repair in elderly subjects, they do not replenish the pool of reserve cells. This failure of re-quiescence is a likely contributor to stem cell population decline.

The decrease in the number of satellite cells with aging can affect muscle homeostasis by altering the ECM composition. Indeed, aged muscle depleted in satellite cells in a Pax7^{CreER}-DTA murine model shows an increase in fibrotic deposition [134], while fiber size was unaffected [135]. Resulting thickening of the ECM may increase myofiber fragility, and reduce the response of satellite cells to muscle damage, as discussed earlier. Therefore a loss of satellite cells could

M. Thorley et al. / Cell-Cell Communication with Age in Muscle Stem Cells



Fig. 4. Links between whole-body composition changes, the decline of muscle size and function, and the loss of muscle stem cells and their functions with aging. Modifications with age of the endocrine systems (hypothalamus-pituitary system, gonad glands, liver, etc.) affect the quantity and the content of circulating serum hormones and impact muscle mass maintenance (atrophy of the muscle fibers and decrease in the regenerative capacity of the muscle). Increased inflammation with age - also called inflammaging - affects whole body stress level and is accompanied by modification in secreted cytokine content. Increased oxidative stress of the muscle leads to DNA damage and epigenetic changes, and consequently affects the regenerative capacity of the muscle. The composition of the microenvironment of the satellite cells is affected with age, through the presence of aged fibroblasts, of senescent cells, and aged myofibers. These local changes contribute to the fragility of the muyofibers and to a decrease in the regenerative potency.

impinge directly upon muscle homeostasis, and exacerbate muscle fragility with aging.

CONCLUSION

The interplay between whole-body tissue composition, the quantity and content of circulating serum hormones, and whole-body stress, such as ROS production, changes with age, and contributes to the decline in muscle mass and function (Fig. 4). Increased stress can act through epigenetic marking of satellite cells, changing their intrinsic properties with age aged satellite cells show a decrease in their activation rate due to epigenetic changes. In addition, satellite cell number is decreased during aging, a loss that can contribute not only to a decreased regenerative capacity, but also to an increase in fibrotic deposition and ECM thickening. Increased muscle stiffness renders myofibers more fragile, requiring the activation of an already reduced and less responsive satellite cell population. Age-associated changes in the local signalling environment can affect the myogenic program causing a lower regeneration efficacy, a decrease in myonuclear turnover, and a failure in replenishing the pool of reserve cells, further contributing to the loss of muscle mass. Changes in the whole system of intercellular communication - both at the whole-body scale and in muscle microenvironment - may thus act as a vicious circle to exacerbate sarcopenia as the body ages. It is noteworthy that most studies on muscle aging in the literature have been done on muscle stem cells, rather than myofibers, and thus emphasize the role of satellite cells in muscle mass maintenance. The effect of hormones and cytokines and more generally the effect of aging on myofibers is difficult to assess directly and should not be neglected. The myofibers themselves comprise the bulk of the muscle mass and are clearly a key part of the maintenance of their own mass with aging, as indicated by disequilibrium of protein synthesis and degradation or the expression of micropeptides such as myoregulin that have a key role in muscle performance [138].

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was financed by the EU FP7 Programme project MYOAGE (contract HEALTH-F2-2009-223576), the ANR Genopath-INAFIB, the AFLD, the CNRS, INSERM, the University Pierre and Marie Curie Paris 6 and the AFM (Association Francaise contre les Myopathies).

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

All authors declare no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- [1] Hosseinkhani M. Shirazi R. Rajaei F. Mahmoudi M. Mohammadi N, Abbasi M. Engineering of the embry onic and adult stem cell niches. Iran Red Crescent Med J 2013;15(2):83-92.
- Thomas ED, Lochte HL, Cannon JH, Sahler OH, Ferrebee JW. Supralethal whole body irradiation and isologous mar-[2] w transplantation in man. J Clin Invest. 1959;38:1709-16.
- [3] Baddour LM, Wilson WR, Bayer AS, Fowler VG, Bolger AF, Levison ME, et al. Infective endocarditis: Diagnosis, antimicrobial therapy, and management of complications Circulation. 2005;111(23):e394-434.
- McCredie KB, Hersh EM, Freireich EJ. Cells capable of colony formation in the peripheral blood of man. Science. [4] 1971:171(968):293-4.
- [5] Potten CS. Cell replacement in epidermis (keratopoiesis) via discrete units of proliferation. Int Rev Cytol. 1981;69:271 318.
- [6] Miura M, Gronthos S, Zhao M, Lu B, Fisher LW, Robey PG, et al. SHED: Stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(10):5807-12.

- [7] Potten CS, Owen G, Booth D. Intestinal stem cells pro tect their genome by selective segregation of template DNA strands. J Cell Sci. 2002;115(Pt 11):2381-8.
- Dollé L, Best J, Mei J, Al Battah F, Reynaert H, van Grunsven LA, et al. The quest for liver progenitor cells: [8] A practical point of view. Journal of Hepatology. 2010, pp. 117-29.
- Beltrami AP, Barlucchi L, Torella D, Baker M, Limana F, Chimenti S, et al. Adult cardiac stem cells are multipotent and support myocardial regeneration. Cell. 2003;114(6):763-76. Altman J, Das GD. Autoradiographic and histological evi-
- [10] dence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. J Comp Neurol. 1965;124(3):319-35.
- MAURO A. Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J Biophys [11] Biochem Cvtol, 1961;9:493-5.
- Keefe AC, Lawson JA, Flygare SD, Fox ZD, Colasanto MP, [12] Mathew SJ, et al. Muscle stem cells contribute to myofibres in sedentary adult mice. Nat Commun. 2015;6:7087.
- Brack AS, Bildsoe H, Hughes SM. Evidence that satel-[13] lite cell decrement contributes to preferential decline in nuclear number from large fibres during murine age-related muscle atrophy. J Cell Sci. 2005;118(Pt 20): 4813-21
- [14] Verdijk LB, Snijders T, Drost M, Delhaas T, Kadi F, van Loon LJC. Satellite cells in human skeletal muscle; from birth to old age. Age (Dordr). 2014;36(2):545-7. Barberi L, Scicchitano BM, De Rossi M, Bigot A, Duguez
- [15] S, Wielgosik A, et al. Age-dependent alteration in muscle regeneration: The critical role of tissue niche. Biogerontology. 2013;14(3):273-92.
- Zammit PS, Golding JP, Nagata Y, Hudon V, Partridge TA, Beauchamp JR. Muscle satellite cells adopt diver-[16] gent fates: A mechanism for self-renewal? J Cell Biol. 2004;166(3):347-57.
- Kitamoto T, Hanaoka K. Notch3 null mutation in mice [17] causes muscle hyperplasia by repetitive muscle regenera-tion. Stem Cells. 2010;28(12):2205-16.
- [18] Yablonka-Reuveni Z. The skeletal muscle satellite cell: Still young and fascinating at 50. J Histochem Cytochem. 2011;59(12):1041-59.
- Conboy IM, Rando TA. The regulation of Notch signaling [19] controls satellite cell activation and cell fate determination
- in postnatal myogenesis. Dev Cell. 2002;3(3):397-409. Sun H, Li L, Vercherat C, Gulbagci NT, Acharjee S, Li J, [20] et al. Stra13 regulates satellite cell activation by antagoniz-ing Notch signaling. J Cell Biol. 2007;177(4):647-57.
- Zammit PS, Relaix F, Nagata Y, Ruiz AP, Collins CA, Partridge TA, et al. Pax7 and myogenic progression in skele-[21] tal muscle satellite cells. J Cell Sci. 2006;119(Pt 9):1824-32.
- Day K, Shefer G, Richardson JB, Enikolopov G, Yablonka-[22] Reuveni Z. Nestin-GFP reporter expression defines the quiescent state of skeletal muscle satellite cells. Dev Biol. 2007;304(1):246-59.
- [23] Gayraud-Morel B, Chrétien F, Jory A, Sambasivan R, Negroni E, Flamant P, et al. Myf5 haploinsufficiency reveals distinct cell fate potentials for adult skeletal muscle stem cells. J Cell Sci. 2012;125(Pt 7):1738-49.
- Shinin V, Gayraud-Morel B, Gomès D, Tajbakhsh S. Asymmetric division and cosegregation of template DNA strands in adult muscle satellite cells. Nat Cell Biol. 2006;8(7): 677-87
- [25] Kuang S, Gillespie MA, Rudnicki MA. Niche regulation of muscle satellite cell self-renewal and differentiation. Cell Stem Cell. 2008;2(1):22-31.

- [26] George RM, Biressi S, Beres BJ, Rogers E, Mulia AK, Allen RE, et al. Numb-deficient satellite cells have regeneration and proliferation defects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(46):18549-54.
- [27] Zhou S, Fujimuro M, Hsieh JJ, Chen L, Miyamoto A, Weinmaster G, et al. SKIP, a CBF1-associated protein, interacts with the ankyrin repeat domain of NotchIC To facilitate NotchIC function. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20(7):2400-10.
- [28] Brack AS, Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Shen J, Rando TA. A temporal switch from notch to Wnt signaling in muscle stem cells is necessary for normal adult myogenesis. Cell Stem Cell. 2008;2(1):50-9.
- [29] Bigot A, Jacquemin V, Debacq-Chainiaux F, Butler-Browne GS, Toussaint O, Furling D, et al. Replicative aging down-regulates the myogenic regulatory factors in human myoblasts. Biol Cell. 2008;100(3):189-99.
- [30] Duguez S, Sabido O, Freyssenet D. Mitochondrialdependent regulation of myoblast proliferation. Exp Cell Res. 2004;299(1):27-35.
- [31] Ciavarra G, Zacksenhaus E. Rescue of myogenic defects in Rb-deficient cells by inhibition of autophagy or by hypoxiainduced glycolytic shift. J Cell Biol. 2010;191(2):291-301.
- [32] Heron-Milhavet L, Franckhauser C, Fernandez A, Lamb NJ. Characterization of the Akt2 Domain Essential for Binding Nuclear p21cip1 to Promote Cell Cycle Arrest during Myogenic Differentiation. PLoS One. 2013;8(10): e76987.
- [33] Weintraub H, Davis R, Tapscott S, Thayer M, Krause M, Benezra R, et al. The myoD gene family: Nodal point during specification of the muscle cell lineage. Science. 1991;251(4995):761-6.
- [34] Sassoon D, Lyons G, Wright WE, Lin V, Lassar A, Weintraub H, et al. Expression of two myogenic regulatory factors myogenin and MyoD1 during mouse embryogenesis. Nature. 1989;341(6240):303-7.
- [35] Duguez S, Féasson L, Denis C, Freyssenet D. Mitochondrial biogenesis during skeletal muscle regeneration. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2002;282(4):E802-9.
- [36] Chargé SBP, Rudnicki MA. Cellular and molecular regulation of muscle regeneration. Physiol Rev. 2004;84(1):209-200
- [37] Naya FJ, Olson E. MEF2: A transcriptional target for signaling pathways controlling skeletal muscle growth and differentiation. Current Opinion in Cell Biology. 1999. pp. 683-8
- [38] Rhodes SJ, Konieczny SF. Identification of MRF4: A new member of the muscle regulatory factor gene family. Genes Dev. 1989;3(12 B):2050-61.
- [39] McGeachie AB, Koishi K, Andrews ZB, McLennan IS. Analysis of mRNAs that are enriched in the post-synaptic domain of the neuromuscular junction. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2005;30(2):173-85.
- [40] Millay DP, O'Rourke JR, Sutherland LB, Bezprozvannaya S, Shelton JM, Bassel-Duby R, et al. Myomaker is a membrane activator of myoblast fusion and muscle formation. (Supp). Nature. 2013;499(7458):301-5.
- [41] Mavalli MD, DiGirolamo DJ, Fan Y, Riddle RC, Campbell KS, Van Groen T, et al. Distinct growth hormone receptor signaling modes regulate skeletal muscle development and insulin sensitivity in mice. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(11): 4007-20.
- [42] Serra C, Tangherlini F, Rudy S, Lee D, Toraldo G, Sandor NL, et al. Testosterone improves the regeneration of old and young mouse skeletal muscle. Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2013;68(1):17-26.

- [43] Sinha-Hikim I, Roth SM, Lee MI, Bhasin S. Testosteroneinduced muscle hypertrophy is associated with an increase in satellite cell number in healthy, young men. American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2003. E197-205
- [44] Dentice M, Ambrosio R, Damiano V, Sibilio A, Luongo C, Guardiola O, et al. Intracellular inactivation of thyroid hormone is a survival mechanism for muscle stem cell proliferation and lineage progression. Cell Metab. 2014;20(6):1038-48.
- [45] Leal ALRC, Albuquerque JPC, Matos MS, Fortunato RS, Carvalho DP, Rosenthal D, et al. Thyroid hormones regulate skeletal muscle regeneration after acute injury. Endocrine. 2014;233-40.
- [46] Han D, Zhao H, Parada C, Hacia JG, Bringas P, Chai Y. A TGF-Smad4-Fgf6 signaling cascade controls myogenic differentiation and myoblast fusion during tongue development. Development. 2012. pp. 1640-50.
 [47] Chakkalakal JV, Jones KM, Basson MA, Brack AS. The
- [47] Chakkalakal JV, Jones KM, Basson MA, Brack AS. The aged niche disrupts muscle stem cell quiescence. Nature. 2012;490(7420):355-60.
- [48] Grounds MD. Age-associated changes in the response of skeletal muscle cells to exercise and regeneration. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1998;854:78-91.
- [49] Blokzijl A, Dahlqvist C, Reissmann E, Falk A, Moliner A, Lendahl U, et al. Cross-talk between the Notch and TGF-β signaling pathways mediated by interaction of the Notch intracellular domain with Smad3. J Cell Biol. 2003;163(4):723-8.
 [50] McFarlane C, Hui GZ, Amanda WZW, Lau HY, Lokireddy
- [50] McFarlane C, Hui GZ, Amanda WZW, Lau HY, Lokireddy S, Xiaojia G, et al. Human myostatin negatively regulates human myoblast growth and differentiation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2011;301(1):C195-203.
- [51] Hara M, Yuasa S, Shimoji K, Onizuka T, Hayashiji N, Ohno Y, et al. G-CSF influences mouse skeletal muscle development and regeneration by stimulating myoblast proliferation. J Exp Med. 2011;208(4):715-27.
- [52] Toth KG, McKay BR, De Lisio M, Little JP, Tarnopolsky MA, Parise G. IL-6 induced STAT3 signalling is associated with the proliferation of human muscle satellite cells following acute muscle damage. PLoS One. 2011;6(3): e17392.
- [53] Serrano AL, Baeza-Raja B, Perdiguero E, Jardí M, Muñoz-Cánoves P. Interleukin-6 is an essential regulator of satellite cell-mediated skeletal muscle hypertrophy. Cell Metab. 2008;7(1):33-44.
- [54] Chazaud B, Sonnet C, Lafuste P, Bassez G, Rimaniol A-C, Poron F, et al. Satellite cells attract monocytes and use macrophages as a support to escape apoptosis and enhance muscle growth. J Cell Biol. 2003;163(5):1133-43.
- [55] Chan CYX, Masui O, Krakovska O, Belozerov VE, Voisin S, Ghanny S, et al. Identification of differentially regulated secretome components during skeletal myogenesis. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2011;10(5):M110.004804.
- [56] Henningsen J, Rigbolt KTG, Blagoev B, Pedersen BK, Kratchmarova I. Dynamics of the skeletal muscle secretome during myoblast differentiation. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2010;9(11):2482-96.
- [57] Le Bihan M-C, Bigot A, Jensen SS, Dennis J, Rogowska-Wrzesinska A, Lainé J, et al. In-depth analysis of the secretome identifies three major independent secretory pathways in differentiating human myoblasts. J Proteomics. 2012;77:344-56.
- [58] Forterre A, Jalabert A, Berger E, Baudet M, Chikh K, Errazuriz E, et al. Proteomic analysis of C2C12

myoblast and myotube exosome-like vesicles: A new paradigm for myoblast-myotube cross talk? PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e84153.

- [59] Clarkson PM, Dedrick ME. Exercise-induced muscle damage, repair, and adaptation in old and young subjects. J Gerontol. 1988;43(4):M91-6.
- [60] Gutmann E, Carlson BM. Regeneration and transplantation of muscles in old rats and between young and old rats. Life Sci. 1976;18(1):109-14.
- [61] Sadeh M. Effects of aging on skeletal muscle regeneration. J Neurol Sci. 1988;87(1):67-74.
 [62] Smythe GM, Shavlakadze T, Roberts P, Davies MJ,
- [62] Smythe GM, Shavlakadze T, Roberts P, Davies MJ, McGeachie JK, Grounds MD. Age influences the early events of skeletal muscle regeneration: Studies of whole muscle grafts transplanted between young (8 weeks) and old (13-21 months) mice. Exp Gerontol. 2008;43(6):550-62.
- [63] Carlson ME, Conboy IM. Loss of stem cell regenerative capacity within aged niches. Aging Cell. 2007;6(3): 371-82.
- [64] Kojo G, Yoshida T, Ohkawa S, Odamaki M, Kato A, Takita T, et al. Association of serum total testosterone concentration with skeletal muscle mass in men under hemodialysis. Int Urol Nephrol. 2014;46(5):985-97.
- [65] Gordon SE, Kraemer WJ, Looney DP, Flanagan SD, Comstock BA, Hymer WC. The influence of age and exercise modality on growth hormone bioactivity in women. Growth Horm IGF Res. 2014;24(2-3):95-103.
 [66] Sattler FR, Growth hormone in the aging male. Best Pract
- [66] Sattler FR. Growth hormone in the aging male. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;27(4):541-55.
- [67] Veldhuis JD. Aging and hormones of the hypothalamopituitary axis: Gonadotropic axis in men and somatotropic axes in men and women. Ageing Research Reviews. 2008. pp. 189-208.
- [68] Sotiropoulos A, Ohanna M, Kedzia C, Menon RK, Kopchick JJ, Kelly PA, et al. Growth hormone promotes skeletal muscle cell fusion independent of insulin-like growth factor 1 up-regulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2006;103(19):7315-20.
- [69] Horsley V, Jansen KM, Mills ST, Pavlath GK. IL-4 acts as a myoblast recruitment factor during mammalian muscle growth. Cell. 2003;113(4):483-94.
- [70] Brisson BK, Barton ER. Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I E-Peptide Activity Is Dependent on the IGF-I Receptor. PLoS One. 2012;7(9):e45588.
- [71] Matheny RW, Nindl BC. Loss of IGF-IEa or IGF-IEb impairs myogenic differentiation. Endocrinology. 2011;152(5):1923-34.
- [72] Troy A, Cadwallader AB, Fedorov Y, Tyner K, Tanaka KK, Olwin BB. Coordination of satellite cell activation and self-renewal by par-complex-dependent asymmetric activation of p38??/?? MAPK. Cell Stem Cell. 2012;11(4): 541-53.
- [73] Sinha-Hikim I, Taylor WE, Gonzalez-Cadavid NF, Zheng W, Bhasin S. Androgen receptor in human skeletal muscle and cultured muscle satellite cells: Up-regulation by androgen treatment. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89(10): 5245-55.
- [74] Fu R, Liu J, Fan J, Li R, Li D, Yin J, et al. Novel evidence that testosterone promotes cell proliferation and differentiation via G protein-coupled receptors in the rat L6 skeletal muscle myoblast cell line. J Cell Physiol. 2012;227(1):98-107.
- [75] Czifra G, Szöllősi A, Nagy Z, Boros M, Juhász I, Kiss A, et al. Protein kinase C& promotes proliferation and induces malignant transformation in skeletal muscle. J Cell Mol Med. 2015;19(2):396-407.

- [76] Wei C, Ren H, Xu L, Li L, Liu R, Zhang L, et al. Signals of Ezh2, Src, and Akt Involve in Myostatin-Pax7 Pathways Regulating the Myogenic Fate Determination during the Sheep Myoblast Proliferation and Differentiation. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0120956.
- [77] Mukai A, Hashimoto N. Localized cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase activity is required for myogenic cell fusion. Exp Cell Res. 2008;314(2):387-97.
- [78] Han SY, Park DY, Lee GH, Park SD, Hong SH. Involvement of type I protein kinase A in the differentiation of L6 myoblast in conjunction with phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. Mol Cells. 2002;14(1):68-74.
- [79] Ahtiainen M, Pöllänen E, Ronkainen PHA, Alen M, Puolakka J, Kaprio J, et al. Age and estrogen-based hormone therapy affect systemic and local IL-6 and IGF-1 pathways in women. Age (Omaha). 2012;34(5):1249-60.
- [80] Franceschi C, Capri M, Monti D, Giunta S, Olivieri F, Sevini F, et al. Inflammaging and anti-inflammaging: A systemic perspective on aging and longevity emerged from studies in humans. Mech Ageing Dev. 2007;128(1):92-105.
 [81] Zhang J, Xiao Z, Qu C, Cui W, Wang X, Du J. CD8 T
- [81] Zhang J, Xiao Z, Qu C, Cui W, Wang X, Du J. CD8 T Cells Are Involved in Skeletal Muscle Regeneration through Facilitating MCP-1 Secretion and GrIhigh Macrophage Infiltration. J Immunol. 2014;193(10):5149-60.
- [82] Wang H, Melton DW, Porter L, Sarwar ZU, McManus LM, Shireman PK. Altered macrophage phenotype transition impairs skeletal muscle regeneration. Am J Pathol. 2014;184(4):1167-84.
- [83] Chazaud B. Macrophages: Supportive cells for tissue repair and regeneration. Immunobiology. 2014;219(3):172-8.
- [84] Paliwal P, Pishesha N, Wijaya D, Conboy IM. Age dependent increase in the levels of osteopontin inhibits skeletal muscle regeneration. Aging (Albany NY). 2012;4(8): 553-66.
- [85] Ebersole JL, Steffen MJ, Pappo J. Secretory immune responses in ageing rats. II. Phenotype distribution of lymphocytes in secretory and lymphoid tissues. Immunology. 1988;64(2):289-94.
- Pedersen BK, Febbraio M. Muscle-derived interleukin-6-a possible link between skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, liver, and brain. Brain Behav Immun. 2005;19(5):371-6.
 Ivanova AV., Ivanov SV., Zhang X, Ivanov VN, Timofeeva
- [87] Ivanova AV., Ivanov SV., Zhang X., Ivanov VN, Timofeeva OA, Lerman MI. STRA13 interacts with STAT3 and modulates transcription of STAT3-dependent targets. J Mol Biol. 2004;340(4):641-53.
- [88] Baeza-Raja B, Muñoz-Cánoves P. p38 MAPK-induced nuclear factor-kappaB activity is required for skeletal muscle differentiation: Role of interleukin-6. Mol Biol Cell. 2004;15(4):2013-26.
- [89] Nilwik R, Snjiders T, Leenders M, Groen BBL, van Kranenburg J, Verdijk LB, et al. The decline in skeletal muscle mass with aging is mainly attributed to a reduction in type II muscle fiber size. Exp Gerontol. 2013;48(5): 492-8.
- [90] Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Wagers AJ, Girma ER, Weissman IL, Rando TA. Rejuvenation of aged progenitor cells by exposure to a young systemic environment. Nature. 2005;433(7027):760-4.
- [91] Falick Michaeli T, Laufer N, Sagiv JY, Dreazen A, Granot Z, Pikarsky E, Bergman Y, Gielchinsky Y. The rejuvenating effect of pregnancy on maternal regeneration. Aging Cell. 2015;14(4):698-700.
- [92] Nader GA, Lundberg IE. Exercise as an anti-inflammatory intervention to combat inflammatory diseases of muscle. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2009;21(6):599-603.

- [93] Lundberg IE, Nader GA. Molecular effects of exercise in patients with inflammatory rheumatic disease. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol. 2008;4(11):597-604.
- [94] Collins CA, Zammit PS, Ruiz AP, Morgan JE, Partridge TA. A population of myogenic stem cells that survives skeletal muscle aging. Stem Cells. 2007;25(4):885-94.
- [95] Engler D. Hypothesis: Musculin is a hormone secreted by skeletal muscle, the body's largest endocrine organ. Evidence for actions on the endocrine pancreas to restrain the beta-cell mass and to inhibit insulin secretion and on the hypothalamus to co-ordinate the neuroendocrine and appetite responses to exercise. Acta Biomed. 2007,78 Suppl 1:156-206.
- [96] Roca-Rivada A, Al-Massadi O, Castelao C, Senín LL, Alonso J, Seoane LM, et al. Muscle tissue as an endocrine organ: Comparative secretome profiling of slow-oxidative and fast-glycolytic rat muscle explants and its variation with exercise. J Proteomics. 2012;75(17):5414-25.
 [97] Duguez S, Duddy W, Johnston H, Lainé J, Le Bihan MC,
- [97] Duguez S, Duddy W, Johnston H, Lainé J, Le Bihan MC, Brown KJ, et al. Dystrophin deficiency leads to disturbance of LAMP1-vesicle-associated protein secretion. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2013;70(12):2159-74.
- [98] Fonterre A, Jalabert A, Chikh K, Pesenti S, Euthine V, Granjon A, et al. Myotube-derived exosomal miRNAs downregulate Sirtuin1 in myoblasts during muscle cell differentiation. Cell Cycle. 2014;13(1):78-89.
- [99] Baraibar MA, Gueugneau M, Duguez S, Butler-Browne G, Bechet D, Friguet B Expression and modification proteomics during skeletal muscle ageing. Biogerontology. 2013;14(3):339-52.
- [100] Abou-Khalil R, Mounier R, Chazaud B. Regulation of myogenic stem cell behavior by vessel cells: The "ménage à trois" of satellite cells, periendothelial cells and endothelial cells. Cell Cycle. 2010;9(5):892-6.
- [101] Zwetsloot KA, Nedergaard A, Gilpin LT, Childs TE, Booth FW. Differences in transcriptional patterns of extracellular matrix, inflammatory, and myogenic regulatory genes in myofibroblasts, fibroblasts, and muscle precursor cells isolated from old male rat skeletal muscle using a novel cell isolation procedure. Biogerontology. 2012;13(4):383-98.
- [102] Liu D, Black BL, Derynck R. TGF-β inhibits muscle differentiation through functional repression of myogenic transcription factors by Smad3. Genes Dev. 2001;15(22):2950-66.
- [103] Sousa-VictorP, Gutara S, García-Prat L, Rodriguez-Ubreva J, Ortet L, Ruiz-Bonilla V, et al. Geriatric muscle stem cells switch reversible quiescence into senescence. Nature. 2014;506(7488):316-21
- 2014;506(7488):316-21.
 [104] Fukada S, Ma Y, Uezumi A. Adult stem cell and mesenchymal progenitor theories of aging. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2014;2(March):1-9.
- [105] Kumar M, Seeger W, Voswinckel R. Senescence-associated secretory phenotype and its possible role in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2014;51(3):323-33.
- [106] Demaria M, Desprez PY, Campisi J, Velarde MC. Cell Autonomous and Non-Autonomous Effects of Senescent Cells in the Skin. J Invest Dermatol. 2015;1722-6.
- [107] Behringer EJ, Segal SS. Spreading the signal for vasodilatation: Implications for skeletal muscle blood flow control and the effects of ageing. J Physiol. 2012;590(Pt 24):6277-84.
- [108] Leiter JRS, Upadhaya R, Anderson JE. Nitric oxide and voluntary exercise together promote quadriceps hypertrophy and increase vascular density in female 18-mo-old mice. AJP: Cell Physiology. 2012, pp. C1306-15.

- [109] Lai Y, Thomas GD, Yue Y, Yang HT, Li D, Long C, et al. Dystrophins carrying spectrin-like repeats 16 and 17 anchor nNOS to the sarcolemma and enhance exercise performance in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(3):624-35.
- [110] Song W, Kwak HB, Kim JH, Lawler JM. Exercise training modulates the nitric oxide synthase profile in skeletal muscle from old rats. Journals Gerontol-Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2009;64(5):540-9.
- [111] Anderson JE. A role for nitric oxide in muscle repair: Nitric oxide-mediated activation of muscle satellite cells. Mol Biol Cell. 2000;11(5):1859-74.
- [112] Goldspink G, Fernandes K, Williams PE, Wells DJ. Agerelated changes in collagen gene expression in the muscles of mdx dystrophic and normal mice. Neuromuscul Disord. 1994;4(3):183-91.
- [113] Ferreira MM, Dewi RE, Heilshom SC. Microfluidic analysis of extracellular matrix-bFGF crosstalk on primary human myoblast chemoproliferation, chemokinesis, and chemotaxis. Integr Biol. 2015;569-79.
- [114] Fannon M, Forsten-Williams K, Zhao B, Bach E, Parekh PP, Chu CL, et al. Facilitated diffusion of VEGF165 through descemet's membrane with sucrose octasulfate. J Cell Physiol. 2012;227(11):3693-700.
- [115] Bernet JD, Doles JD, Hall JK, Kelly Tanaka K, Carter T a, Olwin BB. p38 MAPK signaling underlies a cellautonomous loss of stem cell self-renewal in skeletal muscle of aged mice. Nat Med. 2014;20(3):265-71.
- [116] Saini A, Mastana S, Myers F, Lewis M. "From death, Lead me to immortality"- mantra of ageing skeletal muscle. Curr Genomics. 2013;14(4):256-67.
- [117] Liu L, Cheung TH, Charville GW, Hurgo BMC, Leavitt T, Shih J, et al. Chromatin modifications as determinants of muscle stem cell quiescence and chronological aging. Cell Rep. 2013;4(1):189-204.
- [118] Li J, Han S, Cousin W, Conboy IM. Age-Specific Functional Epigenetic Changes in p21 and p16 in Injury-Activated Satellite Cells. Stem Cells. 2015;33(3):951-61.
- [119] Horvath S. DNA methylation age of human tissues and cell types. Genome Biol. 2013;14(10):R115.
- [120] Bocker MT, Hellwig I, Breiling A, Eckstein V, Ho AD, Lyko F. Genome-wide promoter DNA methylation dynamics of human hematopoietic progenitor cells during differentiation and aging. Blood. 2011;117(19):e182-9.
- [121] Blaze J, Roth TL. Evidence from clinical and animal model studies of the long-term and transgenerational impact of stress on DNA methylation. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2015;S1084-9521.
- [122] Cencioni C, Spallotta F, Martelli F, Valente S, Mai A, Zeiher AM, et al. Oxidative stress and epigenetic regulation in ageing and age-related diseases. Int J Mol Sci. 2013;14(9):17643-63.
- [123] Claffin DR, Jackson MJ, Brooks S V. Age affects the contraction-induced mitochondrial redox response in skeletal muscle. Front Physiol. 2015;6.
 [124] Liu D, Santor M, Nader G, Pistilli EE, Tanton L, Lilly C, et al.
- [124] Liu D, Sartor M, Nader G, Pistilli EE, Tanton L, Lilly C, et al. Microarray analysis reveals novel features of the muscle aging process in men and women. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2013;68(9):1035-44.
- [125] Brioche T, Kireev R a, Cuesta S, Gratas-Delamarche A, Tresguerres J a, Gomez-Cabrera MC, et al. Growth hormone replacement therapy prevents sarcopenia by a dual mechanism: Improvement of protein balance and of antioxidant defenses. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2013;(7): 1-13.

- [126] Signer RAJ, Morrison SJ. Mechanisms that regulate stem cell aging and life span. Cell Stem Cell. 2013;12(2): 152-65.
- [127] Zampieri M, Ciccarone F, Calabrese R, Franceschi C, Bürkle A, Caiafa P, Reconfiguration of DNA methylation in aging. Mech Ageing Dev. 2015; pii:S0047-6374(15)00007-X.
 [128] Renault V, Thornell L-E, Eriksson P-O, Butler-Browne G,
- [128] Renault V, Thornell L-E, Eriksson P-O, Butler-Browne G, Mouly V, Thorne L-E. Regenerative potential of human skeletal muscle during aging. Aging Cell. 2002;1(2):132-9.
 [129] Malmgren LT, Fisher PJ, Jones CE, Bookman LM, Uno T.
- [129] Malmgren LT, Fisher PJ, Jones CE, Bookman LM, Uno T. Numerical densities of myonuclei and satellite cells in muscle fiber types in the aging human thyroarytenoid muscle: An immunohistochemical and stereological study using confocal laser scanning microscopy. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2000;123(4):377-84.
 [130] Cousin W, Ho ML, Desai R, Tham A, Chen RY, Kung S,
- [130] Cousin W, Ho ML, Desai R, Tham A, Chen RY, Kung S, et al. Regenerative capacity of old muscle stem cells declines without significant accumulation of DNA damage. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e63528.
- [131] Alsharidah M, Lazarus NR, George TE, Agley CC, Velloso CP, Harridge SDR. Primary human muscle precursor cells obtained from young and old donors produce similar proliferative, differentiation and senescent profiles in culture. Aging Cell. 2013;12(3):333-44.
- [132] Spalding KL, Bhardwaj RD, Buchholz BA, Druid H, Frisén J. Retrospective birth dating of cells in humans. Cell. 2005;122(1):133-43.
- [133] White RB, Biérinx A-S, Gnocchi VF, Zammit PS. Dynamics of muscle fibre growth during postnatal mouse development. BMC Dev Biol. 2010;10:21.
- [134] Lee JD, Fry CS, Mula J, Kirby TJ, Jackson JR, Liu F, et al. Aged muscle demonstrates fiber-type adaptations in response to mechanical overload, in the absence of myofiber hypertrophy, Independent of satellite cell abundance. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2015;1-7.

- [135] Fry CS, Lee JD, Mula J, Kirby TJ, Jackson JR, Liu F, et al. Inducible depletion of satellite cells in adult, sedentary mice impairs muscle regenerative capacity without affecting sarcopenia. Nat Med. 2014;76-80.
 [136] Takeuchi F, Yonemoto N, Nakamura H, Shimizu R, Komaki
- [136] Takeuchi F, Yonemoto N, Nakamura H, Shimizu R, Komaki H, Mori-Yoshimura M, et al. Prednisolone improves walking in Japanese Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients. J Neurol. 2013;260(12):3023-9.
- [137] Hussein MRA, Abu-Dief EE, Kamel NF, Mostafa MG. Steroid therapy is associated with decreased numbers of dendritic cells and fibroblasts, and increased numbers of satellite cells, in the dystrophic skeletal muscle. J Clin Pathol. 2010;63(9):805-13.
- [138] Anderson DM, Anderson KM, Bassel-duby R, Olson EN, Mcanally JR, Kasaragod P, et al. Article a micropeptide encoded by a putative long noncoding RNA regulates muscle performance article a micropeptide encoded by a putative long noncoding RNA regulates muscle performance. Cell. 2015;1-12.
- [139] Barrett T, Wilhite SE, Ledoux P, Evangelista C, Kim IF, Tomashevsky M, et al. NCBI GEO: Archive for functional genomics data sets - Update. Nucleic Acids Res. 2013;41(D1).
- Clark NR, Hu KS, Feldmann AS, Kou Y, Chen EY, Duan Q, et al. The characteristic direction: A geometrical approach to identify differentially expressed genes. BMC Bioinformatics. 2014;15(1):79.
 Chen EY, Tan CM, Kou Y, Duan Q, Wang Z, Meirelles
- [141] Chen EY, Tan CM, Kou Y, Duan Q, Wang Z, Meirelles GV, et al. Enrichr: Interactive and collaborative HTML5 gene list enrichment analysis tool. BMC Bioinformatics. 2013;14(1):128.